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1.

Executive Summary

This report provides a summary of formal complaints received by Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust during the period 1st April 2016 to 31st March 2017. In addition, the report
highlights examples of actions taken to improve services as a result of complaints received.
All complaints and concerns are managed in line with the Trust Complaints and Concerns
Policy. Complaints are acknowledged within three working days of receipt, either verbally or
in writing, and resolved in a timescale and method agreed with the complainant.
Complaint responses are quality assessed by the Patient Experience Team and verified by
the Chief Executive or Director of Quality & Governance/Chief Nurse/Deputy CEO.
In 2016/17 the Trust received 12,886 compliments. Further details are covered in the Patient
Experience Annual Report.

2.

Complaints received 2016/17

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust saw a decrease of 11% in complaints received in the
year, with 222 complaints received compared to 250 received in 2015/16.
The table below displays the total number of formal complaints received year-on-year from
2010/11 to 2016/17.
Quarter 1
April-June

Quarter 2
July-Sept

Quarter 3
Oct-Dec

Quarter 4
Jan -March

Total

2016/2017

53

54

60

55

222

2015/2016

56

65

62

67

250

2014/2015

61

46

76

56

239

2013/2014

51

40

35

59

185

2012/2013

60

56

68

49

233

2011/2012

46

53

40

51

190

2010/2011

57

42

28

45

172

In accordance with national legislation the Trust agrees a response time with each
complainant, or where this is not possible the Trust provides a response within 25 working
days.
In 2016/17 the Trust responded to 99.5% of complaints within the agreed timescales as
detailed in the following graph:
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To encourage openness and transparency the Trust offers all complainants and their
families the opportunity to meet with Trust staff to discuss their concerns in more detail and
agree a mutual resolution to their complaint. During the year, 15 complainants took the
opportunity to meet with staff to discuss their concerns in more detail.
In 2016/2017 18 complaints were reopened:
Q1
9

Q2
3

Q3
3

Q4
3

Progress was achieved against the number of complaints reopened, two were referred to the
Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (872 and 1153) and additional detail is
provided in section 5 of this report.
8 overall themes were associated with the 18 reopened complaints;
Subject
Standards of Care
Staff Attitude/Behaviour
Clinical Treatment
Date for Appointment
Aids/Appliances/Equipment
Personal Records
Diagnosis/Misdiagnosis
Admissions/Transfers/Discharge
Procedure

Number of Complaints
4
4
4
2
1
1
1
1

Of the 18 complaints, 9 were not upheld, 1 was partially upheld and 8 were upheld. The
Trust ensured learning was shared and developed the following actions to improve levels of
service:
•
•

Improved procedures implemented and provided to staff regarding escalation of faulty
equipment.
New system put in place to alert nursing staff to check there are sufficient dressing
supplies.
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•
•
•
•
•

3.

New Electronic Common Assessment Framework (eCAF) Coordinators appointed to
support and advise practitioners on best practice with regard to the Family CAF
process.
Cameras ordered for staff to monitor wound conditions and provide good and
effective wound care.
District Nurses attended customer care course to improve standards of care.
A clinical audit was completed to ensure records are kept up to date and are
accurate. Repeat audits will be held to maintain high levels of record keeping.
Changes were made to the Trust website to provide up-to-date information on
commissioned services

Complaints received by service

In 2016/2017 an emerging theme in complaints raised about Children’s Therapy Services
was the standard of communication, waiting times and appointments. The Children’s
Therapies Manager reviewed the complaints, noting themes and trends and developed a
plan to address the issues, which included reminding all staff to ensure patients and families
are kept informed of waiting times/cancelled appointments and rescheduled appointments.
The Trust saw a rise in complaints within the Positive behaviour, Autism, Learning
disabilities and mental health service (PALMS), due to waiting times. Staff vacancies caused
a drop in clinical capacity to 44% resulting in a waiting list for new referrals. A recruitment
drive saw staff capacity grow to 70% allowing the service to reduce the waiting list from 208
children in February 2017 to 164 children at the end of March 2017.
There has been an increase in the number of complaints regarding Community
Paediatricians, from 8% in 2015/2016 to 14% in 2016/2017. 50% of the complaints were
related to Community Paediatricians in West Essex and 50% to Community Paediatrics in
West Herts. Attitude and behaviour of the doctor was the highest category of complaint at
34% while 25% of complaints were related to waiting times for appointment or assessments.
The Service Manager and Clinical Director reviewed the complaints and developed the
following actions to improve the service:
•

The Service experienced an increase in demand for appointments and developed a
business case to the Clinical Commissioning Group in order to increase medical
staffing capacity to meet the rising demand.

•

The Service undertook a review of the skill mix within the service and identified
different ways of working.

•

The Associate Medical Director and Clinical Director of the Paediatric Service
undertook a full review of the complaint investigation findings to analyse themes and
trends before taking appropriate action.

•

The Community Medical Staffing Service in West Essex transferred to a new provider
on 1st April 2017.

The below table details the complaints received by service and theme for 2016/17:
Number of
Complaints
32
16
14

Service
Community Medical Staffing
Community Hospitals West
Community Nursing & Integrated Teams West

7

%
14%
7%
6%

Service
Community Hospitals East & North
Community Nursing & Integrated Teams East & North
MSK Physio E&N / MSK Triage
Adult Physiotherapy Service - Acute Therapies
Children’s Occupational Therapy Services
Positive Behaviour, Autism, Learning Disability and Mental
Health Service (PALMS)
Children’s Speech & Language Therapy
Health Visiting
Neurological Rehabilitation
School Nursing
Adult Diabetes Community Service
MSK CROPS (Wat & Dac)
Podiatry Service
Adult Speech & Language Therapy
HMP The Mount
Nutrition & Dietetics
Bladder & Bowel Care
Children’s Community Nursing
MSK Physio & OT West
Skin Health Service
Step 2 Early Intervention Service
Adult Occupational Therapy Service E&N (Acute Therapies)
Children’s Physiotherapy
Integrated Discharge Team
Overnight Service
Specialist Palliative Care Service
Children’s Audiology
Community Respiratory Service
Estates
Homefirst Service East and North
Leg Ulcer Service
Lymphoedema Services
Minor Injuries Unit
Pain Management & Chronic Fatigue

Number of
Complaints
12
12
12
11
11

5%
5%
5%
5%
5%

10
8
8
8
7
5
5
5
4
4
4
3
3
3
3
3
2
2
2
2
2
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

5%
4%
4%
4%
3%
2%
2%
2%
2%
2%
2%
1%
1%
1%
1%
1%
1%
1%
1%
1%
1%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

222

100%

Total

4.

%

Complaint by Theme

The table below displays the themes from complaints in 2016/17:
Number of
Complaints
57
40
34

Subject
Standards of Care
Staff attitude/behaviour
Date for appointment
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%
26%
18%
15%

Subject
Admissions/transfers/discharge procedure
Communication
Clinical treatment
Diagnosis/Misdiagnosis
Personal records
Aids/appliances/equipment
Policy & commercial decisions of the organisation
Consent to treatment
Failure to follow agreed procedures
Staff competence
Outpatient and other clinics
Patient privacy/dignity
Premises
Total

Number of
Complaints
19
29
12
9
6
4
3
2
2
2
1
1
1
222

%
9%
13%
5%
4%
3%
2%
1%
1%
1%
1%
0%
0%
0%
100%

Standards of care remains a consistent theme across all services, accounting for 26% of
complaints received in 2016/17. This demonstrates a 6% increase in this type of complaint
from 2015/16 (20%). Themes around standards of care include: concerns with the level of
care or treatment and missed or delayed visits. The Trust upheld 75% of complaints related
to standards of care.
To ensure scrutiny and overview of all Trust complaints a monthly complaints summary
report is provided for the Business Unit Performance Review which is reviewed at monthly
performance meetings. This enables General Managers and senior staff to review all
complaints about their services, ensure actions are taken and improvements are made
where necessary. In addition, the quarterly Complaints Report includes additional detail such
as key themes, lessons learnt, and the reports are shared at local team meetings in all
services.

5.

Complaints to Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO)

There were six complaints referred to the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman
(PHSO) in 2016/17:
872 – St Albans Health Visiting Service – Complaint concerning the attitude and
behaviour of Health Visitor. Complainant felt that the Health Visitor ignored his safeguarding
concerns regarding the care provided by the mother of his child. HCT’s internal investigation
revealed that the Health Visitor had acted appropriately.
This case was referred to the PHSO on 18th January 2016. Correspondence was received
from the PHSO on 7th October 2016 advising that they had decided to uphold the complaint;
in accordance with PHSO recommendations, HCT wrote an apology to the family on 9th
December 2016 acknowledging the level of appropriate care was not sufficient. An action
plan has been developed, as per PHSO recommendations, and a copy of this sent to the
family within the agreed PHSO timescales.
1012 – St Albans Health Visiting – Complaint about the actions of a Health Visitor in
relation to a referral made to Children’s Services, in particular, the complainant alleges the
Health Visitor did not obtain consent for the referral. HCT’s internal investigation revealed
that the Health Visitor had acted appropriately.
9

This case was referred to the PHSO on 20th June 2016. Following investigation the PHSO
decided not to uphold the complaint.
1024 – Adult Speech and Language Therapy – West Herts Hospital NHS Trust leading concerns raised about the care received in Watford General Hospital post hip replacement information requested about Speech & Language Therapy received for dysphagia
This case was referred to the PHSO on 26th October 2016. Following investigation the
PHSO decided not to uphold the complaint.
1048 – Welwyn & Hatfield Health Visiting – Complaint regarding incorrect information
being recorded by a Health Visitor on child’s health record in relation to domestic violence
notifications. HCT’s internal investigation revealed that one incorrect entry was made in the
record relating to the perpetrator of the domestic violence notification. The child’s record was
amended and an apology provided.
Correspondence was received on 19th August 2016 from the PHSO advising that they had
decided not to formally investigate this complaint. A follow up letter was sent by HCT on 5th
September 2016 advising the same, and to advise that the case was considered closed.
1115 – Specialist Palliative Care Service and Watford Integrated Community Team –
Complainant feels that the Trust failed to provide appropriate end of life care to his wife with
little support and poor communication. HCT’s internal investigation revealed that a visit was
not carried out as planned. Staff reminded to record a change of visit immediately so that
visits are not missed. The Service had a number of vacancies at the time of the complaint.
These vacancies have now been filled.
This case was referred to the PHSO on 6th June 2016. Following investigation the PHSO
decided not to uphold the complaint.
1153 - Hertsmere Integrated Community Team - Concerns raised about lack of care
received by community nurses in relation to bilateral leg ulcers. Family have met with Team
Leader and an independent Root Cause Analysis investigation was undertaken. However,
the family raised further concerns and a follow up review was undertaken to address the
specific points raised.
Correspondence was received on 19th May 2017 from the PHSO that they were partially
upholding the complaint; in accordance with PHSO recommendations, HCT wrote a letter of
apology to the family on 16th June 2017 to acknowledge and apologise for the failure to
document the patients’ condition properly. An action plan has also been developed, as per
PHSO recommendations, and a copy of this sent to the family within the agreed PHSO
timescales.

6.

Lessons Learnt and improvements implemented

The following examples demonstrate how the Trust has used patient complaints to inform
organisational learning and improvement during this period. The list is not exhaustive but
provides evidence of the Trust’s commitment to developing services and improving practice
in line with feedback received. Action plans are sent to the service at the start of the
complaints process and are an essential part of the closure process at the completion of the
investigation.
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Service

Complaint Issue

Action taken

Adult
Physiotherapy
Service E&N
(Acute Therapies

Concerns that physio gave patient
crutches to use when she had
swollen wrists. Patient felt a zimmer
frame would have been easier to use.

Nutrition &
Dietetics Service

Concerns raised that a patient was
given a high salt diet despite the
patient having a liver condition that
warranted a low salt diet. Patient
seen by the same dietician, as an
outpatient, who had recommended a
low salt diet previously.
Concerns raised that referral to
PALMS was refused and family are
not sure why. Concern over who will
provide care to their daughter.

All Acute Therapy staff have undergone
training to treat patients with dignity and
respect. Importance of good
communication discussed with the
clinical team for them to reflect on the
need to listen more carefully to patients
and be able to adjust their interventions
and use of equipment accordingly.
This error has been discussed with the
catering service at Lister Hospital and
agreement reached on the level of detail
needed to prevent similar
misinterpretations occurring in the
future.

Positive Behaviour,
Autism, Learning
Disabilities &
Mental Health
Service (PALMS)

Community
Hospital QVM

Concerns regarding the MCA and
DOLS assessment undertaken by
staff and the carer’s involvement.

School Nursing
Service

Concerns raised that HCT do not
provide a school nursing service for
independent schools and this
information is not reflected on the
HCT website.
Concerns regarding information
provided by Occupational Therapist
for Education Health and Care Plan.

Children’s OT
Service

Minor Injuries Unit
(MIU)

Patient attended MIU for an x-ray and
was advised that he would need to
see GP.

Health Visiting
Service

Family were unhappy with insensitive
comments made by Health Visitor to
adoptive parents.
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A robust process to be put in place
which makes clear who is leading the
care for each child, and that this is
clearly documented in the electronic
record and care plan. The PALMS and
CAMHS services are working together
on a pathway to reduce the likelihood of
this happening in the future.
Carers champions are to work with
carers to form a clear process for
engaging carers in the continuing
process of care and ensure they are
able to contribute to this. A DOLS leaflet
for patients and carers has been
produced.
HCT have updated its website to ensure
it is clear that the school nursing service
is only commissioned to provide a
school nursing service to state schools.
An administrative position has been
created in the Children’s Occupational
Therapy Service to act as a single point
of contact for all referrals to ensure
waiting times and deadlines are closely
monitored.
A new process has been amended to
ensure that the Emergency Nurse
Practitioner speaks to the patient directly
to advise of the most appropriate health
care environment for the patient.
An investigation was carried out and an
apology provided. A subsequent Carers
story was carried out which resulted in a
staff guide highlighting how health
professionals can better support
adoptive parents. This information was
shared with the service and Trust wide

Service

Complaint Issue

Sopwell Ward

Concerns raised about the way in
which patient was discharged from
Sopwell Ward

Estates Service

A patient was concerned that the
disabled parking area at Bedford
Road Health Centre were not clearly
defined.

7.

Action taken
via communications. The complainant
thanked the patient experience team for
the way the complaint was handled and
for the subsequent time taken to listen
and share the experience of the family
more widely.
Apology provided. Change introduced
which requires the staff to record and
update discharge arrangements onto the
daily handover sheet. This will ensure
that consistent information will form part
of handover at the beginning of each
shift and avoid any confusion or
misunderstanding with regards to
discharge arrangements amongst the
staff. Change presented to the Inpatient
Units Senior Clinical Teams.
Apology provided and confirmation that
the work has commenced on signage of
the disabled bays and staff have been
advised to be aware that blue badge
holders can park in the spaces.

Protected Characteristics

In 2016/2017 the Patient Experience Team implemented a system to align patient
demographic information from Systm1 with complaints. This enabled the Trust to capture
evidence that demonstrated equal access for all groups of people who wish to make a
complaint in line with the national directives to ensure equality for people in the protected
characteristics groups.
The information below demonstrates that the majority of complaints received in 2016/17
were related to people aged 80 year of age or over (22%) and young people aged 0-15
(28%), accounting for 40% of all complaints received in year.
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8.

Completed actions from 2016/17

2016/17 Priority
Outcome
Ensure lessons learnt from complaints A complaint action plan template is sent
continue to be embedded into service to each service at the outset of the
delivery through effective action plans
complaint
investigation
to
inform
evidence of organisational learning from
complaints. The complaint action plan
template was reviewed and amended to
ensure a single action plan is used
13

2016/17 Priority
Learning from complaints to be shared
via the Adult and Children’s Bulletins and
other Trust wide communications.
Embedding of complainant satisfaction
survey to measure service user
satisfaction.
Carry out a review of the Good
Complaints Handling Toolkit, develop a
gap analysis and identify actions for
improvement.

Continue to share patient stories from
complaints with the board and on the
Trust website.

9.

Outcome
across the quality team.
Examples of learning from complaints
have been regularly shared in Clinical
Matters and Trust wide communications.
A complainant satisfaction survey is
included
with
complaint
acknowledgement correspondence, along
with a freepost envelope for returns.
Following
review
an
investigators
resource pack, covering complaints and
serious incidents, was produced. An
investigators forum was held for the first
time to provide a means for investigators
to share their experiences and identify
ways to improve the complaints and
serious incident investigation process.
Patient and carer stories remain a
standing item at each Board meeting and
examples of patient and carer stories are
available on the Trust website.

Priorities for 2017/18

The priority activities for the Trust complaints service in 2017/18 are listed below:
•

Continue to provide quarterly Investigators Forums throughout the year to identify
how the complaints service could improve the support they offer staff to inform
effective investigations and action plans.

•

Set up a quarterly Complaints Panel inviting external scrutiny from patients, local
voluntary and community groups to review anonymised complaints and Trust
responses to provide assurance on the quality of the Trust complaints process.

•

Improve access and understanding of Trust Complaints by piloting read only access
for appropriate managers to view their service complaints, outstanding complaint
actions and service reports via the Trust database (Datix).

Natasha Forster
Patient Experience and Complaints Manager
Anthony Power
Head of Patient Experience
June 2017
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1.

Executive Summary

This Annual Report will give an account of the work that has been carried out across the Trust to
support the safeguarding of adults. The purpose of this report is to provide assurance that
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) complies with national policy and guidance to
safeguard adults from abuse. This report will demonstrate the scope of work to embed best
practice across the Trust, including HCT staff training, audit and monitoring of outcomes to
safeguard adults in HCT care. Furthermore, the report will identify areas of risk and conclude
with the proposed work priorities for 2017- 2018.
Safeguarding adults from abuse and other types of exploitation is everyone’s responsibility and
requires strong partnerships. The local authority, health, and support organisations need to work
together to ensure that services offered to people have safeguards against poor practice, harm,
abuse and neglect in line with The Care Act (2014).
HCT is committed to the principles and definitions set out in the Hertfordshire Safeguarding
Adults Board (HSAB) procedures to safeguard adults from abuse. HSAB is the multi-agency
partnership of senior managers from key local organisations responsible for developing and
implementing the Board’s strategy to safeguard adults from abuse across Hertfordshire.
Safeguarding in HCT starts at the very beginning with safe recruitment processes and
established procedures to ensure appropriately qualified, vetted and suitable staff are recruited..

2.

Key Achievements












Increase in safeguarding concerns by 51% reported to the Local Authority demonstrating
widespread staff recognition of adult abuse.
Development of revised safeguarding adult and children training encompassing emerging
themes and national competencies.
Revision of Safeguarding Adults Trust website and intranet site to ensure best practice
and guidance readily available for staff.
Safeguarding services promoted via twice yearly safeguarding supervision to all 62
safeguarding adults champions.
Safeguarding Nurse delivered 50 safeguarding adult supervision sessions
Improved the adult Safeguarding, MCA/DoLS quarterly newsletter.
Development of a leaflet for patients, relatives and carers explaining the DoLS process
Provided positive contributions to HSAB multi-agency Serious Case Reviews / MultiAgency Serious Incident Reviews (MASIR) etc.
Active partner in HSAB and CCG conferences held to promote adult safeguarding and
mental capacity across all agencies.
Developed joint safeguarding policies for adults and children: Not Brought In and
Domestic Abuse
Named Nurse was instrumental in the development of a Hertfordshire wide MCA App.
CCG noted a good standard of documentation for the MCA assessments reviewed during
an audit of HCT Inpatient Unit
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3.

Strategic Context

Since the introduction of the Care Act in 2014, the key changes for Safeguarding Adults under
the new legislation are:
 Local Safeguarding Adult Boards are now statutory.
 Person-centred approach, making safeguarding personal and requiring practitioners to ask
the person being harmed what outcome they want.
 The 6 principles of safeguarding: empowerment, prevention, proportionality, protection,
partnerships, accountability are key.
 Introduction of statutory Safeguarding Adults Reviews.
 NHS and local authorities should have an agreement on defining a Serious Incident.
 Local Authority is required to make enquiries or cause others to do so e.g. HCT SI or HR
investigations/ outcomes shared in safeguarding investigations/ meetings.

4.

Governance Structure

The Director of Quality & Governance/Chief Nurse holds Board accountability for the delivery of
safe and effective safeguarding adult services within the Trust. Delegated responsibility is to the
Deputy Director Quality & Governance/Deputy Chief Nurse who represents HCT on the HSAB
Board.
The Named Nurse for Safeguarding Adults and Safeguarding Adult Specialist Nurse represent
the Trust at all HSAB subcommittees. These include:






Safeguarding Adult Review subcommittee (Named Nurse)
Public Engagement subcommittee (Named Nurse)
Learning and Development subcommittee (HCT Head of L&D)
Policy and Procedure subcommittee (Safeguarding Adults Specialist Nurse)
Performance subcommittee (Safeguarding Adults Specialist Nurse)

The Safeguarding Adult Forum meets bi-monthly and is chaired by the Deputy Director of Quality
& Governance/Deputy Chief Nurse. The meeting is attended by representatives from HCT
operational senior leads, Clinical Quality Leads, and the Designated Safeguarding Adult Lead for
both CCGs providing external scrutiny. The Safeguarding Adults Forum provides reports to the
Patient Safety & Experience Group which reports to Healthcare Governance Committee, a
subcommittee of the Trust Board.
Safeguarding Team:




Named Nurse for Safeguarding Adults
Safeguarding Adults Specialist Nurse
Safeguarding Adults Team Administrator

Local Context
All adult services, community Inpatient units and community teams have identified safeguarding
champions who have attended enhanced training. Trust staff have access to dedicated
safeguarding training to enhance the skills in clinical teams and safeguarding is regularly
discussed in team meetings.
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Lessons learned and actions to be taken following safeguarding incidents are recorded through
the Datix system and these outcomes are shared across the Trust. All staff must attend
mandatory training on safeguarding to enhance their skills and to be aware of the Trust position
in relation to the management of adults at risk and understand the safeguarding process.
The main areas the Safeguarding Adult Team is involved in are listed below:
 Advice to staff when an adult has been abused or staff suspect abuse
 Serious Case Reviews (SCR) and Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs)
 Domestic Abuse and improving adult staff understanding
 Self-Neglect, hoarding and complex cases that do not meet safeguarding thresholds
 Radicalisation and the PREVENT agenda
 Modern Slavery and trafficking initiatives
 Adults with a Learning Disability
 Disseminating information about Missing Adults
 Allegations concerning HCT staff and directing the subsequent investigation via the most
relevant investigation process e.g. SI, HR or Non-SI root cause analysis.
 Mental Capacity concerns and advice (including access to the Trusts Legal support where
necessary)
 Understanding and advising on the need for advocates
 Community safety issues e.g. distraction burglaries and cold callers
 Historic allegations of abuse
The Safeguarding Team also liaises with staff to provide advice and support around a range of
potential safeguarding concerns, DoLS and MCA advice etc. The team has collated this
additional activity for 2016-17 and identified 170 contacts to the team for advice.

5.

The Self-Assessment Framework (SAAF)

The CCGs developed an in-depth self-assessment tool which enabled HCT to provide assurance
that internal processes are in place within the Trust relating to Safeguarding Adults, MCA, DoLS
and Prevent. The assessment tool was completed by the Deputy Director of Quality &
Governance and the Named Nurse and submitted to the CCG. The CCG reported its key
findings and recommendations in March 2016 which were carried into the next financial year and
identified HCT as compliant with standards for safeguarding adults.
Key recommendations following the assessment are detailed below:
Safeguarding Adults Self- Assessment and Assurance Framework (SAAF)
Key recommendations
The Trust should implement the process of supervision identified within the self-assessment –
the SAFA team have successfully implemented this.
Recommendation
The Trust needs to develop a system
and process for implementing the MCA
competency framework
In relation to Domestic Homicide
Reviews, the Trust needs to include this

Outcome
This initiative has been implemented
using the appraisal process and the
Safeguarding Champions.
A combined report has been developed in
liaison with the Safeguarding Children’s
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Recommendation
as an agenda item at the Safeguarding
Adult Forum
The Trust needs to develop and
implement a Restraint policy
The Scrutiny and Challenge audit plan
needs to be completed
The Trust needs to include making
safeguarding personal as a stronger
element of their training

Outcome
Team and is used in both Adult and
Children’s Safeguarding Forum
A Restraint Policy has been written and is
due to be ratified.
The Scrutiny and Challenge audit plan
has been completed
This recommendation has been included
in face to face staff training.

A SAAF improvement action plan was developed in response to the SAAF assessment. The
action plan was monitored via the Safeguarding Adults forum and all recommendations have
been addressed.
The next SAAF visit will take place in June 2017 and the recommendations will form part of the
Service Delivery Plan for 2017-18.

6.

Partnership working

The Trust is committed to working in partnership with the HSAB and demonstrates compliance to
safeguarding adults in Hertfordshire by:








7.

Regular partners in multi- agency reviews of organisation within the Serious Concerns
Process where appropriate.
Supporting the CCG and Local Authority to identify and manage failing care homes where
HCT patients are resident using Multi-agency Observation Tool or reporting safeguarding
concerns.
Membership of Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SAR) and Serious Incident
Reviews (MASIR) to ensure lessons learnt are shared across all Hertfordshire
organisations.
The Trust has been involved in two SARs which were completed in the past 12 months.
The SAFA Team is working with the Local Authority to streamline the Safeguarding Adults
concern/ referral pathway and feedback process to ensure our staff who raise concerns
are informed of the outcome
HCT Safeguarding Adult Team and Deputy Director Quality & Governance attended all
meetings relating to the work of the HSAB (e.g. Board meetings, Subgroup meetings and
SAR panel meetings etc.)
HCT has participated in the multiagency Mental Capacity Act Forum and attended 3
meetings

Organisation Training Figures

The Trust provides safeguarding adults training for every member of staff with a mandatory
requirement annually. The CCG contracted requirement is 3 yearly but the Trust recognises the
value of keeping safeguarding as a high priority area for its staff.
Both face-to-face and e-learning training is available for staff updates and induction training is
provided face-to-face only. Refresher training is offered face-to-face. Relevant clinical staff must
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complete training in Mental Capacity Act and DoLS so that they understand their responsibility
within the relevant legislation.

The table below demonstrates staff training uptake across HCT 2016/17:
SAFA to Contract standards
SAFA at Induction within 3 months
SAFA Mandatory updates
Mental Capacity Act training
DoLS (clinically relevant)
Prevent

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

95%
85%
83%
N/A
98%

92%
98%
90%
79%
92%

98%
98%
98%
100%
95%

The Safeguarding Adult Team delivered a significant amount of training in 2016-17:
 11 Induction sessions
 11 One Stop sessions
 7 mop up PREVENT training sessions
 5 Ad hoc training sessions
 6 Safeguarding Champions sessions

8.

Mental Capacity

The SAFA Team has supported clinical staff to improve their knowledge and understanding of
the MCA by increasing face-to-face training.
The CCG carried out a dip sample at one of HCT’s Inpatient Units in November 2016 and noted
a good standard of documentation for the MCA assessments reviewed. One example was
identified as exemplary and has been anonymised and made available on the staff intranet to
show staff what a good assessment looks like.
In addition, this example has been shared with the Hertfordshire Mental Capacity Forum at the
request of the CCGs Head of Adult Safeguarding.
The HCT Safeguarding Named Nurse has been instrumental in the development of a free, local
MCA app which was launched in October 2016.
8.1

DoLS local arrangements

Revised guidance on DoLS process has been disseminated to Community Inpatient units, noting
the Coroner is only informed if a patient receiving care in the Trust dies in suspicious
circumstances with a DoLS in place. The DoLS form and a completed example have also been
provided to staff in regards to DoLS.
A Sharing Lessons in Practice (SLiP Winter 2016) was produced following a complaint and
focussed on involving and including relevant family and carers in relation to best interest
decisions that result in a DoLS application. A DoLS information leaflet outlining the process for
relatives and carers has been developed for use in all Community Inpatient Units (Appendix1)
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8.2

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards activity:
Year

Number of Applications

2014-2015

44

2015-2016

104

2016-2017

92*

*It is possible that the closure of one Community Inpatient units had an impact on the reduced
number of DoLS applications this year.
Breakdown of 2016/17 DoLS applications
Total number
of
applications
made

Assessed
and
Authorised

Assessed
and not
Authorised

Application
withdrawn as
capacity
regained

Discharged
prior to
Assessment

Awaiting
Assessment

92

6

2

6

76*

2

*A large proportion of patients awaiting assessment have not been assessed by a Best Interests
Assessor. This is a risk that sits with Hertfordshire County Council as the Supervisory Body and
has been escalated to the HSAB.

9.

PREVENT

PREVENT is part of the UK Government’s Counter- Terrorist Strategy (CONTEST), which aims
to reduce the risk of terrorism. The aim of PREVENT is to help identify adults at risk of engaging
in or supporting terrorism or terrorist activity where, according to sources, there is a greater
danger that radicalisers and extremists will operate.
A PREVENT training session is a standard part of the Trust induction / refresher training. The
Trust training sessions are delivered by the Trust’s Named Nurse Safeguarding Adults and
PREVENT Lead or other trained facilitators. Evaluation sheets completed by PREVENT course
attendees overwhelmingly show that participants believe it to be an interesting and valuable
training.
The Trust has noted only one referral in 2016-17 raised by HCT Speech & Language service.

10.

Reporting safeguarding activity

Systems are in place to monitor safeguarding concerns raised by HCT staff or external agencies
which involve the Trust.
The tables below identify a further increase in safeguarding concerns, indicating that HCT staff
Recognise, Respond and Refer concerns of potential/actual abuse.
The Safeguarding Adult Forum monitors the data quarterly which includes a further breakdown
of individual team data. Areas of concern such as over reporting or under reporting are
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investigated further and actions agreed. The data below demonstrates a 51% increase in SAFA
concerns raised for 2016/17 across Hertfordshire relating to HCT.

SAFA concerns received by year
500
450
400
350
300
250
200
150
100
50
0

471
313
125

159

2012/13

2013/14

202

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

As well as an increase in overall concerns raised there is a specific increase in concerns relating
to neglect and acts of omission. Self-Neglect and Domestic Abuse were new categories of abuse
in 2015 since the introduction of The Care Act 2014 and a marked increase in concerns raised
for these categories indicates improved staff awareness.
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The service has also started to collate the number of attendances at safeguarding meetings to
demonstrate the impact that safeguarding is having on the SAFA team and frontline staff.
2016/17
Type of
meeting
Number of
HCT staff
attending

11.

Professionals
meetings

Safeguarding

17

80

Serious Task force Never Event
Concerns meetings
13

3

4

Audit

HCT staff participated in the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adult Board audit on Self-Neglect.
Outcomes of the audit are not available for inclusion in this report.
The CCG Designated Safeguarding Lead carried out 2 MCA dip sample audits to test frontline
staff ability to assess patient capacity. The CCG lead confirmed she was satisfied with the
records examined and commended the assessment process. One example was described as
exemplary and HCT were requested to share the assessment with partner agencies as an
example of good practice.
It is acknowledged that the quarterly Ward audit tool has been inconsistently completed and this
is in part due to lack of capacity by the Inpatient Unit Clinical Quality Lead, the SAFA team and
the Ward Managers. It is anticipated that a peer review approach will more be successful in
2017-18.
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There are a number of audits planned during 2017-18:
 Audit to test the Not Brought in Policy in targeted adult services
 Knowledge and understanding of the Safeguarding Adult Policy
 Audit to test the Chaperone Policy in targeted adult services

12.

Risk

Service demand and capacity:
Increased training delivery, supervision of Safeguarding Adult Champions and 51% increase in
referral activity by HCT staff are all impacting on the efficiency of the SAFA service making it
difficult to consistently provide timely telephone support to frontline staff and/or partner agencies.
MCA & DOLS:
It is anticipated that there will be additional demand to HCTs workforce, particularly in relation to
the Community Inpatient Units following the planned changes to the DOLS process when the
Law Commission recommendations are agreed through Parliament this year.
The revised Hertfordshire Multiagency MCA Policy and new capacity assessment and best
interest decision forms will need to be embedded within HCTs existing processes

13.

Summary

During 2016/17: SAFA concerns increased by 51%, impacting on the capacity of the SAFA team.
Improved joint working with the Safeguarding Children’s Team has resulted in the development
of joint Policies (Domestic Abuse Policy and Not Brought in Policy).
HCT received positive feedback from the CCG following the biannual audit of MCA assessments
in the Community Inpatient units. In addition, the Safeguarding Adults service recently received
very positive feedback following a CCG Safeguarding Adult Assurance visit.
The Trust has developed an anonymised, best practice example of a mental capacity
assessment which has been presented at the multiagency MCA Forum in Hertfordshire.

14.

Priorities for 2017/18









Continue to work in close partnership with the Safeguarding Children’s Team
Work with the Named Nurse Safeguarding Children to develop a new Trust Chaperone
Policy and audit its effectiveness.
Report on themes and trends emerging from safeguarding adults supervision at the
Safeguarding Adults Forum
Ensure continued attendance at HSAB Subgroups
Improve partnership working with HPFT safeguarding team
Complete and launch the local Safeguarding Adult App
Safeguarding Adult champions training to focus on Modern Slavery and Self Neglect
Increase involvement in Hoarding groups across Hertfordshire
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Improve the recording of the SAFA Team’s activity to illustrate the increasing demand on
the service.

Tricia Wren
Deputy Director of Quality & Governance / Deputy Chief Nurse
Jane Newcombe
Named Nurse Safeguarding Adults

June 2017
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Appendix 1

Sharing Lessons in Practice
Winter 2016

Learning from a complaint
By learning from experience we will be better able to continually improve the safety and quality of
the services that we provide.
The carer of a patient in a community hospital raised a number of concerns regarding the care
their friend received whilst an inpatient; the concerns were investigated through the complaints
procedure.
Two areas of specific learning points were identified:
1. It is important that all staff are aware that carers need to be engaged in the continuing
process of care whilst people are inpatients in HCT community hospitals or under the care
of HCT community teams.
2. It is important to be clear with carers about the implications of undertaking Mental
Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguarding Assessments.
These learning points, along with others identified, are shared below.
The Patient Experience team works with services to ensure complaints are managed in line with
expectations, including ensuring concerns are appropriately investigated, learning is identified and
lessons are learnt.
Patient Experience and Complaints team, central number 01707 388036
Ruth Bradford,
Mandy Massey,
Helen Murphy,

Clinical Quality Manager
07789503475
Patient Experience & Complaints Manager 01707 388034
PALS & Complaints Coordinator
01707 388037

Effective communication

Source

If a patient or their carer raises
concerns it is important to provide
feedback to them regarding the actions
that have been taken in response.

The carer spoke with the ward manager on
more than one occasion and raised a number
of concerns. The ward manager undertook a
number of actions in response to the
discussions but failed to update the carer on
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the actions they had taken. It is possible that
updating the carer would have helped alleviate
the carer’s concerns.
Managing the expectations of patients
The carer considered that their friend was
and their carers on the treatment and
sitting all day on the ward with very little to do
rehabilitation that is to be provided while and that 45 minutes of therapy a day was
on the ward is helpful. This includes
insufficient. Review confirmed that the patient
clearly explaining what to expect and
had received individual and group therapy from
the rehabilitation programme for the
the multi-disciplinary team appropriate for their
individual patient.
needs. This information should have been
continually shared with the carer
Occasionally communication with
patients and their carers may break
down. However, the weight of
responsibility for maintaining effective
communication rests with the service. If
a situation is becoming difficult to
manage, inform your manager, seek
advice and support, but don’t stop
communicating with the patient or carer.

The carer’s anxiety and distress may have
contributed to what was perceived to be
adversarial and intimidating behaviour. They
report feeling excluded from helping to care for
their friend whilst the ward observed that the
carer was not following the advice to most
appropriately help the patient such that a
safeguarding alert was raised.

The team manager should instigate a
meeting with the patient and
family/carer and staff involved with the
patients care to discuss and agree
planned care and treatment

Care on the wards

Source

When individual needs are identified,
ensure that care plans are developed
and used to record when care is
delivered. For example, if a patient
needs to wear orthotics for agreed
periods during the day (e.g. a hand
splint) a care plan should be developed
where it is recorded when the splints
have been used.
If you are unclear of the significance of
risk assessment results or if changes to
care are indicated, you must liaise with
a senior clinician, seek advice and
ensure appropriate actions are taken. It
is important that risk assessments
inform care and that people undertaking
risk assessments ensure care plans are
reviewed to reflect changing needs.
Should a patient or carer request a copy

The patient was to wear a hand splint for 2
hours twice a day. It was verbally reported
that the splints were worn as expected and
there are occasional entries in notes to this
effect, including occasions when the patient
declined to wear the splint. However,
insufficient information was available to be
able to retrospectively confirm that the splints
were worn as expected.
The patient was assessed as having a high
risk of developing pressure damage.
However, whilst a pressure relieving mattress
was in place, it was not upgraded to a more
appropriate mattress until two weeks after the
risk assessment had been completed.

The carer asked if they could receive copies of
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Care on the wards

Source

of a trust policy it is expected that they
will be provided with a copy.

specific trust policies. The service was unsure
if policies could be shared and did not provide
the correct advice to the carer which led to a
delay in the carer receiving the policies; the
delay contributed to the carer experiencing
increased levels of frustration.
As the situation deteriorated and
communications became increasingly difficult
the carer requested that they self-discharge
their friend from the ward. They were given
incorrect advice about self-discharge.

All policies are available on the HCT
intranet and staff can provide them to
patients/carers.
Occasionally, a request is made that is
so unusual or happens so infrequently
that the correct response is not known.
In these situations it is important to be
honest, confirm that you do not know
but that you will find out and get back to
the person.

Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation Source
of Liberty Safeguarding assessments
Mental capacity is the ability to make a
specific decision at the time it needs to
be made. Patients may have fluctuating
capacity or may have capacity to make
some, simpler decisions. They may not
however be considered to have capacity
to make more complex decisions. It is
important to explain to patients and
carers about mental capacity and
mental capacity assessments and to
provide specific information relevant to
the patient and their individual
circumstances.

Whilst the patient had capacity to make some
decisions, such as accepting or declining to
wear hand splints, it was considered that they
did not have sufficient capacity to make
decisions associated with self-discharge and a
mental capacity assessment was undertaken.
This was not fully explained to the carer at the
time and contributed to the carer feeling
concerned about the care that was being
delivered.

It is good practice and it is expected that
the views of relatives or carers will be
included in the best interest decision
assessment.

The best interest decision assessment was
undertaken without involving the carer and
providing them with an opportunity to include
their views.

Christine Stock, Head of Patient Safety and Claire Peck, Serious Incident Manager, would be pleased to
receive your comments about Sharing Lessons in Practice and any “sound bites” you consider should be
shared with colleagues.
Christine Stock is available on 01707 388033 or email Christine.Stock@hct.nhs.uk.
Claire Peck is available on 01707 388027 or email Claire.Peck@hct.nhs.uk
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Safeguarding Children
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Sue Thompson
Named Nurse for Safeguarding Children
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1.

Executive summary

This is the 7th annual report on Safeguarding Children to the Executive Board of
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT). The report informs and supports the regular
quarterly reports provided to Healthcare Governance Committee and the Trust Board. The
purpose of the report is to provide assurance that HCT complies with the regulations set out
in:




The Care Quality Commission (CQC) Essential Standards for Quality and Safety
(Outcome 7: Safeguarding people who use services from abuse)
Section 11 of the Children Act 2004
Working Together 2015

The report demonstrates the scope of the work undertaken by the Safeguarding Children
Team, in collaboration with HCT staff, Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board and Essex
Safeguarding Children Board, and includes the uptake of training and supervision by HCT
staff to provide assurance that effective support to staff in regard to safeguarding children is
in place.
The Safeguarding Children Team works closely with internal partners on policy
development, training, audit, staff supervision and advice. This reflects the Safeguarding
Children Team’s commitment to further develop safeguarding children practice across the
Multi-disciplinary teams of HCT to improve patient safety, patient experience and the quality
of care provided.
2.

Key achievements in 2016/17
 Achieved 95% compliance with safeguarding children training against target of 95%
 Maintained safeguarding children supervision levels above 95%
 Successful Rapid Response Conference in October 2016 for 80 delegates including
a father who shared his experience following the tragic death of his teenage son.
 Developed a train the trainer model to enhance delivery of Graded Care Profile
training with partner agencies.
 Delivered Graded Care Profile training at the HSCB conference in October 2016
 Developed and launched joint Safeguarding Adult and Children Not Bought In
Policy in December 2016
 Developed and launched joint Safeguarding Adult and Children Domestic Abuse
Policy in December 2016
 Audit on the quality of safeguarding supervision indicated 100% compliance to the
process
 Audit of supervisee’s’ satisfaction with supervision demonstrated 98% satisfaction.
 Created Domestic Abuse (DA) Champions in Children Universal Services
Development of Rapid Response poster that was presented at the East of England
medical conference with exceptional interest.
 MASH partners were awarded the Hertfordshire Children’s Services Integrated
Multi-Agency Team of the Year in March 2017
 Re-designed the Maternity Sharing process of vulnerable women and unborn
babies in partnership with the acute Trust maternity services
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3.

Strategic Context

HCT is committed to delivering ‘high value healthcare’ which provides excellent clinical
outcomes, an outstanding patient experience, consistent and improving patient safety and is
highly efficient and cost-effective. Assurance of robust safeguarding children practice is
presented at the Safeguarding Children Forum where national policy and guidance is
reviewed and implemented.
Assurance that HCT is fulfilling its obligations in regard to the Children Act is monitored
through the Safeguarding Children Board. Section 11 audits for Hertfordshire Safeguarding
Children Board have been successfully completed.
4.

Safeguarding Governance Arrangements

Accountability for delivering the corporate safeguarding children function is held by HCT’s
Director of Quality & Governance/Chief Nurse. The Safeguarding Children Forum is a
subcommittee of the Patient Safety & Experience Group, which reports to the Healthcare
Governance Committee and escalates key outcomes to the Trust Board.
Membership of the Safeguarding Children Forum is chaired by the Deputy Director, Quality
& Governance/Deputy Chief Nurse and includes the Named Doctor for HCT, Designated
Nurse for Safeguarding Children, Public Health Commissioning lead as well as
representation from HCT Children’s Services and the Quality & Governance Directorate.
The Safeguarding Children Committee meets bi-monthly and:





receives an operational overview of safeguarding activity and training data
receives performance against key performance indicators set by commissioners
reviews learning from incidents
assurance of compliance with statutory guidance, national and local
recommendations and guidance
 reviews and monitors local actions in regard to Serious Case Reviews, Domestic
Homicide Reviews, CQC and HSCB/ESCB audits
 reviews risks in relation to safeguarding children in the Trust
 receives minutes of the HSCB and sub groups, noting actions for HCT.
The Trust is represented at the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board (HSCB) by the
Director of Quality & Governance/Chief Nurse, and safeguarding leads from the Trust attend
all HSCB subcommittees.

5.

Safeguarding Children Team

The Safeguarding Children Team supports all staff and services across HCT and children’s
staff in West Essex who were employed by the Trust until 31 March 2017. The team consists
of:






1.0 wte Named Nurse
2.0 wte Safeguarding Children Nurse Managers
5.75 wte Safeguarding Nurse Specialist Nurses
2.0 wte Safeguarding Nurses in the MASH
0.2 wte Named Doctor safeguarding West Herts – vacancy currently partly covered
by clinical director
 0.2 wte Named doctor safeguarding West Essex – 0.1 wte covered at present.
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Since October 2016 there have been vacancies within the Safeguarding Children Team due
to internal promotions and a retirement of one post. Successful recruitment has taken place
and all posts will be filled by July 2017.
The Safeguarding Nurses offer a county-wide service which includes:
 training to all levels of staff employed by HCT
 supporting HSCB training pool to deliver training to partners
 providing immediate advice and support via the duty line
 supporting and supervising staff
 regular auditing to ensure safeguarding process and procedures are effective
 preparing staff and records for legal proceedings
 supporting practitioners during the Court process if required to give evidence
 providing the Rapid Response service
 providing health staff to support the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
Each WTE safeguarding supervisor supports approximately 55 members of staff at individual
safeguarding supervision. Following the decommissioning of Family Nurse Partnership in
April 2016, supervision was increased to accommodate the additional FNP families. This
impacted on the amount of supervision available to Health Visitors in the short term but was
successfully managed in partnership with the Health Visiting team.
The Multi-agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) has evolved significantly and there is an impact
upon Children Universal Services (CUS) when MASH nurses cannot meet the service
demand. Funding of the MASH nurses is agreed annually by the three commissioners in
Hertfordshire. MASH data indicates that current funding of 2 WTE nurses does not meet the
demand and additional work has to be managed within CUS, increasing their workload. The
funding gap has been raised with commissioners.
This year both Safeguarding Adults and Children’s teams worked closer together to develop
integrated safeguarding training as part of the induction programme and developed two
Safeguarding Policies: Not Brought In and Domestic Abuse. In addition to their roles, the
safeguarding children team provided support and strategy development to ensure that multiagency working is robust, that challenge and escalation processes are implemented when
required and provides assurance that any newly developed safeguarding processes are not
compromised.
The Safeguarding Children Team ensure staff are kept informed of relevant safeguarding
advice, disseminated through HCT communication systems, staff resource area, Children’s
Service Bulletin, safeguarding newsletters, bespoke training and attendance at team
meetings. Guidance tools, leaflets and posters have been produced by the team throughout
the year to share good practice and are available on the intranet (Appendix 1).

6.

Safeguarding Children Service

HCT works well with its partner agencies at both an operational and strategic level. The
Senior Safeguarding Nurses represent HCT on HSCB subgroups and all the Safeguarding
Nurses are members of the HSCB training pool, providing their expertise at a wide range of
training events and sessions across Hertfordshire. The team are leading on Graded Care
Profile and Bruising training.
The Safeguarding Children Team monitored all referrals to children services to provide
assurance that the safeguarding threshold was met, that a Graded Care Profile was
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commenced or considered when a referral for neglect was submitted and to ensure staff are
submitting a high standard of referrals. The number of families referred into children
services in 2016/17 was 227, representing an increase of 36 (16%) in comparison to the
previous year. The monthly safeguarding audit regarding the outcome of the referral
indicated that the majority of the referrals were signposted to early help for enhanced
support, or taken up by Children Services due to meeting the safeguarding threshold. At the
present time, referral outcomes cannot be collated by the HSCB due to work capacity
issues, but the service is working closely with the HSCB to find a solution.
There has been a significant decrease in the number of children subject to a Child Protection
plan (CPP) (see table 1). Currently there are 552 (March 2017) children subject to a CPP in
comparison to 866 in March 2016. The number of children with a CPP has declined by 36%
throughout the year. As a result the number of children with Child in Need (CIN) plans has
increased significantly. This is due to the step-down process from CPP and cases that are
being supported under Section 17 of the Children Act (1989). The CIN process reflects the
HSCB ‘Meeting the Needs’ document regarding thresholds for support and intervention.
Although numbers of children with CPP plans have reduced significantly, the work-load has
not changed for Children Universal Services, due to the CIN processes that are expected to
be undertaken.
Table 1
Number of CPP in Herts
Quarter period
Number of CPP
Q1
711
Q2
681
Q3
553
Q4*
522
*up to end of March 2017
6.1

Serious Case Reviews (SCR) and Partnership Case Reviews, Domestic
Homicide Reviews (DHR)

Serious Case Reviews:
There have been no new Serious Case Reviews commissioned by HSCB or ESCB during
2016/17 that required an active input from HCT. Two of the SCRs commissioned in 2013
and 2014 were published in 2016 and the lessons learnt incorporated into HCT training.
There is one SCR still to be published; the delay is due to on-going criminal proceedings.
Domestic Homicide Reviews:
One Domestic Homicide Review (DHR) was commissioned by Hertfordshire Constabulary in
2016/17. A chronology of events has been shared from HCT Adult and Children’s records.
The case is currently under review by the Hertfordshire DHR panel.

7.

Key Areas of service delivery during 2016/17

7.1

Performance and management

The principles of an effective and safe service are the identification, assessment and
management of risk. The Safeguarding Children Team supports, enables and challenges
staff to make safe and effective decisions to safeguard and protect vulnerable children.
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Measurement of performance and outcomes is therefore complex and includes a variety of
factors which include:







performance indicators related to training and supervision uptake
audit of safeguarding practice
risk management
review of serious/complex cases
responses to HSCB multi-agency action plans
development and review of policies to ensure they are in line with local and
national guidance
 working with partners in the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
7.2

Clinical guidelines, best practice and staff education

Staff education:
It is a legal requirement under the Children Act 2004 (Section 11) that all individuals who
work in NHS organisations, permanently, contracted or commissioned, should be trained,
able to recognise when a child may require safeguarding or be at risk, and know what action
to take.
All staff in HCT are trained by the Safeguarding Children Team who are responsible for the
delivery of safeguarding training programmes at different levels dependent on the level of
contact that the staff member has with children in their daily work. Levels and frequency of
staff training are aligned to the Intercollegiate Document 2014 (RCPCH 2014). In conjunction
with this the training strategy provides the framework for ensuring that all staff employed
within HCT, independent contractors and volunteers are appropriately trained in
safeguarding the welfare of children in line with national and local requirements.
Training is underpinned by principles which promote the welfare of the child, promotes
working in partnership with families, respects diversity, promotes inter-agency working,
recognises emotional impact, is evidence based and above all must be child centred.
Acquiring knowledge, skills and expertise in safeguarding/child protection should be seen as
a continuum. It is recognised that staff will increase skill and competence throughout their
professional careers and therefore training needs to be flexible, encompassing different
learning styles and opportunities. Each training session is evaluated and the programme is
regularly updated to take into account participant feedback and changes in legislation,
research and local and national practices. Staff evaluations indicate that training is valued.
The training programme is adapted in response to findings from Serious Case Reviews,
Partnership Case Reviews, Domestic Homicide Reviews and both local and HSCB audit.
Staff are also encouraged to attend HSCB multiagency training to raise awareness of a
multi-agency approach to protecting children, support networking and promote effective
information sharing.
Bespoke training is also provided to staff groups where there are difficulties in enabling staff
to leave there work area to attend safeguarding children training. The future vision for
bespoke training is to deliver a mandatory training session throughout the year to give
further assurance of compliance to training.
During the past year the Safeguarding Children Team has worked closely with the General
Managers in Adult services to increase training compliance in this staff group. This has
proved a challenge and the Safeguarding Children Team are working with the Learning &
Development service to identify creative ways to target difficult staff groups. This will include
developing a Safeguarding Children training work-book for level 1 and 2 staff.
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Safeguarding Children Training compliance achieved (95%) including levels 1 – 4 for HCT
and West Essex professionals ( table 2). Training is consistently well evaluated by staff who
state that it will have a positive outcome on their practice. A follow-up audit to test staff
knowledge has been developed and regular audit is planned.
Table 2
Training compliance 2016-17 (compliance = 95%)

102%
100%
98%

Q1

96%

Q2
Q3

94%

Q4

92%
90%
88%
Level 1

7.3

Level 2

Level 3

Level 4

Safeguarding Children Supervision:

Compliance for eligible staff receiving safeguarding supervision within the prescribed period
for their professional group is now set at 95%. There has been an increase in staff accessing
safeguarding supervision which is due to data cleansing and closer monitoring of compliance
by the safeguarding admin team.
It was agreed that the supervision data would be collated at end of each quarter as monthly
reporting was not providing accurate data.
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The graph below demonstrates staff grouping compliance with supervision during 2016/17.
Staff supervision compliance 2016/17
120%

Target = 95%

100%
80%
60%
40%
20%
0%

SN
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SCT/LAC

Q1

95%

94%

97%

98%

100%

Q2

94%

97%

81%

92%

100%

Q3

98%

99%

100%

95%

100%

Q4

100%

100%

100%

98%

100%

Key:
SN
HV
CSS
AHP
SCT / LAC

8.

School Nurse
Health Visitor
Children’s Specialist Services
Allied Health Professionals
Safeguarding Children Team / Looked after Children Team

Participation in audit

A number of audits have been undertaken by the team against recommendations from
national and local reviews, a sample of these are set out below:
8.1

Children’s Services Audit

The monthly audit of referrals to children’s services has continued. Data is obtained via
SystmOne and Datix reports. At the present time all referrals made to children services are
scrutinised by the Safeguarding Children Team and information cascaded widely. The
outcome of the audit indicates that the majority of the referrals are taken up either via the
assessment team of Children Services, or through early help support services; that referrals
are made outside the Health Visiting core contacts; referrals made due to multiple domestic
abuse notifications and that Graded Care Profile assessments were considered in the
majority of referrals. The number of referrals that were considered to be under the
acceptable standard due to limited documentation is low and are followed up with the
referrer.
The whole process is to enhance partnership working, ensure thresholds are met and
therefore improve outcomes for children and their families.
8.2

Quality Priority 3

Safeguarding Annual Report 2016/17

11

Quality Priority 3 was set to improve early identification of all vulnerable and at risk children
who are Not Brought In for planned appointments with HCT children’s services.
Following the ratification of The Not Brought In (NBI) Joint (Safeguarding Adult and
Children’s) policy in Q3, two audits have been undertaken in Q4 to give assurance that the
new policy is being followed. The results of the audit from 14 sets of records selected widely
across the Trust indicate that there is 93% compliance and that appropriate icons reflecting
vulnerability and risk assessment had been considered in all 14 records audited (100%). A
further audit of two children’s disciplines using a total of 12 records, indicated that the NBI
process and appropriate icons and risk assessments were considered in all 12 records
audited, resulting in 100% compliance. A Meridian audit is planned in June 2017, 6-months
after the policy was launched.
8.3

Supervisee Audit

The second supervisee audit via Meridian was completed in Q3, to review the quality of
Safeguarding Children Team (SCT) Supervision. Questionnaires were emailed to 770 staff
that access Individual and Group supervision with the SCT. An excellent response rate of
43.5% (335 surveys returned) was achieved. Findings indicate that:
 99% of respondents received formal safeguarding children supervision within the
time frame specified.
 98% of staff reported that safeguarding supervision enabled them to work
confidently with their safeguarding children caseload.
 98% reported that safeguarding supervision enabled them to keep the child as the
focus for the care they were delivering
 84% of respondents reported that supervision challenged or enabled them to modify
their case management.
The results of the audit have been fed back to staff via Noticeboard and the plan is to
complete this audit annually.
8.4

Domestic abuse audit

Health Visitors’ records were audited in Q3, to identify action taken following receipt of a
domestic abuse notification via the police. The Safeguarding Children Team reviewed
records county-wide to consider if adequate risk assessment had been completed when
making a decision on whether to follow up service users and their children following receipt
of the Police information. Audit indicated that there were some areas of good practice,
however in other cases there was little evidence to support decision making. Safety of the
victim had been considered in some cases but there were occasions where a risk
assessment had not taken place for the child. There was little evidence of Health Visitor
action planning. The Adult and Child domestic abuse templates were not used correctly and
there were records where the icons had not been used which could potentially have
influenced other staff accessing the records. The auditors suggested that Health Visitors
could have contacted the Safeguarding Children Team for advice in more cases which may
have supported their decision making and kept the children central to their focus. This audit
has influenced the training developed by the safeguarding children team and has been
amended to remind professionals of their roles and responsibilities in the follow up of
domestic abuse notifications and documentation within the health records. The results of
this audit were shared with CUS managers and team leaders, encouraging the results to be
shared at team meetings, highlighting the correct process to be used. The SCT will consider
the development of a further dip sampling audit to be used at individual safeguarding
supervision. This audit will be repeated in six months.
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8.5

Peer safeguarding supervision Audit

In Q4, a peer supervision audit was undertaken looking at the documentation on the
SystmOne template at safeguarding supervision. Two sets of randomly selected records
were audited from each of the Safeguarding Children Supervisors. The data indicated
excellent compliance to the following areas:
Audit Questions
Is there evidence of the reason why the case has been brought to
safeguarding supervision?
Is there evidence that the supervisor has reflected upon concerns/unmet
needs raised at previous supervision?
Does the supervision recorded reflect the voice of the child?
Is there evidence in the new journal that previous actions from last
supervision have been addressed? If not, why?
Is there evidence that the action plans for this safeguarding session are
Clearly documented and SMART? If not, why?
Has the supervision been undertaken within the three month time-frame?

8.6

Compliance
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Record keeping audit

The record keeping audit using Meridian continues to be undertaken to audit SystmOne
records of children with Child Protection Plans together with Health Visitors (HV) and School
Nurses (SN) at their individual safeguarding supervision sessions. This audit seeks to check
if:
 the quality of the practitioner’s record keeping is complaint with policy
 the relevant family members and professionals’ details are recorded?
 parental responsibility is evident?
 the appropriate safeguarding icons are present?
 liaison between professionals is clear?
 the HV/SN action plan follow SMART principles?
 the “voice of the child” is evident?
There were 568 Meridian questionnaires completed that informed the audit from April 2016
to March 2017.
This audit has seen improvements in recording in all areas, particularly in the documentation
of family members (groups and relationships), maternal parental responsibility, the use of the
safeguarding icons, and action planning. Areas that require improvement such as
documentation paternal parental responsibility; professional information within the groups
and relationships and documented evidence that core group meeting minutes are requested
are discussed with individuals, Team Leads and Managers and fed back though the Children
and Young People’s management team meetings and Safeguarding Children Forum.
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The chart below identifies the monthly volume of questionnaires completed for the audit by
the Safeguarding Children Team from April 2016 and March 2017.

Questionnaires completed
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0

8.7

Hertfordshire Section 11

The action plan for the section 11 (2015) has been progressed and monitored through the
Safeguarding Children Forum, to ensure compliance during 2016/17. All areas that were
identified for improvement have been completed and ratified by the Safeguarding Children
Forum.
On 31/3/2017, a Section 11 audit occurred. The CCG have commented that overall it is clear
that HCT have a committed and progressive Safeguarding Children’s team. The key
identified areas to progress and monitor through an action plan are:
 to increase the numbers of GCP’s that are commenced. Completion of Child in
Need audit examining the numbers and quality of GCPs commenced and reviewed
in the sample reviewed.
 exploration of communication pathways in relation to liaison with HCT following an
Early Help assessment.
 to provide clarity around definition of low, medium and high risk domestic abuse
notifications and ensure comprehensive guidance is available for staff when
completing a risk assessment.
 to review current MARAC process
 explore and demonstrate how staff are supported in their work with families from the
travelling community, including understanding of culture diversity.
 that Child Protection Medicals, carried out by the Paediatricians, are being
documented on SystmOne
 dip sample audit that action plans for Looked After Children, formulated as a result
of findings from a health assessment, are followed up and consequently completed
 robust and vigorous information sharing process is in place across West
Hertfordshire once decommissioning of the Paediatric Liaison service is complete.
Recommendations following the Section 11 audit have been included in the delivery plan for
2017/18 and will be monitored by the Safeguarding Children Forum.
Safeguarding Annual Report 2016/17
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9.

Rapid Response Service

The Rapid Response service is a nurse-led, multi-agency response to enquire and evaluate
each unexpected child death. This information is then shared with the Child Death Overview
Panel (CDOP) process. The focus of the Rapid Response service is to work with partners to
help gather information that will assist the investigation to identify how the child died and to
provide support to bereaved families. The Safeguarding Children Team and members of the
Health Visitor team are trained as case clinicians in this process and the service is provided
from 8am to 8pm every day of the year.
The first Rapid Response conference “How Together We Can Make a Difference” was held
in October 2016. The multi-agency conference delivered a full agenda of partnership working
to 80 delegates and to raise the understanding of partner agencies in relation to the Rapid
Response process. The conference was privileged to have a father share his experience
following the tragic death of his teenage son. Due to the excellent feedback from delegates,
a second Rapid Response conference is scheduled for October 2017.
A training session was delivered at the Lister Hospital in 2016/17, with a further training in
May 2017. Training is offered to partners at each Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board
(HSCB) Rapid Response steering group.
The Rapid Response team continues to consider and identify any themes that are identified
through the death of a child, with the aim of encouraging campaigns to reduce the risk to
children in Hertfordshire and to improve outcomes for children. This year water safety
leaflets have been distributed to the health visitors to discuss at a child’s developmental
assessment following the tragic death of two children who drowned.
Following the redesign of the (HSCB) Safe Sleeping leaflet in 2015, which is given to all
parents at the new birth visit and transfer into area of children under 1-year old, there has
been a significant drop in the number of tragic Sudden Unexpected Deaths of Infants
(SUDI). It is considered that a contributory factor in this reduction is the Health Visitor
discussion with parents, supported by the leaflet.
The table below (generated from HCT Rapid Response data) shows the number of
unexpected child deaths over the last four years referred to the Rapid Response Nurses and
those which were managed as a Rapid Response after assessment.
Number of deaths requiring the Rapid Response process
30
25
20

Total number of Unexpected
deaths reported to RR team

15

Number of Unexpected deaths
managed by RR team
Deaths under 1-year of age

10
Number of SUDI
5
0
2013

2014
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Causes for deaths in children in 2016

Found unresponsive

1
3

1

Medically related
conditions
Death related to fall
Hanging

1

2

Sudden Unexpected Death
in Infancy

The Rapid Response team has developed the first Rapid Response poster (Appendix 2) that
was circulated widely in 2016/17. The poster was also presented at an East of England
Medical Conference as an example of excellent practice which generated positive interest.
Currently, the Rapid Response nursing team is working on a proposed model re-design. The
current model requires a nurse to be on duty 365 days a year, between 8am and 8pm. This
model is no longer sustainable due to changing work patterns and capacity of the
Safeguarding Children Team, and a reduced demand for the service.
The demands on the Safeguarding Children Team have increased considerably over the
years due to national and regional changes relating to the protection of children, such as
increased supervision of health staff and continual audits to identify early risk factors in the
organisation. The Safeguarding Children Team is also managing an increased risk of
Children Universal Services vacancies, and a young and inexperienced Health Visitor work
force. The additional pressures on the Safeguarding Children Team are affecting stress
levels and staff morale. The existing Rapid Response model did effect the recent recruitment
to the safeguarding children team, as potential candidates chose not to pursue their job
application due to the Rapid Response rota expectations.
The revised Rapid Response model proposes to operate a 9am to 5pm service Monday to
Friday (excluding Bank Holidays). This model would require multi-agency partnership
working with other health professionals within the acute trust on a rota basis during
weekends, bank holidays and out of hours. The revised model proposal requires board
approval and HSCB approval to progress. Additionally further training will be offered to
partners to support and assist the transition if the new model is approved.
10.

Risks

There are currently two risks on the Quality Directorate Risk Register that relate to
safeguarding children:
1. Safeguarding capacity demands in the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
due to excess capacity demands on the funded 2 WTE Nurses.
2. Two sessions for Named Doctor not fully covered due to one year’s induction
required for the new post-holder
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The risk regarding the decommissioning of the Paediatric Liaison Services in the west of
county has been logged on the CUS risk register. The redesign model is not in operation and
progress has been slower than envisaged.
11.

Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) Partnership

The MASH Health partnership continues to offer an excellent service, working with Partners
to ensure a timely response to referrals made to Hertfordshire Children’ Service’s, in order to
Safeguard Children.
The data (Appendix 3) demonstrates that meeting workload and time scales presents an
ongoing challenge: Mean average of information sharing requests for families completed by
MASH nurse is 81.2%. This is due to the inadequate level of Nursing Staff, and processing
of referrals in the MASH as a whole. This highlights the continued concern that the MASH
Health Partnership cannot achieve the level of work required within the time scales given. At
the present time the safeguarding children team is funding administration support for the
MASH nurses. Without this additional input, the MASH nurses would achieve a lower
percentage of the work load resulting in an increase in the number of referrals not reviewed
within time scales.
The MASH Health Partnership has intermittently experienced significant IT issues in the last
year which has impacted on Health performance, however, actions are always taken to try to
minimise the impact of the disruption.
The MASH have been awarded the Hertfordshire Children’s Services Integrated MultiAgency Team of the Year 2017 earlier this year and one of the Nurses won ‘Star of the
Month’ in April 2017.
12.

Key Areas for Development in 2017/18
 To progress the redesign proposal for the Rapid Response Process
 To develop a bespoke Chaperone Policy for Adults and Children following the
Goddard Enquiry
 To continue to develop the redesign of the Paediatric Liaison in partnership with
Children Universal Services
 Monitor the use of Graded Care Profiles (GCP) assessments and give assurance
those families where Neglect is a concern has had the GCP pathway considered as
part of future action planning.
 To provide clarity around definition of low, medium and high risk domestic abuse
notifications and ensure comprehensive guidance
 Support the HSCB Neglect Delivery Strategy 2016/19 and progress the HCT
Neglect Pledge
 Recommendations identified through inspections (Section 11, Care Quality
Commissioning, and Peer Reviews; Serious Case Reviews, Domestic Homicide
Reviews, Partnership Case Reviews and Internal Management Reviews) are
progressed and completed within the agreed time scales.
 Assurance that Mandatory safeguarding children training compliance is maintained
at all levels as per the Trust KPI.
 Bespoke level 3 training for 2017/18 to be Domestic Abuse training.
 Continue with a programme of audit to improve safeguarding practice across the
Trust
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 Work with Trust IMT staff to resolve the difficulties and safeguarding concerns
caused by TPP’s removal of dissent to override process.
 To ascertain the number of Child in Need plans and monitor the impact upon the
Trust work load.

Tricia Wren, Deputy Director Quality & Governance / Deputy Chief Nurse
Sue Thompson, Named Nurse Safeguarding Children
June 2017
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Appendix 3 - Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub data
Compliance to work capacity (July 16 – March 17)

Week ending

Health Information
sharing requested per
family

July

Aug

Sept

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

598

652

465

492

409

459

477

516

536

435
(693)

458
(582)

346
(621)

394
(712)

313
(650)

351
(617)

431
(896)

480
(925)

517
(1022)

72.8%

70.2%

74.4%

80.1%

76.5%

76.5%

90.4%

93%

96.5%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Health Information
sharing completed per
family*
(number of individual
records reviewed by
nurses in brackets)

% of information sharing
forms completed

% of information sharing
forms completed in time
scales

Target
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Mean
81.2%
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60
% Not completed

50

% Info requests completed

40

% Target for completion in timescales

30
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1. Source: MASH DASH data. HCT MASH Health Data. Full Data available July 2016 –
March 2017
2. Target: 100% of information sharing forms are completed within timescales
3. Definition of target: 100% cases allocated to health by MASH for information
sharing are completed by MASH nurses in time scales.
4. Staffing: WTE 2.0 (75 hours per week) MASH Safeguarding Children Nurse
Specialists.
5. Average nursing time to complete and finalise each information sharing request:
52.04 minutes (N.B. The nursing time taken to review the records and share
information is dependent on the amount of adults and children in that family group;
the data in brackets gives a clearer demonstration of the amount of records the
nurses review each month.)
6. One nurse can complete a mean average of 5-6 cases a day allowing for
administrative time, escalation and multi-agency case discussion. Nursing hours also
needs to incorporate time for attendance at team meetings, absence due to annual
leave and sickness, supervision, appraisal and HCT mandatory training.
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Board 27th July 2017

Attachment J1

The Looked After Children and
Care Leavers Health Service
Annual Report
2016/17

Amanda Middleditch
Named Nurse for Looked After Children & Care Leavers
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1.

Executive Summary

This report is to assure the Board that Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) complies
with the Statutory Guidance on Promoting the Health and Wellbeing of Looked after Children
(DOH 2015).
The report demonstrates the work undertaken by the Looked After Children (LAC) and Care
Leavers Health Service during the period April 2016 to March 2017. The team works in
partnership with Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) Children’s Services and Targeted
Youth Support teams to identify the health needs of looked after children and care leavers.
Glossary of terms used:
BAAF
CLA
CHICC
CL
CSE
CUS
DfE
ENHCCG
FGM
FNP
GP
HCC
HCT
IHA
LAC
LAC GP
NEET
OOC
PHIP
RHA
S1
SEARCH
SEND
SMT
SLA
TYS
UASC
YP
WTE

2.

British Adoption & Fostering Agency
Children Looked After
Children in Care Council Hertfordshire
Care Leaver
Child Sexual Exploitation
Children Universal Service
Department for Education
East & North Herts Clinical Commissioning Group
Female Genital Mutilation
Family Nurse Partnership
General Practitioner
Hertfordshire County Council
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Initial Health Assessment
Looked After Children
Looked After Children General Practitioner
Not in Education, Employment or Training
Out of County
Personal Health Information Plan
Review Health Assessment
SystmOne (electronic health records)
Sexual Exploitation & Runaway Children’s Panel
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
Senior Management Team
Service Level Agreement
Targeted Youth Support
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeker Children
Young Person/Young People
Whole Time Equivalent

Introduction

The Looked after Children and Care Leavers Health Service is commissioned to work
towards identifying the health needs of children and young people in care. The team works in
partnership with other health professionals and Hertfordshire County Council. Contract
arrangements and Key Performance Indicators have been developed in partnership with the
commissioners to support robust reporting of the health needs of looked after children.
Hertfordshire County Council funds the administration posts of the service, with the nursing
posts being funded by the CCG.
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The established service delivery for LAC in Hertfordshire continues to achieve good results
and improvements across the board, as identified in performance data outlined in Section 9
of this report.
In February 2016 the CCGs agreed additional funding to provide a 0.4 WTE Specialist Nurse
post to undertake Review Health Assessments of Hertfordshire looked after children placed
in bordering counties. The overall clearance rates (completion of assessment within
timescales) for 2015 - 2016 were 42% meaning that 58% of LAC placed out of county did not
receive an annual health assessment within timescale. Additional funding enabled the LAC
team to complete 80 commissioned Out of County RHA’s this year improving the systemwide delivery of completed RHAs within timescales. This new approach had a positive
impact, resulting in 95% of Hertfordshire looked after children receiving RHA’s within
timescale.
Key achievements during 2016/17:









3.

Recruitment of Specialist Nurses and 2 LAC GPs
99% complaint with administrative target to process IHA requests
90% of all LAC referred for IHA completed within timescale
93% of LAC, RHA’s completed within timescale
95% of all LAC RHA’s OOC referred to HCT service completed within timescale
Foster Carer health focus group launched
100% attendance at SEARCH and Risk Panel
Compliant with CSE action plan
Developed and delivered care to 70 UASC
National Context

The number of looked after children has increased steadily over the last eight years. The
most current statistics available from the Department of Education (these figures are a year
behind local data) state that there were 70,440 looked after children at 31 March 2016, an
increase of 1% compared to 31 March 2015, and an increase of 5% compared to 31 March
2012. The rise this year reflects a rise of 1,470 unaccompanied asylum seeking children,
compared to a rise of 970 in all looked after children.
An unaccompanied asylum-seeking child (UASC) is a person under 18, or a person who, in
the absence of documentary evidence to establish age, appears to be under that age, and
who is applying for asylum in his or her own right and has no relative or guardian in the
United Kingdom.
The UK continues to receive a high number of UASC as detailed in the graph below:
Nationalities of UASC in the UK - 31 March 2017
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Under 18 nationalities - March 2017
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The number of looked after children asylum seekers placed in Hertfordshire was 77 up to
March 2017. This number is likely to rise due to the agreement that Hertfordshire will remain
on the national rota to offer UASC placements every 6 weeks.

4.

Local Context (data based on HCC information as at 31 March 2017)

The number of Looked after Children in the care of Hertfordshire County Council is 918; 608
are placed in Hertfordshire and 310 are placed out of county. There are also 626 care
leavers (aged 18-25) in Hertfordshire.
Since February 2017 Hertfordshire data suggests an overall decrease in the number of
looked after children across all age groups, apart from 10 to 15 year olds. This is due to a
number of factors including: family safeguarding and targeted specialist services keeping
families together and alternative packages to prevent care are impacting the 16+ age group.

Hertfordshire children entering care, 2014-2017:
Year
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17

<1 year

1-4 years

5-9 years

50
56
35

159
139
92

183
200
142

10 -15
years
352
303
391

16-18
years
297
306
258

Total
1041
1004
918

Gender breakdown for children 0 – 17 years in 2016/17:
Gender
Female
Indeterminate
Male
Total

Number of looked after
children
387
1
530
918

Disabilities:
Is the child
disabled?
Yes
No
Total

<1 year

1-4 years

5-9 years

0
35
35

1
91
92

8
134
142

10 -15
years
41
350
391

16-18
years
35
223
258

Total
85
833
918

Ethnicity:
Ethnicity
Gypsy / Roma
Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi
Asian or Asian British - Indian
Asian or Asian British - Pakistani
Asian/Asian British - any other Asian background
Black or Black British - African
Black or Black British - Caribbean
Black/Black British - any other Black background
Information not yet obtained

Number of looked
after children
1
6
3
12
22
41
15
6
3
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Ethnicity
Mixed - any other Mixed background
Mixed - White and Asian
Mixed - White and Black African
Mixed - White and Black Caribbean
Other Ethnic Groups - Chinese
Other Ethnic Groups - other Ethnic group
White - any other White background
White - British
White - Gypsy/Roma
White - Irish
White - Traveller of Irish Heritage
Total

5.

Number of looked
after children
36
24
15
34
1
40
33
619
5
1
1
918

Looked after children placed out of county

Hertfordshire currently has 310 looked after children placed out of county.
The LAC/CL Health Service team liaises with other health teams across the country to
support the transfer of known health information and coordinate the administration of health
assessments. LAC Nurses provide quality assurance processes across the whole health
community by reviewing all RHAs to ensure a thorough health assessment and a detailed
health action plan is provided.
This has been a challenge to the team as many areas around the country state they have no
capacity to carry out the Health Assessments within the statutory timescales due to large
numbers of looked after children and unaccompanied asylum seeker children. Therefore, the
child or young person placed in areas outside of agreed HCT catchment areas experience
long delays in accessing a yearly health review which may result in delayed diagnosis of
health and social needs. Specific cases and CCG areas of poor compliance are escalated to
the Designated Nurse for action.

6.

Strategic Context

The Department of Health requires that organisations adhere to the Statutory Guidance on
Promoting the Health and Wellbeing of Looked after Children (DOH 2015). The service
works with commissioners to meet the national guidance.
The National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) and the Social Care Institute
for Excellence produced guidance in 2011 on improving the physical and emotional health of
looked after children and young people from birth to 25 years. The guidance aims to promote
and strengthen multi-agency working and collaboration. This includes ensuring that
organisations, professionals and carers work together to deliver high quality care, maintain
stable placements and encourage nurturing relationships for looked after children.

7.

Operational functions

Many looked after children have suffered chronic adversity, rejection and abuse. Exposure to
parental mental illness, family breakdown, bereavement, alcoholism, drug addiction and
violence are common experiences for these children and young people, and looked after
children are more likely to have experienced deprivation and poverty as a result of low family
income or parental unemployment.
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Research demonstrates that neglect in early life can have long-term consequences for health
and social development resulting in an adverse effect in many aspects of the life for looked
after children. Work is underway to capture the health data of LAC in order to fully
understand the local profile for this vulnerable group (see Appendix 1).
The Looked After Children and Care Leavers Health Service:
 Provides a specialist public health nursing service to children and young people that
have been placed under the care of Hertfordshire County Council, in line with the
relevant national and local policies
 Named Nurse chairs the LAC operational meeting to improve system wide service
delivery
 Coordinates the administration of statutory health assessments for all Hertfordshire
County Council children and young people in care, placed both in and out of the
county
 Undertakes health assessments for young people not engaging with main stream
services, living independently, not attending school and or in other training/education
settings
 Undertakes Initial Health Assessments for children and young people coming into
care aged 10 years and over who have been placed in Hertfordshire (undertaken by
LAC GPs)
 Quality assures all RHAs reports completed in and out of county
 Acts as a resource regarding health support for other professionals and agencies
including children’s services, foster carers and semi-independent providers
 Provides level 3 training to Health Visitors and School Nurses to ensure high quality
health assessments and actions to meet the health needs of looked after children.
 Carries out one-to-one work with young people who need further support with specific
health needs
 Provides link nurse visits to five specific residential homes and other provider homes,
supporting staff and young people
 Attends the foster carer health focus group and provides bespoke training for foster
carers
 Attends Children in Care Council
 Provides a Personal Health Information Pack for those young people who are
reaching their 18th birthday
 Attends the RISK, Sexual Exploitation and Runaway Children Panel
 Work closely with the six CLA teams in HCC
The Specialist LAC/CL Nurses work predominantly with the 16+ age group, undertaking their
Review Health Assessments of the most vulnerable, complex, UASC and NEETs. RHAs
finish at the age of 18, with the exception of children with disabilities. All 18 year old LAC
receive a Personal Health Information Pack (PHIP) written by the LAC/CL Nurses. The
health chronology and information included in PHIPs is taken from S1 and the young
person’s health records.
The Nurses liaise with the Targeted Youth Support workers for those young people aged 18
years and are available to support young people up to the age of 21 years, or 25 years if they
are in full time education or SEND. Most of these young people, some of whom are only 16
years old, live semi-independently or independently in a variety of housing settings.
The LAC Administration Team coordinates the administration of all health assessments on
behalf of Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) and delegates these to the appropriate health
clinician to complete the assessment, dependent on where the looked after child or young
person is placed in the country. The team consistently achieves 99% compliance against the
target of 95% to ensure all assessments are sent to the relevant health professional within 4
working days.
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In September 2016 an additional two GPs were recruited to the workforce to undertake IHAs
for looked after children aged 10 years and over placed in Hertfordshire. This has improved
compliance with national targets to ensure all new LAC receive a full health assessment
within 10 working days and 90% were completed within time scales. Community
Paediatricians complete IHAs for children under 5 years of age.

The Specialist LAC nurses attend clinical supervision every quarter and the Named Nurse
also receives additional supervision from the Named Nurse for Safeguarding Children. The
Named Nurse has discussed the need for a regional group to be set up for Designated and
Named Nurses for LAC. This is currently being organised by the Deputy Designated Nurse
for NHS East and North Hertfordshire and Herts Valley Clinical Commissioning Groups, who
will Chair the group.

8.

Individual support for looked after children

The health needs and support required by the older looked after children population is
different and often more challenging than that of younger looked after children. The
dedicated team of LAC Nurses endeavour to offer individual and tailored support to this
vulnerable group of young people, usually 16+ (not attending school). This includes offering
to meet with young people in a variety of settings, often outside of normal office hours. This
approach offers flexibility to fit around the young person’s college/work or lifestyle and
improves the chances of engagement with the LAC team. Examples of interactions with this
age group are included in Appendix 2.

9.

Governance and Assurance

HCT has clear governance and reporting arrangements in place for the LAC Health Service.
The team provides performance updates at the Safeguarding Children Forum which is a
formal subcommittee of the Patient Experience and Safety Group. The Safeguarding
Children Forum is chaired by the Deputy Director Quality & Governance/Deputy Chief Nurse
and membership includes: Named Nurse, Named Doctor (Safeguarding Children),
Designated Nurse for Safeguarding Children, LAC Team Lead, a representative from
Operational Services, commissioners, Human Resources Lead, and Learning &
Development Manager.
Monthly reporting against key quality performance indicators is submitted to the
commissioners via a dashboard and reviewed at the monthly contract meetings led by
ENHCCG on behalf of both CCGs.
Audit
The Looked after Children and Care Leavers Health Service both leads and contributes to
processes for auditing the effectiveness and quality of the service on an operational level.
During the year a number of audits have been completed to provide assurance that staff are
compliant with process and deliver high quality LAC assessments. All completed audits and
outcomes are presented to the Safeguarding Children Forum to ensure action is taken to
address areas of concern. A sample of the audits undertaken this year is highlighted below:

 Initial Health Assessments
Dip audit undertaken by Designated Doctor demonstrated 100% of the LAC GPs and 60% of
HCT Community Paediatricians met standards. The results of the audit have been shared
with all professionals involved, and training has been delivered to Community Paediatricians
to improve practice. Key areas of concern identified in the audit included: timescales
10

described “as ongoing” and not SMART, incorrect recording of immunisations and Part C of
the assessment not recorded correctly.
 Review Health Assessments
Six-monthly audits are undertaken to look at the quality of RHAs carried out by HCT
Children’s Universal Services and the LAC Nurses. The LAC Nurses demonstrated 100%
compliance in high quality RHAs and correct record keeping. CUS demonstrated good
quality RHAs however 80% of HVs had not recorded on the correct S1 template and 20% of
SNs had not recorded on S1 correctly.
A further dip audit of RHAs undertaken by the Named LAC Nurse demonstrated that 96%
met standards, except for quarter 3 which identified areas of poor RHA completions by CUS.
The key areas of concern included: health needs were not identified in the health action plan,
dental and optician dates were not recorded, minimal evidence of CYP emotional and mental
health and medical history not recorded.
The Named Nurse reports findings to the CUS SMT and Team Leaders in CUS. Individual
School Nurses and Health Visitors are spoken to and supported to amend their RHAs at the
time. Training and awareness raising sessions have been carried out to improve standards in
CUS. Recommendations following audit are also routinely sent to the Team Leads so that
poor standards of practice can be managed directly.
A dip sample of 10 RHA records completed by LAC Specialist Nurses indicated that staff
were 100% compliant in evidencing Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) within health questions
linked to sexual health, contraception, lifestyle and internet safety.
Overall, accurate and timely completion of the RHA paperwork has improved due to 3-yearly
mandatory training, which commenced in April 2015. Currently, the layout of the RHA
template is being reviewed by the LAC Team in partnership with colleagues, which will assist
in achieving robust RHAs.

10.

Performance and outcomes

In 2016/17 the LAC/CL Health Administrative Team received a total of 1211 health
assessments to coordinate and process. This is a decrease of 161 from the previous year.
The Team successfully coordinated 98% of the referrals received from HCC (42 refusals)
compared to 99% (60 refusals) in 2015/16.
Breakdown of health assessment requests received during 2016/17:
Initial Health Assessments
 248 placed in county (3 refusals)
 77 Out of County (2 refusals)
Review Health Assessments
 612 placed in county (24 refusals)
 274 placed out of county (13 refusals)
Local timescales:




Initial Health Assessments (IHA) should be completed within 28 days of a child or
young person coming into care. Once the LAC administrator receives the request
from HCC, the relevant doctor is given 10 working days to return completed health
assessments to the LAC health team to meet the statutory requirements
Review Health Assessments should be completed and returned to HCC within 8
weeks of receipt from HCC. Nurses have 5 weeks to have everything completed.
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Adherence to these timescales is monitored monthly and reported to the board and
commissioners. Improvement has been growing through the year, due to tighter monitoring
within HCT and growing awareness via training and liaison of the LAC agenda.
The recruitment of specific LAC GPs to complete IHAs for children coming into care aged 10
years and over placed in county has provided an improved service that is meeting timescales
and providing comprehensive health action plans.
LAC GPs: Initial Health Assessments completed:
In County
102 completed
3 refusals

Out of County
19 completed
2 refusals

Other Authorities
6 completed
1 refusal

LAC Nurses: Review Health Assessments completed:
In County
101 completed
16 refusals

Out of County
100 completed
7 refusals

Other Authorities
9 completed
2 refusals

Health Assessments completed by HCT Health Professionals within locally agreed
timescales:
Health Assessments
IHAs
RHAs

2015-2016
84%
84%

2016-2017
90%
93%

Percentage of health assessments completed within
timescales
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

2015-16
2016-17

LAC Nurses in and out of
county

LAC GPs (started June 2015)

DFE returns:
The LAC Health Service supplies health information to HCC to support their return of KPIs
(known as 903DfE returns) which are submitted annually to the Department for Schools and
Families. HCC submits the reports at the end of the financial year for the cohort of children
who have been in care for a year or more on the 31 March of each year.
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Indicator
% CLA who had
annual health
and dental check
% CLA who had
annual health
check
% CLA who had
annual dental
check
% Immunisations
up-to-date

Herts
2014/15

Herts 2015/16

Herts 2016-17

NB Provisional
data from HCC

NB Provisional
data from HCC

Comparator average
taken from 10 local
authorities HCC
measured against

80.7

81.9

86.3%

86%

81.5

87.4

89.4%

88%

80.0

76.4

83.2%

83%

88.8

89.1

88.8%

86%

NB The figure reported by HCC will always differ from the end of year figure processed by the
LAC Team, as the service reports on all health assessments completed in the year, including
those that fall outside of HCC reporting criteria.
Personal Health Information Packs (PHIPs)
PHIPs are completed by LAC/CL Nurses for young people turning 18 years and include a
chronology of health information taken from S1. This has been challenging due to the large
numbers involved, and extra staff hours were allocated on a short-term basis to complete the
backlog. A new process was put in place, and PHIPs are now delivered in person to the
young person by the Social Worker at their final review. An action for 2017 is to receive
further feedback from care leavers on the PHIPs and what additional information they might
require.

11.

Education and Training

The Intercollegiate Framework 2015: ‘Looked after Children: Knowledge skills and
competences of healthcare staff’ states that all clinical staff working with children and young
people, and their carers, who contribute to assessing, planning, intervening and evaluating
the needs of a looked after child, require level 3 training.
The LAC/CL Health Service Team provides a three yearly training programme for Health
Visitors and School Nurses to ensure they have both national and local knowledge for looked
after children, and a clear understanding of the RHA process. This training supports them to
complete the comprehensive health assessment within the statutory timeframe and ensure
they share information appropriately. In quarter 4, 57% CUS staff have been trained with
plans in place to ensure all staff receive updated training.
12.

Participation with young people

Herts Children-In-Care and Care Leaver Group (CHICC) meet at various times over the year,
and members of the LAC/CL Health Service Team are invited to these meetings, either to
consult with young people about a specific item or informally at their open social events.
In March 2016, two members from CHICC were invited to support the interview process of
the 2 LAC GP appointments working alongside the Named Nurse and Designated Doctor.

13

13

Partnership working

The LAC Nurses have an important role as part of Hertfordshire’s Sexual Exploitation &
Runaway Children’s Panel (SEARCH), as they are best placed to inform the panel of any
known health issues or risks for the child, follow up any health concerns, and liaise with other
LAC health teams country-wide. In 2015/16 there were 39 cases presented at SEARCH, of
which 30 (77%) were looked after children. In 2016/17 there were again 39 cases presented;
however only 16 (41%) were looked after children.
The monthly Risk Panel, held at County Hall, is also attended by a LAC Nurse. The panel
membership supports the timely access to appropriate services by having in place a multiagency panel comprising of partner representation at a level that allows decision-making and
accountability on behalf of their organisation.
The Central Risk Management Panel is available for the escalation of cases where the young
person has high risk or complex needs and there are barriers in delivering an effective risk
management plan, and where risks are not reducing or where there are difficulties in the
transition pathway for the young person who is leaving care or who has left care.
The LAC Nurses attend Professionals’ Meetings and CLA reviews when appropriate. Unmet
health needs around the transition of looked after children aged 17 to 18 years can be
outstanding and the Team provides support to ensure continued provision of care in adult
health services is delivered.
The LAC Nurses liaise with Foster Carers through various Support Group meetings, giving
advice and support around health issues to carers of looked after children. A subgroup of the
Fostering Forum has been formed to review specific health issues and topics. This was
requested by the Foster Carers and has been invaluable in providing a three-way
communication between carers, health and social care. Carers who have struggled to get
specific services for their children have become experts and their knowledge is then shared.
An allocated LAC Nurse attends regularly which strengthens the links with Foster Carers and
raises the profile of healthy lifestyles for looked after children. It has also provided a platform
and an easy route for the team to share health information through the Foster Carer’s
monthly newsletter.
The Deputy Director of Quality & Governance/Deputy Chief Nurse attends the Herts-wide
LAC Leadership meeting which is chaired by the Director of Nursing, ENHCCG. The group
was set up to ensure a coordinated, system wide approach to improving health care for
Hertfordshire LAC. Key improvements include the development of the revised service
delivery model for looked after children, a health dashboard to monitor themes and trends of
looked after children in Hertfordshire, and early identification and monitoring of ‘high risk’
looked after children.
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Risks and challenges

Although the LAC service has made considerable improvement this year, there are risks and
a number of challenges that the service faces including:
Risks:
 An increased number of 225 more referrals which required the coordination of health
assessments this year. Many of these are for looked after children placed out of
county, in areas that are charging for this service, which increases the complexity and
workload for the administrative process and could result in failure to achieve
performance targets.
 Increasing numbers of UASC and unpredictability of workload
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Younger age group children being placed in HCC residential children’s home with
complex needs and requiring medication. This increases the workload for the LAC
nurses due to the complexity of the children and staff requiring support in meeting
their health needs.

Challenges:
 Maintaining timescales is dependent on social care referring the child for health
assessment within the agreed timescales.
 Ensuring all LAC assessments are accompanied by a recent SDQ score and
outcomes for the young person. LAC team working with CAMHS to improve process.
 Limited resources and information available in other languages for UASC.
 Difficulty accessing Tuberculosis and Hepatitis B vaccination for UASC
 Poor quality reports from OOC professionals
 Large quantities of PHIPS to process
 LAC Champions in CUS
 Delivery of medication in semi-independent living
 Handover to TYS – health needs identified
 Complex cases
 Hearing the voice of the child and ensuring evaluation process in place
 Reducing the number of LAC who refuse health assessments
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Future developments














Include LAC GPs in clinical supervision sessions
To have LAC Champions in School Nursing and Health Visiting
UASC – mapping resources from around the county to improve Specialist Nurse
Knowledge to be able to support the UASC holistically
To improve evaluation and feedback from children and young people to ensure their
voice is heard
Link with the Services for Young People, Vulnerable Young People team and
Targeted Youth Support (TYS) teams around LAC transition to TYS
To continue to embed the Specialist LAC GPs into the LAC/CL Health team. Meeting
quarterly with the whole team to reflect and plan services
To continue to work with the Designated Nurse and Designated Doctor to ensure
improvements in the service continue.
To look at further ways of engaging young people in review of Personal Health
Information Packs and the Health Assessment Process
UASC support – workshop/girls
Develop a local 0 to 5 years RHA form as no national template
Rewrite 5 to 11 years and 11 to 18 years RHAs to improve quality
Write a local RHA for children and young people with social educational needs and
disabilities as no national template
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Appendix 1 – Health Outcome Data
National research (NICE 2010) indicates that looked after children 60% (England) reported to
have emotional and mental health problems are:
 More likely than their peers to have experienced the death of a parent or sibling
Nearly a quarter aged 11-17 report having experienced some kind of sexual abuse
 Around 5% are unaccompanied asylum seekers
 Around 10 times more likely than their peers to have significant learning difficulties;
 Around 3 times more likely to drink & smoke than their peers.
 Around 4 times more likely to simultaneously be a smoker, regular drinker and drug
user & present with risky behaviour, such as unprotected sex. Children and young
people who are placed outside of their local authority area can face particular
difficulties accessing health services.
Hertfordshire LAC Health Outcome Data taken from SystmOne 31/3/16
Condition

Count
15/16
66
73
94
3
21
40
14
2
27
48
35
5
172
1
6
1
1
5
2
59

%

Count
16/17
74
96
105
2
16
38
15
1
34
48
29
6
178
4
11
1
0
5
1
80

%

Allergic disorder
2.5 %
3.6%
Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
2.8 %
4.7%
Autistic spectrum disorder
3.6 %
5.1%
Bipolar Disorder
0.1 %
0.1%
Cerebral palsy
0.8 %
0.8%
Childhood asthma
1.5 %
1.9%
Congenital heart disease
0.5 %
0.7%
Cystic fibrosis
0.1 %
0.0%
Depressed mood
1.0 %
1.7%
Disorder of hearing
1.8 %
2.3%
Epilepsy
1.3 %
1.4%
Metabolic disorders
0.2 %
0.3%
Ophthalmological disorder
6.5 %
8.7%
Other nervous system disorders
0.0 %
0.2%
Self-injurious behaviour
0.2 %
0.5%
Sickle cell anaemia
0.0 %
0.0%
Thyroid disorder
0.0 %
0.0%
Type I diabetes mellitus
0.2 %
0.2%
Type II diabetes mellitus
0.1 %
0.0%
C card
2.2%
3.9%
Current age 16 and over with
107
4.1 %
169
17.71%
Chlamydia Screening
Current age 16 and over with referral
46
1.8 %
36
4.11%
to smoking cessation advisor
Current age 16 and over recorded as
323
12.4 %
272
31.09%
smoker
Current age under 16 years with
2
0.1 %
2
0.25%
referral to smoking cessation advisor
Current age under 16 years recorded
26
1.0 %
2
4.20%
as smoker
Currently Pregnant - Over 18yrs
89
3.4 %
63
10.31%
Currently Pregnant - Under 18yrs
8
0.3 %
8
0.3%
Current age over 16 Years with BMI
39
1.5 %
38
1.9%
98th centiles and over
Current age under 16 Years with BMI
37
1.4 %
34
1.7%
98th centiles and over
NB: Data is not complete as not all health professionals undertaking health assessments
have access to SystmOne
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Appendix 2 – Case Studies

The Specialist Nurse for Looked after Children and Care Leavers (LAC
Nurse) supported a care leaver to obtain an appointment at her GP, having
previously been refused an appointment because she had been verbally
aggressive to a receptionist at the surgery. The LAC Nurse was able to
liaise with the GP at the surgery to explain the young persons (YP) chronic
health condition and update the GP regarding the YP’s current stressful
situation - she had recently moved into a new area and become fully
independent for the first time. The LAC Nurse was able to be an advocate
for the YP, explaining that the YP had missed a deadline to provide the
benefits office with an up to date sick certificate. The LAC Nurse was able
to explain the potential impact of missing this deadline on the YP, which
would mean loss of benefits and consequently no money to pay the rent for
her new tenancy. The LAC Nurse was able to assure the GP that she would
have a discussion with the YP about appropriate behaviour and reinforce
the surgery’s zero tolerance policy regarding abuse of staff. The LAC Nurse
was able to obtain an appointment for the YP and also have a discussion
with her about anger and stress management as well as share some tips for
communicating effectively when she needs someone’s help.

A Specialist LAC Nurse met with a 17 year old male from Syria who had been
kidnapped, shot in the leg and had to witness his cousin being beheaded. He fled to the
UK. He is now living with a foster carer in Watford.
A specific health issue was the need for a Septoplasty and this young man was very
scared. He had heard that the nose could become much bigger and therefore did not
want the operation. The LAC nurse visited again to hear his anxieties and explain the
operation. She then contacted the hospital on his behalf at his home to get him another
appointment prior to the operation date to discuss further with a nurse and doctor. He did
go through with the operation and he and the foster carer were very thankful to the LAC
nurse.
Another 17 year old male from Iran became a Christian in a Muslim Country. He would
meet in secret with other Christians. They were discovered and 5 of his friends were
hanged. He was disowned by his father and fled to the UK. He was not able to say
goodbye to his sister and he calls home every day to no response.
The LAC Nurse listened to his story and asked if he wanted to be referred to a
counsellor due to the horrific trauma and bereavement? He was not sleeping well and
suffering from nightmares. Following another call to him after he had time to think and
read about specialist services, he agreed for a referral. The LAC nurse referred to
CAMHS however due to him now being 17 plus it was explained that he would need
adult services. The transition to adult mental health services for young adults is a
challenge and this involved a further referral and discussions as to which specialist team
would be the most effective? The LAC nurse felt a specialist in post-traumatic stress
disorder would be the most appropriate.

18

A Specialist LAC Nurse has supported a vulnerable pregnant care leaver to
engage with her antenatal care, and to access healthy start vouchers and the
Sure Start Maternity Grant. The LAC Nurse has signposted the young person
(YP) to local antenatal classes and she has referred the YP for outreach
support from her local children’s centre. The YP does not have any family
support and has a history of depression; the LAC Nurse has liaised with the
Health Visiting (HV) team making the Health Visitor aware of the YP’s
physical and emotional needs and she has encouraged the YP to engage
with HV support. The LAC Nurse has been able to support the YP to engage
with independent support at her semi-independent placement and this will
improve the YP’s chances of securing a tenancy with the local social housing
provider. The LAC Nurse has been able to bridge the gap in services for
young first time parents as the Family Nurse Partnership is no longer
operating in the area and HV’s do not visit before 28 weeks of pregnancy.
The YP has expressed gratitude to the LAC Nurse for the support she has
offered.
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Patient Experience Annual Report
2016/17
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1.

Introduction

This is the fourth annual patient experience report for the Trust and provides an overview of
the patient experience activity for 2016/17.
The responsibilities of the Patient Experience team (PET) includes managing PALS,
complaints, coordinating patient feedback through a variety of methods, leading on PLACE,
managing Interpreting services and leading on Equality and Diversity across the Trust. The
remit of the PET facilitates triangulation of complaints, PALS and other sources of feedback
to identify links and trends.
This report covers:
 information on how patient feedback is captured
 what our patient feedback tells us
 how the feedback is shared with staff and service users
 actions taken in response to feedback
 an overview of the annual Patient Led Assessment of the Care Environment (PLACE)
results for the Trust
 activity of the Patient Experience Forum
 improving the care of people with learning disabilities
 plans for 2017/18

2.

Glossary of terms
HCT
HGC
HwH
NICE
PLACE
PSEG
PEF
FFT
CQC
HV

3.

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Healthcare Governance Committee
Healthwatch Hertfordshire
National Institute of Health and Care Excellence
Patient Led Assessment of the Care Environment
Patient Safety and Experience Group
Patient Experience Forum
Friends and Family Test
Care Quality commission
Health Visiting

Strategic context

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust’s (HCT) vision is:
'To maintain and improve the health and wellbeing of the people of Hertfordshire and other
areas served by the Trust'.
This vision is underpinned by the Trust’s values, which complement the NHS Constitution,
supporting patients’ rights and in particular the need to treat patients with dignity and
respect:
Care - We put patients at the heart of everything we do
Respect - We treat people with dignity and respect
Quality - We strive for excellence and effectiveness
Confidence - We do what we say we will do
Improve - We will improve through learning and innovation
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Patient experience feedback, either positive or critical, is important to the Trust to help
ensure that services continually improve and remain responsive to the needs of patients,
their families and carers. It also lets us know when we get it right and where we need to
improve. The Trust complies with the CQC requirement to provide evidence on the effective
use of patient feedback and how it is used to improve services.
4.

Governance

The Director of Quality & Governance/Chief Nurse has Board level responsibility for patient
experience and delivery of the PET annual plan. The plan is developed by the Patient Safety
& Experience Group and is monitored at the bi-monthly meetings. A representative from
Hertfordshire Healthwatch participates in these meetings.
Reports and outcomes from meetings are presented to Healthcare Governance Committee.
Patient experience is reported in detail in the quarterly Quality Reports, the annual Quality
Account, and in the monthly Business Unit Performance Reviews and Integrated Business
Performance Reports.
Information and reports relating to patient experience are shared with the commissioners at
Quality Review Meetings.
Patient, carer and staff stories are shared at the bi-monthly Trust board meetings.

5.

How we gathered patient feedback in 2016/17

The Patient Experience team (PET) receives and measures feedback received from patients
and the public about the quality of Trust services in a number of different ways as detailed
below:
 Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS),
 Complaints
 Compliments
 NHS Friends and Family Test
 Patient Led Assessments of the Care Environment (PLACE)
 Patient Surveys
 Patient and Carer Stories at Trust Board
PALS, Complaints and Compliments - In 2016/17, 222 formal complaints were received
by the Trust, providing essential information about areas for improvement and enabling
lessons to be learned. A separate annual complaints report has been produced which
outlines the changes made to improve services for patients, their families and carers. 629
HCT-service related PALS contacts were received in 2016/17, consisting of requests for
advice, informal concerns and queries. In 2016/17 HCT received 12,886 compliments from
patients, their families and carers. A selection of compliments is included in the weekly Trust
Noticeboard to share positive feedback Trust-wide.
NHS Friends and Family Test (FFT) – In line with NHS England guidance all patients are
made aware of the opportunity to provide continuous feedback about their experiences of
Trust services. FFT feedback can be provided via traditional paper comment cards (different
versions are available for different patient groups, including easy-read) and via online
submission, using a link provided on the Trust website. In 2016/17 services also piloted
telephone surveys to capture FFT feedback, and to improve response rates.
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There was a 16% increase in the overall number of FFT responses received in 2016/17;
28,702 responses were received in comparison to the number of FFT responses received in
2015/16, which was 24,465.
Patient Led Assessments of the Care Environment (PLACE) - PLACE assessments
were carried out at HCT community hospital wards. Further detail on the assessments is
provided later in the report.
Patient Surveys (Adult and Children’s services) – Patients are provided with the
opportunity to give more detailed feedback about their experiences of HCT services via
surveys. All surveys currently available have been drafted using the National Institute for
Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Quality Standard statements to provide a robust
evidence base and an opportunity to benchmark across the Trust.
Flexibility is available for services to include service-specific questions in any survey drafted.
Easy-read versions of surveys are available for different equality groups to provide feedback
about their experiences of HCT services.
Patient and carer stories – Patient and carer stories remain a standing item at each Trust
Board meeting.
This method of gathering patient and carer feedback about HCT services continues to
promote organisational learning alongside more standard methods, such as PALS and
complaints feedback and patient surveys.
Presenting at Trust Board also gives services the opportunity to share their good work and
innovation more widely and can play an important part in staff development and raising
political awareness.
Quality Priority – In 2016/17 a patient experience quality priority was developed to improve
the overall FFT response rates and raise staff awareness about the importance of patient
feedback and actions the Trust implement in response. Further detail on the outcome of this
is provided later in the report.
6.

What our feedback tells us

Friends and Family Test
HCT gathers FFT feedback on a continuous basis from patients, their families and carers.
Service level performance is reported on a monthly basis in business unit reports, and
services also receive monthly summary reports direct from the external patient experience
database provider. This level of reporting ensures transparency and service level awareness
of performance, so that areas of good practice are noted and any changes necessary are
implemented. Monthly performance reports are also submitted nationally to NHS England.
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The percentage of patients who would recommend HCT services to their friends and family
is consistently above the HCT target and national average across all services as detailed in
the table below.

Apr

May

Friends and Family Test Scores 2016/17
Jun
Jul
Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

HCT FFT
98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 97% 97% 97% 97% 96% 97% 97%
score*
Target
95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95%
National
95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95%
Average
*The percentage of patients surveyed who would be extremely likely or likely to recommend our
service to friends and family if they needed similar care or treatment
Overall performance in this area has remained consistent throughout 2016/17; however, the
focus in 2017/18 will be to increase the number of overall FFT responses. Ideas to achieve
this aim include continuing with a dedicated Trust-wide patient FFT feedback day, which led
to an increased number of FFT responses in quarter 4 of 2016/17. The option of offering
patients the opportunity to provide FFT feedback via text message will also be explored
again as a priority in 2017/18. This additional means of providing FFT feedback should
ensure that Trust FFT response rates are more representative of the total numbers of
patients seen each year by Trust services.
Inpatient survey
Patients are asked to complete a survey prior to discharge to provide feedback about their
experiences of the service. The following table shows end of year results in five key areas
from our Community Hospital Inpatient surveys, with comparison to previous years.
Overall, how would you rate the
quality of care received?
Excellent or Very Good
Excellent, Very Good or Good
Do you have confidence and trust in
the staff treating you?
Yes
Did you feel you were treated with
dignity and respect?
Yes
As far as you know, did staff wash
their hands between patients?
Yes

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

93%

95%

94%

91%

99%

99%

99%

98%

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

93%

94%

99%

98%

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

99%

99%

99%

99%

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

100%

99%

99%

99%

How would you rate the hospital
2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016
2016/2017
food?
Very Good or Good
84%
84%
84%
78%
NB: 938 patients completed the Community Hospital Inpatient survey between April 2016 and
March 2017
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Where areas of concern or poor performance are noted in the inpatient survey results, this
information is shared with services directly for their action. An example of organisational
learning and improvement as a result of patient feedback includes carers champions working
with carers to ensure a clear process is in place to engage them in discussions about the
patient’s care plan.
The table below demonstrates some free text patient comments received in the inpatient
survey.
Dignity and Respect:
Every one of the staff I met was always so
nice, kind and caring.
Definitely

Not told who to contact if worried about
condition following discharge:
I know to ring Doctors.
I know to get in touch with the Doctors Surgery

Overall quality of care:
The members of staff here to a great job
especially the Nurses and HCAs.
I was cared for really well.

Inconsistent messages from staff:
A few times not often
Just on the odd occasion

Adult patient experience survey
In 2016/17, 3392 adult patient experience surveys were completed and returned.
Key areas of good performance indicated in overall results include:



99% of patients told us that staff communicated in polite and effective manner
97% of patients told us that staff introduced themselves and stated their name

One key are of improvement identified in 2015/16 was regarding patients’ preference for
sharing information with their partner, family members and/or carers, In 2016/17 this led to
the adaptation of the initial assessment form in the Trust record-keeping system (SystmOne)
to capture patient preferences for sharing their information was discussed with them.
Children’s services surveys
Over 15,000 comments were received in 2016/17 from children and young people and their
parents and carers. Opportunities to provide feedback are available via the use of standard
and bespoke paper and electronic surveys, and adapted FFT comment cards (easy-read
version).
97% of survey and FFT respondents would recommend HCT’s Children’s services to family
and friends.
The table below provides some examples of positive comments received from Children’s
services surveys and FFT cards.
Service
Children’s Community Nursing West
Herts
Health Visiting North Herts

Speech and Language Therapy
School Nursing (ChatHealth Texting

Comment
All the staff worked together brilliantly and with my
daughter
The leaflets provided with all the activities that I
could undertake with my daughter were really
helpful
Very helpful and understanding and also reassuring
I have had appointments with the school nurse at
9

Service
Service)
Children’s Orthoptic Service
Health Visiting – Breastfeeding

PALMS

Comment
my school and it is very good as she helps me and
so does the ChatHealth service as well but it was
very good at helping me and helping what to do
Always efficient and on time.
The information was very useful and reassuring. I
am leaving feeling much more confident than when
we walked in.
Being listened to was helpful. Family is a lot calmer
place. Thank you. It was helpful for us to
understand our son more

Quality Priority 2016/17 - To develop a culture where staff value feedback and implement
changes as required to improve the experience of service users.
A Trust quality priority was developed in 2016/17 to increase staff understanding of the
importance of patient feedback and how this can be utilised to evidence and share good
practice and learning.
The quality priority consisted of a number of measures which were reported to Trust Board
on a quarterly basis:





Increase in the number of FFT responses per Trust service
Number of positive responses received from FFT comment cards
Quarterly audit of services demonstrating patient feedback shared with staff
Services demonstrating improvements in response to patient feedback

Whilst the aims of the quality priority were partially achieved during the course of the year,
this exercise did evidence an increased awareness amongst Trust staff of the importance of
sharing and using patient feedback to inform learning and change.
Notable achievements include:




97% of patients told us that they were involved in decisions about their care
89% of services provided examples of learning and improvement based on patient
feedback received from FFT comment cards
84% of services audited demonstrated sharing of patient feedback with staff at
monthly team meetings where FFT response rates and individual patient comments
were discussed and actions put in place

Patient Led Assessment of the Care Environment (PLACE) – 2016 programme
Patient Led Assessment of the Care Environment (PLACE) is undertaken nationally in all
NHS inpatient care provider units. This is the third year of the national PLACE programme.
The assessments focus on the environment in which care is provided, which includes nonclinical services, and assesses cleanliness, condition and maintenance, food, hydration, and
the extent to which the provision of care with privacy and dignity is supported.
Following on from Healthwatch Hertfordshire’s 2016 report and recommendations regarding
PLACE assessments, PLACE volunteer training was again jointly delivered in partnership
with Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation Trust, East & North Herts Trust and West Herts
Hospital Trust. Positive responses were received from those Healthwatch volunteers who
10

attended, and from the Health & Social Care Information Centre (now NHS Digital), who
were pleased to learn of this continued joint approach to training.
PLACE assessments were carried out between March and May 2016 at HCT community
hospital wards. In 2016, HCT improved on the 2015 PLACE assessment scores in all areas.
However, areas of improvement were identified, and examples of actions taken following the
2016 PLACE assessment programme include the removal and updating of hospital signage
in patient communal areas, and the provision of a portable hearing loop installed at one of
our community hospitals. Each community hospital ward action plan has been monitored
throughout the year by the Trust’s Patient Safety & Experience Group.
7.

How patient feedback is shared

All feedback received by the Patient Experience Team is shared directly with the staff and
teams involved in a variety of ways as outlined below.

8.



The service managers and team leads receive a monthly email which tells them the
number of surveys completed, the percentage satisfaction score, the best and worst
scoring areas and the patients’ comments. The information is shared with staff at
team meetings to identify areas of good practice and any areas of improvement for
action.



Following a complaints investigation an action plan is implemented to ensure any
required changes are made. In addition to providing regular reports to the Trust
Board and commissioners, the learning from complaints is shared with staff across all
services via staff bulletins, including the bi-monthly Clinical Matters, weekly
Noticeboard and bi-monthly Children and Adult services bulletins.



A selection of compliments is shared with staff in the weekly Noticeboard.



The patient experience webpage for HCT’s public-facing website was further
developed in 2016/17. Information on the HCT website now includes examples of
patient stories and compliments, ‘you said, we did’, as well as information about the
Trust Patient Experience Forum and details of how patients and the public can be
involved in this.
Patient Experience Forum

The Patient Experience Forum was established in January 2016 and provides a central point
of coordination for patient experience activity, with staff, patients and carers shaping and
developing the group. The aim of the group is to engage staff and embed a culture of
capturing and using patient feedback to make improvements.
Forum achievements in 2016/17 included development of the HCT patient experience
webpage in partnership with Healthwatch volunteers and staff, and recruitment of new
volunteers for the 2017 PLACE programme. The Forum will be refreshed in 2017/18 and its
function will include providing external scrutiny from patients and local voluntary and
community groups to review anonymised complaints and Trust responses to these
complaints to provide assurance of the quality of the Trust’s complaints process.
9.

Equality & Community Engagement Forum

11

HCT’s Equality & Community Engagement Forum is where senior leaders meet and plan
service improvements with a wide range of representatives from Hertfordshire community
organisations.
Community Forum members include county representatives from the Herts Interfaith Group,
the Deaf community, Gypsy and Traveller Empowerment (GATE), HertsAID (a HIV charity),
Carers in Herts, Healthwatch Herts, Community Development Action, Community Voluntary
Services and MIND.
The forum has a positive and progressive atmosphere where members have made strides in
choosing HCT Equality and Diversity priorities for 2017/18. This includes working with
people who have Learning Disabilities to improve access to services and work placements
as well as improving access to health care for those from disadvantaged groups.
Future areas of joint work in 2017/18 include inviting representatives to be part of the 2018
PLACE Programme as volunteer assessors to help us better understand the needs of
different equality groups.
10.

Patient Experience Priorities for 2017/18

The priority activities for the Patient Experience Team in 2017/18 are listed below:






Offering patients, their families and carers the opportunity to provide FFT feedback
by text message to increase overall number of Trust FFT responses.
A refresh of the Trust’s Patient Experience Forum to identify key actions for the
Forum to achieve in the year.
Set up process to provide external scrutiny of the Trust complaints responses
through review of a small number of anonymised complaints.
Supporting the Trust Equality & Community Engagement Forum including offering
representatives the opportunity to be part of the 2018 PLACE programme and
producing a video and training package with the Gypsy and Traveller community.
Continue to improve access to services and health information for individuals with
Learning Disabilities.

Tricia Wren, Deputy Director Quality & Governance / Deputy Chief Nurse
Anthony Power, Head of Patient Experience
June 2017

12

Board 27th July 2017

Attachment J1

Clinical Effectiveness Annual Report 2016/17
1.0

Executive Summary

Clinical audit is a quality improvement process that seeks to improve patient care and
outcomes through systematic review of care and the implementation of change. When clinical
audit is conducted well, it enables the quality of care to be reviewed objectively, with an
approach which is supportive, developmental and focused on improvement.
This paper outlines the arrangements in place by which Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
(HCT) participated in an annual clinical effectiveness programme during 2016 through which
the Trust gained information and assurance about the clinical quality of its services.
1.1

Key achievements for 2016/17 against CQC domains:

Safe
•
•

Safeguarding audit provides assurance of improved knowledge and awareness of
safeguarding practices amongst HCT staff and will protect adults at risk of abuse.
Maintained standards in antibiotic prescribing practices against HCT formulary guidance
ensures patients are protected and there is a reduction of harm.

Effective
•

•
•

HCT participated in 100% of the Department of Health (DH) National Clinical Audit and
Patient Outcome Programme (NCAPOP) for which the Trust was eligible during
2016/17, demonstrating that the Trust monitors quality in a systematic manner and is
focussed on improving patient quality of care.
HCT reviewed the findings of five published national clinical audit report for reporting in
the Annual Trust Quality Account.
The reports of 52 local clinical audits were reviewed by HCT in 2016/17.

“95% of children with sickle cell disorders received Pneumovax II, meeting the national target
(95%), and reducing mortality and improving health outcomes for children.”
•
•
•

•
•
•

Largest data submission of 5,440 patients for the National Diabetes Audit (compared to
201 and 288 patients in previous years) to inform quality improvement at local level.
Diabetes Service audits demonstrated good patient care in the delivery of nine key
interventions which can improve the outcomes for people with diabetes.
HCT’s Working Group reviewed all sets of national clinical guidance and quality
standards released by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)
during 2016/17. HCT undertook self-assessments of compliance with clinical guidelines
and quality standards applicable to our services, and took action where needed to
support improved clinical outcomes.
UNICEF UK Baby-friendly Initiative Accreditation Breastfeeding re-audit and premises
audit evidenced improvements in patient outcomes.
Tongue Tie audit shown to improve patient outcomes and patient experience.
HCT NICE (National Institute of Health and Care Excellence) Working Group reviewed
135 of the 153 sets of national clinical guidance and 32 of the 38 quality standards
released during 2016/17. Self-assessments of compliance was undertaken by Clinical
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Leads with the 57 clinical guidelines and the 26 quality standards applicable to our
services, to ensure that our staff followed guidelines and provided evidence-based care.
Caring
•
•

Chaperone policy audit had shown that all HCT community paediatricians demonstrated
good compliance with the Privacy and Dignity Policy ensuring patients are treated with
compassion, dignity and respect.
HCT achieved full accreditation for Level 3 of the UNICEF Baby Friendly award In
March 2017, demonstrating that parents (100%) received the support they needed from
our Health Visitors to enable them to continue with the feeding method of their choice
and to have a close and loving relationship with their baby.

Responsive
•
•
•

95% of children with sickle cell disorders received Pneumovax II, thus meeting the
national target (95%), and reducing mortality and improving health outcomes for
children.
Record-keeping practices in Community Hospital Units improved and ongoing audit
support taken forward with Clinical Services Managers for Community Hospitals. Head
of Risk and Assurance and Clinical Effectiveness Manager to offer targeted support.
The quality department has now adopted a focussed approach to engage with staff at
all levels to triangulate information and create a learning environment to embed service
improvements within HCT. The Quality Forum to Triangulate Information is now
established and will meet on a bi-monthly basis and report to Clinical Effectiveness
Group (CEG).

Well-Led
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

Clinical audit awareness stand held at the Leading Lights event (June 2016).
Produced quarterly clinical effectiveness reports to evidence quality improvements for
our commissioner’s and the Board.
Quarterly record-keeping audits provided assurance within Community Hospital Units to
meet assurance for CQC recommendations. Recent audit (October 2016) demonstrated
100% compliance had been achieved in most areas.
86% (107/124) of services are involved in and participating in clinical audit. Gaps are
being followed up by the Clinical Effectiveness Team.
Clinical audit and NICE Guidance e-Learning modules shared on Staff Intranet and
Clinical Matters.
Clinical audit and NICE guidance implementation resources and relevant subpages on
the Intranet updated to inform and support staff learning.
100% of HCT Health Visitors have completed the two-day ‘UNICEF breastfeeding and
relationship building: a new approach’ training, with newly appointed Health Visitors
completing the training within six months of commencing with the Trust
Healthcare professionals enabled to participate in clinical audit in order to satisfy the
demands of the relevant professional bodies for revalidation e.g. regular meetings with
Clinical Director and audit lead for Children’s Services to improve engagement in
service audits, monthly meetings in progress with Diabetes Specialist Nurse to support
service clinical effectiveness priorities and monthly meetings with Professional and
Educational Lead for Health Visiting to support Children’s Universal services.
Numerous audits on the clinical effectiveness programme are conducted by
Clinicians/Community Paediatricians/Medical staff and include participation in national
and local audits:
o National Paediatric Diabetes Audit
o Safeguarding Chaperone Audit
o Did Not Attend Safeguarding Children’s Services Section 11 Audit
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Discharge Criteria Audit
Communication Disorder Assessment Clinic Audit
Hip Surveillance in Children with Cerebral Palsy Audit
Review Health Assessment Medical Paperwork Audit

HCT rated ‘Good’ across the five domains from Care Quality Commission (CQC)
focused unannounced inspection on 18th – 19th April 2016 to review the improvement
actions that had been undertaken by the Trust following the previous inspection in
February 2015. Whilst this is a good achievement outcome of clinical audit and
evaluation of NICE quality standards implementation, these have driven service
improvements and is demonstrated under section 3 and section 4.
Key Risks/Opportunities during 2016/17 and current developments:

•

Record-keeping audits within Community Hospital Units Issues with fluid balance charts
were identified during audits to meet assurance for CQC recommendations (to ensure
that patients are hydrated to meet the key characteristics recommended for good
nutritional care), audits have shown improvement with fluid balanced recording but a
decline in other areas such as VTE and MRSA results recording. Work is being carried
forward with Clinical Services Managers for Community Hospitals to address these
gaps via regular meetings. Also work to triangulate information is being progressed at
the Quality Forum to Triangulate Information from Serious Incidents, Risks etc.

•

End of Life Care work stream. Work is in progress to meet end of life quality
improvements currently being delivered by the End of Life Group to ensure staff can
provide patients and their families with quality care when approaching end of life.
National audit tool piloted in service areas to meet CQC action plan.

•

Record-keeping audits. Working group set up to monitor record-keeping audits to meet
Information Governance Toolkit and CQC requirements. A separate Clinical Record
Keeping document which sets out the minimum data requirements (approved by the
Information Governance Group) that need to be recorded for national and local datasets
would then be used to audit the records.

•

Pharmacy work stream. Audit priorities have been reassessed by the Pharmacy Team
in year due to lack of capacity to complete in year low priority audits. Due to external
audit recommendations, the Pharmacy Team are now focussing on new priorities such
as the quarterly antimicrobial and medicines storage audits in the Community Hospital
Units.

2.0

Key Areas of Work during 2016/17

2.1

Strategic Context

NHS Trusts are expected to participate in the national clinical audit programme, the priorities
for which are set centrally by the DH with advice from the National Advisory Group on Clinical
Audit and Enquires. NHS Trusts are mandated by the DH legislation to report their participation
in clinical audit in their annual quality account and the DH selects a core set of national clinical
audits each year for inclusion within the quality account.
NHS Trusts also have a local clinical audit programme, involving individual healthcare
professionals evaluating aspects of care that they have selected as being important to them,
their team or their Trust.
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Implications for Quality and Regulatory Compliance

Active engagement in national and local clinical audit will provide assurance of compliance with
the CQC essential standards of quality and safety, in particular Outcomes 14 (Supporting
Workers) and 16 (Assessing and Monitoring Service Provision). Clinical audit supports
assurance requirements for Clinical Commissioning Groups and provides evidence of good
quality healthcare delivered to our patients.
2.3

Governance Arrangements

The HCT Medical Director is the Director and Board member with lead responsibility for clinical
effectiveness and chairs the Clinical Effectiveness Group (CEG), a subcommittee of the
Healthcare Governance Committee which reports directly to the Trust Board. The Trust Audit
Committee gains assurance from the Healthcare Governance Committee.
The CEG meets bi-monthly and receives regular reviews and shares learning from the findings
of clinical audit to gain assurance about the clinical quality of its services. Membership includes
representation from all operational business units, quality and governance directorate,
community pharmacy team and the learning and development team.
3.0

Introduction

This report summarises HCT participation, assurance and learning from relevant national
clinical audits during 2016/17 and from a sample of local clinical audits.
3.1

Participation in the National Clinical Audit and Patient Outcomes Programme
(NCAPOP)

The NCAPOP is a set of centrally commissioned national clinical audits that measure provider
performance against national quality standards or evidence-based best practice, and allows
comparisons to be made between provider organisations to improve the quality and outcomes
of care. Providers demonstrate compliance against the programme via national reports, the
production of local action plans (assessed at the CEG) and subsequent changes to practice.
NCAPOP audits are commissioned and managed on behalf of NHS England by the Healthcare
Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP).
3.1.1

National Clinical Audits for inclusion in Quality Account 2016/17

The Quality Account requirements include mandated statements relating to participation in a
predetermined list of national audits (including NCAPOP sponsored audits) and Clinical
Outcome Review Programme. There are also mandated statements relating to the review of
national audit reports and subsequent actions taken by the Trust/Services to improve the
quality of patient care.
In 2016/17, the DH released 51 national clinical audits for inclusion in the 2016/17 Quality
Account. HCT was eligible to participate in six (five national clinical audits and one clinical
outcome review covered NHS services that HCT provides). See Table 1 below.
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Table 1 – National Clinical Audits for inclusion in Quality Account 2016/17.
NCAPOP Quality Account Audits

National Body

1. National Diabetes Adults (NDA)
Audit.

Health and Social
Care Information
Centre (HSCIC) in
partnership with
Diabetes UK

2. National Chronic Obstructive
Pulmonary Disease (COPD)
Audit.

3. National Paediatric Diabetes
Audit (NPDA).

Royal College of
Physicians
Royal College of Child
Health and
Paediatrics

4. The Sentinel Stroke National
Audit Programme (SSNAP).

Number or percentage of
cases submitted
Data collection: 20th June to 12th
August 2016. Submitted data for
5440 patients.
Data submission July 2017.
Report expected: February
2018.
In collaboration with:
West Herts Hospitals NHS
Trust - submitted: 836.
The Princess Alexandra
Hospital NHS Trust - submitted:
305.

Royal College of
Physicians

On-going data collection to
2017. 652 Submitted.
1) Organisational checklist
completed. 2) Submitted data
Royal
College
of
5. National Audit of Dementia.
for 10 patients. 3) 17 staff
Psychiatrist’s
surveys completed.
Parkinson’s audit has changed
Parkinson's Disease Audit
Parkinson's UK
to a two-year cycle. Registration
(National Parkinson's Audit).
opens in February 2017.
National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death (NCEPOD) Review
6. National Confidential Enquiry
Organisational questionnaire
completed.
into Patient Outcome and
Death. Chronic Neurodisability.
3.2

Review of National Clinical Audit Reports

When published, national clinical audit reports which are relevant to HCT services are received
and discussed at the Clinical Effectiveness Group (CEG) meeting to identify learning
(assurance and risks from the review of the findings) for HCT and make recommendations for
action within the relevant services. In addition, the learning and recommendations are
disseminated via the Clinical Effectiveness Forum (CEF) in order for members to cascade this
information within their services/teams.
“It is good to learn about the audits taking place which
helps to promote discussion and ideas within my
service to identify areas to audit.”
Sally Dickinson, Highly Specialist Neurological
Occupational Therapist, Neurological Service, Herts
Wide – CEF member.
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National Clinical Audit Reports

The reports of five national clinical audits were reviewed by HCT in 2016/17 and HCT intends
to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided (see below). Actions
are followed up with individual service leads and progress of actions provided in quarterly
reports, 6-mnothly and annual reports.
The positive assurances and risks identified from the national clinical audits are formally
reported to the Board in reports received by the Healthcare Governance Committee (HGC) and
the Audit Committee, and key actions included in the Trust Quality Account.
3.3.1

National Diabetes Audit Report 1: Care Processes and Treatment Targets.
Published: January 2016. Reported to CEG, June 2016. GREEN ASSURANCE

A breakdown of the audit results demonstrated gaps in patient care relating to the nine care
processes in 2014/15; however audits undertaken in March and again in April 2016 for the
Diabetes CQUIN demonstrated that these gaps have been addressed and patients within the
diabetes service have been receiving excellent quality of care based on the nine key care
processes. Actions include:
•
•

Increasing patient engagement to reduce non-attendance. Saturday DESMOND course
now introduced.
DESMOND educators attending regular meetings to improve engagement/increase
availability of courses.

Diabetes Service: “Very useful course, lots of useful information about diet and exercise
and understanding of diabetes. The Dietitians were friendly and helpful.”
•
•

•
•
•
•

•

Increasing participation in structured education sessions. Trialling Saturdays and is
currently working well now offered once a month.
The National Diabetes Audit improved collaboration between West Hertfordshire
Hospitals Trust (WHHT) and HCT and better self-management of patients with diabetes.
This is a CQUIN for Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group (HVCCG). Since
December 2016 complex case management meetings have been attended monthly by
HCT. Regular meetings with WHHT and East & North Herts Trust consultants in place
and also monthly meetings in place with acute nurses on both sites.
Joint IDSN’s (acute/community) to start July 2017.
Working collaboratively with HPFT and undertaking joint clinics with DSN’s.
The Diabetes Service has fully implemented the NICE Quality Standards QS6, Diabetes
in Adults {Updated by NICE in August 2016].
Service delivery improvements and transformation are underway with HV CCG to
develop a collaborative approach for the delivery of the ‘Lead Provider’ service from
July 2017. This will improve the achievement of the NICE recommended treatment
targets whilst driving down variation between CCG’s and support national
transformation and efficiency programmes led by NHS Improvement.
The Trusts participation in the next National Diabetes Audit will provide feedback and
enable continuous improvement to the service and deliver improved patient care.

Clinical Audit Update Report 2016/AP/21 July 2017

Page 6 of 26

Board 27th July 2017

3.3.2

Attachment J1

National Diabetes Foot care Audit 2014-15. Reported at CEG, October 2016
AMBER / GREEN ASSURANCE

Results of National Diabetic Foot care audit demonstrated good outcomes for HCT patients
(75% of HCT patients enrolled into the audit reported no ulcer at the 12 week stage, compared
to the national average of 44%). However, the level of patient enrolment is low. Changes made
to the SystmOne template will allow an increase in the patient data collated for the next audit
round. As a result of the current audit findings the actions taken include:
•

The podiatry service improved SystmOne podiatry templates and provided additional
training to enable accurate recording of patient engagement and patient outcomes, which
will inform the next National Diabetes Foot care audit.

3.3.3

National Paediatric Diabetes Audit 2014-15. Report 1: Care Processes and
Outcomes. Published May 2016. Reported at CEG, October 2016. AMBER /
GREEN ASSURANCE

The report demonstrates an increasing prevalence of diabetes in young children, both locally
and nationally. The report also showed that, whilst completion of all seven care processes has
improved, only 25% of children received all care processes, with local data demonstrating that
HCT is comparable to national and regional levels in this area. Actions include:
•

Service review to increase the number of health checks undertaken and reported, including
the possibility of creating an annual review clinic to address gaps in care processes.

The Paediatric Diabetes Service will be commissioned by another Service provider from 1st
April 2017.
3.3.4

2015 UK Parkinson’s Disease (PD) National Audit. Published March 2016 –
Reported at CEG, December 2016. AMBER / GREEN ASSURANCE

The findings of the above audit undertaken in 2015 demonstrated that the Hertfordshire
Neurological Service met national standards in most areas. The audit identified, that patient
perception was that the PD Nursing and Speech and Language Therapy Services are
insufficient to meet their needs, which is related to staffing and accessibility. As a result of the
audit, actions taken include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

East and North Hertfordshire Team undertaking a project into whether a group version
of the STABLE programme is a viable option.
Team training on ‘Go to Meeting’ undertaken to improve access to sessions/clinics via
the computer (offered end May 2017).
‘Self-care’ information leaflet provided to improve our patients’ confidence and ability to
manage their own health and wellbeing.
Health coaching training sessions for community nurses around long-term condition
management of PD and Multiple Sclerosis set up (June and October 2017).
Patients supported by staff who have been trained in ‘health coaching’, which enables
them to hold conversations with their patients and encourage them to set goals and selfmanage.
Participate in the next National PD audit to ensure continuous quality improvement audit
within the service.
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Mind the Gap! The Third Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP)
Annual Report. Care received between April 2015 to March 2016. Published
November 2016. Reported at CEG February 2017. AMBER / GREEN
ASSURANCE

The national SSNAP collected quarterly data for patients who had suffered a stroke in the past
6 months and showed that overall HCT services are mostly in line with or above the national
average. However due to streamlining of Bed Based Stroke Services and Early Supported
Discharge in Hertfordshire there has been a reduction in the number of Community Bed Bases
within the stroke pathway and the number of patients being treated by the ICT Community
Teams. Actions as a result of the SSNAP data include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
4.0

Discussions with Acute Trust Therapists to improve SSNAP score on acute stroke units.
To continue to engage with HCT teams to improve on the Trust’s SSNAP score.
Training being carried out for teams who require a refresher update.
To educate patients about the importance and value of 6 month follow-up reviews.
Stroke care is part of CQUIN scheme for HVCCG.
Continue to participate in the national SSNAP audit to deliver service improvements
across 10 key aspects of stroke care
Learning from Local Clinical Audit Reports 2016/17.

The local clinical effectiveness programme for 2016 is structured to enable prioritisation based
on risk and impact on the Trust’s strategic objectives (Appendix One).
The findings of completed local clinical audits have been reviewed by the relevant
subcommittees, groups and service meetings in HCT from 1st April 2016. This section includes
some examples of local audits which have been undertaken during this period and the
assurances gained and actions identified to mitigate against risks identified to improve the
quality of HCT services.
4.1

Community Diabetes Specialist Service Nine Care Processes (CQUIN).
Reported to the East & North Herts CCG and Herts Valley CCG, May 2016.
AMBER / GREEN ASSURANCE

The aim of the audit was to provide evidence of assurance of meeting the CQUIN targets for
Diabetes Service Development (recording of the nine recommended care processes for the
effectiveness of diabetes treatment). 10% of patients on the caseload were assessed. The
results showed that appropriate steps had been taken by the Diabetes Specialist Nurses to
ensure all requirements of the care processes had been achieved (this includes follow-up of
missing test results). The Diabetes Service is fulfilling its commitment in meeting the
expectation and the variants required specific to the needs of the individual patient and
delivering excellent patient care. Actions include:
•
•
•
•
•

SystmOne care plan reviewed to improve recording of diabetes care processes.
Education Sessions for ICT/ Community Hospital Units - completed November 2016.
Patient discharge letter reviewed - action completed.
Service transformation underway due to increased demands and to ensure current
model delivers high quality diabetes care across Hertfordshire.
Re-audit planned for the service in Q2 2017, to ensure continued improvement.
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CQC Record-keeping Audit in HCT Community Hospitals (Q4 reported to the
CEG, June 2016). AMBER / GREEN ASSURANCE

The results of the Q4 audit were largely positive demonstrating good evidence of
standardisation and the personalisation of records reflecting the introduction of the admission
and discharge paperwork. Recommendations made from previous audits had been
implemented with further changes being made with the introduction of the Electronic Clinical
Record (ECR). There were also positive findings around the personalisation of records and
quality improvements since the audit took place in Q3 and some of these are shown below:
Bed Rail
form
completed

Q3
Q4

92%
97%

Fluid
balance
charts
completed
for ‘at risk
patient’
92%
98%

72hr or
Personal
Pages All
Allergies
continuous information labelled entries documented
monitoring completed
dated
form
completed
74%
97%

95%
99%

95%
93%

68%
80%

98%
100%

The audit identified some issues around updating of food and fluid charts, and care plans not
being completed in real time. Other issues around full completion of patient identification will be
resolved with the roll out of the ECR. Gaps addressed directly by each community hospital
ward via individualised action plans and supplementary reports to promote improvements.
Assurance has been gained that concerns previously identified relating to the implementation of
ECR in two units have been addressed and the roll out programme is back on track. Outputs of
the audit include:
•

•
•
•
•

•

Successful implementation of the SystmOne Community Hospital module ECR at Bed
Bureau, Danesbury, QVM, Langley House, Holywell, Potters Bar and Herts & Essex
Hospitals to support records which are fully integrated with HCT community services
and some local GP practices.
All Ward Managers and Ward Sisters trained to run Data Quality Reports.
SystmOne data quality reports assessed by Ward Managers to identify missing data.
SystmOne refresher training arranged for staff (Q1 2017).
Langton, St Albans City Hospital and St Peter’s Ward at Hemel Hempstead Hospital,
will commence once West Hertfordshire Hospital Trust WIFI infrastructure upgrades
have been made to support the project roll-out across the Trust and enable staff to work
without risk.
Re-audit undertaken October 2016 to ensure quality improvements. [Re-audit findings
across Langton, Sopwell and St Peter’s Ward have shown improvement and 100%
compliance across many areas].

CQC Report October 2016: “Patient records were stored securely and most patients’
individual care records were comprehensive and contained relevant risk assessments which
were evaluated”.
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Audit of knowledge, awareness and application of the Safeguarding Adults from
Abuse Policy (SAFA). Reported at the Safeguarding Adults Forum, May 2016.
GREEN ASSURANCE

An audit was carried out to demonstrate staff knowledge, understanding and awareness of the
safeguarding adult’s policy. The findings offer assurance with 93% of staff who participated
demonstrating awareness of the policy and how to access it. 94% confirmed that the policy was
extremely/very useful. 90% (226/252) of staff felt they had the knowledge to be able to identify
a safeguarding adult concern. The audit results also confirm that changing mandatory training
requirements from three yearly to annually had raised the profile of safeguarding and helped
increase staff awareness with 100% of staff confirming good understanding of ‘Who can report
a Safeguarding Adult concern’. As a result of the audit the following actions have been
completed:
•

•
•
•

•

HCT made improvements to our Safeguarding Adults Policy and
Procedures to ensure adults are protected from the risk of harm or
abuse (concern flowchart/concern form amended) and uploaded to
intranet (September 2016).
Develop café style one page questionnaire (adapted from Children’s
Safeguarding Team) to inform Trust priorities and embed good
practice.
Safeguarding updates and revised flowchart shared on Trust
Communications ‘Noticeboard’ (September 2016).
The service intend to use technology in the form of an app to further
support our staff to follow the policy in undertaking ‘real time’ Mental Capacity
assessments.
Re-audit in two years.

CQC Report October 2016: “HCT has made improvements to how it ensures adults are
protected from the risk of harm or abuse”.
4.4

Audit of Recommended Vaccines for Children with Sickle Cell/Thalassaemia.
Reported at the Service Leaders Meeting, June 2016. GREEN ASSURANCE

An audit was undertaken to see if children with Sickle Cell disorders in Hertfordshire are
receiving Pneumovax II (from the age of 2 years on a 5 yearly basis). The audit included uptake
of vaccines (Hepatitis B and the annual flu vaccine). The results demonstrated 95% of children
were up to date with Pneumovax II vaccine thus meeting the National Target (95%), and so
reducing mortality and improving health outcomes for children. 56% of children had received
some of the Hepatitis B vaccine course, 42% had completed the recommended number of
vaccines and a further 14% were incomplete. The 36% uptake of the flu vaccine is low, despite
every family being sent a leaflet and letter on the flu vaccine by the Children’s Sickle Cell Nurse
Specialist. Following the audit, the actions listed below have been implemented
•
•
•

Notification letter to all GP’s requesting that the children are offered the vaccination from
their GP surgery to increase the uptake.
Work with child health for the 3rd Hepatitis B vaccination reminders to be issued.
Further work in conjunction with the acute sector to ensure appropriate vaccine
response has been achieved.
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Antibiotic Audit. Reported at the Medicines Management Forum, July 2016.
AMBER / GREEN ASSURANCE

The audit results have shown an improvement in prescribing against HCT formulary guidance.
Not all prescriptions have a stop/review date and indication of antibiotic annotated on the
prescription chart. Therefore following the audit actions include:
•
•
•

•

•
•
•

A prompt sheet implemented to improve the quality of documentation and recording on
the prescription chart.
Quarterly audits completed to ensure good standards of practice and raised awareness
of antimicrobial stewardship.
Pharmacists discuss actions required at the Ward Managers’ Meetings and audit
results of are reported to Ward Managers/Teams (including prescribers) on the day of
the audits for immediate action to highlight issues which are likely to have the most
impact on prescribing practice.
Antimicrobial training sessions have been introduced for staff to improve prescribing
practices across the Trust and reduce antimicrobial resistance. (November 2016 and
July 2017). This has contributed to HCT maintaining its low number of reported C.
difficile cases and remaining below the ceiling of six cases reported in year.
Antimicrobial prescribing continued professional development (CPD) provided by the
Pharmacy Team will improve standards of antimicrobial prescribing and awareness
across the Trust.
E-learning training to be implemented by December 2017.
The Pharmacy Team have implemented NICE Quality Standard [QS121] Antimicrobial
Stewardship to ensure the effective use of antimicrobials in the Trust.

CQC Report October 2016: “Arrangements for managing medicines including obtaining,
prescribing, recording, handling, storage and security, dispensing, safe administration and
disposal were mostly in place to keep people safe”.
4.6

Hearing and Vision Screening Re-audit. Reported at the CEF, July 2016.
AMBER / GREEN ASSURANCE

The re-audits were initially undertaken following an SI. The audits reviewed audiology
and vision screening for children in Reception classes in Hertfordshire. The results
were based on 14,636 children assessed/year.
Children Receiving Vision
Screening (%)
96%*
*Some children were already
under orthoptic services or a
child was absent, or refusal by
child/parent.

Vision Screening
Passed First Time
88%*
*Children that failed not
re-tested, but referred
immediately.

Second test conducted for
children who were unable to
complete test, e.g. autistic
children who may experience
difficulties.

Actions include:
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SystmOne template amended for improved recording (action complete).
Annual audit to maintain standards and ensure quality improvement.

Children Receiving Audiology
Screening (%)
96%*
*Some children were already
under orthoptic services or a
child was absent, or refusal by
child/parent.

Audiology
Screening Passed
First Time
78%*
*Children that
failed not re-tested,
but referred to
audiology service.

All children who did not receive any
audiology screening were followed-up,
(reasons included child being
discharged, absent despite 2 letters
sent home, records not found in CUS
units, and parental consent refusal).

Actions include:
•
•
•
4.7

Audiology screening gaps addressed by cross-checking SystmOne records.
Proactive reporting/feedback of results during school nurse meetings.
Annual audit to maintain standards and ensure quality improvement.
End of Life Care (EoLC) NICE Quality Standards Audit. Reported at the CEG,
August 2016. AMBER / RED ASSURANCE

The results of the End of Life NICE quality standards audit assessed 85 adult deaths. The audit
demonstrated that:

Actions
audit

•
•
•
•

following the
include:

Continued need for staff training to recognise when patients are approaching the end of
life and the importance of spiritual needs and carers needs assessment.
Continue to improve real time communication between HCT and the Out of Hours
Service – implementation of the EPaCCS (Electronic Palliative Care Coordination)
System started April 2016 and ongoing.
Re-audit utilising questions from the Royal College of Physicians (RCP) ‘Care of the
Dying’ Audit – audit pilot in progress using RCP audit tool in Q1, 2017.
EoLC is a CQUIN for Herts Valley CCG to promote improved collaboration and coordination across the EoLC pathway, to increase the numbers of patients being treated
in their preferred place of care and dying in their preferred place of death. This will
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improve the patient experience and will enable patients to remain in the community by
following patient centred care planning.
EoLC is a CQUIN for East and North Herts Valley CCG to improve training targets and
integrate working with hospices.

End of Life Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) Audit. Reported at the
CEG, August 2016. AMBER / GREEN ASSURANCE

The results of the End of Life PROMs audit undertaken for 596 patients, demonstrated some
improvement in patient experience in some localities; however variation in practice across
localities was identified. The audit showed an increase (15%) in the number of patients known
to be in the last year of life. There appears to be a further decline in the percentage of people
offered Advance Care Planning (ACP) when looking at SystmOne, but the percentage of
people with a recorded preferred place of care has increased whilst the recorded preferred
place of death shows a slight deterioration. These results suggest that there are inaccuracies in
documentation. As a result of the audit, actions include:
•
•
•
•
•
4.9

Staff training on ACP, how to document their discussions about the future and accurate
reporting on SystmOne template. Over 450 staff trained in ACP.
Palliative care courses tailored to HCT staff bookable via AT-Learning system.
Staff support provided (buddying, mentoring, action learning sets, clinical supervision).
40 EOLC Champions recruited and forums/workshops implemented.
East and North Hertfordshire CCG supporting ACP CQUIN in progress.
UNICEF Baby-friendly Programme Breastfeeding Re-audit. Reported at the CEF,
September 2016. GREEN ASSURANCE

The Trust has gained Stage 2 UNICEF UK Baby-friendly Initiative accreditation. As part of
assurance for Stage 3, the audit reviewed mothers’ experience (every 3 months) and staff
knowledge (every 6 months). The UNICEF assessment tool was used and requires 80%
compliance against each standard. The results were as follows:
•
•
•
•

100% staff demonstrated excellent knowledge and skills in infant feeding, supporting
breastfeeding mothers and strengthening relationships between mothers, babies and
their families.
100% Health Visitor staff trained to support breast-feeding mothers. [Quality priority
trajectory is 100% of the Health Visitor workforce trained].
Achievement of over 80% in all areas in staff knowledge across 1 to 4
standards provides positive assurance of effective contribution towards
mothers’ breastfeeding experience.
UNICEF ‘Off to the best start’ leaflet not widely shared.

Actions from the audit include:
•

•
•

100% of HCT Health Visitors have completed the two-day ‘UNICEF
breastfeeding and relationship building: a new approach’ training, with
newly appointed Health Visitors completing the training within six months of commencing
with the Trust.
Collaborative working with Business Change Team to revise electronic record keeping
template (antenatal, new birth, 6 - 8 week check and transfer in) to report that
conversations around infant feeding/relationship building have taken place.
19 county-wide keyworkers have cascaded training to teams/localities.
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Regular monthly meetings now in place.
Standardised programme developed: Introducing ‘Solid Foods’.
Breastfeeding leaflet has now gone into the ‘New Birth’ pack.
HCT quality priority for 2016/17 to improve the experiences of families in their chosen
method of infant feeding.
The Health Visiting Service follows UNICEF baby friendly accreditation guidance which
meets the NICE Quality Standards [QS98] Maternal and Child Nutrition. HCT have
achieved full implementation of the guidance.
In March 2017, HCT were awarded the Level 3 UNICEF Baby Friendly award, which shows
that the families and babies who are looked after by our Health Visitors will be cared for and
supported in the best way to improve their health and wellbeing.

Health Visiting – St Albans: “The Health Visitors and support staff are so friendly and never
make me, a first time mum who doesn’t know what she’s doing feel silly, and always gives
great advice.”

4.10

UNICEF Baby Friendly Initiative Standards Premises Audit. Reported at the CEF,
September 2016. GREEN ASSURANCE

As part of the accreditation process for UNICEF Baby Friendly Initiative, HCT conducted a
premises audit to establish a) what each premise had available to assist and support
breastfeeding mothers and b) that the premises are compliant with the International Code of
Marketing of Breastmilk Substitutes.
•
•
•
•
•
•

The results showed an improvement and more positive outcome in all areas.
Equipment (doll, knitted breast) is widely available to assist mothers.
100% used a breast feeding assessment tool.
93% displayed a notice welcoming breastfeeding and had written information relating to
breastfeeding available for mothers.
75% reported that the premises are environment code compliant.
64% displayed a copy of the HCT Infant feeding policy (this may be due to centres
having their own infant feeding policy).

Actions in response to the audit include:
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Continue to comply with UNICEF Baby Friendly Initiative Standards and NICE Quality
standards.
Ensure all premises have both HCT and Children’s Centres’ policies.

Health Visiting - South Oxhey Baby Clinic: “The Health Visitors that work here are a credit to
the NHS. I have found the centre to be a happy environment with warm, committed and
extremely professional staff.”
4.11

Tongue Tie Re-audit. Reported at East/North Locality SMT, and at the CEF,
September 2016. GREEN ASSURANCE

As part of the UNICEF Baby Friendly Initiative for promoting breast feeding, a re-audit of
identifying the effect of tongue tie division on breastfeeding was carried out. East and North
Herts have already commissioned a tongue tie pathway. Herts Valley pathway is about to be
commissioned. The results showed:
•

•

85% of the cohort continued to breastfeed exclusively at 6 weeks with improvement in
breastfeeding experience and outcomes for both mother and baby following the division
of tongue tie (release of the lingual frenulum enables the baby to attach efficiently to the
breast improving breast - milk transfer).
50% mothers reported an improvement in breastmilk supply at 6 weeks and there was
an increase in growth in 47% of the babies.

Actions in response to the audit include:
•
•
•
4.12

Division of Ankyloglossia (Tongue Tie) pathway issued to all Health Visitors.
Business change request for SystmOne to further improve data collation.
Re-audit in 12 months.
Audit of Nutritional Care in Community Hospital Units within HCT. Reported at
CEG, October 2016. RED ASSURANCE

The audit was undertaken in HCT Community Hospital Units to provide the CCGs with
assurance that the 10 key characteristics described in “The Food Hospital Standard Panel’s
Report for Standards for Eating and Drinking in NHS hospitals” (August 2014) were in place
within the Community Hospital Units, including the embedding of screening for risk of
malnutrition and the provision of fluid and nutrition for patients. The audit demonstrated that,
whilst 98% of patients who were identified as being at risk of dehydration had a fluid balance
chart for monitoring their oral fluid intake, over half of these charts demonstrated that the
patient declined a drink and, where a patient had not had a drink recorded for more than three
hours, this was only escalated in 13% of patients. Actions following the audit include:
•
•
4.13

Sharing the results with all Ward Managers and addressing gaps by implementing
action plans and monitor improvements as part of the Electronic Patient Records audit.
Re-audit planned for September 2017.
Chaperone Policy
ASSURANCE

Audit,

Reported

at

CEF,

November

2016.

GREEN

A re-audit was undertaken to provide assurance to Children’s Services Commissioners that
Community Paediatricians comply with the HCT Chaperone Guidance. An audit of the policy
was first conducted in 2015 with a recommendation to re-audit on an annual basis to provide
continued assurance. The results of the re-audit compare favourably with the 2015 audit with
both audits providing evidence of HCT Community Paediatricians demonstrating good
compliance with the Trust’s Privacy and Dignity Policy and evidencing the safeguarding of
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children in the care of our Community Paediatricians. The 2016 audit involved a greater
number of surveys (52 versus 36 in 2015), and therefore, good assurance provided to
safeguard the position of patients and staff throughout consultation, examination, treatment and
care. Actions in response to the audit include:
•
•
4.14

Share the results at the Safeguarding Committee (6th December 2016).
Re-audit on an annual basis to provide assurance. Audit planned in Q4 2018.
Emotional and Mental Health Wellbeing (EMHWB) Audit, Reported at CEF,
November 2016. GREEN ASSURANCE

An audit was undertaken in School Nursing to understand if staff have the knowledge (following
training) on how to deliver EMHWB advice and support to children and young people (CYP)
attending mainstream state schools in Hertfordshire. The training has been provided in
collaboration with HCT Step 2 Service who conducted the training. Feedback from staff
indicated the training to be relevant to their job and beneficial. Actions include:
•
•

Establishing a working party to look at developing a resource for staff to support them in
dealing with CYP with EMHWB concerns.
Re-audit in Q1, 2017.

School Nursing: “The service has been brilliant. The knowledge and support has been
outstanding and has really helped us as a family.”
4.15

Audiology Vision Re-audit - Reported at CEF, November 2016. GREEN
ASSURANCE

An audit was carried out to identify children that could not see/hear properly, who could then go
through the referral route or have a re-test. The results of the collective cohort for Reception
children across Hertfordshire was 14, 935 - 14, 650 (98.9%) for vision and 14, 679 (99%) for
audiology screening. Considerable improvements and positive assurances from the re-audit
were made compared to last year’s audit, including accuracy of record keeping, standardising
of processes in place to ensure appropriate referral. Actions include:
•
4.16

Re-audit on an annual basis.
Compliance with Fluid Balance Charts - Reported at CEG, December 2016
GREEN ASSURANCE

Spot audits undertaken at QVM by the Community Hospital Units Lead Nurse demonstrated
good compliance with the completion of fluid balance charts. Actions in response to the audit
include:
•

Ward Managers to undertake quarterly dip test of records and follow up any areas of
concern.

4.17

Audit of Education Health Care Plans (EHCP). Reported at Team Locality
Meetings, October 2016. GREEN ASSURANCE

Special Educational Needs and Disability Reforms were introduced on the 1st September 2014.
As a result of this an Education Health Care Plan (EHCP) assessment process was identified
as a way of bringing a child / young person’s education, health and social care needs into a
single, legal document. The aim of the audit was to ensure that the EHCP Reports submitted
are accurate, relevant and completed in a timely manner. The audit results showed reports
were well written and concise and relevant. All personal details, purpose of the report and the
child’s strengths and needs including equipment needs are well documented. Actions include:
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Report findings shared at all Team Locality Meetings and a copy of the report to be sent
out to all Children’s Therapists via Team Leads and Community Medical Team.
Re audit in 1 year.

Children’s Physiotherapy: “Health Visitor was very informative, thorough and very calm and
relaxed so I felt I was not being rushed. I feel very confident with having this service available.”
4.18

Looked after Children and Care Leavers Record Keeping Audit – Reported at
Safeguarding Forum, December 2016 and to East and North Hertfordshire CCG.
GREEN ASSURANCE

HCT is required to provide a 6 monthly LAC/CL audit as part of the Quality Schedule agreed
with the Commissioners to provide assurance that Looked after Children and Care Leavers are
correctly identified by professionals, health needs of LCA/CL are prioritised and appropriate
referrals are made and recorded on the electronic health record. The audit demonstrated good
practice within the service and revealed a positive outcome that all onward referrals for LAC/CL
were all seen within a reasonable time frame. Actions in response to the audit include:
•
•
4. 19

Share results/findings with the Service and continue to embed and reinforce the
importance of quality record keeping and documentation.
Re-audit in 6 months.
Record Keeping Community Hospital Units - Reported at CEG, February 2017.
AMBER / GREEN ASSURANCE

The Audit demonstrated that all BBUs are fully compliant with ward processes and fully
compliant in many record keeping areas. There are some areas requiring improvement e.g.
recording of VTE, Bed rails and MRSA. Actions in response to the audit include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

4.20

Results of the audit shared with Ward Managers.
Refresher training on SystmOne.
Quality assurance visits auditing cycle to commence Q2, 2017.
Monthly dip test audits in place.
Re-audits to be discussed - meeting 13th July with Clinical Services Manager for
Community Hospitals.
Continue quality improvements to support records which are fully integrated with HCT
community services and some local GP practices.
Adult Urinary Catheter Care Audit - Reported at CEG, February 2017.
AMBER / GREEN ASSURANCE

The audit was undertaken as part of a required target for the Herts Valley CCG CQUIN to
determine whether appropriate discharge information is being sent out with patients leaving
HCT Community Hospitals with an indwelling catheter in situ. The audit demonstrated
appropriate care planning is in place for those patients with an indwelling urinary catheter and
that staff understand the use of indwelling catheterisation should be questioned as a means to
manage bladder problems. The audit highlighted that staff do not always understand the use of
the terminology regarding ‘care pathway’ and that they are not always documenting when a
catheter passport has been completed. Actions in response to the audit include:
•
•

Ensure that information is recorded in a way that is understandable, relevant, visible
and reportable (i.e. coded). All HCT care plans currently being reviewed.
Targeted training provided for Community Hospital staff on catheter care pathway
documentation to improve the quality of care for those patients with an indwelling
urinary catheter and supporting the use of Catheter Passports for patients.
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Ensure that any staff working within the Community Hospital Units are familiar with
electronic patient record documentation process. (Generic access to SystmOne to
enable agency/bank staff access to the full patient record.)

Bladder and Bowel Service: “The staff are extremely helpful, knowledgeable and
professional. I have had real improvements which are allowing me to get back to work so it’s
been so effective.”
4.21

New Birth Visit Audit – Reported at Health Visitors Senior Management Team and
CEF, March 2017. GREEN ASSURANCE

The audit was carried out to assess Health Visitors’ adherence to the HCT Primary Birth Visit
(New Birth) SOP (2016). The audit has demonstrated a huge improvement in record keeping
and adherence to the guidelines. Actions include:
•
•
•
4.22

Prompt card/aid memoirs to be produced and made available to staff and Team Leads.
Revise SOP. Team Leads to ensure that Health Visitors know how to access/comply
with the SOP.
Regular updates through newsletters, emails, and training sessions with staff.
Health Visitor Prescribing Audit – Reported at Health Visitors Senior Management
Team and CEF, January 2017. AMBER / GREEN ASSURANCE

The audit was carried out to identify if nurse prescribing is reducing GP appointments for minor
illness and identify adherence to NMC standards. After writing a prescription, 43% of staff
sometimes or never followed up a client. 78% of staff felt that their prescribing had prevented
the family attending the GP. Delays in receiving a prescription pad caused some staff to lose
confidence in their ability to prescribe. Actions in response to the audit include:
•
•
•
•
4.23

Team Leads and Qualified Experienced Nurse Prescribers to support prescribing staff.
Provide prescribing champions, bi-monthly pharmacy updates.
Improve response time for staff to receive prescription and create flowchart to ease
process of requesting prescription pads.
Re-audit.
Transitioning of Young People into Adult Services - Reported at CEF, January
2017. AMBER / GREEN ASSURANCE

The audit was carried out to identify the Trust’s understanding of the transition of young people
from children to adult services following recommendations from CQC and NICE guidance. The
audit also aimed to gather an understanding of staff views on what their role is and/or should be
in the transition process. The audit demonstrated that staff are familiar with the Young People’s
Transition Service and that transition planning is relevant to them and their services. It was
evident that transition is seen to be everybody’s responsibility and that it is best achieved when
all services involved work and communicate with each other. Actions in response to the audit
include:
•

To improve our Young People’s Transition Policy by engaging all business units so that
Transition is included in their annual planning to ensure a systematic approach across
Children’s and Adult services.

4.24

Audit of the Application of Paper Record Icon in SystmOne for Community
Paediatric Units - Reported at CEF, January 2017. GREEN ASSURANCE
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The audit was undertaken to gain assurance that the Paper Record Warning symbol had been
assigned to SystmOne records. The warning acts as an alert to all NHS users of SystmOne
that paper records are also held, safeguarding children by ensuring that all agencies are aware
of how the record is compiled. 100% of the random records selected across all four Children’s
Centres in West Herts contained the warning icon. No actions required.
4.25

Audit to Review Health Visitor Decision Making when following up Domestic
Abuse Notifications - Reported at CEF, January 2017. AMBER / GREEN
ASSURANCE

Following recommendations from recent Domestic Homicide Review (DHR) the audit reviewed
the records of adults and children where health visitors had received a domestic abuse
notification and also to assess how the health visitor had made her decision regarding follow up
of the incident. There were some areas of good practice, however in other cases there was little
evidence to support decision making. Safety of the victim had been considered in some cases,
but there were occasions where a risk assessment had not taken place for the child. There was
little evidence of health visitors action planning and health visitors were not child focussed
when assessing risk for children. It was felt that contacting the Safeguarding Children Team for
advice may have benefitted decision making. Actions in response to the audit include:
•
•
•
•
5.0

Safeguarding Children Team to develop domestic abuse and recordkeeping training
packages.
Areas of good practice/results shared with Children’s Universal Service locality
managers and team leaders, and cascade at team meetings.
Safeguarding Children Team to complete dip sample audit and feed back to individual
health visitors at safeguarding supervision.
Re-audit in 6-months.
Staff Engagement Session in 2016/17.

A clinical audit information session was held at the ‘Leading Lights’ event in
June 2016 to promote how clinical audit can be used as a quality
improvement tool to enhance patient care. Additional audits have been
added to the clinical effectiveness programme as a direct result of
engagement.
6.0

Clinical Effectiveness Programme 2016/17.

Progress against the clinical effectiveness programme for 2016/17 is
outlined in Appendix 1 using a RAG rating.
7.0

Key Areas for Development in 2017/18

In 2017/18, the key areas for development will support the Trust in
promoting a clinical environment in which patient care is based upon the
best available evidence and clinical audit demonstrates effective practice
with improved outcomes.
•

Continue to deliver a clinical effectiveness programme which is
based on a balance of national and local interests, and the need to address key risk
drivers, strategic interests and concerns.
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Ensure 100% participation in all relevant national clinical audits and reviews set out by
the DH national clinical audit programme.
Continue to embed clinical audit into frontline practice and support quality
improvements, aiming for 100% of services participating in clinical audit and provide
clinicians with the opportunity to access support for clinical audit projects.
Continue to contribute to the quality of patient care through effective clinical audits.
Align clinical effectiveness support around each business unit to enable clinical
effectiveness priorities to be addressed and triangulate across the Risk and Assurance
Team to coordinate quality in a collaborative way. New model of working to start
September 2017.
Support the delivery of clinical effectiveness initiatives and continue to provide
assurance against the work delivered so far by clinical audit.
Demonstrate compliance with evidence-based practice supporting the delivery of high
quality evidence based care, following recommended guidelines and achieve good
outcomes (better health, fewer symptoms) for patients.
Participate in HQIP Clinical Audit Awareness Week (2017) initiative to promote better
engagement, knowledge and awareness of clinical audit across the Trust.
Continue to ensure the Trust’s clinical audit programme provides evidence for external
monitoring/accreditation (CQC, CCG and the DH quality accounts).
Ensure re-audits are incorporated into the clinical effectiveness programme and ensure
monitoring and follow up of actions and recommendations from clinical audit.
Celebrate clinical effectiveness achievements.

Conclusion

In conclusion, HCT participated in an annual clinical audit programme during 2016/17 which
was explicitly driven by risks and linked to the impact on the Trust’s strategic objectives and on
delivering High Value Healthcare. This approach has provided the Board with assurance that a
systematic programme of clinical audit activity supported the delivery of the Trust’s strategic
objectives and assurance of the management of risks in relation to the quality of care provided
to patients.
Report completed by:
Alpana Patel, Clinical Effectiveness Manager
19th July 2017
Clinical Effectiveness Group, 12th June 2016. GREEN ASSURANCE:
“The clinical effectiveness annual report 2016/17 was received and good progress was
noted”.
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Appendix 1: Clinical Effectiveness Programme 2016/17

Clinical Effectiveness Programme (2016/2017)
*SO = HCT Strategic Objectives (See page 25 for details and for information on clinical audit risk score).
(Clinician involvement in clinical audit as part of their training and revalidation is highlighted in BOLD).
Audit Title
*SO
**Risk
Services
Status
Score
National Sentinel Stroke Audit Programme
2
4
Intermediate Care Team (ICT)
Completed. Reported to Clinical Effectiveness Group (CEG) in February 2017.
(SSNAP) NCAPOP Quality Account Audit for
and Community Hospital Units
2016/17 (1)
National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary
2
4
Pulmonary Rehabilitation Service
In progress. Submit results July 2017.
Disease (COPD) NCAPOP Quality Account
Audit for 2016/17 (2)
National Diabetes Adult (NDA) Audit
2
4
Community Diabetes Specialist
Completed. 5,440 patient records were submitted. Completed and reported to
NCAPOP Quality Account Audit for 2016/17 (3)
Service
CEG June 2017.
National PILOT Audit of Dementia NCAPOP
2
4
St Peter’s Community Hospital
Completed Pilot.
Quality Account Audit for 2016/17 (5)
Unit
National Paediatric Diabetes Audit
2
4
Completed. Presented at CEG October 2016.
(NPDA) Quality Account Audit for 2015/16
National Confidential Enquiry into Patient
2
4
Neurology Services Adults and
Withdrawn - Audit applicable to acute hospitals.
Outcome and Death Chronic Neurodisability
Children’s Services
Study (6)
National Confidential Enquiry into Patient
2
4
PALMS, Step 2 and Minor Injuries Data gathering completed. Awaiting national report presentation to CEG.
Outcome and Death. Young People and Young
Unit - Herts & Essex Community
Adults' Mental Health. (7)
Hospital
National Parkinson's Audit (8)
2
4
Neurological Service
Withdrawn Parkinson’s Audit moved to 2 year cycle.
National NDFA Diabetes Foot care Audit
2
4
Podiatry Service
In progress. Data collected May-June 2017. Always 1 year behind.
2016/17(10)
ANNUAL Record Keeping Annual Audit (Trust2
4
All Services across the Trust
Completed. Reported to IG group.
wide). External Requirement: CQC Standard 21
(including HMP The Mount)
11)
ANNUAL NHS Safety Thermometer (Pressure
2
4
Community Hospital Units and all
Completed. Data Monitored via monthly IBPR and reported in Quality Account.
Ulcers, Falls, Catheters, Urinary Tract
Integrated Community Teams
Infections, VTE). (12)
Record Keeping Audit CQC REQUIREMENT.
3
4
All Community Hospital
Completed. Reported to CEG February 2017.
1. Consent
Units/HMP The Mount
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2. Do Not Attempt Cardiopulmonary
Resuscitation 3. Use of Bed Rails
4. Assessment of (VTE) Re-audit (13)
Red Tray and Hydration Audit CCG Quality
contract requirements/quality priority and for
CQC (14)
Pharmacy PGD audit (17). CQC Assurance
End of life Annual Syringe Driver Audit (26)
Patient Flow CQUIN – Quarterly reported to
CCG 2015/16 (58) carry forward audit (43)
Diabetes CQUIN for Q4 Assurance (47)
CCG Assurance
Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool (MUST)
Assessment (53). Quality contract
requirements
Safeguarding Children – staff knowledge of
safeguarding policy (64 on 15/16) (54). CQC
assurance
Skin Health Referral Pathway (62)
Safeguarding Chaperone Policy Re-audit
CCG ASSURANCE FOR WEST ESSEX (16)
CLINICIAN AUDIT. Dr Rudran
Developmental Dislocation of the Hip (DDH)
(30)
UNICEF breastfeeding Policy Re-audit (36)
Infection Control (40)
Sharps Safety (i)
Hand Hygiene Audit (ii)
MRSA Screening Audit (iii)
Urinary Catheter Care (1) Insertion and (2)
Continuing Care (iv)
Peripheral Vascular Catheter Audit (v)
Enteral Feeding Audit (vi)
Commode Audit (vii)
Plus Size Patients Management Audit (46)

Danesbury and QVM Record Keeping audit (50)

Attachment J1

th

2

4

Community Hospital Units

Completed. Presented at CEG meeting on 11 October 2016 and April 2017

2

4

Adult & Children’s Services

In progress. Audit questions to be sent out in June to managers where
service use PGDs.

2
1,
2, 4
2

4
4

In progress. Added to 2017/18 programme.
th
Completed. Presented to CCG on 18 April 2016.

2

4

Trust-wide
Adult Community Hospital Units –
Herts Valley
Community Diabetes Service.
East & North & West Herts
Community Hospital Units

2, 4

4

Trust wide

Carry forward to 2017/18 audit programme. Audit completed and awaiting report.

2
1

4
3

East & North Herts Skin Health
Children’s Universal Services

Completed.
Completed. Presented at Safeguarding Committee Children Committee on 6th
December 2016.

2

3

2
2

3
3

Children’s Universal Services –
Health Visiting
Children’s Universal Services
Community Hospital Units/HMP
The Mount

Carry forward to 2017/18 audit programme. Completed.
Incorporated in the New Birth Audit and 1 and 2 year audit Reported at May CEF.
Completed. Reported at Clinical Effectiveness Forum (CEF) September 2016.
Completed. Reported at the quarterly Infection Prevention and Control Forum.
Reported in annual quality account

1,2

1,2

Completed. Report at July CEF 2017.

2

3

East & North Core Services (Adult
patients in community hospitals,
ICTs and clinic-based services)
Danesbury and QVM Adult
Community Hospital Unit

4

Completed. Presented to CCG in May 2016.
Completed. Bed bases conducting monthly.

Completed. Presented at June CEG.
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Safeguarding Children record keeping audit
(55)
National NHS New-born Bloodspot Screening
(NBS) Programme.
ANNUAL (9)
Patient Discharge Letter re: Do Not Attempt
Resuscitation (DNAR) communication to GPs
(15)
Pharmacy Medicines Reconciliation (18)

2

3

All Children’s Services

Completed. Reported at Operations and Safeguarding Forum meetings.

2

2

Children’s Universal Services

2

2

Bed Base East & North and West

Completed. Quarterly exception reporting to the Antenatal and New-born
Screening Group and externally at Antenatal Programme Board, NHS Public
Health England.
Completed. Data is collected on a daily basis on SystmOne.

2

2

Adults – Community Hospital units

Pharmacy Missed Dose audit (19)

2

2

Adults – Community Hospital units

Pharmacy Controlled drugs in BBU’s audit CQC assurance (20)
Pharmacy Antimicrobial Prescribing re-audit
(21)
Pharmacy Medicine Storage (22)

2

2

Adults – Community Hospital units

2

2

2

2

Community Hospital Units/HMP
The Mount
Trust-wide

End of life (EOL) Evidence Based Practice (23)
End of life (EOL)
Service Evaluation/Patient Experience (24)
End of life (EOL) Famcare 2 Re-audit (25)

2
2

2
2

Trust-wide
Trust-wide

2

2

Specialist Palliative Care

Five Mandatory Contacts (27)
1. Antenatal Visit
2. New Birth Visit
3. 6 – 8 week Maternal Mood Visit
4. 1 year Development Review
5. 2 – 2 ½ year Review
Feverish Illness in Children 0-5 years (28)

2

2

Children’s Universal Services –
Health Visiting

2

2

Hepatitis B and Bacillus Calmette-Guerin BCG
2
(29)
Dental Service R4 System Data for IG
2
Toolkit/Quarterly Record-keeping audit (31)
Child Health. Monitoring the Inclusion of
2
Meningitis B in child vaccination programme.
(33)
Clinical Audit Update Report 2016/AP/21 July 2017

2

Children’s Universal Services –
Health Visiting
Children’s Universal Services –
Health Visiting
Children’s Specialist Services Special Care Dental Service
Children’s Universal Services Child Health Information Services
(CHIS)

2
2

Withdrawn. Lack of capacity to complete in year and new priorities addressed.
Low priority audit n progress.
Withdrawn. Lack of capacity to complete in year and new priorities addressed.
Low priority audit n progress.
Completed. Reported at the Medicines Management Forum October 2016 and in
April 2017.
Completed. Reported at the Medicines Management Forum October 2016.
In progress. November external auditors recommendations are that Wards selfassess every quarter with Pharmacy Team undertaking assurance check on each
unit once a year. Tool to be revised as part of recommendations and HCT QA
visits in progress with Quality Team. Discussed with BBU senior managers audit
to start in May 2017.
Completed. Reported to CEG August 2016.
Completed. Reported to CEG August 2016.
Withdrawn. Famcare2 relevance for SPC only. To incorporated into bereavement
tool/audit to carry forward once bereavement policy has been developed.
All completed. Except for audit no.3. No 1 Carried forward to 2017/18.
Reports shared at CEF in May 2017.

Withdrawn and carried forward to 2017/18.
Withdrawn. Incorporated into NBV and transfer in audits
Completed shared and dental clinical governance meetings.
Withdrawn. CHIS now implemented a tool to track every ‘at risk’ baby.
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School Nursing Fridge Management & Cold
Chain. ANNUAL AUDIT (34)
Domestic Violence “Asking the Question” Reaudit - (35)
Reasons for supplemental oxygen use during IV
sedation with midazolam (37)
World Health Organisation (WHO) – 5 Step
Surgical Checklist (38)
Dental Service quarterly audits (39)
1.Selected Info Control procedures
2. Local Decontamination Unit (LDU)
3. Hand piece
4. Pouching
5. Log sheet audits
ANNUAL Did Not Attend (DNA) Safeguarding
Children’s Services Section 11 (42).
CLINICIAN AUDIT: Dr Rudran/Dr Singh

Attachment J1
2

2

2

2

4

2

1

2

2

2

1, 2

2

1,
2, 3
2,3,
4, 5
2

2

Audit to gain supervisee feedback on
safeguarding supervision. Re-audit (49)
Occlusion Audit (51)
Health Visiting Audits
Transfer into Area Audit (56)
Blocked Catheters (57)

2

2

2
2

2
2

2

2

Dental Antibiotic Audit (58)

2

2

Audit of recommended vaccines for children
2
with sickle cell/thalassemia. (59)
Communication Disorder Assessment Clinic
2
Re-audit (60)
CLINICIAN AUDIT: Dr Venkatraman
Clinical Audit Update Report 2016/AP/21 July 2017

2

Discharge Criteria Used Re-audit (44)
CLINICIAN AUDIT: Dr Rudran/F2 Dr
Step 2 pre and post treatment outcome KPI
measures audit
QVM Re-admission Audit (48)

2
2

2

Children’s Universal Services –
School Nursing
Health Visiting

Completed. Report awaited.

Children’s Services (Herts Special
Care Dental Service, St Albans)
Special Care Dental Service
GA and Sedation
Special Care Dental
Service/HMP The Mount

Completed. Reported at Dental Sedation Meeting April 2017.

Children's Universal Services
Peace Children’s Centre, Pat
Lewis Centre, St Albans.
Watford. Florence Nightingale,
Harlow.
Community Paediatrics
Hertfordshire
Early intervention CAMHS –
Children’s Universal Services
Community Hospital QVM

Completed.

Children’s Services Safeguarding Children
Children’s Orthoptic Service
Children’s Universal Services –
Health Visiting
East & North Rapid Response
Services (Welwyn & Hatfield,
Stevenage, Upper Lea Valley and
Stort Valley and Villages)
Special Care Dental Service
Children’s Services - Sickle Cell
Service
Children’s Services

Withdrawn. Questions incorporated in Audit 27. HV 5 Mandatory Contacts Audit.

Completed shared and dental clinical governance meetings.
Completed shared and dental clinical governance meetings.

Completed. Results presented at Community Paediatricians away day March
2017.
Completed. Reports received. Reports on KPIs shared at Hertfordshire County
Council Monthly Contract Monitoring
Completed. Presented to Intermediate Care Programme Steering group July
2016.
Completed. Presented at Safeguarding Children’s Forum on December 2016.
Completed
Completed. Reports shared at CEF in May 2017.
Completed. Reports shared at Nurses forum on December 2016.

Completed. Results shared at Medicines Management & Clinical Governance
Dec 2016.
Completed. Audit presented to Service Leaders Meeting June 2016.
Completed. Results presented at Community Paediatrician's Away Day March
2017.
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Radiation Protection Quality Assurance Audit
(61)
Hip Surveillance in Children with Cerebral
Palsy (64)
CLINICIAN AUDIT: Dr Rudran/Dr Ravindran
Assessment of demand for out of hours cardiac
rehabilitation provision (65)
Wound care documentation in community
settings (68)
Premises Audit (70) This audit is completed 6
monthly.
Tongue-Tie (71)
Health Visitor Prescribing Audit (32)
Education Health Care Plan (EHCP) (52)
Perinatal Mental Health Support (66)
Looked After Children and Care Leavers (69)

Attachment J1
2

2

Special Care Dental Service

Completed shared and dental clinical governance meetings.

1

2

Completed. Shared at CEF in July 2017.

2&4

2

2

2

Community Paediatrics Herts.
(Peace, St Albans & Pat Lewis
Children's Centres)
Community Cardiology - Cardiac
Rehabilitation (West Herts)
Integrated Community Team
Welwyn and Hatfield

2

2

Health Visiting

Completed. Presented at CEF September 2016

2
2
2
2
2, 3

2
1
1
1
1

Health Visiting
Children’s Services
Children’s Physiotherapy
Health Visiting
Looked After Children and Care
Leavers

Completed. Presented at CEF September 2016
Completed. Presented at CEF January 2017.
Completed. Report shared at Team Locality Meetings October 2016.
Completed. Presented at CEF May 2017.
Completed. Completed. Presented at Safeguarding Forum December 2016.

HMP The Mount (63) Hand Hygiene (39, 40),
Infection Control (40), LDU (39), Environment
and Safety (40), Hand Piece (39), Pouching
(39), Log Sheet (39)

Completed.
Completed. Report shared at ICT meeting with nurses and HCAs. November
2016.

Completed.

SECTION 2: AUDITS CARRIED FORWARD TO 2015/16
Audit Title

National Parkinson's Audit NCAPOP Quality
Account Audit for 2015/16 awaiting reporting
in 2016/17 (5)
National NDFA Diabetes Foot care Audit (59)
Review Health Assessment Audit (74)
CLINICIAN AUDIT: Dr Saunders
Audiology Audit (37)
Vision Audit (38)
End of Life evidence based practice (66)
CLINICIAN AUDIT: Dr Nijhawan
Audit to gain supervisee feedback on
safeguarding (49)
Emotional Health & Wellbeing (EMHW) (48)

HC
T
SO*
2

Risk
Score

Services

Status

4

Neurological Service

Completed. Present to CEG meeting December 2016.

2
2

4
4

Completed. Present to CEG on October 2016.
Completed. Presented at Community Paediatrics Committee on December 2016

2
2
2

2
2
2

Podiatry Service
Community Paediatrics , West
Hertfordshire
CUS - School Nursing
CUS - School Nursing
Adult Services

2

2

Completed. Presented at Safeguarding Committee April 2016

2

1

Children’s Services –
Safeguarding Children
Children’s Universal – School
Nursing

Completed. Reported at July CEF meeting 2016.
Completed. Reported at July CEF meeting 2016.
Completed. Reported at CEG August 2016.

Completed. Reported at November CEF 2016.
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*HCT five Strategic Objectives
Reference Key

1. We will support the people we serve to manage their own health and wellbeing.
2. We will improve clinical outcomes and enhance patient safety.
3. We will support the substantial expansion of community services through the delivery of excellent core services for adults and children, and the development of
ambulatory services.
4. We will use resources efficiently to enhance our ability to improve services.
5. We will develop the organisation's capacity to deliver our vision and objectives.

** Risk Score – Clinical Audit Risk and Prioritisation Score Key:
Level

Description

Examples

4
High Level

National Priority

•
•
•
•
•

Trust Quality Account
NCAPOP (National Clinical Audit and Patient Outcomes Program) including. National Confidential Enquiries
Trust Quality Priority
Clinical Effectiveness CQUINS and CCG assurance
CQC

3
High Level

Trust Strategic
Objectives

•
•
•
•

Serious risk/incidents/accidents identified
Serious Safeguarding issues
Risk management issues (risk registers), complaints, critical incidents, Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS),
Trust Assurance Framework.

2
Medium Level

National Good
Practice

•
•
•

Audits against NICE guidance
Benchmarking of service against existing or new guidance
Regional audit projects

1
Medium Level

Clinical Interest

•

Local audits e.g. Clinician interest in a particular part of a service they provide.
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Title:

INFECTION PREVENTION
& CONTROL ANNUAL REPORT 2016 – 2017

Meeting Date:

27th July 2017

Executive Lead:

Clare Hawkins (Deputy Chief Executive, Director of
Quality/ Chief Nurse and Director of Infection
Prevention and Control)

Author(s):

Sarah Mantle, Lead Infection Prevention & Control
Nurse

For:

Noting / Discussion

1.0

Purpose of Paper(s)
1.1

2.0

Recommendations
2.1
2.2

3.0

The Board is requested to discuss / note the paper.
To note the key areas of work undertaken in 2016 - 2017 and
areas for development in 2017 - 2018

Relevant Strategic Objective(s) / Strategies
2
3

4.0

To provide the Board with assurance regarding the extent to
which HCT meets its obligations related to infection prevention
and control, including healthcare associated infections.

We will improve clinical outcomes and enhance patient safety
We will support the substantial expansion of community services
through the delivery of excellent core services for adults and
children and the development of ambulatory services

Significant Issues for the Board’s Attention
(Risks, resource implications, regulatory or reputational impacts, etc.)
4.1

The Infection Prevention and Control Forum has limited
assurance in relation to the systems in place regarding the
management of water safety, for the Trust. Actions to address
gaps are captured on the risk register and are being monitored
by the Non-Clinical Risk Group.

1
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Data
Comments /
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Quality
Exceptions
Domain
Complete Information is as comprehensive as
possible to inform the board and no
significant known facts or statistics which
may influence a decision are omitted.
Accurate As far as can be reasonable ascertained
or validated, information in the report is
accurate.
Relevant Information contained in the report is
relevant to the matters considered in the
report.
Up To
Information in the report is as up to date
Date
as reasonably possible in the context of
the time at which the paper is written
Valid
Information is presented in a format
which complies with internal or national
models or standards
Clearly
The meaning of any data in the report is
Defined
clearly explained

7.0
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Executive Summary

This is the seventh annual report on Infection Prevention and Control to the
Board of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust. This is in addition to the regular
reports to the Healthcare Governance Committee and the Board on
healthcare associated infections (HCAI) and outbreaks of infection in
community hospitals throughout the reporting period.
This report is to assure the Board that Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
(HCT) complies with the regulations set out in the Health and Social Care Act
(2008, revised 2015) and has responded to local and national directives and
guidance as below:
o Department of Health (July 2015) The Health and Social Care Act
(2008). A Code of Practice for the NHS on the prevention and control
of healthcare associated infections and related guidance (appendix
1).
o Public Health England. Start Smart - Then Focus Antimicrobial
Stewardship Toolkit for English Hospitals. (March 2015).
o National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (2016) Healthcareassociated infections NICE Quality standard (QS113)
o National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (2014) Infection
Prevention and Control NICE Quality standard (QS61)
o National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (2015) Urinary tract
infections in adults NICE Quality standard (QS90)
o Everyone Counts: Planning for Patients 2014/15 - 2018/19 (2013).
o Public Health England (2013) Updated guidance on the management
and treatment of C .difficile infection (CDI)
Care is provided for patients at risk of health care associated infections
(HCAI) in a number of settings including community hospitals (providing inpatient beds for patients requiring rehabilitative, intermediate or neurorehabilitation care), as well as in their own homes and other community
settings such as health centres, schools, children’s respite unit and outreach
clinics.
During 2016/17, HCT reported a number of successes demonstrating
sustained improvements in controlling HCAI. HCT has sustained progress
made by implementation of robust measures to improve infection prevention
and control and reduce preventable healthcare associated infections (HCAI)
cases. This reflects the commitment of HCT staff to improving patient safety,
patient experience and the quality of care delivered.

Key achievements:
o Zero avoidable MRSA bacteraemia cases assigned to the Trust between
April 2016 and Mar 2017; the fifth consecutive year.

3
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o Three cases of Clostridium difficile infection measured against a ceiling
of six cases for 2016-2017. Sustained improvements in maintaining low
incidence of cases has been seen. A total of two additional cases were
removed following appeals as no lapse in HCT care was identified.
o Maintaining higher than average hand hygiene compliance score of
99.4% (range 87%-100% in individual units) for the community hospitals
in 2016/17, and 99% achieved in the integrated community team
services. This is supported by patient feedback where 99% reported they
observed staff cleaning their hands.
o Sustained compliance with MRSA admission screening in the community
hospitals (99.9%) which is above the threshold of 95% for this standard.
Only one patient was not screened when they were admitted to a
community hospital during the year, an improvement compared to 20152016.
o Patients reported positively about the environment where care was
delivered with 100% reporting they stayed in a very clean or fairly clean
ward.
o The Trust has maintained the number of staff who completed infection
prevention and control training within the year. At the end of March 2017
the Trust reported 89.2 % of staff had completed training against a target
of 90%.
o A high uptake by staff of the influenza vaccination following a successful
campaign demonstrating our staff take patient safety seriously. Following
the campaign we reported 75.7% staff were vaccinated compared to
46.1% last year.
o System wide work to launch the Herts antibiotic guidelines via
smartphone application.
o HCT welcomed the CQC during their inspection of services in April 2016.
The report (received in October 2016) confirmed that the Trust rating
had improved from ‘requires improvement’ to ‘Good’. The feedback
indicated overall the services were safe.

2.

Strategic Context

HCT is committed to delivering ‘high value healthcare’ which provides
excellent clinical outcomes, an outstanding patient experience, consistent and
improving patient safety which is highly efficient and cost effective. Assurance
of robust infection prevention and control processes are presented and
monitored by the Infection Prevention and Control Forum reporting to both the
Patient Safety and Experience Group and the Healthcare Governance
Committee on a regular basis throughout the year. The Director of Infection
Prevention & Control (DIPC) also reports directly to the Board on HCAI
performance throughout the year.

3.

Infection Prevention and Control Governance Arrangements

HCT’s Deputy Chief Executive, Director of Quality and Governance and Chief
Nurse continued to lead infection prevention and control as Director of
Infection Prevention and Control (DIPC) and the Board Lead for
Decontamination.

4
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The Infection Prevention & Control Forum is a subcommittee of the Patient
Safety and Experience Group which is a subcommittee of Healthcare
Governance Committee which reports directly to the Board. The Infection
Prevention and Control Forum meet quarterly to;
- Receive an operational overview of infection prevention and control
activity
- Monitor the performance against key performance indicators set by our
commissioners and learning from incidents
- Seek assurance of compliance with the Health and Social Care Act 2008
(DH, 2015)
- Review and monitor infection prevention and control incidents including
decontamination concerns.
Membership includes representation from Operational Services, Quality and
Governance Directorate, Medicines Management, and Estates Management.
The Trust is also represented at the Hertfordshire Infection Prevention and
Control meeting which aim to bring together all providers in Hertfordshire to
share good practice in infection prevention and control. During 2016/17 the
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) continued to work with all providers
including HCT, to support the local health economy to deliver a reduction in
healthcare associated infections. The Lead Infection Prevention and Control
Nurse is a member of this group. Leadership of the committee continues to be
driven by the Clinical Commissioning Groups in Hertfordshire.
4.

Infection Prevention and Control Team

The Infection Prevention and Control Team (IPCT) consist of a Lead Infection
Prevention and Control Nurse (IPCN), and two Infection Prevention and
Control Nurses (total team whole time equivalents (WTE) is 3.0). The team’s
capacity has been reduced to 2.0 WTE at points in the year due to a vacancy
together with significant compassionate leave which has impacted on the
team’s ability to work on proactive projects in 2016 -2017. The team have
worked throughout the year to prioritise the work programme ensuring key
priorities such as training; post infection reviews, surveillance and developing
assurance tools have been maintained. Recruitment is underway to
permanently recruit to the position 1.0 WTE post.
Service Level Agreements (SLA) continued in year for Infection Control Doctor
/Consultant Microbiologist support from East and North Hertfordshire NHS
Trust and West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust during 2016/17. These are
currently being reviewed for 2017/19.
Infection prevention and control link practitioners (IPCLPs) are a valued group
of staff from community hospitals, adult and children’s services. They work
with the IPCT to maintain standards, share good practice and disseminate
information. The IPCLP group meets quarterly and includes updates on HCAI
data and performance against key indicators (standing items) as well as focus
on a particular topic e.g. sepsis, Norovirus, hand hygiene etc. IPCLPs are
actively encouraged to share ideas and to use each other as a support
network.
The IPCT also attend the community hospitals ward managers meeting to
share learning from post infection reviews, discuss key performance indicators
5

Board 27th July 2017

Attachment J1

and development of guidance. Each community hospital also has a
designated IPCLP who undertakes monthly audits; shares information and
learning from the link practitioner meetings.
The Infection Prevention and Control Team have ensured that patients, clients
and staff are kept informed of relevant infection prevention and control advice,
disseminated through the HCT internet site and staff resource area. Guidance
tools, leaflets and posters have been produced by the team throughout the
year to share good practice and act as a framework for practice/practice
resource.

5.

Healthcare Associated Infections (HCAI)

HCAI are infections that are acquired as a result of healthcare interventions.
There are a number of factors that can increase a person’s risk of acquiring
an infection, but high standards of infection control practice minimise the risk
of occurrence. This section focuses on specific HCAI (MRSA, Clostridium
difficile and E coli blood stream infections) as well as outbreaks of HCAI
confirmed in our community hospitals.
5.1

MRSA

MRSA is Meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus, a strain of the bacterium
Staphylococcus aureus which may be resistant to several antibiotics.
Mandatory reporting and monitoring relates to:
1. Cases where MRSA is present in the bloodstream i.e. MRSA bacteraemia
and
2. Compliance with admission screening for identification of MRSA on a
patient’s skin (colonisation) in our community hospitals.

5.2

MRSA bacteraemia (blood stream infections)

There have been zero MRSA bacteraemia cases in 2016/17 assigned to the
Trust. This is the fifth consecutive year that the Trust has achieved this
performance indicator.
The CCG Head of IPC has investigated 14 post infection reviews (PIR) in
2016-2017 deemed to be community MRSA bacteraemia (blood stream
infection) cases. Of the 14 cases HCT services were involved in the care of 5
patients and therefore involved in the PIR to support identification of learning
across the system. In each case the patient had a number of healthcare
providers involved in their care including care agencies, care homes, general
practices, acute trusts and HCT. Although no case was attributed to HCT, or
identified to be linked to each other, the following learning for HCT was
identified:
•

Miscommunication between HCT staff resulted in the initial HCT patient
visit to undertake wound care being missed. Learning from this incident
has led to improved follow up. If a patient visit needs to be rescheduled, for example if there are capacity or other issues within the
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team caring for the patient, this will be referred back to the central hub
for re-allocation to another member of staff.

5.3

•

Wound assessments must be completed and documented in the
patient records on SystmOne (electronic records) and wound swabs
taken where clinically required.

•

Training uptake for Infection Prevention and control needs to reach
90% threshold set by Trust. The IPCT have supported the teams
involved and provided update sessions at their place of work. This has
improved uptake.

•

Urinary catheter care improvement was identified as an area for
development in one case. Specifically the provision of sterile single use
night drainage bags. Patients and carers were also provided with
education on hand hygiene in the home setting. This has been
supported by the use of the catheter care passport which is given to all
patients with a catheter.

MRSA screening

Since March 2009, HCT has screened all adult community hospital patients
on admission for MRSA colonisation as part of the 2008/09 Operating
Framework commitment led by the Department of Health to reduce MRSA
bacteraemia cases.
This practice continued through 2016/17 and compliance was monitored by
the IPC Forum and DIPC. In line with recent national guidance the Infection
Prevention Control Forum reviewed the benefits of admission screening and
agreed that this will continue.
With all new MRSA isolates identified on admission to community hospitals
staff have ensured the patients are treated with suppression treatment where
possible.
Compliance with admission screening of relevant patients in the community
hospitals has seen an improvement compared to last year (from 99.6% to
99.9%). Only one patient was not screened when they were admitted to HCT
care. Performance is above the threshold of 95% set by the commissioners.

5.4

Clostridium difficile (C. difficile)

Clostridium difficile is an important cause of hospital acquired diarrhoea and is
associated with antibiotic use. It is a bacterium that has the ability to produce
spores (dormant cells) which are hardy and resistant to high temperatures and
able to survive in the environment for a long period of time if cleaning is not
thorough.
Clostridium difficile infection (CDI) ranges from mild diarrhoea to a severe life
threatening condition called pseudomembranous colitis (PMC). People most
7
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at risk of infection are the elderly, immunosuppressed, severely ill and those
who have had a recent course of antibiotics.

5.5

C. difficile recorded cases

In 2016/17 the contracted ceiling set by the CCGs remained at six (6) cases of
C. difficile, where diagnosis is made more than three (3) days after admission
to a Trust community hospital.
In 2016/17 a total of five (5) patients were diagnosed with CDI. Following
robust investigations into why the infection had developed, the Trust was able
to put forward appeals to the commissioners for two cases where no lapse in
care was identified. The appeals were successful. As a result the total number
of cases attributed to HCT (Chart 1) was revised to three (3) which is below
the ceiling set for contractual sanctions.
Chart 1: CDI incidence 2016 – 2017 compared with incidence in 2015-2016
7
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HCT continues to demonstrate a sustained improvement with a reduction in
incidence (table 1). It is now likely that the Trust has reached the irreducible
minimum level. However, we will continue to thrive to demonstrate each case
is not due to a lapse in care. The Trust worked relentlessly to identify and
address potential root causes for patients developing this infection and to
prevent transmission on units. Of the five patients diagnosed they were
located on four (4) different units and control measures implemented
prevented any further cases developing. The two patients diagnosed whilst on
Sopwell ward were not linked in time as the first case was identified in
September 2016 (discharged 11/10/16) and the second case was identified
December 2016. Assurance was provided regarding terminal cleaning of
vacated bed spaces.
Table 1: Total CDI cases 2008 – 2017 (excluding appeals)
Year

2008/
2009

C.
difficile
cases

30

2009
/
2010
19

2010/
2011

2011/
2012

18

11

8

2012
/
2013
18

2013/
2014

2014/
2015

2015/
2016

2016/
2017

16

5

5

3
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All in-patient cases of C. difficile undergo a detailed root cause analysis (RCA)
investigation to identify local learning needs which are multidisciplinary
(medical staff, pharmacy and ward staff and CCG). Joint RCA meetings with
other Trusts have continued to improve the understanding of each patient’s
care and risk factors. The RCA reviews have identified individual patient risk
factors for developing the infection such as recent antibiotics, colonisation with
Clostridium difficile, recent hospital stays or previous infection in the 12 weeks
prior to diagnosis.
Each RCA process has identified learning and a log of actions is maintained
to ensure learning identified has been implemented at a local level and shared
across all community hospitals; learning from cases are also discussed at the
CCG Herts Infection prevention and control meeting and at the HCT Infection
Prevention & Control Forum. The log is a commitment from the Trust to
ensure that there is a promise to learn and a commitment to act therefore
improving the safety of our patients.
Learning from the RCA investigations included:
• Improving antibiotic stewardship and early discussion with microbiology
for cases where repeated courses of antibiotics are required due to
unknown focus of infection.
• A continued need to embed the use of the stool collecting algorithm
when assessing patients with loose stool in some units. This will
support improved timing of isolation of symptomatic patients who
potentially have an infectious cause for symptoms.
• The majority of units have embedded the terminal cleaning check list
however one unit required increasing awareness locally.
• Improve uptake of IPC training in the community hospitals where the
Trust threshold of 95% has not been met.
• Improve the review of proton pump inhibitors (PPI) at the time of
admission and work with partners to improve communication between
trusts as to why a patient is on PPI
• Delay in commencing and maintaining fluid balance history on patients.
In reviewing all five (5) cases it is important to note that the majority (60%,
no=3) of patients were diagnosed within 28 days post discharge (range 9 – 69
days – mean 26.6 days) from an acute hospital where 100% had required
treatment with antibiotics for the acute phase of their illness and then further
treatment whilst in HCT. One patient (20%) patient did not receive antibiotics
in HCT prior to their CDI diagnosis.

5.6

Outbreaks within HCT Community hospitals

An outbreak is defined as two or more cases linked in time, place and person.
Outbreaks can be the result of transmission of different organisms such as
Norovirus, C. difficile or respiratory viruses.

9
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5.6.1 Outbreaks of Diarrhoea and Vomiting
During 2016–17 the Trust reported two outbreaks of diarrhoea and/or vomiting
which was an improvement compared to previous years (see Table 2). One
community hospital had confirmed positive stool samples for Norovirus. The
causative organism for the other hospital was not identified.
Table 2: Number of Diarrhoea and Vomiting (D&V) outbreaks
Year

No. of
D&V
outbreaks

2008
/200
9
12

2009/
2010

2010/
2011

2011/
2012

2012/
2013

2013/
2014

2014/
2015

2015/
2016

2016/
2017

9

1

4

3

1

2

4

2

Norovirus is a leading cause of outbreaks of diarrhoea and vomiting in the
community. As part of awareness programme the Infection Prevention and
Control Team issue alert emails to ensure staff have the appropriate
information and guidance prior to the outbreak season. Such alerts were
issued a number of times over the winter months.
Good practice recognised included;
• Prompt isolation of patients who displayed symptoms which reduced
risk of transmission to others.
• Prompt actions in obtaining specimens which supported identification of
causative organism early.
• Clear communications amongst all staff involved throughout the
incident. One band 6 was designated lead contact for all staff internal
and external. This allowed us to have one clear leader giving the
direction locally,
• Outbreak meetings held within 48 hours of the incident being reported.
• Good communication with family and visitors.
• Clear separation of the working area including staff and domestic
teams to prevent transmission.
Learning from the outbreaks included;
•
•
•

Clarity from commissioners regarding the requirements for outbreaks
being reported as a serious incident against the new NHS England
framework
Staff to be aware of local escalation process for out of hours.
Staff to communication effectively and confidently regarding changing
patient condition and utilise local tools in that assessment.

5.6.2 E coli blood stream infections
In 2016-2017 the Trust has retrospectively reported 1 case (March 2017)
compared to previous year’s (2015- 2016) performance when four patients
were diagnosis with an E. coli blood stream infection (BSI).
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As part of the CCG’s Quality premium for 2017-2018 the Trust will be working
closely with the Herts health economy to reduce E coli BSI by 10% (baseline
from 2016). A working group will be set up by the CCG and a single RCA form
developed to ensure consistency with data collection and identification of
learning so further cases can be avoided. This work is also supported by
changes to management of urinary tract infection where the first line treatment
has been changed from Trimethoprim to Nitrofurantoin. Trust antibiotic
guidelines and the UTI care bundle have been updated to reflect this.

6.

Key Areas of Work during 2016/17

6.1

Performance and management
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

Revision of the Infection prevention & control strategy and
assurance framework to support the Quality Strategy for 2016-2017.
Monthly reporting to the Board on Healthcare Associated Infection
rates and trends continued in 2016/17.
100% of all HCAI cases had a post infection review with action
plans in place to support change in practice and prevent further
cases.
Reporting to the Infection Prevention & Control Forum on clinical
practice and cleaning scores for community hospitals continued with
triangulation of the data to capture contractor’s results/ facilities
audits and self-audits undertaken by the link practitioners in
community hospitals and quarterly IPCN audits.
Local escalation process to respond to and manage low standards
of cleaning following internal reviews or patient feedback has been
demonstrated.
HCT staff in community hospitals and the integrated community
teams maintained their high standards in hand hygiene – 99.3%
and 99.5% respectively.
Sustained compliance with MRSA screening as 99.9% of patient
admissions to the community hospitals were screened for MRSA
carriage.
Zero avoidable MRSA bacteraemia cases assigned to the Trust in
2016 – 2017.
Significant improvement in staff uptake of the influenza vaccine has
been demonstrated and celebrated. The Health@Work team
continued to support staff uptake of the influenza vaccine in
2016/17. This was achieved through providing clinic sessions at
sites across Hertfordshire and the training of Flu champions located
at various sites in the Trust. It is recognised that there is still room
for improvement through access to vaccination clinics and staff
education on the positive impact on patient health if the work force
are vaccinated. The Trust reported an overall uptake rate of 75.7%
for frontline healthcare workers. This is an improvement compared
to previous year’s performance of 46.1% (table 3);
Table 3: Trust staff uptake of Influenza vaccination 2014-2016
2014
2015
2016
44.79%
46.1%
75.7%
11
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Clinical guidelines, best practice and staff education
•
•

•

•

•

•

•
•

•
•
•

The IPCT worked with services to improve uptake of IPC training in
2016-2017. Uptake has been maintained 89.2%.
The IPCT provided approx. 39 formal face to face sessions during
2016-2017 for mandatory training alone plus 11 sessions at
induction for new staff. A total of 1633 staff completed training in
year.
Uptake in the community hospitals has not reached the 95%
threshold set at year end however a number of sites have been able
to maintain uptake above 90% during the year. Limitations of the
data from the community hospitals should be noted as the
denominator includes new starters who may be booked onto
induction but have not completed training at time of recording
uptake.
Monitoring of staff compliance, both in the community hospitals and
community teams, with essential clinical practice including hand
hygiene, invasive devices such as urinary catheter care,
intravenous lines and enteral feeding with high compliance
reported.
All IPC presentations were reviewed and we continued to show the
patient story to our staff as this helped staff to understand the true
impact of a preventable HCAI and discuss how they can improve
care and patient outcome.
Other training provided by the IPCT included;
o Specialist practitioner (Health Visitor)
o Reducing catheter associated urinary tract infections
o Childhood Flu vaccination programme 2016
o Overseas Nurses induction
o Student Nurses (introduction to community services)
o Continuing carers (children’s) in the home setting
The IPC training programme was aligned to the national skills for
health standards with the development of level 1 and level 2
presentations and e-learning.
Staff are aware of their responsibilities to patients in preventing
infections. This is made clear in all job descriptions, appraisals and
professional codes such as the code of practice for Nursing and
Midwifery Council are mentioned in annual training sessions.
The IPC workbook was issued to the IPCLPs as a key resource.
Regular sharing of information and learning via internal newsletters
and through the Infection Prevention and Control link practitioners
(IPCLP) meetings supports sharing lessons in practice.
Additionally, at each meeting a nominated link practitioner presents
Infection Prevention and Control in my Service. Using this ‘day in
the life of’ approach allows IPCLPs the opportunity to share, with
their peers, the unique challenges faced and how these are
overcome within the variety of settings and specialities that care is
delivered from. These accounts and future presentations will be
shared across the Trust via internal newsletter ‘Clinical Matters’.
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Spot checks were carried out at the end of 2016-17 to identify how
IPCLPs disseminated information from the meetings locally. The
majority did this via team or ward meetings, but some also included
information in local newsletters and updates.
To mark global hand hygiene awareness campaign on 5th May
2016, the World Health Organisation (WHO) hand hygiene
knowledge questionnaire for Health Care Workers (HCW) was
adapted for local use and completed by ICLPs and other staff
across the organisation. ICLPs have also worked hard to engage
patients in the role they play in preventing healthcare associated
infections (HCAI) with activities such as using the UV glow box to
demonstrate effective hand hygiene.
Reviewed incidents on sharps safety, management and learning
has supported HCT to target the services that have a higher risk of
sharps injury. This work supports the Trust’s obligation to improve
staff safety and meet the EU Directive. This has been supported by
better categorisation of incidents and the devices involved,
supporting a systematic targeted approach to work on the
implementation of new health and safety requirements. This
includes the development of risk assessments jointly with the Health
and Safety leads. Quarterly reports from Health@Work (formally
Occupational Health) have been presented at the IPC Forum.
Further detail has been requested from Health@Work to ensure
learning from these incidents is identified and shared across the
Trust.
E-learning module on the safe management of sharps supported by
changes to the local induction framework on safe management of
sharps. Staff are recommended to complete the module if they have
had a near miss or sustained a sharps injury. A total of 81 staff have
completed the module between April 2016 and Mar 2017.
The key messages from the European antibiotic awareness day in
November 2016 were an opportunity to remind all staff that it is
important to utilise antibiotics in the right way, at the right dose, at
the right time, in order to slow down the development of antibiotic
resistance. Staff were also encouraged to pledge to be an antibiotic
guardian.
In line with the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (DH, 2015) policies
have continued to be reviewed and updated as required by the
IPCT and other teams such as pharmacy and Estates. Key policies
revised include Hand Hygiene; Linen and Laundry; Outbreak
management; Management of Influenza; Water Safety;
Antimicrobial treatment.
Other guidance developed or reviewed included a Standard
Operating Procedure (SOP) for
o the management of foam mattresses used in community
hospitals and
o new SOP development on Vascular Access Devices,
Cannulation, Venepuncture and Blood Culture Collection.
The Trust also joined with the Commissioners in launching an
antibiotic guideline app for smartphones to support prescribers to
access the guidelines more quickly and make appropriate selection
of treatment for our patients.
13
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As part of the CDI improvement plan for 2016-2017 a CDI quiz was
issued to all inpatient sites in February 2017. The data has been
collated and will be analysed to influence staff training and the CDI
plan for 2017-2018. The quiz has demonstrated that staff have a
good understanding of managing patients with suspected infectious
diarrhoea.

6.3 Audit of clinical practice
•

•

•

•

•

Hand hygiene monitoring is undertaken monthly in all community
hospitals with compliance showing an average score overall of 99%
for the year. If compliance scores are low services will increase
auditing and provide education until 95% has been reached for 4
weeks consistently. All staff who are non-compliant are reviewed at
the time of the audit to identify learning. Staff also report on
compliance with bare below the elbow as part of effective hand
hygiene (as per policy) and compliance is high.
Monthly Infection Prevention and Control audits in the community
hospitals demonstrate compliance with core policies, guidance and
clinical practice. This supports teams to focus on areas that need
improving such as commode cleaning. If the audits do not reach the
minimum standard of 95% auditing of practice is increased locally
until the service is confident that practice has improved and the
IPCT has received the assurance that change has been embedded.
Quarterly IPCT audits are undertaken to validate data submitted by
the community hospitals and highlight areas or concerns that
require addressing or additional training. Although the IPCT have
seen improvements especially regarding commode cleanliness, the
overall scores for all audits undertaken tend to be lower than the
unit self-auditing scores. The audits are not undertaken on the
same day so there will be a natural variation in scoring. Areas
identified by the IPCT that have had to be addressed include; hand
hygiene (including referrals to Health@Work); safe sharps practice;
environment and equipment cleaning.
In 2016-2017 the community hospitals started to report on the
timing of isolation for patients with T5-T7 stool (loose/watery) where
there was a suspected infectious cause for symptoms. The
standard set was isolation had to be undertaken within 2 hours.
Staff are committed to meeting this standard and 95% of patients
recorded as needing isolation were isolated within 2 hours. All
delays were incident reported to identify learning and also to
confirm actions taken to mitigate the risk to others.
Specialist areas;
o The Rapid Assessment Unit continued to audit hand hygiene,
peripheral vascular care and environmental cleanliness and
maintained standards. There have been a number of challenges
in the unit. It has been refreshed with walls plastered and
painted. The unit manager maintains an overview of the
department and promptly escalated any issues.
o Audits by Health visitors (HV) team have been embedded with
positive effect to support a move to standardise the practice
across all teams in line with policy.
14
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The Dental services finalised their audit programme and set
standards to be monitored. Good standards have been
demonstrated in respect of hand hygiene compliance,
environmental cleaning, use of personal protective equipment and
decontamination. Antibiotic audits are also undertaken in the dental
services
Sharps safety audits continue to be undertaken monthly in the
community hospitals with improvements reported or identification of
areas that require safety improvements such as the labelling of
bins, correct sharps bin assembly and use of the temporary closure
device.
Re-audits of antimicrobial prescribing within the community
hospitals were undertaken by the Medicines Management team in
each quarter of 2016-2017 (appendix 1).
An external audit of static foam mattresses was undertaken in
February 2017. 90% of those mattresses inspected passed the
audit. Local training sessions have already been requested by units
to improve process of assessment. Of the 16 mattresses (10%)
classed as not acceptable to pass the audit;
- 6 mattresses (3.87%) were cited as condemned, where both
the cover and foam core gave cause for concern over the
functionality of the mattress.
- 10 mattresses (6.45%) were cited as required a replacement
cover.

Estates and Facilities

The Estates and Facilities team support the Trust to demonstrate and meet
the objectives of criterion 2 in the code of practice for preventing infections
(DH, 2015). The Trust is committed to providing and maintaining a clean and
appropriate environment which facilitates the prevention and control of
infections for patients, visitors and staff.
With the strategic alliance with Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation Trust
(HPFT) a joint estates structure has been agreed between HPFT and HCT
which will enable the sharing of resources to deliver a new estates structure to
support both organisations in 2017-2018. This will include increased facilities
resources managing maintenance services and catering/cleaning services.
These will be managed separately by experienced, qualified individuals
together with monitoring personnel. There will also be seven facilities
managers supporting and managing services on a site basis.
During the past two years a number of improvements have taken place to the
Trust estate which include;
• The surrender of properties that have been deemed not fit for purpose
• Improvements to existing and planned major developments to enhance
the patient environment and reduce the risk of infection to patients
including;
• Elstree Way Clinic – boiler installation to improve water
temperatures
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•

Southgate Clinic – surrendered property back to NHSPS due to
substandard building
• Jackets field Rehab Centre – relocated service to new building
with improved internal building standards
• New Developments include the following sites are part of a major
development program which will enable replacement facilities:
• Harpenden Memorial Hospital
• Borehamwood Hub
• Principal Health Centre
With regard to operational management and contract monitoring the Estates
and Facilities team have sought assurance regarding the performance of the
main cleaning contractor and implemented joint auditing where possible.
Supervisors/Managers also conduct monthly Quality inspections; these were
introduced during project re-launch and give a snap shot of
performance/issues such as:
•

•

•

•

Reported/noted decline in standards has been addressed initially by
the associated supervisor. In some cases refresher training was given
and improvement met, increased monitoring of the employee/area is
performed. In some cases where training was not seen to be the cause
these issues were escalated and dealt with through HR process by a
Manager.
Implementation of the periodic cleans. The periodic schedule for the
year is shared with the Trust. Where these planned cleans take place
in patient areas the sub-contractor meets onsite with the nurse in
charge along with the Interserve Supervisor prior to the clean to
produce a schedule of works in order to ensure minimal disruption to
patients and staff.
In the Clinic sites - cleans take place out of hours, causing no impact to
service, regular updates, associated pictures and completion
certificates (Signed off by Trust staff/Interserve Supervisor) are emailed
to the Interserve Managers and will also include the Soft FM Manager
and Site Facilities Manager.
The Estates team manage the cleaning contracts for HCT and following
capacity concerns have regularly monitored standards. NPSA (2007)
cleaning audits have been undertaken and cleaning concerns
escalated to the individual contractor.

A Water Safety meeting has been held and roles and responsibilities agreed
with the drafting of the Terms of Reference. The policy will be finalised in
2017. The Executive lead has been agreed as the Director of Finance/Head of
Estates. The membership includes Estates staff, IPCT and the contractors
who are employed to manage the water quality.

6.5

Patient experience
•

Patient information available on the Trust website explains the
processes HCT has in place to reduce HCAI rates and what
patients/visitors can do to help reduce the risk of transmission of
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infections. There is access to infection prevention and control patient
leaflets via the public pages. In 2017 these pages were updated.
Feedback from patients on discharge from our hospitals confirm hand
hygiene compliance is very good (overall score 99%) and the
environment was very clean and fairly clean (overall score 100%) (table
4).
Table 4: Patient feedback from discharge questionnaire 2016-2017
As far as you know, did staff wash hands between patients?
2013/2014 2014/2015
2015/2016
2016/2017
Yes
100%
99%
99%
99%
In your opinion, how clean was the hospital room or ward?
2013/2014 2014/2015
2015/2016
2016/2017
Very Clean
Very Clean &
Fairly Clean

•

94%
100%

93%
100%

94%
100%

91%
100%

The Patient Lead Assessment of the Care Environment (PLACE) visits
continued to be undertaken in 2016 in the community hospitals. In
summary;
o PLACE assessments were carried out between March and May
2016 at HCT hospitals and each hospital action plan has been
monitored throughout the year by the Trust Patient Safety and
Experience Group.
o In 2016, HCT improved on the 2015 PLACE assessment scores
in all areas. However, areas of improvement were identified and
examples of actions taken include the removal and updating of
hospital signage in patient communal areas and provision of a
portable hearing loop installed at one of our hospitals.
o The majority of sites were assessed as being above the national
average for cleanliness (overall trust score was 98.67%) and the
condition and appearance had also improved from 88.25% in
2015 to 93.27% in 2016 (chart 2).

Chart 2 – Unit comparisons in cleanliness and condition of buildings
compared to national average for community Trusts 2016

Cleanliness
National average
Potters Bar
Danesbury
Herts & Essex
Holywell
Langley House
QVM
St Peters
Runcie
88%

92%
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Condition Appearance and Maintenance
National average
Potters Bar
Danesbury
Herts & Essex
Holywell
Langley House
QVM
St Peters
Runcie
84%

86%

88%

90%

92%

94%

7.0

Key Areas for Development in 2017 - 2018

7.1

Clinical governance

96%

98%

100%

•

Revise the infection prevention and control strategy and assurance
framework in line with the Health and Wellbeing strategy for 2017/20
and key national documents on improving patient safety such as the
Berwick report (DH, 2013). This includes the annual audit plan for
infection prevention and control.

•

Revise the Trust’s CDI improvement plan for 2017/18 with the overall
aim to not breach the ceiling set by our commissioners, and to reflect
the national CDI objectives that have been set with the drive to identify
areas where there has been a lapse in care and commit to improve
practice, reduce mobility and mortality. The ceiling set for 2017/2018
remains at 6 cases. Work will focus on appropriate management and
we will continue to appeal when there has been no lapse in care
identified.

•

The IPCT will continue to develop, review and update Infection
Prevention and Control Policies and Guidelines as required in line with
the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (DH, 2015) within appropriate
timescales. Review policies in light of the latest NICE quality
standards/national guidance and support staff with implementation and
improving standards.

•

Human Resources (HR) to convene a meeting with key staff (including
Health@Work and IPCT) to learn from the previous year’s Flu vaccine
campaign to increase staff uptake for 2017 season. There will be
continued service level monitoring of staff uptake of the Influenza
vaccination and reporting to the Infection prevention and control Forum.
In 2017 as part of the Health and Well-being CQUIN the Trust has to
sustain uptake of flu vaccinations by frontline healthcare workers by
reaching 70% by December 2017.
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•

Sustain Trust commitment from all staff to improve uptake of
mandatory training (including Infection prevention and control) set
through the appraisal process.

•

The IPCT commits to provide a programme of face to face training at
various sites, supporting all clinical teams to meet the Trust objective
and increase staff uptake to reach the threshold of 90% during 20172018.

•

Continue to report on delays in isolation in 2017-2018. Develop a risk
assessment to support prioritising the use of side rooms and broaden
the high risk category for isolating within 2 hours. This standard will
continue to be monitored via the Infection Prevention and Control
Forum and through the quality schedule.

•

Following the review of the Service Level Agreements for the provision
of Infection Control Doctors ensure these are finalised in 2017.

•

Continue to develop service specific performance frameworks to more
teams to extend the good practice of monitoring of hand hygiene and
key infection prevention and control principles. Where audits are in
place work to capture staff compliance with hand hygiene and ‘bare
below the elbows’ by all staff in health centres/outpatient departments.

•

Comment on the revised high impact intervention (HII) improvement
tools. Then review local audit templates against the revised national
improvement tools (final revisions due 2017). Support staff through
these changes when reviewing clinical practice.

•

Develop the IPC Link practitioner role further in 2017-2018 and recruit
more staff to this essential support role to improve standards across all
services.

•

Strengthen the follow up process of learning from post infection reviews
confirming actions agreed have been implemented.

7.2

Policies/guidance and audit
•

Participate in the WHO’s ‘Clean Hands Saves Lives’ campaign (May
2017).

•

Aim to introduce the hand hygiene feedback intervention tool (FIT) to
engage with individual staff and improve hand hygiene compliance
through agreed action plans and celebrate good compliance with those
staff who are consistent with their approach to hand hygiene.

•

The IPCT are also supporting a Trust wide project to review care plans,
ensuring that the library of IPC specific care plans are appropriate,
duplicates removed and gaps filled with necessary care plans to
improve patient care and experience.

•

The IPCT will continue to be involved in the catheter associated urinary
tract infection (CAUTI) work stream with the Bladder and Bowel lead.
This group will review the latest guidance issued by the Public health
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England alongside the Quality premium to reduce gram negative
bloodstream infections in 2017-2018 and agree how the group will
support this priority.
•

As part of providing assurance the Trust is meeting Criterion 3 of the
Health and Social Care Act Code of Practice to Reduce HCAI (DH,
2015) the Medicines Management team work plans includes a focus on
improving antimicrobial stewardship in 2017-18 which consists of:
o On-going quarterly antimicrobial audits of all adult inpatient
units. Reports will continue to be submitted to relevant Trust
meetings (appendix 2) and cascaded via Trust communications.
o Introduction of green antimicrobial stickers for use on all
inpatient drug charts where an antimicrobial is prescribed
following introduction in local acute trusts – these aim to
highlight to all staff when an antimicrobial is prescribed and
prompts prescribers regarding the required fields (i.e. stop or
review date/indication and also sepsis screening).
o To support nursing staff to challenge any antimicrobial
prescription which does not have a stop or review date included.
The aim of this is to empower nurses to take action and to
improve the rates of stop and review date inclusion on drug
charts. Prompt cards are now position on all inpatient unit drug
trolleys to remind and support nursing staff.
o On-going monthly review of all Non-Medical Prescribers (NMP)
antimicrobial prescribing with reports sent to locality mangers for
discussion with NMPs. Any prescribing of antimicrobials against
trust guidance will be queried with feedback required. Reports
collated and shared with CCGs as requested.
o On-going revision of HCT antimicrobial guidance as required in
line with PHE or local Trust changes in guidance/resistance
data. Close liaison with CCG antimicrobial pharmacy leads.
Updated guidance due for launch in August 2017.
o Antimicrobial guideline app introduced in late 2016 conjunction
with the CCGs and HPFT – free app for all prescribers and
clinical staff to access a shortened version of the prescribing
guidance for easy reference.
o NMP prescribing forums focusing on antimicrobial prescribing
will be arranged.
o Proton Pump Inhibitors (PPI) quality improvement programme
undertaken during 2016 with the support of consultant physician
in acute medicine and geriatric medicine. In 2017 advice will be
issued to all inpatient units on PPI prescribing in a similar way to
antimicrobials that all prescriptions for a PPI require a stop or
review date where applicable after review and an indication –
this information must be shared on the discharge letter. Rolling
audit programme undertaken as part of the QIP has identified a
significant level of PPI prescribing for unknown indication and as
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a result of highlighting the need for review PPIs have been
stopped or doses reviewed and in those continued the reasons
for prescribing/duration have been clarified. By reducing the use
of PPI prescribing in patients admitted to the community
hospitals with the aim and intention of reducing the associated
risk of a HCAI developing.
o To support this work the Pharmacy team have developed a
handbook for the doctors (permanent and locum) which contains
prescribing info including PPI, laxative and antibiotic guidelines
to support antibiotic stewardship.
•

The IPCT will continue to support reducing inappropriate use of
antibiotics through quarterly audits of wards and review of a selection
of patient records as part of the IPC performance framework reviews.

•

With anticipated increased capacity in 2017-2018 within the IPCT plan
to audit health centres against standards such as cleaning, hand
hygiene facilities and clinical practice.

•

Review capacity of IPCT with aim to undertake re-audits of clinical
practice within the community hospitals in 2017/2018.

•

Aim to improve performance regarding number of static mattresses
condemned in the annual mattress audit by 2%.

•

Develop and implement a local assessment framework for prioritising
the use of side rooms and improving the prompt isolation of high risk
patients.

7.3

Education and training
•

Continue to promote staff access to the local e-learning modules on the
management of urinary catheters and sharps safety. Develop a
mechanism for monitoring the uptake of these modules through
discussions with learning and development department.

•

Revise/formulate C.difficile elearning

•

Formulate mandatory elearning for health visitors

•

Continue to monitor service level uptake of training via the Infection
Prevention and Control Forum with a commitment to maintain uptake
>90% in clinical staff through a targeted comprehensive training
programme. Support the community hospitals to reach and maintain
uptake at more than 95% through on-site sessions.

•

Consider the development of a level 3 training programme for staff
identified as link practitioners.

•

Reinvigorate staff understanding and compliance with the WHO ‘5
moments for hand hygiene’ using local and national resources.
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•

Refresh and reorganise the staff information pages on infection
prevention and control when the new web design has been finalised.

•

The Trust will continue to participate in the annual European antibiotic
awareness day in November 2017 utilising the national resources and
the key messages from the Antibiotic Guardian Campaign by Public
Health England.

•

The Medicines Management Team will increase Non-Medical
Prescriber (NMP) knowledge in antibiotic prescribing promoted through
NMP Continual Professional development forum sessions.

7.4

Surveillance of Healthcare Associated Infections
•
•
•
•

7.5

Continue to participate in the CCG Herts Infection Prevention and
control meeting sharing good practice across providers.
Review current systems in place for the surveillance of HCAI and
ensure that these are robust and reporting within agreed timeframes
and learning identified is being implemented.
Continue to participate in joint post infection reviews and review the
mechanisms for sharing learning across the Trust.
Participate fully in the quality premium to support the economy to
reduce incidence of E coli blood stream infections through case
reviews.

Environmental Cleaning
•
•
•
•

•
•

Support staff in maintaining a clean safe environment in all clinical
areas through robust escalation processes and the continued reporting
through the main contractor’s helpdesk arrangement.
Both the non-clinical risk group and the IPC Forum will monitor the
evidence of assurance that minimum standards of cleaning are being
met in all clinical areas.
Seek assurance that the terminal cleaning checklist has been
implemented ensuring consistency of cleaning and reducing the risk of
transmission of preventable HCAI.
Continue to support staff to implement the standardisation of cleaning
products and development of local cleaning schedules. And review a
permanent alternative disinfectant wipe in place of product that has
been discontinued.
To seek assurance that all patient equipment is being cleaned as per
policy.
Continue to gather the necessary assurance on the water quality
(legionella/pseudomonas) through formal quarterly reporting by NHS
Properties Services/Estates Team to the Infection Prevention and
Control Forum.
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Implications for Quality (Patient Safety and Patient Experience) &
Regulatory Compliance
HCT is compliant with Care Quality Commission (CQC) requirements and
the Health and Social Care Act (2008) regulations demonstrating that the
essential quality and safety standards including cleanliness and infection
control are met. Where deficiencies have been identified these have been
escalated and action plans are in place.
The Care Quality Commission undertook a follow up inspection in April
2016. The final report findings confirmed that the Trust rating had
improved to ‘Good’.

9.0

Conclusion
HCT has continued to demonstrate compliance with national and local
directives including CQC regulations; progress is evidenced through
surveillance of HCAI and outbreak monitoring.
The work undertaken demonstrates our commitment to meeting the
essential quality and safety standards enabling HCT to be registered to
provide a high standard of care in the clinical area and home setting where
our patients feel safe.
Document versions
Date

Report Version

Initials

23/03/17

1 (draft)

SM

05/06/17

2 (draft)

IPCT

28/06/17

3 (draft)

DIPC
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Appendix 1: The Health and Social Care Act 2008: code of practice on the prevention and
control of infections and related guidance (Department of Health, 2015)

Compliance
criterion

What the registered provider will need to demonstrate

1

Systems to manage and monitor the prevention and control of infection

2

Provide and maintain a clean and appropriate environment in managed
premises that facilitates the prevention and control of infections

3

Ensure appropriate antibiotic use to optimise patient outcomes and to
reduce the risk of adverse events and antimicrobial resistance

4

Provide suitable accurate information on infections

5

Ensure prompt identification of people who have or are at risk of
developing an infection so that they receive timely and appropriate
treatment to reduce the risk of transmitting infection to other people

6

Systems to ensure that all care workers (including contractors and
volunteers) are aware of and discharge their responsibilities in the
process of preventing and controlling infection

7

Provide or secure adequate isolation facilities

8

Secure adequate access to laboratory support as appropriate

9

Have and adhere to policies

10

Have a system in place to manage the occupational health needs of staff
in relation to infection
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Appendix 2: Results from Antimicrobial audits in community hospitals 2016-2017

Number of patients
Average patient age
Number of antimicrobial
prescriptions
Standard 1: Allergy box
on drug chart
completed*** (To
achieve 100%)
Standard 2: Indication
for antimicrobial
prescribing in patient
notes* (To achieve
100%)
Indication for
antimicrobial
prescribing on drug
chart*
Standard 3:Duration of,
or review date for,
antimicrobial therapy
stated on drug chart*
(To achieve 100%)
Duration of, or review
date for, antimicrobial
therapy stated in patient
notes* (To achieve
100%)
Standard 4:Prescribing
(initiated within HCT)
follows HCT guidance or
Consultant
Microbiologist advice**
(To achieve 90%)
Have appropriate
microbiological samples
been taken/reported
related to
antimicrobial/s
prescribed.
Patients concurrently
prescribed an antibiotic
and a PPI

April 2016

July 2016

October
2016

January
2017

April 2017
(all abx)

19
69

35
83

34
79

32
81

22

41

40

40

22
82
25

April 2017
(po and IV
abx only)
22
82
25

100%

94%

97%

94%

100%

100%

64%

51%

73%

68%

80%

86%

55%

46%

70%

68%

72%

81%

77%

61%

75%

55%

72%

86%

50%

27%

20%

40%

40%

57%

100%

95%

93%

85%

95%

95%

72%

100% note data
for 3 units
incomplete

75% - note
data
incomplete
for 2 units

88%- note
data
incomplete
for some
units

88%- note
data
incomplete
for some
units

40%

41%

38%

27%

27%

21%
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Medical Devices

Annual report

2016 – 2017

Simon Ward
Medical Devices Manager
Medical Devices Safety Officer
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1.

Executive Summary

This report will give an account of the work that has been carried out across the Trust to ensure
that medical devices are managed in a safe and effective manner. In addition this report is to
provide assurance that Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) complies with relevant
legislation, national policy and guidance for management of medical devices.
This report will also demonstrate the scope of work undertaken by the Medical Devices Team
(MDT) to develop the service during 2016/17 to provide support to Trust staff and patients in the
safe and effective use of medical devices.
Furthermore, this report will conclude with the proposed work priorities for 2017/18.

2.

Key Achievements
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

3.

Improved maintenance compliance for high risk devices from 68% in April 2016 to
90% compliance in April 2017
In-house maintenance pilot delivered 70% increase in maintenance activity whilst
improving patient safety and delivering £40k savings
Commenced implementation of new medical device management software to allow
improved monitoring and reporting of medical device governance.
Robust scheduling of maintenance for medical devices.
Improved efficiency by implementing electronic requests for device maintenance.
Implemented custom reporting for business units and services that advice on device
compliance within their area.
Implemented a loan library of key medical devices to support staff and patients when
devices require maintenance.
Operationally managing loans of Renasys wound suction devices for Tissue Viability
Service to support revenue savings across the Trust.
Support to Medi-Pi home monitoring pilot.
Recruited 2 permanent administrators to the Medical Devices Team

Introduction

The Trust currently owns approximately 8200
medical devices ranging in complexity from
thermometers to x-ray machines, with a
replacement value of approximately £3.2m. In
order to ensure patient safety these devices need
to be managed throughout their lifecycle in
accordance with both legislation and guidance
from CQC and MHRA.
Figure 1. demonstrates the medical device
lifecycle and shows each of the key stages from
initial selection, purchasing, use and finally
disposal.

Figure 1 - Medical Device Lifecycle
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To ensure devices are managed safely through each of these stages and to ensure compliance
with relevant legislation and guidance, the Medical Devices Team:
•
•
•
•
•

4.

Maintains an accurate database of medical devices including maintenance history.
Ensure all staff access appropriate training and are competent to use medical devices
within their role.
Robustly manage the purchase, acceptance, maintenance and disposal of medical
devices.
Accurately reports on medical device compliance and management KPIs.
Has an established Medical Devices Advisory Forum (MDAF) to monitor the Trust-wide
use and governance of medical devices.

Strategic Context

Care Quality Commission (CQC) Outcome 11, states that:
“Equipment provided for the purposes of the carrying on of a regulated activity is (a) properly
maintained and suitable for its purpose; (b) used correctly and (c) ….available in sufficient
quantities.” This requirement of CQC Outcome 11 falls under the Health and Social Care Act
2008 (Regulated Activities) 2010. “
Robust medical device management processes are essential for HCT to meet this requirement
and all other medical device legislation and guidance.
The developments within the Medical Devices Team (MDT) during 2016/17 have directly
supported the delivery of the following Trust Objectives:
•
•
•
•
•

5.

We will support people to manage their own health and wellbeing
We will improve clinical outcomes and enhance patient safety
We will expand community services through the delivery of excellence
We will use resources efficiently to improve services
We will empower our workforce to deliver our vision and objectives

Governance Structure

The Director of Quality & Governance/Chief Nurse holds Board accountability for the delivery of
safe and effective management of medical devices within the Trust. Delegated responsibility is
to the Deputy Director Quality & Governance/Deputy Chief Nurse.
The Medical Devices Advisory Forum (MDAF) is a subcommittee of the Patient Safety and
Experience Group which reports to Healthcare Governance Committee. The MDAF meets
quarterly and receives:
•
•
•
•
•

Operational overview of medical device management activity
Key Performance Indicators (KPI) relating to management of maintenance of medical
devices.
Medical Devices risk register
Reviews and monitors medical device incidents
Audits of Medical Device operations
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•
•
•

Audits of Department Equipment Champions (DEC)
MHRA medical device safety alerts
Manufacturer Field Safety Notices (FSN)

Membership includes Deputy Director Quality & Governance/Deputy Chief Nurse, Medical
Device Manager, Operational Services, Department Equipment Champions and Procurement.

6.

Quality and Regulatory Compliance

There are approximately 100 different types of medical device used within HCT. This broad
range of devices is covered by a significant number of regulations and guidance information,
including the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014
Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974
Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999
Medical Devices Regulation (2010)
The Medical Devices (Amendment) Regulations 2012
The Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations (1998)
The Electricity at Work Regulations (EWR 13)
Electrical Equipment (Safety) Regulations (1974)
Control of Substances hazardous to Health regulations 2002
The Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations (1998)
The Pressure Systems Safety Regulations (2000)
Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment Regulations (WEEE Regulations) (2006)
Carriage of Dangerous Goods and Use of Transportable Pressure Equipment 2009 and
2011 Amendment Regulations
The Ionising Radiations Regulations 1999
The Manual Handling Operations Regulations 1992
In addition to the above regulations,
medical devices are also covered by
Health Technical Memorandum (HTM)
guidance issued by DoH.
Figure 2 highlights the various HTM
documents that are related to HCT
medical devices including:
•
•
•
•
•

HTM 01 - Decontamination
HTM 02 - Medical Gases
HTM 04 - Water Systems
HTM 06 - Electrical Services
HTM 08 - Specialist Services

Figure 2 - Health Technical Memorandum
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7.

Medical Devices Team

The Medical Devices Team (MDT) has supported patients and staff by managing maintenance of
medical devices and related operational issues.
In May 2016, two medical device administrators were permanently employed to support the
Medical Devices Manager (MDM) to effectively manage medical devices Trust-wide. These posts
replaced agency staff and have allowed further investment and training within the team. In June
2016 an agency Clinical Engineer was recruited to support the in-house pilot.
The MDT is supported by Department Equipment Champions (DECs) throughout the Trust who
assist locally with maintenance and management of devices within their service. In addition
DECs ensure staff are trained to use medical devices in their service area and relevant records
are maintained to provide assurance.
In addition the MDT has developed useful resource information to support the management of
medical devices which has been disseminated through the HCT intranet site and staff resource
area. Information includes regular updates to the standardised list of medical devices to support
efficient purchasing and medical device user manuals.

8.

Key Areas of Work during 2016/17

In-House Maintenance Pilot
HCT owns approximately 8000 medical devices and prior to April 2016 all maintenance on these
devices was provided by external suppliers. A large majority of these are technologically simple
and suitable to be maintained in-house e.g. sphygmomanometers, thermometers, patient scales
and pulse oximeters. Reliance on external suppliers can in some circumstances cause delays in
responding to maintenance requests by HCT staff and limits the ability to improve maintenance
compliance for medical devices.
Following approval by the Medical Devices Advisory Forum (MDAF) and £10k funding from the
Capital Investment Group, an in-house maintenance pilot was started in April 2016. The pilot
continued throughout 2016/17 and the MDT with an agency-staffed Clinical Engineer has seen
an increase in maintenance activity and compliance and improved service to HCT staff and
patients. In addition, savings of £40k were identified during 2016/17 with approximately £16k reinvested to develop the service further.
I just wanted to say how great it has been that your in house engineer and he has been out to check our
new couches so quickly after delivery, enabling us to start using them nearly straight away
Podiatry Service

A proposal to move from the pilot to permanent in-house maintenance on selected devices is
being submitted to allow the recruitment of two permanent Clinical Engineers during 2017/18.
I think that it worked very well having him come to our team meeting and check our equipment, much
more efficient than asking each member of the team to send the equipment off and therefore not
having it available to use for a few weeks
Podiatry Service
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Medical Device Management Software
During 2016/17 the MDT implemented new medical device management software - E-quip - to
allow improved monitoring and reporting of medical device governance across the Trust.
In addition to delivering operational efficiencies, E-quip has allowed the development of real-time
management information on the status of medical devices. This information has supported the
achievement of:
•
•
•
•

90% compliance of high risk medical devices
Robust scheduling of maintenance for medical devices
Operational efficiencies for the MDT
Live management reports on the status of medical devices

The E-quip software is being developed to improve electronic reporting of medical device
maintenance request by HCT staff to the MDT. A pilot is underway allowing key services to
report maintenance requests directly using the E-quip software.
The next stage of the rollout of this software will give HCT staff direct access to the live lists of
medical device for their service, including equipment maintenance dates.
Key Performance Indicators
As per MHRA guidance and the governance structure of the HCT Medical Devices Advisory
Forum (MDAF), KPIs relating to maintenance of medical devices are reviewed by the forum
each quarter.
High Risk Devices
A priority in 2016/17 for the MDT was to significantly improve the maintenance compliance for
high risk devices. In April 2016 the compliance for high risk devices was 68% (296 devices) with
a target of 90% (391 devices). In April 2017 the maintenance compliance figure for high risk
devices had increased to the target level of 90% (391 devices) (fig 3). This was achieved
following the implementation of improved systems and processes for monitoring and managing
these devices.

Page 9 of 13

Non-Compliant High Risk Devices
There are currently 10% (43 devices) of high risk devices that are non-compliant and are overdue
servicing. The majority of these devices are T34 syringe drivers which have become noncompliant because they have been lost or misplaced. During 2016/17 the Medical Devices Team
(MDT) developed a reporting system to alert business units to the high risk equipment in their
area that was overdue maintenance. This resulted in a significant reduction in non-compliant
devices.
To reduce the likelihood of non-compliant equipment being used on a patient, all devices are
labelled with a ‘Next Test Due’ label to alert staff when equipment is due servicing and should not
be used.
Medium and Low Risk Devices
The Trust owns approximately 7500 medium and low risk medical devices. In April 2016 the
maintenance compliance for these devices was 54% with a target of 80%. As can be seen in
figure 4, this figure increased during 2016/17 to 63% compliance in April 2017. To achieve this
figure the MDT completed over 4000 Planned Preventative Maintenance jobs.
A priority for 2017/18 is to continue to increase the maintenance compliance for medium and low
risk devices to achieve the 80% target.

Maintenance Activity
The MDT has seen a significant increase of activity during 2016/17 as shown in figure 5, with an
increase of 50% of acceptance testing for new devices and a 70% increase in Planned
Preventative Maintenance jobs.
Due to the in-house maintenance pilot this significant increase in activity has been achieved
whilst delivering cost savings and efficiencies.
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Medical Devices Library
In September 2015 the MDT started supporting the Tissue Viability Service by operationally
managing Renasys wound suction devices for loan to HCT patients. During 2016/17 the MDT
developed a library of medical devices further to support staff and patients when devices require
repair or servicing; devices include patient hoists, beds, nebulisers, defibrillators and suction
machines. In addition, the library has recently added patient standing frames managed by the
Neurological Service.
Just to say thank you so much for helping us when we were in desperate need of a nebulizer. For the
first time in ages, we had 4 patients who needed the use of a nebulizer………….. Medical Devices Team,
were BRILLIANT, as they had 3 nebulizers in stock and could send them by Parcel Force immediately to
us
Langley House, Community Hospitals

Benchmarking
The Trust is a member of the National Performance Advisory Group (NPAG) – Clinical
Engineering Best Value Group (BVG). This national group provides a forum for members to
share information and experiences, undertake benchmarking exercises, debate policy and
identifying innovation. The Southern Clinical Engineering BVG represents 20 NHS Trusts and is
chaired by the HCT Medical Devices Manager.
For the 2016/17 benchmarking exercise:
• HCT demonstrated the best value of cost per medical device maintained with an average
cost of £25 per device.
• HCT demonstrated one of the lowest maintenance costs per bed space for 2016/17.
It should however be taken into consideration that although the above figures demonstrate good
value, the majority of the BVG members are acute trust’s which can incur higher costs for both
equipment purchases and maintenance. As the Chairperson for the Southern BVG, the HCT
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Medical Devices Manager is actively encouraging other community trusts to join.
Medical Device Safety Network
In April 2014, NHS England and the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency
(MHRA) created the Medical Device Safety Network and instructed all large healthcare provider
organisations to appoint a Medical Device Safety Officer (MDSO) who would be a member of the
network.
The HCT Medical Devices Manager was requested to join the editorial board for this network in
September 2016 and has represented community-based healthcare organisations during the
networks monthly webinars.

9.

Summary

In summary, the Medical Devices Team has significantly developed the service during 2016/17.
This service development underpins the Trust’s strategic objectives and has provided the Board
with assurance that there is robust management of medical devices in-place.
Maintenance activity and compliance has significantly increased along with improvements to data
quality and availability of management information to staff.
This service development and increased maintenance activity has been achieved whilst reducing
costs and implementing efficiencies.
A significant plan for further developments in 2017/18 is scheduled to continue the improvements
further and provide greater support to HCT staff and patients.

10.

Risks

The following areas have been identified as possible risks during 2017/18:
•
•

11.

Insufficient agency engineering staff may put the in-house maintenance project at risk. This
risk is mitigated by ensuring good communication with existing agencies and local NHS
Trusts that can provide short term support.
Insufficient suitable applicants for the Clinical Engineering posts would prevent the in-house
maintenance project moving forwards. This would be mitigated by continuing to use
existing agency staff.

Priorities for 2017/18

In order to build on the progress made to date, the following areas have been identified as key
priorities for 2017/18:
•
•
•
•

Recruitment of two permanent Clinical Engineers to support development of in-house
maintenance further, to be funded within the existing budget.
Increase of maintenance compliance for high risk devices from 90% to 95%
Increase of maintenance compliance for medium and low risk devices from 63% to 80%
Focus on improvements to response and rectification times of maintenance jobs
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•
•
•

On-going development of loan library for key medical devices to support staff and patients
when devices require maintenance.
Walking aids pilot to investigate in-house refurbishment and re-issue to reduce costs
Continued development of E-quip software to improve management reports and data
visibility to staff

Tricia Wren
Deputy Director of Quality & Governance / Deputy Chief Nurse
Simon Ward
Medical Devices Manager / Medical Devices Safety Officer
June 2017
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Healthcare Governance Committee
Tuesday 16th May 2017 2.00 – 17.00
Boardroom, Howard Court
Key Points for the Board and Audit Committee to note:
RED
AMBER/RED
• Business Unit Performance Report
AMBER/GREEN
• Health Visitor / School Nurse service update
• CQC & CIP 2017/18 Assurance update
• Safe Staffing February/ March 2017
• Complaints Report Q4
• Pressure Ulcer update
• Quality Priorities 2017/18
• Learning from Deaths
• Clinical Audit Annual Plan 2017/18
• Clinical Effective Group Delivery Plan 2016/17
GREEN
• Serious Incident Report

1.
Present:

Present & Apologies
Anne McPherson
Clare Hawkins
Linda Sheridan
Jeff Phillips
Dr John Omany
Marion Dunstone
Debbie Eyitayo

In
Attendance: Tracey Westley
Tricia Wren
Marina Sweatman

Apologies:

David Law
Brenda Griffiths
Declan O’Farrell

AMc
CH
LS
JP
JO
MD
DE

Non-Executive Director (Chair)
Deputy CEO, Director of Quality/Chief Nurse
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Medical Director
Director of Operations
Interim Director of HR & OD

TW
PW
MS

Assistant Director Risk & Quality Assurance
Deputy Director of Quality & Governance and
Deputy Chief Nurse
Board Support Officer (mins)

DL
BG
DOF

Chief Executive
Non-Executive Director Designate
Trust Chair
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Item
Introduction and Apologies
The chair opened the meeting and observers were welcomed. No
apologies were noted.

2.

Declaration of Interests
No declarations or conflicts of interest were recorded.

3.

Previous Minutes and Tracker Progress
The meeting on 21 March 2017 was a virtual meeting; the Chair’s
assurance report was received in lieu of minutes.
The chair highlighted that the safe staffing data provided was historic and
does not provide the level of assurance required. Safe staffing data and
narrative is now included in the IBPR to provide current information.

Action

Date

MS

To note

Tracker
The completed (blue) and in progress actions (green) were
acknowledged.
4.3 17.1.17 The Hertsmere Locality Operational review has been
deferred, further work is required on the supporting documentation to
provide the required assurance. New date to be proposed and agreed.
4.2 17.1.17 Patient Led Assessments of the Care Environment
(PLACE) assessment – outstanding actions are in progress or
completed. The Clinical Quality Lead has driven forward actions and has
organised purchases of clocks etc. Sandy Bowles (estates) has been
very supportive and assisted with the estates actions. The Ward
Managers are taking ownership of the current PLACE assessment. It was
felt that comparison with previous assessment would be useful.
4.7 17.5.16 Quality Report – The development of the dashboard style
Quality report is on target for delivery in Q1.
3.1

Terms of Reference
The Terms of Reference version 9 dated May 2017 were received and
discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)
The title for the Director of Quality and Governance/Chief nurse
has been amended to Deputy CEO, Director of Quality/ Chief
Nurse.
(ii)
In order to have greater involvement the Deputy Director,
Quality & Governance/Deputy Chief Nurse is to be added as a
full member.
(iii)

The Deputy Director,Quality and Governance/Deputy Chief
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Item

Action

Date

PW

To note

Nurse will be responsible for Papers (section10).
Decisions and Actions
1.
ToR approved subject to minor amendments suggested
3.2

Business Cycle 2017/18
The revised Business cycle for 2017/18 was received and discussed
It was noted that:
(i)
(ii)

Under the new guidance the mortality and morbidity updates are
required quarterly.
Post implementation review of Project Initiation Document
(PIDs) and Quality Impact Assessment (QIA) assurance to be
considered and linked to the reviews of PIDs within the Strategy
and Resource Committee (SRC).

Decisions and Actions
1.
Linkage to the SRC review of PIDs and QIA process to be
considered
2.
Business Cycle approved subject to the minor alterations
suggested.
4.
4.1

Assurance
Children’s Service’s Update Report
An update on the Health Visiting and School Nursing service was
received and discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)
There are a number of risks connected to changes in service
provision and funding currently being managed and mitigated
which impact on service users and staff.
(ii)
The Business Unit has developed a strategy to mitigate the
impact of maternity leave and address the impact of lengthy
recruitment processes within the service.
(iii)
A proposal was presented to implement service strategies
that will ensure services are delivered in the safest way
taking into account the level of need and resources available.
Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)
It was acknowledged that there is an ongoing risk to
commissioning for this service when the Public Health ring
fenced funding is removed.
b)
Executive Team to discuss and agreed the support strategy
when approaching the County Council in respect of mandated
contacts.
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Item
Decisions and Actions
1.
Children’s Safeguarding Group to review traffic light prioritisation
tool and provide check and challenge.
2.
Executive Team to discuss and sign off supportive strategy and
approach with the Commissioners for the mandated contacts
3.
The proposal to make best use of the workforce was
supported.
4.
Children’s Service update was noted.
Risk Rating: Amber/Green
4.2

End of Life Policy
The End of Life Policy was received and discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)
The Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspected the Trust’s
services in April 2016 and, whilst services provided by the Trust
were rated good overall, End of Life services were rated
‘requires improvement’ with a number of observations made
regarding shortfalls in the End of Life Strategy, Policy and
strategy delivery plan. Updates were provided on the actions to
remedy the shortfalls, the Strategy and Policy and the progress
on the strategy delivery plan.
(ii)
The strategy has been aligned with the End of Life strategies of
our commissioners and the HCT Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
The Strategy has also been summarised ‘on a page’ to make it
easier to communicate to staff and patients.
(iii)
Whilst CQC suggested that having combined documents for
both adults and children did not adequately reflect the needs of
children, the revised documents are still combined. The
rationale for this approach was to align with the Trust Health and
Wellbeing Strategy and adopt the underpinning principles of
care that are the same for all ages even though specific
interventions may be different.
(iv)
The refreshed Strategy and delivery plan are being finalised and
will be taken to the Strategy and Resources Committee in June
for approval.
(v)
The refreshed Policy has been reviewed by the Clinical
Effectiveness Committee and is now brought for approval.
Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)
It was felt that the information and contact details regarding the
services for Children for both East and North Herts as well as
West Herts should be included regardless of commissioned
services ( Item 24.2 page 17 and Appendix 6 page 30)
b)
Staff are currently being trained to enable them to convey
information on the care pathway and process, thereby managing
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Date

MD/KG

To note

MD

To note

Healthcare Governance Committee 18 July 2017

Attachment 3

Item

Action

Date

MD

To note

MD

June 17

patient and carer concerns and expectations.
c)

d)

Future policy iterations needs to:
• expand on the care of the dying child
• expand on (14.3) pain assessment, protocol and
management especially in relation to children and adults
with learning disabilities
• expand on the ethnicity and diversity needs of the dying
• expand the clinical outcome auditing of pain relief and drug
use as a measure of effectiveness of the policy
• consider including the five priorities of care in the body of the
policy.
Equality Impact Assessment to be reviewed to ensure up to date

Decisions and Actions
1.
2.
3.

Amendments/ expansions and review suggested for future
iteration.
Refreshed Strategy and Delivery plan to SRC in June
The End of Life Policy was approved with future iterations to
include proposed expansions

Risk Rating: Not Applicable
4.3

CQC and QIP 2017/18 Assurance update
CQC and QIP 2017/18 Assurance update was received and discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)
Actions are being progressed with improvements noted in
record monitoring.
(ii)
Assurance of compliance is being received through quality
assurance visits both external and internal, KIT visits, and via
the delivery of EOL CQUIN in year.
(iii)
Commissioners have been advised that actions are being
completed.
(iv)
This iterative plan is being managed and monitored within
operations. Some elements have revised dates in line with
service changes. Some items have been completed but remain
“Green Rated” as further evidence of embedding is required.
(v)
Whilst following up a serious incident raised by a commissioner
an End of Life training gap was flagged in connection with staff
turnover in Herts & Essex Hospital, this has now been
addressed to ensure all staff have received training.
Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)
Further assurance report to come to next meeting to
demonstrate that this is business as usual.
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Risk Rating: Amber/Green
Safe Staffing Report (Feb and Mar 2017)
The Safe Staffing Report for February 2017 was received and
discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)
During February and March average qualified nurse staffing
levels for all wards was above the NHS England threshold of
80%.
(ii)
In February six wards had bank and agency use above 20% and
in March this increased to eight of the nine wards. Bank and
agency usage was highest on Langton Ward during February
(53.6%).
(iii)
Vacancy rates remained above the HCT target of 8.5% on all
HCT community hospital wards and were highest on Langton
Ward in February (43.9%).
(iv)
Sickness and absence rates were above the HCT target of 3.6%
on two wards. There were two deep dives in Sopwell ward and
Herts & Essex Hospital which showed no adverse impact on
patient care. There continues to be a high number of patients at
high risk of falls across all community hospitals, particularly at
Herts & Essex Hospital.
(v)
Sopwell Ward has now been closed, however 15 additional
beds have been opened elsewhere to compensate for the 19
lost. The CCG are commissioning an additional four beds. The
extra beds are ten on Langley, three on Langton and two on St
Peters. Currently NHS England and NHSI are not allowing
closure of any beds.
Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)
b)
c)

Date

TW

July 17

The Audit Committee is also reviewing End of Life at present.

Decisions and Actions
1.
CQC assurance report to come to July meeting.
2.
The CQC and CIP 2018/18 assurance update was noted
embedding of completed actions will continue into 2017/18.

4.4i/ii
4.4i/ii

Action

It was confirmed that escalation beds in the Acute Trusts still
remain open.
Clarification and assurance was given that the risks in respect of
the medical staffing have been mitigated.
Further clarification was requested on the constant high level of
patients at risk of falls in Herts & Essex Hospital; this has been
review recently and found that assessments were being applied
consistently. It was acknowledged that there are a high level of
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d)

e)

f)

g)

Date

PW

To note

MS

To note

patients with Deprivation of Liberty (DOLs) and Mental Capacity
Assessments (MCA) and that this is an outlier and may require
further review.
It was suggested that future reports should include an update on
the current vacancy position as the majority of the report data is
historic.
Moving forward the report will be quarterly, identifying themes
and trends. Current staffing information will be included in the
monthly Integrated Business Performance Review (IBPR) and
the high level risk register. The IBPR to be shared with all
Board members to ensure awareness of on-going risks.
It remains a very challenging environment to recruit staff to
small community hospitals. The STP is discussing recruitment
across the footprint.
An unannounced visit to Herts & Essex Hospital from the new
CEO of Princess Alexandra Hospital (PAH), resulted in
extremely positive feedback especially in respect of the Ward
Manager and there has been some very positive discussions on
staff recruitment on a rotational basis between HCT and PAH.

Decisions and Actions
1.
Potential review of the high level of patients falls risk at Herts &
Essex Hospital.
2.
IBPR to be circulated to all board members monthly.
3.
Safe Staffing Report February and March 2017 were noted
Risk Rating: Amber/Green
4.5

Action

Quality Account Draft
The draft Quality Account was received and discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)
The Quality Account full document was supplied in the
supporting papers. The summary Quality Account highlighted:
•
The 10 key achievements,
•
Progress Against Our Quality Priorities In 2016/17
•
Learning from ourselves and learning from others
•
Service Developments
•
Information Technology innovations
•
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation schemes (CQUIN)
performance
(ii)
Commissioners, Hertfordshire and Essex Health Scrutiny
Committees, and Healthwatch Hertfordshire and Essex have
received a draft full report and summary. HCT are awaiting their
formal responses
(iii)
Any comments and amendments are required by no later than
18th May 2017.
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Action

Date

TW

To note

ALL

18.5.17

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

The main document, summary and easy read versions of the
Quality Account were discussed and commended.
Congratulations to be conveyed to Andrea Horsler.

Decisions and Actions
1.
Congratulations to be conveyed to Andrea Horsler.
2.
Comments or amendments to be received by no later than 18th
May 2017
3. The draft Quality Account was approved subject to the inclusion
of the commissioner responses.
Risk Rating: Not Applicable
4.6

High Level Risk Register
High Level Risk Register as at 8th May 2017 was received and
discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)
There are currently 11 high level risks on the register.
(ii)
The changes to the HLRR during March/ April to date and
progress with management of the risks were summarised.
•
Three risks have been added.
•
One risk was escalated.
•
One risk was de-escalated and removed in month
•
The remaining six risks have not changed since the last
report.
(iii)
The HLRR has been streamlined; old HR issues have been
archived to ensure that the information in the HLRR is up to
date.
(iv)
The issues in respect of the Health Visiting service will be
reviewed subject to the outcomes of the Executive Team
discussions if required.
(v)
Work is on-going to refine the incident and risk management
reporting systems and the aim is to make the HLRR system
more user friendly.
(vi)
The previous IT issues were recorded as an incident which was
escalated and the risks were being managed.
Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

It was recognised that the elements around the risk controls are
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Item

b)
c)

Action

Date

TW

To note

a work in progress. There have been capacity issues but this will
take time to resolve with the teams.
It would be good to see the de-escalated information added to
the histogram.
It was noted that all the risk discussed previously within the
meeting are all included on the HLRR.

Decisions and Actions
1.
2.

De-escalated items to be added to the histogram
The High Level Risk Register was noted

Risk Rating: Not Applicable
4.7

Quality Report Q4
The Quality Report for Q4 was received and discussed.
The Achievements in Quarter in respect of Quality priorities are:
(i)
Priority 1 - Met in full and HCT achieving full accreditation for
Level 3 of the UNICEF Baby Friendly award,
(ii)
Priority 3: All targets set out were fully met, apart from one
which was partly met, where 93% of Children’s Services
demonstrated they had taken appropriate actions in line with
policy to safeguard children who are NBI, against a target of
100%.
(iii)
The Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) Team was
awarded the Integrated Multi-Agency Team of the Year by
Hertfordshire County Council in March 2017.
(iv)
HCT received confirmation that two of the reported five cases of
C difficile infection were excluded as no lapse in care had
occurred. Therefore the revised year-end total is three cases
against the ceiling of six.
(v)
There were zero cases of MRSA bacteraemia (blood-borne
infection) for the fifth consecutive year.
(vi)
Internal Medicine spot checks were carried out in three of our
Community Hospitals, it was noted that the majority of the
issues highlighted in the Q3 had been addressed; one
remaining issue in one of the hospitals was immediately
rectified.
(vii)
At the close of the three-year ‘Sign Up To Safety’ campaign, two
‘Hot Topic’ questions relating to patient safety were included in
the January 2017 to gain staff perspective on the Trusts
approach to patient safety. Work will continue to foster and
promote a positive patient safety culture.
Risk and Opportunities
The following risk and opportunities were identified:
(i)
The Paediatric liaison post at WHHT is being decommissioned
from April 2017. This significant risk has been placed on the
HCT risk register. Meetings between WHHT and HCT have
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

taken place to find a model of care that will manage the risk
without further resources or funding. Both trusts are currently
exploring a digital model of service delivery. Funding for the
paediatric liaison post in the East of county has also been
reviewed and commissioners have agreed to continue funding
at a lower grade post.
Decommissioning of beds within West Hertfordshire may
indirectly impact upon ICT workloads. A quality impact
assessment is being undertaken to enable an informed decision
between HCT and WHCCG.
Quality Priority 2: There was an increase in the average
percentage of Friends and Family Test the targets was not fully
met, however this is work in progress.
Quality Priority 4: The Trust achieved its target to increase the
number of reported medication incidents by more than 10%;
whilst the number of medication incidents reported as resulting
in harm increased slightly, further analysis showed that only
7.9% were attributed to HCT. However, due to in-year service
changes and the need to provide targeted training to support
upskilling of staff, the targets relating to insulin and IV
administration training were not met as originally identified.
Therefore the overall targets set out were partly met whilst
focused training has supported timely patient care and safety.
An internal quality assurance visit of the newly-established
FIRST Service found some policy adherence issues. The issues
were addressed with the staff, and subsequent visits noted
compliance with HCT policies.
There was an increase in the number of inpatient falls in
community hospital wards during Q4. However, due to system
pressures, additional beds were opened during Q4 resulting in
an increase in occupied bed days which may have contributed
to the increased number of falls.
CQUIN challenge at the end of quarter 3 has revised the Q2 and
Q3 achievement for EOL care in ENCCG. Lessons Learned are
being circulated to CQUIN leads for the future.

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)
It was acknowledged that the Quality Report informs the Quality
Account.
b)
A Quality high level dashboard is being streamlined and will be
included in the next report with narrative. This will be shared
with the commissioners.
c)
Inpatient falls with injury are increasing. The falls working group
are undertaking a focussed review to ensure that correct
actions, assessment and follow ups are in place. It was
confirmed that there was no evidence that the change in
specialing at HEH had impacted on these figures, although
further work is required on acuity.
Decisions and Actions
1.
The Quality Report for Q4 for was noted
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Item
Risk Rating: Not Applicable
Complaints Report Q4
The Complaints Q4 report update was received and discussed.

Action

Date

JO

To note

PW/AP

To note

It was noted that:
(i)
A total of 55 complaints were received, 42 complaints have
been closed and 13 remain open awaiting completion of
investigation.
(ii)
The total of complaints for 216/17 is 222 this represents a slight
reduction on the 2015/16 total of 250.
(iii)
The Trust made contact with 482,475 patients during the period.
(iv)
A total of 3,471 compliments were received in Quarter.
(v)
100% of complaints during the quarter were responded to within
the agreed time frames despite staffing challenges.
(vi)
The report demonstrates the service changes implemented to
improve the patient experience as a result of complaints
received.
(vii)
Three complaint received in this quarter were graded as
category 3.
(viii) Six complaints were directly received by the Mount Prison
Healthcare Team, no complaints were escalated to stage 2
(ix)
There were no new referrals made to the Parliamentary and
Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO).
Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)
It was acknowledged that some of the Community Paediatric
complaints are linked to the services which are no longer
supplied by HCT in West Essex. JO has been asked to follow up
and explore the support the Medical Team needs to provide
local resolution to complaints which would include different
approaches to improve customer experience and customer
care. This will help to provide assurance.
b)
Data in respect of compliments in West Herts to be checked,
Staff are being reminded to report compliments as this has a
positive impact on staff morale.
Decisions and Actions
1.

2.
3.

Follow up and explore the support and training needs of the
Medical Team in respect of complaint resolution and improved
customer experience and care.
Data re West Compliments to be checked
The Complaints Q4 report was noted

Risk Rating: Amber/Green
4.7 ii

Serious Incident (SI) Report
The Serious Incident report for the period February/ March 2017 was
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Item
received and discussed.

Action

Date

PW/CS

To note

It was noted that:
(i)
Two serious incidents were reported during February and March
2017 which were an allegation of neglectful care and an
information governance incident. The investigations are
underway in line with policy. The learning from this incident has
been cascaded and will inform future practice.
(ii)
An end of year summary of themes, trends and lessons learnt
was presented with actions identified to improve practice and
deliver safe and effective patient care.
(iii) Three SI’s remain open pending full investigation and
completion of action plans.
(iv) The SI Assurance Panel has developed greater scrutiny to
ensure actions identified as a result of SI’s have been
embedded in practice with a process to recall services to
provide further evidence/audit when required. Further assurance
was provided in the log of all outstanding action plans and
progress.
(v)
An update on the never event was supplied, it was confirmed
that the CCG are leading this work. A system wide learning
approach by the CCG is being taken to prevent recurrence.
(vi) HCT benchmark well against other Trusts, the reporting is being
checked and verified to ensure that the benchmarking is correct.
Flowcharts are being developed to support staff reporting and
demonstrate compliance with SI policy and process.
Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)
It was acknowledged that the up to date information is received
but there is little visibility of the outcomes. A six monthly update
on outcomes, follow ups, lessons learned and root cause
analysis would help to provide assurance that there are no gaps
Decisions and Actions
1.
2.

4.7iii

Six monthly update on outcomes, theme, trends and learning.
The Serious Incident report was noted

Risk Rating : Green
Pressure Ulcer update
The Pressure Ulcer update was received and discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)
The number of reported pressure ulcers has decreased along
with the proportion of pressure ulcers as part of the ICT
caseloads.
(ii)
Avoidable pressure ulcers have increased; this is likely to have
been influenced by increased scrutiny during 2016/17.
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Action

Date

PW

To note

CH

Nov 17

An end of year summary of the actions taken and actions
planned for the coming year to improve practice and deliver safe
and effective patient care was presented.
The improvement initiatives planned for 2017/18 were
discussed.

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)
The actions identified for 2017/18 to focus on eliminating all
avoidable pressure ulcers were acknowledged. It would be
useful to understand the healing success rate and the learning.
b)
The Pressure Ulcer Working Group to be invited to provide an
update to the Board potentially in November. CH will also invite
Mark Radcliffe NHSI
Decisions and Actions
1.
2.
3.

Future information on healing success rate and learning would
be useful
Pressure ulcer working group to present to November Board,
CH to invite external guests.
The Pressure Ulcer update was noted

Risk Rating : Amber/Green
4.8

Quality Priorities 2017/2018
The Quality Priorities 2017/2018 were received and discussed:
It was noted that
(i)
The quality priorities will
• support delivery of the STP
• are integral to the annual delivery plan
• assist the underpinning of the national CQUINS to be
delivered over the next 2 years.
(ii) Operational and executive leads have been identified.
(iii) The priorities were discussed at the Board in March and a fourth
priority was added relating to Pressure Ulcers. The priorities are:
• Supporting patient self-management
• Support the population we serve by developing patient
focused outcomes to improve health and well-being
• Support personalised care through development of care
bundles and effective use of Electronic Care Records
• Improve the safety of patients in our care by reducing
avoidable pressure damage.
Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)
AM proposed an addition to QP4 Pressure Ulcer to link the
rationale of the Health and Well Being Strategy with the
community – “increase awareness of patients and carers on
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Item

Action

Date

TW

May 17

MD/PB

Jun 17

how to prevent the occurrence of pressure ulcers in the
community”
Decisions and Actions
1.

2.

Addition to QP4 re “increase awareness of patients and carers
on how to prevent the occurrence of pressure ulcers in the
community
The Quality Priorities 2017/2018 were noted.

Risk Rating: Amber/Green
4.9

Business Unit Performance Reviews
The BUPR were received and discussed:
The main messages from the April 2017 BUPRs are;
Adults
•
•
•

HVCCG tendering processes,
Priority 2 & 3’s not being achieved,
Staffing issues across a number of ICT teams and In Patient
units,
•
Mandatory training and Appraisal rates below plan,
•
Health DTOCs,
•
Finalisation of 2017/18 CIP plans, and
•
FIRST; implementation, model, getting to 50 patients on the
caseload
Children’s
•
Pressures on the Nursing Service in Herts Valley
•
Impact on service delivery due to the reduction in the Health
Visiting establishment
•
East & North Corridor children’s
Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)
The items reported as risks with mitigation action in place in the
BUPR are triangulated in the HGC and the HLRR.
b)
JP suggested that it is very beneficial for NEDs to attend the
BUPRs. Dates to be shared and a potential rota of attendance
developed.
Decisions and Actions
1.
BUPR dates to be shared with NEDs and a potential rota of
attendance developed.
2.
BUPRs were noted.

4.10

Risk Rating: Amber/Red
Clinical Quality Review Minutes
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Item
The Clinic Quality Review minutes from the meeting on 31 January 2017
were received and discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)
The meeting are now held jointly with both CCGs and the
frequency has been reduced which has resulted in historic
information being received.
Decision and Actions
1.
The Clinical Quality Review minutes were noted
4.11

Mandatory Training update
The Mandatory Training uptake in 2016/17 and Plans for 17/18 was
received and discussed
It was noted that:
(i)
The compliance at end March 2016/17 was average at 91.2%.
HCT benchmarked well against the other organisations in the
STP footprint.
(ii) Work on the Streamline project continues to reduce duplication
and speed up recruitment process.
(iii) The induction process is being reviewed to ensure efficiency.
Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

This is a significant improvement, the work undertaken to
achieve and maintain this position was acknowledged.

Decisions and Actions
1.
Mandatory Training update was noted.
Risk Rating: Not applicable
5.
5.1

Patient Safety & Patient Experience
Learning from Deaths
The Framework for NHS Trust and NHS FT on Identifying, Reporting,
Investigating and Learning from Deaths in Care was received and
discussed.
It was noted that new guidance has been received which specifies that:
(i)
(ii)

(iii)

From April 2017, Trusts will be required to collect and publish on
quarterly basis specified information on deaths.
Boards must ensure robust systems are in place for recognising,
reporting, reviewing or investigating deaths and learning from
avoidable deaths that are contributed to by lapses in care.
Trust boards should have an existing executive director who is
responsible for the investigation and learning from deaths and
an existing non-executive director with responsibility for the
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Item
(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Action

Date

JO
JO

July 17
July 17

oversight of the process.
All Trusts should publish an updated policy on how it engages
with bereaved families and carers, and responds to, and learns
from, deaths of patients who die under its management and
care by September 2017.
Changes to the Quality Accounts regulations will require that the
data providers publish relating to deaths in their care is
summarised in Quality Accounts from June 2018.
Standard Operating Procedure for Community Hospitals and
Nascot Lawn Children’s Short Break unit (SOP 23 1016) was
provided for information

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)
It was confirmed that this covers all patient’s in our care which
currently equates to our community hospital inpatients, if patient
die in the community at home within 30 days of discharge from
an acute hospital they will be reviewed as part of the acute
hospital review, patients who are under the care of their GP are
not covered by our review.
b)
It was also confirmed that Ministry of Justice patients are also
not currently covered by our review, these are however fully
investigated.
c)
HCT is linked to a Herts wide Group which review deaths linked
to people with learning disability.
d)
It was confirmed that the current guidance does not require
deaths reported to the Coroner to be included as a matter of
course.
e)
There will be further developments in learning from deaths
which will include other areas but this guidance mainly focusses
on hospital deaths.
f)
There needs to be clarification on what HCT are reporting,
where and the rationale for the reporting, JO to provide a report
to clarify for the next committee. Suggestions were:
• MD report to Board- Hospital deaths
• Quality Report to record - Prisoner Death and Learning
Disability death review outcomes and learning
• Safeguarding for annual learning records the outcomes
from the Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP)
g)
The SOP and the Mortality Review Group Terms of reference to
be updated and to include the reporting arrangements and
reflect new guidance.
h)
Royal College of physicians training being undertaken on
29th/30th June.
Decisions and Actions
1.
Report to clarify the reporting arrangements and the rationales
2.
SOP and Mortality Review Group Terms of Reference to be
reviewed and updated.
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Learning from Deaths update was noted.

Risk Rating: Amber/ Green
5.2

Patient Safety & Experience Annual Delivery Plan 2017/18
Patient Safety & Experience Annual Delivery Plan 2017/18 was received
and discussed.
It was noted that the key areas are:
(i)
Promoting and embedding a positive and proactive patient
safety culture for implementing safe patient care at all levels of
the organisation
(ii)
Developing systems that ensure patient care is safe and
complies with national and local guidelines and policies, in
particular in the areas of infection prevention and control,
safeguarding adults and children, and medical devices
(iii)
Demonstrating gathering, analysing, reporting and sharing
patient feedback and experience through surveys, FFT,
compliments, complaints, PALS enquiries and patient stories
(iv)
Demonstrating openness and shared learning from incidents,
serious incidents, complaints and in response to patient
feedback
(v)
Developing systems that ensure consideration of equality and
diversity can be demonstrated in terms of access to services
and patient care
Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)
Any feedback or comments welcomed. General feedback that
the plan was more focussed than in the past.
b)
Consideration to be given in due course on ways to combine
information and reduce duplication.
Decisions and Actions
1.
Patient Safety & Experience Annual Delivery Plan 2017/18 was
noted.
Risk Rating: Not applicable

5.3

Infection Control Forum Chair’s Assurance report and minutes from
7th March 2017
The Infection Control Forum Chair’s Assurance report and minutes from
7th March 2017were received and discussed
The key points noted were:
Red
Issue
None

Action Chair’s Comments
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Amber/ Red
Issue
• System and processes regarding
Water Safety

Amber /Green
Issue

Action Chair’s Comments

• A Water safety plan is to be
created by the Water Safety
Group as currently only Estates
have access to the cloud where
water safety data and actions
taken is stored. We need to get
to a position where an assurance
report is provided to IPC from the
Water Safety Group.

Action Chair’s Comments

• None
Green
Issue

Action Chair’s Comments

• C. difficile appeal upheld (case
3) and overall performance below
ceiling set (6 for 2016-2017)

• Flu campaign planning for 2016
celebrated as a success (uptake
– 75.7%).

• Following the completion of the
RCA for case 3 (Langton Ward)
this appeal was upheld by the
CCG.

• 2017 campaign planning meeting
to be held June 2017. Work to put
in place education to promote the
2017-2018 Flu campaign and
sustain uptake of vaccine in staff.

Summary of Group governance issues and any other points for the
Healthcare Governance Committee’s attention
Water Safety Group to be held and provide assurance to IPCF.

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)
It was noted that as part of the system wide Quality Premium
there is a requirement to reduce E.coli bloodstream infections by
10%, national guidance is awaited. CH ad SM will be taking part
in a National Group and will provide more information when
available.
Decisions and Actions
1.

Infection Control Forum Chair’s Assurance report and minutes
7th March were noted.

Risk Rating: Not applicable
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5.4

Patient Safety & Experience Chair’s Assurance report and minutes
from 24th February and 4th May 2017
The Patient Safety & Experience Chair’s assurance report and minutes
from 24th February 2017 were received and discussed
The key points noted were:
Red
Issue

•

Paediatric Liaison Paediatric
Liaison continues to be an area of
significant risk; HCT continues to
work with acute trust and IT to
scope the use of an IT solution
whilst seeking assurance around
patient safety.

Amber/ Red
Issue
• Quality Priority 2: FFT – it was
noted that FFT response rates
continue to be below 10%. It was
agreed to have an FFT focus day
where all services will be required
to ask all patients to complete the
FFT question.
• An update was received following
the Diabetes Service Quality
Report to commissioners in
October. Whilst there is a greater
level of assurance regarding the
service, full assurance cannot yet
be provided. A further update will
be received by PSEG in August
2017.
• The results of the NEWS audit in
two inpatient units were received
and, whilst there was some
evidence of compliance, the use of
NEWS and escalation is not yet
fully embedded.
Amber /Green
Issue
•

It was noted that there has been
an increase in the number of
medication incidents reported.
However, because of service
changes and re-prioritisation of

Action Chair’s Comments
Close working with acute partners and
regular monitoring to ensure process
in place when funding ceases.

Action Chair’s Comments
FFT focus day planned to take place
in March.

Agenda item for August PSEG
meeting.

DGM’s informed and progress in
place to ensure continued
monitoring.
Review during QAV.

Action Chair’s Comments
Update included in Quarter 3 Quality
Report.
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•

•

•

•

•

•

training needs to meet HCA insulin
administration in year, two
elements of Quality Priority 4 are
likely to miss their year-end
targets.
Work is continuing to raise
awareness of the need for all HCT
staff to use the telephone script; a
further audit of this will be
undertaken in due course with the
support of HealthWatch
Hertfordshire.
PLACE assessments at HCT
inpatient units are due to be
undertaken between March and
June. Volunteer training has been
undertaken, as well as pre-PLACE
assessments with action plans put
in place.
Following the PHSO report into
complaints processes, an SI and
complaints investigation pack has
been developed, and a workshop
for investigators has been
scheduled to discuss experiences
and identify any training needs.
The Q3 Safety Thermometer
results demonstrate an increase in
the number of patients receiving
harm-free care. In particular,
following an increased focus on
data validation by ICT Team
Leads, the number of patients
reported with a new pressure ulcer
has decreased.
The monthly inpatient falls report
for December was presented,
providing assurance of positive
progress in reducing inpatient falls
The updated Learning Disability
delivery plan was reviewed, and
good progress was noted.

Green
Issue

DGM & Clinical Quality Lead has
worked to ensure recommendations
from previous PLACE reviews are
implemented.

Monthly scrutiny of all ST areas
continues to ensure an increase in
Harm Free Care.

LD plan to be updated and revised
for April 2017.

Action Chair’s Comments

• It was noted that the catheter care
CQUIN is on target to achieve
100% in Q3
• Quality Priorities 1 and 3 are both
on track to meet year end targets
• Cases of HCAI. Including CDI,
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remain within monthly and annual
trajectory
Summary of Group governance issues and any other points for the
Healthcare Governance Committee’s attention
•
It was noted that, in order to accommodate the patient’s needs, the
next patient story for presentation at Board has been recorded via
video.
• The Equality & Community Engagement Forum has now met several
times and is focussing on work to increase employment opportunities
for people with learning difficulties, including the development of an
application form.

The Patient Safety & Experience Chair’s assurance report from 4th May
2017 were received and discussed
The key points noted were:
Red
Issue

• An increase in the number of
avoidable category 2, 3 and 4
pressure ulcers was reported in the
IBPR for February 2017 – this
reflects the national picture.

Amber/ Red
Issue

Action Chair’s Comments

•

A reduction in avoidable pressure
ulcers is a Quality Priority for
2017/18. To achieve this, an
improvement plan has been
developed and will be monitored
by the PU/TV Forum. There will
also be an increase in targeted
training and a re-launch of the
‘Think Purple’ campaign.

Action Chair’s Comments

• The Clinical Service Manager for
Community Hospitals will be asked
SI investigation and the Mortality
to provide PSEG with assurance
Review Group around the
that audit around the use of NEWS
appropriate escalation of
has taken place and that any
deteriorating patients in bed-based
improvement actions have been
units identified using the NEWS tool.
implemented.

• Concerns have been raised through

• Although the overall FFT response
rate increased in 2016/17, this was
not reflected in each service and the
Quality Priority target of a 10%
increase per service per unique
patient contact was not achieved.
• There was some discussion
regarding the scrutiny of complaints
investigations and responses in
terms of ensuring that all actions are
completed and evidenced.

• The Head of Patient Experience
will continue to target services with
low response rates, and with the
P&I team to implement FFT by text

• This function will be integrated into
the Patient Experience Forum, with
revised ToR, in particular to involve
patients in scrutinising complaints
responses, and carrying out
mystery shopping or audit
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exercises on behalf of the Trust.
• The Medical Devices Advisory Forum
has flagged that 30% of syringe
drivers are overdue service.

• Safeguarding adult training uptake
figures remain under the Trust yearly
target at 83% due to pressure on the
services and ability to release staff.
• The audit results on the use of pain
tools across services demonstrated
that use is currently inconsistent.

Amber /Green
Issue
• An update was received regarding
the MediPi telehealth pilot and
assurance was received around
processes in place for patient and
staff education and escalation.

• Whilst it was recognised that these
are likely to be devices that cannot
be accounted for, the Medical
Devices Manager is following this
up with services.
• The Named Nurse for
Safeguarding Adults will continue
to look for new ways to deliver
training, possibly in the form of
bespoke training for teams.
• The CQL for end of life care is
working to ensure that all services
have a pain tool included in their
S1 templates in the next week,
with the plan being to implement
use of the OACC pain tool in all
services in the next few months.
Education and training for staff will
continue. A re-audit will be
undertaken in 6 months.

Action Chair’s Comments
• It was agreed that the
Transformation Team will develop
a SOP to support the piloting of
these devices

• A Water Safety meeting has been
held to provide assurance
regarding the contractor’s
measures to maintain safe water
supplies.
• The Chair’s Assurance Report
from the Mortality Review Group
confirmed that, at the last panel,
16 patient deaths were reviewed,
14 of which were unavoidable
expected deaths; two were
unavoidable although there were
some small elements of
suboptimal care, and learning from
these will be taken forward.
• Assurance was received that a
digital solution around Paediatric
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Liaison is being trialled across
West Herts, supplemented by six
months of continuing Health Visitor
liaison.
• Medicines management report
identified, six incidents of missed
visits by community nursing
resulted in missed or delayed
administration of insulin

Green
Issue

• The final Sign Up To Safety
campaign report was received,
providing assurance that the
campaign has led to promotion
and maintenance of a positive
patient safety culture within HCT,
as evidenced by the findings of the
recent Pulse staff survey ‘Hot
Topic’ questions.

• The Chief Pharmacist will
undertake a review of these
incidents and share his findings as
to the reasons for this with
Locality and Team Managers; an
update and actions taken will be
received at the next PSEG
meeting.

Action Chair’s Comments
• Group agreed that the focus on
promoting a positive safety culture
should continue with regular
updates to staff. This will include
a stall at the Leading Lights.

• Full assurance was received
following a pilot of using an inhouse medical devices engineer in
the servicing and maintenance of
HCT medical devices, leading to a
saving of 50k.
Summary of Group governance issues and any other points for the
Healthcare Governance Committee’s attention
Improvement areas to be included in the 2017/18 PSEG delivery plan
discussed and agreed. Draft plan to be submitted to HGC and agreed at next
PSEG.

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)
AM expressed that as Chair she is happy to receive just the
minutes with the detailed information and no longer receive the
Chair’s assurance reports. CH to consider and decide if this is
feasible to reduce duplication of workload whilst still fulfilling the
governance requirements
Decisions and Actions
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Item
1. Review the need for Chair’s Assurance reports
2. Patient Safety & Experience Chair’s assurance report and minutes
for 24th February and 4th May were noted.
Risk Rating: Not applicable
6.

Clinical Effectiveness

6.1

Medical Revalidation Decision Making Group Chair’s Assurance
Report from 11 January 2017
Red
Issue:
No items

Actions/ Chair’s Comments

Amber/ Red
Issue:
• Delays in obtaining information
relating to concerns about
individual Doctors.

• Meeting held to improve a service
processes around governance of
medical staff based on learning
from recently closed case.

Actions/ Chair’s Comments
• Concerns are now being shared
with RO, but RO is experiencing
delays of several months in two
recent situations. New process
allows two weeks.
•

Update from service on their
actions has been requested but
not yet received.

Amber /Green
Issue:

Actions/ Chair’s Comments

•

Processes related to revalidation
drafted, completed and awaiting
ratification at Workforce and OD
Committee January 2017 prior to
implementation. Significantly
updated Medical Appraisal policy
also awaits ratification at this
committee.

Implementation to follow – HR and
Revalidation Officer.

•

Current lack of visible list of
revalidation dates (other than
Responsible Officer and Head of
Learning and Development)

Head of Learning and Development
to produce updated spreadsheet for
April meeting.

•

An experienced Medical
Revalidation Officer has being
recruited.
All Doctors, including Contracted
Doctors will be added to

This post will significantly improve our
processes.

•

This will significantly improve
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Item
Electronic Staff Record (ESR).

organisational information.

•

Learning from recent case
investigation

Plan of a workshop with wider
attendance, led by Dr Omany when
case concluded, to collate learning
and adapt new processes if required.

•

NCAS advising on individual case
management.

Green
Issue:
Contracted doctor with no
Responsible Officer for previous 11
months has Responsible Officer
since December 2016.

Actions/ Chair’s Comments
A check has taken place – all other
medical staff have a Responsible
Officer.

One concern closed since last
meeting (October 16) with no ongoing
patient safety risk in HCT.

The Doctors Responsible Officer has
been given relevant information.

Summary of group governance issues and any points for HGC’s
attention
Inquorate meeting with no designated minute taker attending, hence late
minutes / assurance report.
Several Doctors will transfer to Virgin Healthcare April 2017, with transfer of
Responsible Officer (RO). Any information on management of concerns will
need to be transferred from HCT RO to Virgin RO straight after transfer.
Significant progress being made on appraisal systems and management of
concerns to address above issues. (All since ratified at Workforce and OD
committee January 2017.)
Medical Director, Dr John Omany, will become HCT Responsible Officer soon.

Decisions and Actions
1.

6.2

The Medical Revalidation Decision Making Group Chair’s
Assurance report from 11th January 2017 was noted.

Risk Rating: Not Rated
Clinical Audit Annual Plan 2017/2018
The Clinical Audit Annual plan for 2017/18 was received and noted.
It was noted that:
(i)
Each year, HCT agrees an annual Trust-wide clinical
effectiveness programme that is implemented across the
financial year. This is prioritised against key drivers, balancing
national and local interests and supports Trust strategic
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(ii)

(iii)

objectives and corporate requirements for assurance:
•
NHS England National clinical audits/NCEPOD studies
and Quality Accounts
•
CQUINs/Commissioner contractual requirements
•
CQC assurance
•
Trust wide priorities (areas of concern linked to serious
incidents, local risks, safeguarding etc.)
•
NICE guidance implementation and local audits based on
current best evidence and good practice guidelines/local
policy
•
CEG business plan requirement.
The plan is a ‘live’ document and will be updated ‘in year’ due to
local priorities and external requirements. These additions will
be notified at the bi-monthly Clinical Effectiveness Group
(CEG) meetings.
The ratification and implementation of the annual programme of
clinical audit activity is overseen by the Medical Director and the
CEG. The CEG is also responsible for reviewing the findings
and agreed actions resulting from high priority clinical audits.

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)
The National End of Life audit was noted as a well-respected
audit although hospital focussed is viewed favourably and used
as a benchmark by CQC. Although this has been suggested
previously, the response has been that it is not applicable. It
was felt that this needs to be reviewed, adapted and made
applicable to HCT’s EoL service taking into account any other
EoL audits to be undertaken.
b)
The strategic delivery will help to identify gaps whilst
triangulating information from the business reports and clinical
effectiveness.
c)
The increase in the number of clinician lead audits undertaken is
encouraging and positive.

Decisions and Actions
1.

2.

6.3

EoL audit to be developed by adapting the national audit to
make applicable to the HCT EoL service, further EOL audits to
be included.
Clinical Audit Annual plan for 2017/18 were approved subject
to an additional requirement to increase the number of EOL
audits listed

Risk Rating: Amber/Green
Clinical Effectiveness Delivery Plan 2016/17
Clinical Effectiveness Delivery Pan 2016/17 was received and discussed.
It was noted that:
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(i)

(ii)
(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Capacity with the clinical effectiveness team including
Research and Development has impacted upon end of year
out turn. Core functions have been maintained in year, with
limited developmental work being completed.
Work has continued during operational, executive and
transformation changes in year.
Through organisation transformation changes, learning from
audit outcomes, triangulation with incident recommendations,
complaint outcomes and quality assurance peer review visits
has commenced a review of the triangulation process to
strengthen assurance of embedding clinical effectiveness.
This will inform the 2017/2018 delivery plan.
We have delivered against the national audits in 2016, further
work is being taken forward to review benchmarking with
other community Trusts. Each report being reviewed by
appropriate working group.
Clinical Outcomes and impacts has had some limited
development, led by the medical director and Trust Lead
AHP, in year and this work will be prioritised within the quality
priorities for 2017/18.

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)
The capacity issues around Research and Development has
impacted on the outcome for the year.
b)
There is a focus on delivery of the national audits.
Decisions and Actions
1.

Clinical Effectiveness Delivery Pan 2016/17 was noted

Risk Rating: Amber/Green
6.4

Clinical Effectiveness Work Plan 2017/18
Clinical Effectiveness Work Plan 2017/18 was received and discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)
The work plan has been aligned to the Trust Health & Wellbeing
Strategy and supports the STP, focussing on the following key
areas;
•
•
•

Improving health and wellbeing through supporting selfmanagement and assuring patients receive wellcoordinated, multi-agency care
Demonstrate assurance of the ‘right care, to the right
person, in the right place, in the right way, at the right time
and the right cost’
Promoting and embedding a positive culture for
implementing safe and effective clinical care at all levels of
the organisation, complying with national and local
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guidelines and policies
Assurance that teams are delivering safe, effective clinical
practice and service users attain their jointly agreed clinical
outcomes
The plan will be updated in response to changing priorities.
•

(ii)

Decisions and Actions
1.

6.5

Clinical Effectiveness Work Pan 2017/18 was approved, this
should now form part of the overall Quality Improvement Plan
for 2017-18.

Clinical Effectiveness Group Chair’s Assurance report and minutes
from 13th February 2017 and 10 April 2017
The Clinical Effectiveness Group Chair’s Assurance report and minutes
from 13 February 2017 were received and discussed
The key points noted were:
Red
Issue:

Actions/ Chair’s Comments

Discussion around the way
forward for the Clinical
Effectiveness Group in its role to
provide assurance of effective
outcomes, the triangulation of
information to support clinical
effectiveness alongside business
unit KPIs, and how learning and
best practice can be embedded
through the Trust’s L&D
programme.

Medical Director and AD Risk &
Quality Assurance to liaise with
Deputy Director of Operations to
seek a way forwards.

Amber/ Red
Issue:

Discussion around the purpose
and membership of NICE
Working Group, in particular
whether the role of the group
should be to seek assurance of
implementation of guidance and
Quality Standards.

Actions/ Chair’s Comments

Head of Risk & Clinical
Effectiveness to attend future
meetings as co-Chair.

Amber /Green
Issue:

Actions/ Chair’s Comments

• SSNAP audit data demonstrates
that overall HCT services are in
line with or above the national
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average; however some data
requires validation.
• Record keeping audit
demonstrated that all bed-based
units are fully compliant with
ward processes and in many
record keeping areas; however
three areas of concern were
identified and actions have been
put in place to address these.

Green
Issue:
Spot checks demonstrated good
compliance with the completion of
fluid balance charts at QVM. It was
noted that all Ward Managers will
undertake dip test of records once a
quarter and will follow up any areas
of concern. Compliance with fluid
balance charts will also be monitored
through the record keeping audit.

Actions/ Chair’s Comments

Summary of group governance issues and any points for HGC’s
attention
JO will undertake review of the Intellectual Property policy.

The Clinical Effectiveness Group Chair’s Assurance report and minutes
from 10 April 2017 were received and discussed
The key points noted were:
Red
Issue:
No items

Actions/ Chair’s Comments

Amber/ Red
Issue:

Actions/ Chair’s Comments

• There was limited assurance
around the findings of the
nutritional audits in community
hospital wards; in particular
around correct MUST
assessment by staff, and that

29

Date

Healthcare Governance Committee 18 July 2017

Attachment 3
Action

Item
limited guidance following
MUST assessment is available
on S1.
• The End of Life Care strategy
and policy require further
revision; these will be circulated
to members for electronic
approval.

Amber /Green
Issue:

Actions/ Chair’s Comments

• The Clinical Effectiveness plan
for 2017/18 was received and
approved. It was noted that the
Clinical Effectiveness Team will
work with services where there
are gaps in audit to establish
reasons for non-engagement in
the audit programme.
A working group will be set up to
triangulate data and learning from
incidents, serious incidents, audit
and complaints, and will link up
with representatives from L&D
and P&I Teams to ensure that
learning is embedded through
training and impact of S1 is
considered.
Green
Issue:

Actions/ Chair’s Comments

• 8 PGDs were approved subject
to minor amendments.
• The sign-off of the pan-Herts
JIC medication chart by all
providers and commissioners
was noted as a positive step.

Summary of group governance issues and any points for HGC’s
attention

Decisions and Actions
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The Clinical Effectiveness Group Chair’s Assurance report and
minutes from 13 February 2017 and 10 April 2017 were noted.

Risk Rating: Not Rated
Key Items for Noting
The ongoing long standing staffing issues were noted
Key Items For Escalation or Further Action
The main items of note arising from the meeting and for the attention of
the Board were:
1.

9.

The risks and issues associated with the future commissioning of
children’s services.

Supporting Papers
The following supporting papers were received for information:
9.1 National Guidance on learning from Deaths
9.2 Quality Account (full version)
9.3 Quality Report (full version)

10.

Date of Next Meeting
18th July 2017 2.00-5.00

Boardroom Howard Court

Post Meeting Note:
• An operational review of Hertsmere locality deferred until later
in the year
11.

Meeting Summary – Informal Feedback From Observers
None noted

31

Date

Board 27th July 2017

Attachment J3

Emergency Preparedness, Resilience & Response
Report April 2016 - March 2017
1.0

Introduction

The purpose of this paper is to provide an overview of the work that has taken
place within Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR)
between April 2016 and March 2017.
During 2016/17 HCT has again focused its work on areas to support the
organisation’s compliance with the EPRR Core Standards and ensuring all
plans and response arrangements are fit for purpose.

2.0

Key achievements since April 2016

2.1 Core Standards for EPRR
As in previous years HCT has been required to self-assess its capability
against the following areas
• Governance
• Duty to assess risk
• Duty to maintain plans – emergency plans and business continuity
plans
• Command and Control
• Duty to communicate with the public
• Information Sharing
• Cooperation
• Training and exercising
This year HCT has also undertaken a deep dive into Business Continuity
planning with a focus on the response to a disruption to fuel supplies as part
of the national core standards self-assessment.
The Core Standards self-assessment was completed in August with the
organisation rating itself as substantially compliant, this was then submitted to
Board for their approval. The Trust attended an Assurance meeting with
representatives from the Local Health Resilience Partnership (LHRP) in
September to discuss in detail the submission. Following this review of the
submission and Assurance meeting the rating of substantially compliant was
agreed by NHS England.
A work plan was developed that set out how the Trust intended to work
towards full compliance, this focused on undertaking some staff training to
support the organisations response to a Hazmat/CBRN (Chemical Biological,
Radiological Nuclear) and providing reassurance that our subcontractors have
appropriate business continuity arrangements in place. This work plan is now
complete.
The core standards assessment will be repeated again in 2017/18 and it is
anticipated that there will be a focus on cybercrime this year.
Page 1 of 9

Board 27th July 2017

Attachment J3

2.2. Response plans
As part of the continued cycle of plan maintenance, reviews of the following
plans were carried out and plans re-issued this year
•
•
•
•

Business Continuity Policy – June 2016
Emergency Planning Policy – June 2016
Suspect packages and substance plan – December 2016
Escalation Plan – November 2016

The following new plan was also approved
• Framework outlining the HCT response to a Mass
Vaccination/Prophylaxis campaign Mass Prophylaxis – May 2016
2.3 Training/exercise
The need to provide appropriate training for staff with key response roles and
the opportunity to practice their skills as part of an exercise is key to the
organisation’s ability to effectively respond. A training plan is agreed each
year by the Emergency Planning & Resilience Strategic Group. This year
following changes to the Corporate Induction arrangements it was agreed that
a hand out on emergency planning and resilience awareness would be given
as part of the corporate induction programme rather than a formal
presentation.
Public Inquiry training was run for the first time this year. This training is a
requirement for our Executive Team and members of our Tier One on-call rota
and was attended by 4 people. Further sessions will be held in 2017/18 to
enable all to have attended this training.
The role of a Loggist is key to ensuring our response and actions are correctly
recorded and thee Loggist training sessions have been held this year enabling
10 Loggists to be trained.
HCT staff have participated in a number of exercises during the year. Three
members of staff took part in a live multi-agency hospital evacuation exercise
that was held by West Herts Trust at its St Albans City Hospital site.
A focus this year has been on evacuation planning for Herts & Essex hospital
and a number of sessions have been held at the site with staff based in the
ward area to walk through their plans.
Attached at appendix A is a summary of the training and exercising that has
taken place from April 2016 to March 2017.
2.4
On-call arrangements
HCT has continued with its two tiers of on-call and three on-call training
sessions were held during the year. The aim of these sessions is to provide
training on specific areas that are relevant to on-call as well as give those oncall the opportunity to share learning from calls they have taken. Training this
year has included sessions from Herts Urgent Care and Hertfordshire
Partnership Foundation Trust to enable better understanding of how the
organisations work out of hours.
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A monthly summary of calls received continues to be produced and circulated
to all those on call, Estates and to the HCT Emergency Planning Group to
ensure a continued awareness across the organisation of the issues dealt with
by those on-call.
2.6
Incident response
Incident management meetings have been set up in response to both System
pressures and IT incidents this year.
In January 2016 HCT set up an Incident Management team to support the
organisations response to the extreme pressure in urgent and emergency
care within the health economy. Daily Incident meetings were held at both
strategic and operational level. A reflection session has been held to identify
good practice and lessons to be learnt for this response and a formal debrief
session for the winter escalation will be held in April.
Incident meetings were held for two IT incidents, the first in September when
HBL experienced a Major IT failure resulting in HCT staff being unable to
access e-mail and shared drives. The second was in response to a
Ransomware virus that affected approximately 60 computers but required
access to share drives to be restricted to stop the spread of the virus. Debrief
reports and lessons learnt have been produced for both of the incidents, these
have been discussed at the emergency planning meetings and HBL (our IT
services provider) have also attended in person to present on cybercrime and
the precautions they have in place.
HCT were not affected by the international ransomware attack, Wanna Cry
that happened about a month after the incident above.

3.0

Governance arrangements

3.1
HCT Emergency Planning Group
The Emergency Planning Strategic Group is chaired by the Director of
Operations and has met six times during the year. The group monitors the
progress against the annual work plan, oversees the submission of the core
standards self-assessment as well as ensuring the dissemination of EPRR
across the organisation.
3.2
Emergency Planning work plan
An annual work plan was agreed by the Emergency Planning Group at the
start of the year, it was then presented to each meeting to inform the group of
the progress made.
Attached in appendix B for information is the work plan for 2016/17 as at the
end of March 2017 showing the work undertaken during the year. One work
area as detailed below was uncompleted at year end and the Emergency
Planning group has agreed the continuation of these work areas into 2017/18
• Business continuity planning – work to explore how the organisations
Business Continuity arrangements can address both risk and
opportunity is still underway and good practice examples are being
sought form partners across Hertfordshire.
Page 3 of 9

Board 27th July 2017

4.0

Attachment J3

Multi-agency and health economy working

4.1
Hertfordshire Local Resilience Forum
During the year HCT has continued its participation in the Hertfordshire
Resilience Forum attending both the Response and Planning and Care of
People meetings to ensure HCT remains up to date on local planning and
supports the coordination of a response across Hertfordshire. Minutes of both
of these meetings are also circulated for information to the Emergency
Planning group.
4.2
Local Health Resilience Partnership (LHRP)
HCT has attended the Local Health Resilience Partnership Meetings
throughout the year. The work of the partnership is to ensure appropriate
response arrangements are in place, it encourages joint working, training and
exercising across NHS organisations. HCT is also represented at the
working group of this partnership.

5.0

Future areas of work identified for 2017/18

The compliance with the 2017/18 Core Standards will focus the work for the
year ahead. Hospital evacuation work across all HCT bed bases will continue
throughout 2017/18 with walk-throughs being held at or bed base sites to
ensure plans are fit for purpose and staff are appropriately trained.
Training and exercise will continue to be a focus to ensure our staff have the
necessary skills and experience to respond.

6.0

Summary

This paper provides an overview of the work that has taken place during the
year to ensure that HCT is able to continue to meet its EPRR responsibilities
and that it continues to ensure its plans and processes are provide an
effective and efficient response.
Judith Cannon, Emergency Planning & Resilience Manager
Marion Dunstone, Director of Operations
May 2017
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Appendix A

Summary of HCT staff training and exercise
1st April 2015 – 31st March 2016
HCT training and exercises
On-call Training - 18th July 2016, 3rd October 2016, 31st January 2017
Loggist training - 30th September 2016, 5th October 2016, 8th March 2017
FFP3 mask fit testing Train the Trainer – 10th October 2016
HCT Hospital evacuation walk-through – 14th February 2017

Multi agency/external Training/exercises
West Herts NHS Trust Exercise Phoenix 2 - 24th June 2016
National exercise - Exercise Cygnus - 17th Oct 2016
Public Inquiry training - 25th November 2016, 16th January 2017
Debrief training - 7th March 2017
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Appendix B
Emergency Planning & Resilience Work Plan – 2016-17
Response area
1. Generic
Emergency
planning and
business
continuity

Overview
1.1 Ensure all HCT MI and
BC response plans are
appropriately reviewed

1.2 Mass Casualty planning

1.3 Business Continuity
planning

Action required
1.1.1 Review HCT Business
Continuity Policy

Target date
June 2016

Lead
JCa

1.1.2 Review HCT Emergency
Planning Policy

June 2016

JCA

1.1.3 Review Emergency Planning
Strategic Group meeting Terms of
Reference
1.2.1 Develop an activation plan
for HCT identified P3 sites

Dec 2016

JCa

Aug 2016

JCa

1.3.1 Review service template for
any changes required for 2016/17

May 2016

JCa

1.3.2 Explore how the
organisations Business Continuity
arrangements can address both
risk and opportunity

Nov 2016

JCa
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RAG/Progress
COMPLETE
Policy agreed to be
presented to Exec meeting
in July
COMPLETE
Policy agreed to be
presented to Exec meeting
in July
COMPLETE
ToR updated and approved
at January meeting
COMPLETE
Flowchart agreed and to be
added to relevant plans
COMPLETE
Template agreed. Plans
updated as reviews are
due
RED
To be carried forward to
2017/18 work plan.
Examples of good practice
being sought from partner
organisations
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1.4 NHS Commissioning
Board Core Standards
2. Response

2.1 Winter planning/
escalation

2.2 Heatwave planning
2.3 Cold Weather Planning

2.4 CBRN
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1.3.3 Review Estates Business
continuity documentation

June 2016

JCa/SR

1.3.4 Develop Recovery Time
Objectives with HBL for the IT
provision
1.3.5 Ensure providers and any
sub-contractors have robust
business continuity planning
arrangements in place which are
aligned to ISO 22301 or
subsequent guidance which may
supersede this
1.4.1 Ensure the organisation
completes the Core Standards
submission
2.1.1 Identify learning from Winter
2015/16

Sept 2016

JCa/BW

March 2017

David
Hollis

Oct 2016

JCa

May 2016

JCa/RM

2.1.2 Ensure that the organisation
has an escalation plan that is fit
for purpose for Winter 2016/17

Sept 2016

RM/JCa

2.2.1 Review Heatwave plans for
2016
2.3.1 Review Cold Weather plans
for 2016

June 2016

JCa

Oct 2016

JCa

2.4.1 Develop an appropriate
CBRN training programme

Sept 2016

JCa
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COMPLETE
Loss of building flowchart
agreed and process in
place to add to service
plans at annual review
COMPLETE
Recovery Time Objectives
agreed
COMPLETE
Tenders and contract
documents reviewed and
contain appropriate
assurance clauses

COMPLETE
Core standards completed
and submitted
COMPLETE
Debrief held, actions
agreed at July meeting
COMPLETE
Plan reviewed and updated
and agreed by the EP
meeting
COMPLETE
Plans reviewed
COMPLETE
Plans reviewed and
updated
COMPLETE
Training plan developed
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2.5 FFP3 Fit testing

3. Risk

4. Exercising and
Training

3.1 Ensure all Resilience
risks have been considered
for their impact on the
organisation

4.1 Ensure that the
organisation meets its
testing and exercising
requirements
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2.4.2 Deliver the CBRN training
programme

Sept 2016

JCa

2.4.3 Ensure identified HCT sites
have the capability to respond to
an incident if required
2.5.1 Agree a process to ensure
the continued training of key
individuals as Fit Testing trainers
3.1.1 Review all risks on both the
National and Community risk
registers for their possible impact
on HCT
3.1.2 Consider how risk and
opportunity can be incorporated
into business continuity planning

Oct 2016

JCa

Aug 2016

JCa

Nov 2016

JCa

Sept 2016

JCa

4.1.1 Hold an exercise to test an
agreed aspect of HCT Response

March 2017

JCa

4.1.2 Training plan to be agreed
for 2016/17
4.1.3. Agree a process to increase
plan familiarisation with key staff

May 2016

JCa

Nov 2016

JCa
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COMPLETE
Training undertaken in key
response areas
COMPLETE
Work undertaken as part of
the training programme
COMPLETE
Refresher training
organised in October
COMPLETE
risks reviewed and no new
risks to be added
COMPLETE
Risk template updated in
service BC plans to enable
opportunities to be
included
COMPLETE
Exercise to be held AT
Herts & Essex hospital to
test its evacuation
processes
COMPLETE
Training plan agreed
COMPLETE
staff familiarisation to be
included in staff skills data
collection
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4.1.4. Undertake business
continuity scenario testing

Sept 2016

JCa

4.1.5 Develop an on-call induction
programme

Aug 2016

JCa

5. Hospital
evacuation

5.1 Ensure all evacuation
plans are fit for purpose

5.1.1 Undertake a validation
exercise

Aug 2016

JCa

6. Communication

6.1 Ensure the organisation
has the ability to
communicate internally and
externally during an incident

6.1.1 Agree how staff awareness
of cybercrime can be undertaken

Nov 2016

Comms/
JCa

Green – On track
Amber – Delayed but expected to be completed by revised date
Red – Unlikely to be completed by target date
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COMPLETE
Scenarios undertaken and
being discussed at
December meeting
COMPLETE
Programme agreed and
being implemented
COMPETE
Exercise held at Herts &
Essex hospital
COMPLETE
Cybercrime discussed at
January meeting and
actions agreed
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HCT INTEGRATED BOARD PERFORMANCE
REPORT June 2017

HCT IBPR June 2017 Final

1

Section
1

Trust Scorecard

2

Key Messages

3

Quality KPIs

4

Performance KPIs Inc. National & Local indicators

5

Learning & Development KPIs

6

Workforce & Finance KPIs

Appendix 1. Safe Staffing Report

2

Key Messages

Quality KPIs

Performance
KPIs

2017/18
Target /
Threshold

Current period
performance

Current
Period YTD RAG
RAG

% of patients receiving harm free care (New Harms only)

Compliant

97.1%

G

G



C.difficile cases occurring post 3 days following admission into HCT bed based facilities (i.e.
acquired in our facility)

Full Year 6
monthly
trajectory
0 - June

2

R

R



For information

20

90%

98%

G

30% reduction
on baseline from
2015/16

1

Community Hospitals - Average length of stay in HCT community hospital - ALL Stroke (Rehab
Pathway)

42 Days

Community Hospitals - Average length of stay in HCT community hospital - Non Stroke (Rehab
Pathway)

TRUST SCORECARD 17/18

Scorecard

13

14



13

15

G



6

14

G

G



2

10

33.5

G

G



21 days

21.4

G

R



5%
for health delays
4% by Mar 17

Total 18.0%
(Health 9.5%
HCS 8.4%
Both 0.1%)

R

R



All data entered on S1 within 24 hours of contact

>=90%

85.9%

A

A



Patient waiting list (including Consultant & Non-consultant led services)

92.0%

96.5%

G

G



% staff who have undertaken mandatory training

90.0%

89.7%

A

A



7

14

% of eligible staff trained at appropriated level of safeguarding children in accordance with IC
document Level 1, Level 2, Level 3

95%

96.0%

G

G



% of all clinical and medical relevant staff (all clinical staff including staff in supervisory roles
requiring a clinical registration) will undertake
Level 2 safeguarding adults

90%

96.2%

G

G



% of staff who have undertaken level 1 / 2 safeguarding adults training every 3 years

90%

98.4%

G

G



% of staff completing Information Governance training (Rolling Year)

95%

90.9%

A

A



% of staff who have received an appraisal in the last 12 months

90%

84.6%

A

A



6

15

% posts vacant
(vacant WTE/budgeted WTE).

10%

11.70%

A

A



8

12

Underlying Staff turnover (Voluntary resignations excluding retirements, redundancy and the end of
FTCs)

12%

14.5%

A

A



14

Absence Rate

3.6%



5

Quality

Friends and Family test

L&D

Performance

No of avoidable category 2 pressure ulcers acquired in HCT care

Finance

Appendices

Trusts
Participating

Number of complaints received in month

Community Hospitals - % of NHS (health) bed days lost due to delayed transfers of care

3.80%

A

A

Trend from
previous
month

Workforce &
Finance KPIs

HCT
Benchmarking
Rank

Indicator

Workforce &

L&D KPIs

Trend over time

14

3
15

Scorecard

Key Messages

Quality KPIs

Performance
KPIs

L&D KPIs

Workforce &
Finance KPIs

Appendices

June 2017 Key Messages
Performance highlights
•
•
•
•
•
•

97.1% of patients receiving harm free care (new harms)
No MRSA bacteraemia (blood stream infections) breaches assigned to trust reported.
Stroke LOS within thresholds.
96.5% of patients waiting within 18 weeks for their initial appointment.
Adults and Childrens safeguarding training levels above target
HCT on course to achieve National Child Measurement Programme KPIs for the year.

Areas for Board review
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Two C.diff case reported in June, this now exceeds the Trust trajectory for the year.
DTOC rate above the 5% threshold with 9.5% health delays recorded.
Trust below target of 90% for data entry within 24 hours of contact with 85.9% recorded.
HCT below national target for health visiting caseloads.
2.5 and 1 year children’s health checks below targets.
Nursing P2 and Therapies P2 and P3 not achieved in June.
Staff turnover over threshold with14.5% recorded in June.
Absence Rate over threshold with 3.92% recorded in June.
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Scorecard

Quality - Clinical Governance

Ref

Key Messages

Indicator

Quality KPIs

Performance
KPIs

Workforce &
Finance KPIs

L&D KPIs

Trend
from
YTD RAG
previous
month

2017/18
Target /
Threshold

Current period
performance

Current
Period
RAG

Compliant

97.1%

G

G



0

0

G

G



Full Year 6
Monthly trajectory
0 - June

2

R

R



For information

0.38

95%

100.0%

G

G



Monthly
95%

100.0%

G

G



1%

0.48%

G

G



Q1

% of patients receiving harm free care (New Harms only)

Q2

Number of Avoidable MRSA bacteraemia cases in year for HCT

Q3

C.difficile cases occurring post 3 days following admission into HCT bed based
facilities (i.e. acquired in our facility)

Q4

C.diff cases rates per 1000 occupied bed days

Q5

Compliance with Hand hygiene in all Community Hospitals will be > 95%

Q6

% of relevant patients screened for MRSA (excluding respite patients).

Q8

Reduction in the prevalence of CAUTI, based on safety thermometer data

Q9

The number of Serious Incidents reported in month to the CCG against the SI
policy

For information

2

Q10

The percentage of SIs that have 60-day RCA and action plans completed and
submitted to CCG within 60 days. Reported monthly

Monthly
90%

100%

Q12

The number of SI's that remain open to HCT

For information

5



Q13

Number of patient-related incidents reported in month

For information

445



Q18

No of avoidable category 2 pressure ulcers acquired in HCT care

30% reduction on
baseline from
2015/16

1

G

G



Q19

No of avoidable category 3 or 4 pressure ulcers acquired in HCT care

0.0

2

R

R



Q20

Percentage of inpatient deaths compared to all discharges

For information

3.9%

Q21

Number of inpatient falls by 1000 OBD

For information

17.7

Q22

Number of inpatient falls resulting in moderate or more severe harm

For information

1

Appendices

Trend over time




G

G



5

Q uality - Patient Expereince

Scorecard

Ref

Key Messages

Indicator

Quality KPIs

Performance
KPIs

2017/18
Target /
Threshold

Current period
performance

6
YTD

2

For information

0

>95%

98%

For information

20

80%
Monthly

100%

Workforce &
Finance KPIs

L&D KPIs

Trend
Current
from
Period YTD RAG
previous
RAG
month
G

G



G

G



Q20

Number of clinical negligence claims received in quarter (Quarterly)

Q21

Number of clinical negligence claims closed in the quarter (Quarterly)

Q22

Friends and Family test

Q23

Number of complaints received in month

Q24

Proportion of complaints resolved within timescale agreed with complainant

Q26

Number of PALS enquiries (for HCT services) reported monthly

For information

35



Q27

Number of compliments received Quarterly (Quarterly)

For information

2841



Q28

EMSA breaches reported in month

0

0

Appendices

Trend over time


G

G

G

G
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Scorecard

QUALITY EXCEPTION REPORT (10 KPIs RAG RATED)

Key Messages

Quality KPIs

1

Performance
KPIs

L&D KPIs

0

Workforce &
Finance KPIs

Appendices

9

ACTION
(Q3) C.difficile infection (CDI) cases occurring post 3 days following admission into HCT bed based facilities (i.e. acquired in our facility)
There were two CDI cases notified in June 2017 (Potters Bar Community Hospital and St Peters ward). The total number of cases since April 2017 is now
three which exceeds the monthly trajectory set by two cases.
Case 1 (May 2017, PBH Oakmere North) and Case 2 (PBH Oakmere South) have both had root cause analysis meetings and no lapse in care identified.
These two cases will be presented in August at the CDI appeals panel. Case 3 (St Peter’s Ward) – the patient was admitted on in June and has a history
of diverticulitis. Risks factors include previous antibiotics in the acute (no antibiotics in HCT), advanced age (85 years), multiple and prolonged hospital
stays and an underlying bowel condition. A root cause analysis will be undertaken to identify learning and good practice.
(Q18, Q19) No of avoidable category 2, 3 or 4 pressure ulcers acquired in HCT care
There were two category 3 and one category 2 avoidable HCT acquired pressure ulcers in June 2017. All three of these patients were receiving home
care. All were from differing ICTs. A root cause analysis has been requested for the category 3 incidents and local learning following an investigation has
taken place for the category 2 incident.
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Scorecard

Perform ance - Com m unity H ospitals

Ref

Key Messages

Indicator

Quality KPIs

Performance
KPIs

2017/18
Target /
Threshold

Current
period
performance

Workforce &
Finance KPIs

L&D KPIs

Trend
Current
from
Period YTD RAG
previous
RAG
month

P1

Notification to the GP practice 24 hrs. before community hospital discharge of
vulnerable or Elderly patient

96%

100%

G

G



P2

% of patients who have had a VTE assessment when admitted to Community
Hospital

100%

100%

G

G



P3

Community Hospitals - Readmission rates within 30 days

<0.5%

0.00%

G

G



P4

Percentage of patients who have a planned discharge, by bed based unit at the
weekend - % discharged

>50%

50%

G

G



P5

Percentage and number of patients who have a planned discharge, by bed based unit
before midday

>40%

57%

G

G



P6

Community Hospitals - % of NHS (health) bed days lost due to delayed transfers of
care

5%
for health
delays
4% by Mar 17

Total 18.0%
(Health 9.5%
HCS 8.4%
Both 0.1%)

R

R



P7

Community Hospitals - average occupancy

82%-88%

92.3%

A

A



P8

Community Hospitals - Average length of stay in HCT community hospital - ALL
Stroke

42 days

33.5

G

G



P9

Community Hospitals - Average length of stay in HCT community hospital - Stroke
(Rehab Pathway ONLY)

42 days

30.2

G

G



P10

Community Hospitals - Average length of stay in HCT community hospital - Non
Stroke

21 days

30.1

R

R



P11

Community Hospitals - Average length of stay in HCT community hospital - Non
Stroke (Rehab Pathway ONLY)

21 days

21.4

G

R



P12

Patients admitted to a bed based unit who have an Estimated Date of Discharge set
and recorded within 3 days of admission

95%

100%

G

G



P13

Percentage of patients discharged on, or before, the Estimated Date of Discharge set
upon admission

90%

51%

R

R



Appendices

Trend over time
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Scorecard

Perform ance - C hild H ealth

Ref

Key Messages

Indicator

Quality KPIs

Performance
KPIs

2017/18
Target /
Threshold

Current
period
performance

L&D KPIs

Current
Period YTD RAG
RAG

P14

% Completed medical CLA Initial Health Assessments within 10 day timescale

90%

93%

G

G

P15

% Completed statutory review health assessments within 4 weeks (Paeds, CUS and
CLA)

90%

96%

G

G

P16

Health Visiting - average caseload size
Actual WTE caseload ratio

<=400

419

A

A

P17

Health Visiting - % of babies who have had a face to face contact with health visitor
within 14 days of birth - BEFORE VALIDATION

For
Information

92.1%

P18

Health Visiting - % of babies who have had a face to face contact with health visitor
within 14 days of birth - VALIDATED

95%

98.1%

G

G

98%

98.9%

G

G

For
Information

75.3%

90%

88.0%

For
Information

75.4%

90%

P19
P20

Health Visiting - % of families with Children under 1 who transfer into area from other
counties receive an offer giving them contact with a member of the HV service within 5
days of notification.
% of 2.5 year health review undertaken as a proportion of total cohort BEFORE
VALIDATION

P21

% of 2.5 year health review undertaken as a proportion of total cohort VALIDATED

P22

% of 1 year health review undertaken as a proportion of total cohort BEFORE
VALIDATION

P23

% of 1 year health review undertaken as a proportion of total cohort VALIDATED

P24

School Nursing - % of children who have had height and weight monitored in reception
and year 6

P25

% of children in reception year who have received vision and audiology screening
(subject to school participation)

P26

HPV - % of eligible children immunised

Workforce &
Finance KPIs

Trend from
previous month

Appendices

Trend over time












R

R

83.5%

R

R

T June
90%

94.7%

G

G



T June
90%

97.8%

G

G



Year 8
T 50% dose 1
Year 9
T 50% dose 2

Year 8
61.5% dose 1
Year 9
59.7% dose 2

G

G
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Scorecard

Perform ance - other K PIs

Ref

Key Messages

Indicator

P30

All patients to have smoking status recorded on SystmOne

P31

All patients who smoke to be given brief intervention advice which includes second
hand smoking advice

P32

All patients who smoke to be offered support to quit smoking

P33

The number of Deprivation of liberty (DOLS) requests during the month

P34

Patient waiting within 18 weeks (including Consultant & Non-consultant led services)

P36

Quality KPIs

Performance
KPIs

L&D KPIs

2017/18
Target /
Threshold

Current
period
performance

90.0%

91.2%

G

G

59.0%

R

R

15
T 34

R

R

90% by end of
year
400 patients to
be referred to
HSSS

Current
Period YTD RAG
RAG

Workforce &
Finance KPIs

Trend from
previous month

Appendices

Trend over time










For information

9

92.0%

96.5%

G

G

Minor Injuries Unit - Herts and Essex hospital - patients to be seen treated and
discharged with 4 hours

95%

99.8%

G

G

P37

For urgent/priority 1 referrals to the receive a face-to-face response within 2-4 hours
of HCT receiving the referral. All Herts NURSING

95%

100%

G

G

P38

For urgent/priority 1 referrals to the receive a face-to-face response within 2-4 hours
of HCT receiving the referral. All Herts THERAPIES

95%

100%

G

G

P39

For planned /routine/priority 2 referrals the patient will receive a face-to-face response
within 24- 48 hours of HCT receiving the referral for nursing services. All Herts
NURSING

90%

85%

R

R



P40

For planned /routine/priority 2 referrals the patient will receive a face-to-face response
within 1-2 weeks of HCT receiving the referral for Therapy services. All Herts
THERAPIES

90%

72%

R

R



P41

For supported self-care/priority 3 referrals, the patient will receive a face-to-face
response within 7 days for nursing services. NURSING

90%

97%

G

G

P42

For supported self-care/priority 3 referrals, the patient will receive a face-to-face
response within 2-4 weeks for therapy. All Herts THERAPIES

90%

66%

R

R

P43

All data entered on S1 within 24 hours of contact

>=90%

85.9%

A

A





P44

EoLC patients have or have been offered, completed and refused an ACP (Quarterly)

>=75%

64.2%

R

R

P45

Patients dying in their preferred place (Quarterly)

>=60%

23.9%

R

R
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Scorecard

Key Messages

Quality KPIs

Performance
KPIs

L&D KPIs

Workforce &
Finance KPIs

Appendices

PERFORMANCE EXCEPTION REPORT (37 KPIs RAG RATED)
13
3
21
ACTION
(P6) NHS Health DTOC
HCT were over the 5% threshold after recording 9.5% health delays in June. This is an increase of 0.7% on last month. The units with the biggest
delays were Herts & Essex (18.1%) ands Danesbury (12.4%) for East and North and Langley (16.8%) for Herts Valley. These three units combined for
358 bed days out of the 502 days lost in June which equates to 71%. The most common delay reasons in June were Patient/family choice (130 days)
and Funding (90 days). When looking at reasons beyond HCT control, i.e. Patient choice or self-funding care for Residential/Nursing Home and
Homecare, the health delays improved to 5.6%. The Red/Green days initiative in under way with support from Emergency care improvement
programme (ECIP) who have indicated that DTOCs could increase this initiative is being rolled out. ECIP have instructed that HCT should be
monitoring stranded patients rather than DTOCs as a truer indicator of patient flow and delays, HCT are therefore working with ECIP to try and define
this.
(P10) Non-Stroke ALOS
HCT were over the ALOS thresholds for Non-stroke patients in June. HCT recorded a ALOS of 30 days for non-stroke patients which was an increase
of three days on previous month. Six patients stayed beyond 80 days or more and of these patients three stayed over 100 days. The longest LOS was
188 days, however of these days the patient was only able to rehab for 51 days due to illness. The overall length of stay improved to 21 days under
the rehab pathway.
(P13) Estimated discharge date (EDD) achievement
The majority of non-met EDD are linked with delayed transfers of care issues with 54% of patients achieving their estimated discharge date. When
patients who did not have a delayed transfer of care are excluded, 75% of patients were discharged on or before their EDD.
(P16) Health Visiting - Average caseload size
Health visiting budgeted caseloads continue to be over the national threshold of <400 at 419. When adjusted figures are taken into account i.e.
maternity leave, long term sickness and team lead/practice teachers management time, caseload figures are 521. Caseloads per health visitor have
increased despite successful recruitment to vacant posts. Most newly recruited staff have to provide three months notice once final offer letter
received. A Product initiation document is being prepared outlining work streams within Health Visiting and development of skill mix teams to free up
more Health Visitors time and improve KPI’s. Over recruitment of 5% permitted for all teams due to average turnover of 2.4 WTE per month. No theme
identified with leavers & often includes retirements. Budgeted Health visitor numbers expected to be at 196.30 WTE by end September/October 2017
with 22.33 WTE new HV starters but 6.93 WTE leavers/retirements. Budgeted Caseload will reduce to 318 without taking into account adjusted figures
for mat leaves and Long term sickness ,Team Leads and Community Practice Teachers.
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Scorecard

Key Messages

Quality KPIs

Performance
KPIs

L&D KPIs

Workforce &
Finance KPIs

Appendices

ACTION
(P21) % of 2.5 year health review undertaken as a proportion of total cohort
Currently HCT are recording HCT 87.96% achievement against the 90% target , a slight increase in performance since last month. All universal plus
and universal partnership plus children continue to be seen within the expected timescales in all localities. The two new Nursery Nurses in North
Herts are currently exclusively undertaking reviews whilst keeping all other children within time scale. There are 90 breaches of universal children
over 2 yrs. 6 months in North Herts. Bank staff & Saturday working are supporting the team whilst anticipated start date for recruited staff is
September 17 onwards. Recovery plan in place to resolve issues by October at latest with additional consideration to use traffic light solution & liaise
with early years settings if outstanding children are in 2 yr. education setting & no concerns.
The Bishop’s Stortford and Ware teams are within four weeks of the delivery timescale. The Bishop’s Stortford Team breaches have improved to 16
with recovery plan to have none by end of August as two extra Nursery Nurse days available. Despite successful recruitment to most teams except
Hemel Hempstead they will all experience summer pressure with at least a 2-3 month time lag between staff leaving and new staff starting which may
further impact KPI delivery during this time frame. Detailed Project Initiation document being prepared to introduce greater skill mix to improve all KPI
performance going forward. This will require considerable service transformation time and improved reporting and weekly check list to keep service
leads and commissioners informed
(P23)% of 1 year health review undertaken as a proportion of total cohort.
HCT are recording 83.5% achievement against the 90% target , a decrease since last month and the first time this KPI has not been met for a few
years. This development contact is currently always carried out by a Health Visitor but future skill mix for Universal families will see the Health Visitor
freed up from this review and an increase in performance expected by October.
(P31, P32) Smoking advice & intervention
HCT are meeting the thresholds for recording smoking status. Referrals to Hertfordshire Stop Smoking Service are still under performing and this is
currently being reviewed and monitored with HCC for 17/18.
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Scorecard

Key Messages

Quality KPIs

Performance
KPIs

L&D KPIs

Workforce &
Finance KPIs

Appendices

ACTION
(P37-P42) Urgent Nursing and Therapy referral priorities
Nursing P2 and Therapies P2 and P3 were not achieved in June. There were a number of reasons for Herts valleys teams including reduced capacity
due to vacancies in the Watford and Dacorum areas, inappropriate referrals and administrative errors in prioritising and recording. To address this
HCT have applied actions as follows:• The nursing teams have just completed SystmOne Refresher training and administrative teams have been tasked with improving data quality, this
is being monitored.
• HCT are exploring the potential for increasing clinician of the day function to increase capacity to triage effectively and work with partners to reduce
inappropriate referrals.
• There is a trend for increased therapy demand in ICTs due to mix of high demand, insufficient established capacity despite the ICT therapy being
close to full establishment in place and decommissioning of the Enhanced Discharge Team. The teams are implementing a range of options such
as blitz clinics and sharing resource in an attempt to equalise resource.
(P43) All data entered on S1 within 24 hours of contact
Currently HCT are recording 85.9% of contacts within 24 hours, a small improvement from previous month. There is a focus to improve the efficiency
of recording and this will be escalated to the Business Units who have access to the information at staff level. The recording improves to 90% at 48
hours of contact.
(P44) End of Life care (EoLC) patients have or have been offered, completed and refused an ACP (Quarterly)
HCT are below the target of 75% with 64.2 % reported for Quarter one. The End of Life (EOL) CQUIN has been added to all clinical trees across
HCT. Education across HCT is still being undertaken by the Macmillan Clinical Educators. HCT have appointed EOL champions in all ICT teams and
other HCT services to increase confidence and uptake. There has been a communications cascade at the Gold standard framework primary care
meetings and if Advanced Care Plan has been completed outside HCT it will be documented.
(P45) Patients dying in their preferred place (Quarterly)
HCT reported 23.9% for patients dying in the preferred place of death in quarter one. There is ongoing transition work in Herts Valley to reduce
duplications and shared records on SystmOne for Specialist Palliative Care providers. Multi-Disciplinary teams are working with ICT teams to
increase and highlight where Preferred place of death is and highlight deteriorating patients.
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Scorecard

Learning & Development

Ref

Key Messages

Indicator

Quality KPIs

Performance
KPIs

2017/18
Current
Target /
period
Threshold performance

L&D KPIs

Workforce &
Finance KPIs

Current
Trend from
Period YTD RAG previous
RAG
month

Appendices

Trend over time











L1

% staff who have undertaken mandatory training

90%

89.7%

A

A

L2

% of eligible staff who have received mandatory fire training in the last
12 months

90%

91.2%

G

G

L3

Patient moving and handling

90%

83.2%

A

A

L4

Infection control

90%

85.3%

A

A

L5

Basic life support

90%

86.3%

A

A

L6

% of eligible staff trained at appropriated level of safeguarding children
in accordance with IC document Level 1, Level 2, Level 3

95%

96.0%

G

G

L7

% of eligible staff who have undertaken safeguarding children
supervision appropriate to their role (Quarterly)

95%

99.0%

G

G

L8

% of staff who have undertaken level 1 /2 safeguarding adults training at
induction

95%

98.1%

G

G

L9

% of staff who have undertaken level 1 / 2 safeguarding adults training
every 3 years

90%

98.4%

G

G

L10

% of all clinical and medical relevant staff (all clinical staff including staff
in supervisory roles requiring a clinical registration) will undertake Level
2 safeguarding adults

90%

96.2%

G

G



L11

Staff undertaken DOLS training in previous 3 years

95%

100.0%

G

G

L12

% of relevant staff who have undertaken MCA training

95%

98.0%

G

G

L13

% of relevant staff who have undertaken PREVENT training

90%

91.8%

G

G

L14

% of staff completing Information Governance training (Rolling Year)

95%

90.9%

A

A

L15

Conflict resolution training

90%

91.1%

G

G







L16

Equality & Diversity Training

90%

93.5%

G

G
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Key Messages

Quality KPIs

Performance
KPIs

L&D KPIs

Workforce &
Finance KPIs

Appendices

L&D EXCEPTION REPORT (16 KPIs RAG RATED)
0
6
10
ACTION
(L1) % staff who have undertaken mandatory training
Mandatory staff training levels dropped to 89.7% and below the 90% target. Performance will be monitored throughout the year to ensure training levels
achieve the required standards.
(L3. L4, L5) Patient Moving & handling, Infection control, Basic Life support
Patient Moving and Handling and basic life support increased in June., however infection control training decreased to 85.3%. HCT will focus on these
KPIs to achieve the 90% targets by end of Q2
(L14) % of staff completing Information Governance training (Rolling Year)
IG training was achieved for 2016-17 and is currently at 90.9% for June. Questionnaire currently being reviewed and refresher reminders sent – the IG
group has asked managers to ensure that all staff have completed their 17/18 training by 31/12/17.
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Scorecard

Workforce & Finance

Ref

Key Messages

Indicator

Quality KPIs

Performance
KPIs

L&D KPIs

Workforce &
Finance KPIs

Appendices

Trend
2017/18
Current
Current period
from
Target /
Period YTD RAG
performance
previous
RAG
Threshold
month

W1

No of Whistle blowing events

For
information

0



W2

Raising Concerns

For
information

1



W3

% of staff who have received an appraisal in the last 12 months

90%

84.62%

W4

Headcount - No of staff

For
information

2803



W5

WTE in post

For
information

2304



W6

No of vacancies
(budgeted WTE - Staff inpost WTE)

For
information

304.0



W7

% posts vacant
(vacant WTE/budgeted WTE).

10%

11.7%

W8

WTE by bank/agency

For
information

259



W9

Bank & Agency spend - percentage of bank spend as percentage
of total pay budget

For
information

12.5%



12%

14.5%

For
information

22.73%

3.6%

3.80%

A

A



A

A

A

A





W10

Underlying Staff turnover (Voluntary resignations excluding
retirements, redundancy and the end of FTCs)

W11

Overall Staff turnover

W12

Absence Rate

W14

Retained Surplus (£000)

£1,747

-£1,669

G

G



W15

Aged Debtors

<=5%

18%

R

R

W16

Capital Plans

100%

14%

R

R




A

A

Trend
over
time
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Scorecard

Key Messages

WORKFORCE & FINANCE EXCEPTION REPORT (7 KPIs RAG RATED)

Quality KPIs

2

Performance
KPIs

L&D KPIs

4

Workforce &
Finance KPIs

Appendices

1

ACTION
(W3) Appraisal Rates
Appraisal rates dropped to 84.6% in June. Appraisal rates have fallen because of a delay in allocation of objectives within the Senior management team
and then onwards cascade. It is anticipated that this will resolve by the end of September. Monitoring and regular training continue.
(W7) % Posts Vacant
The Trust vacancy rate increased from 11.0% to 11.7% In June. A range of recruitment campaigns are planned, using a refreshed recruitment branding. In
addition, a Live Facebook feed to attract candidates is due to take place in July.
(W10) Underlying Staff turnover
The Trust’s underlying turnover figure decreased from 14.8% to 14.5% in June. Activities being worked on include promoting the sabbaticals available to
staff and providing additional support for staff in their first year. In addition, a visit has been arranged to a London Trust to learn about their Nursing Career
Clinics to support internal movement in the Trust to avoid nurses moving elsewhere.
(W12) Absence rate
The Trust’s sickness absence rate decreased from 3.92% to 3.80% in June. In addition to the ongoing management of absence, the Trust’s Health and
Wellbeing work programme for 2017/18 is underway. A range of new initiatives are taking place in the Adult Business Unit, including letters to all staff to
benchmark their absence, plus it has been agreed to reduce the Bradford score target to 100 to give a clear message about expectations.
(W15) Aged Debtors
There was a decrease of £3,466k in the overall level of debt during June 2017. Last month there were a number of block contract invoices for May 2017
which were not paid in the month as normal; these were settled during June as expected. The level of debt over 90 days has increased to £596k and, as
the overall level of debt has decreased, the proportion of this category of debt to overall debt has increased from 5% to 18%.
(W16) Capital Plans
Capital expenditure is £212k at the end of month 3 which is below the Trust's submitted plan for 2017-18. Expenditure to date relates mainly to schemes
which have continued from 2016-17 together with the current year's IT equipment replacement programme. Planned expenditure reflects the capital plan
for 2017-18 as submitted to NHSI. This plan includes additional investment above the level of forecast depreciation.
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June Safe Staffing Community Hospital Dashboard 16-17
Day
Night
Sickness
FALLS Combined
Staff WTE Vacancy
&
% Bank % Agency
FILL RATE FILL RATE FILL RATE
FILL RATE
Hospital/Unit
Bank &
Moderate
Contracted Rate
absence
Use
Use
& Severe
Agency Use
Rate
Registered Unregistered Registered Unregistered
Target
Herts & Essex
QVM
Danesbury
Holywell
Potters Bar
Langley
St Peters Ward
Langton
Nascot Lawn

52.7
42.99
48.55
39.82
56.55
61.92
36.74

37.61%
17.36%
12.74%
23.27%
18.65%
38.51%
23.98%

17

10.59%

6.20%
9.10%
7.40%
15.20%
8.90%
13.80%
12.60%
5.90%
14.60%

29.00%
3.00%
8.00%
16.00%
8.00%
30.00%
12.00%
16.00%
1.00%

35.20%
12.10%
15.40%
31.20%
16.90%
43.80%
24.60%
21.90%
15.60%

≥90%
78.8%
95.8%
93.7%
89.5%
99.0%
98.6%
98.5%
98.4%
127.0%

≥90%
134.0%
101.1%
109.1%
166.9%
124.1%
135.1%
130.6%
106.6%
145.5%

≥90%
97.0%
101.8%
101.7%
100.3%
99.2%
100.0%
98.5%
101.7%
109.2%

≥90%
159.0%
97.1%
108.3%
149.9%
101.7%
150.0%
134.4%
102.0%
100.0%

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

SIs

All
Pressure
Ulcers

HCAIs

Complaints

0
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
1
0
1
0
0

1
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
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Safe Staffing Exception Report
Staffing Levels
Herts and Essex Hospital reported Registered Nurse levels on daytime shifts below the NHS England threshold of 80%. This was due to high vacancy
levels
Vacancy rates
Langley House had a vacancy rate of 38.51% due to existing vacancies and the opening of ten additional beds. Herts & Essex Hospital had a vacancy
rate of 37.61%, with Registered Nurse vacancies equating to 10 whole time equivalents.
Bank & Agency use
Langley required Bank and Agency staff to cover 43.8% of their shifts during June. This was to staff the additional 10 beds and cover existing vacancies,
whilst the unit awaits staff transferring from Langton Ward. Herts & Essex Hospital needed bank and agency staff to cover 35.2% of their shifts. This was
due to high vacancy levels. Holywell required bank and agency staff to cover 31.2% of their shifts. This was to provide cover for one Registered Nurse on
maternity leave, one Health Care assistant on long term sick leave and the need for one to one care for two patients.
Healthcare associated infections HCAIs
Potters Bar Community Hospital had one case of C Difficile during June.
Absence & sickness
Data was unavailable in June due to the reconfiguration of units due to the Sopwell closure. This will be updated and available next month.
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Attachment J5

FINANCE REPORT TO THE STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE
Title:

Month 3 Finance Report (June 2017)

Sponsoring Director:

Director of Finance

Author(s):

Finance Department

Purpose:

The purpose of the report is to provide the Board with HCT’s financial position as at Month 3 – 2017/18.

Action required by the Board:
The Board is asked to note the Trust’s financial position as at 30th June 2017.
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1 Director of Finance Message

The Trust performance against
the control total is £215K behind
plan in month 3 and £482K
behind plan year to date.

The Trust performance against the control total is £215K behind plan in month 3 and £482K behind plan year to date. The overspend is as a result of system wide pressures
relating to the unfunded SACH beds of £465K and pressures with the FIRST service of £60K. As a result of this external system wide pressure, the Trust's single oversight risk
rating has reduced from a 1 to a 3. Furthermore, the Trust has breached the NHSI agency threshold by £178K to date.
An adjustment has been requested to our retained earnings position in quarter one, relating to the transfer of the Parkway property to NHS Property Services. The transfer
was reflected as a £1,206K deficit which is adjusted back in the performance against the control total resulting in zero impact to the Trust for the property transfer.
Due to the above the Trust is reporting a deficit position in month 3 of £1,417K which is £1,416K behind the plan in month. Year to date the Trust is reporting a deficit position
of £1,669K which is £1,689K behind plan.

Year to date the Trust had a
favourable position relating to
Revenue from Patient Care
Activities of £57K.

The year to date CIP delivery for
the Trust as at month 3 is £1,298K
as per plan.

Revenue from Patient Care Activity is behind plan as at month 3 by £57K due to underperformance on CCG income (non block related). Clinical income mainly consists of
block income and therefore only small deviations from budget are expected to materialise during the year.
The income position includes £137K as at month 3 for the planned recognition of the Sustainability and Transformation Fund (STF) allocation. Although the Trust missed the
quarter 1 control total target due to the SACH bed pressures and FIRST service, it is anticipated that the STF income for quarter 1 will be recovered in future months. For this
reason, the total STF income expected for 2017/18 is £916K.

At the end of month 3, the Trust had delivered £1,298K of CIPs against a plan of £1,298K. Of the CIP savings delivered to date, £874K has been delivered non-recurrently and
£424K recurrently. The slippage against the recurrent plan is due to central CIP schemes including the SLA renegotiation and Customer Service Transformation projects.
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Table 1: Income and Expenditure Summary

In Month

INCOME & EXPENDITURE SUMMARY

Year to Date

Budget Actual Variance Budget
£'000

£'000

£'000

Actual

Variance

Budget

Forecast

Variance

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

34,991

34,919

139,374

139,374

0

(114) (103,318) (103,318)

0

Income

11,859 11,760

(99)

Pa y Expendi ture

(8,848) (8,653)

195 (25,991) (26,105)

Non Pa y Expendi ture

(2,618) (2,882)

EBITDA

Forecast

(73)

(264)

(7,650)

(7,975)

(325)

(29,722)

(29,722)

0

(168)

1,351

838

(512)

6,334

6,334

0

393

225

Depreci a ti on

(238)

(278)

(40)

(832)

(832)

(0)

(3,506)

(3,506)

0

Amorti s a ti on

(9)

(19)

(10)

(57)

(57)

(0)

(272)

(272)

0

Profi t/Los s on Di s pos a l

0

8

8

0

8

8

958

958

0

Ga i ns /(l os s es ) from tra ns fers by a bs orpti on

0 (1,206)

(1,206)

0

(1,206)

(1,206)

0

(1,206)

(1,206)

Interes t Recei va bl e
Interes t Pa ya bl e
PDC Di vi dend
Retained Surplus

3

2

(1)

8

7

(1)

31

31

0

(4)

(4)

0

(12)

9

21

(49)

(49)

0

(146)

(146)

0

(437)

(437)

0

(1,749)

(1,749)

0

(1) (1,417)

(1,416)

20

(1,669)

(1,689)

1,747

541

(1,206)

Add ba ck a l l I&E Impa i rments / (revers a l s )

0

0

0

0

0

0

177

177

0

Remove ca pi ta l dona ti ons /gra nts I&E i mpa ct

4

0

(4)

12

13

1

48

48

0

Adjus t (ga i ns )/l os s es on tra ns fers by a bs orpti on

0

1,206

1,206

0

1,206

1,206

0

1,206

1,206

Control Total

3

(212)

(215)

32

(450)

(482)

1,972

1,972

0
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Table 2: Income and Expenditure Performance

The Trust has planned to realise a benefit of £958K in M12 due to the sale of two properties, St Albans Community Health Centre and Grove Hill. The sale of
the two properties was agreed in Capital Plan in December 2016.
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Table 3: Analysis of Continuing Risks and Opportunities to Trust's Financial Position
The Trust is currently forecasting a surplus of £541K. When adjusting for the transfer of the Parkway property to NHSPS and depreciation on donated assets the forecast surplus is £1,972K.
Current risks and opportunities to the Trust 's forecast outturn position are detailed below:
Risk/Opportunity
Risk No.
1

Planned sale of properties does not deliver
expected savings.

RAG
Financial Risk Assessed
Value
Basis for Financial Assessment
Identification Process Rating/Risk Value
Score
£'000
£'000
Capital Plan

5

(958)

Exec
Actions to Mitigate
Lead

(192)

Expected savings calculated by
Financial Accountant and Head of
Estates as per the Estates Strategic Plan

Maintaining and reporting progress
PB in line with the Estates Strategic
Plan

PB Monitoring of CIP schemes

2

Cost Improvement Plans

Monthly Report

5

(1,600)

(320)

Slippage on identified central CIP
schemes including the Lord Carter
Review, Customer Service
Transformation and SLA Renegotiation.

3

100% of CQUIN targets are not achieved.

Monthly Report

6

(100)

(24)

Quarterly reporting

CH

Quarterly monitoring of all
schemes

4

Unfunded Escalation Beds Running Costs until the
Bed Occupancy Report
end of July

9

(1,722)

(620)

Monthly expenditure reporting

PB

Contract negotiations and
discussions with NHSI

5

FIRST Model continues after the initial pilot
period and in excess of budget

Pilot Model Reporting

9

(240)

(86)

Funding source and long term model to
MD Contract Negotiations
be agreed.

6

Rapid Response Service Decommissioning in
October 2017

Contract Negotiations

15

(400)

(240)

Contract Negotiations

Removal of the current service and
PB identifying mitigating actions to
offset the loss in contribution.

7

Contingency

Monthly report

12

500

240

Monthly reporting

PB N/A

(4,520)

(1,242)

Total
RAG Rating Key
RAG Rating

Description
Green
Amber-Green
Amber
Amber-Red
Red

Risk Score
1-3
4-7
8-13
14-17
18-25

-6-

Contents

DoF Message

Clinical Income

Pay

Non Pay

CIP

SOFP

SOF

Glossary

Finance Strategy & Resources Report June 2017 (Month 3)
2 Clinical Income (Patient Care Activity)
The Trust had a year to date adverse position relating to Revenue from Patient Care Activities of £57K and £118K in month 3. Clinical income mainly consists of block income and therefore only small deviations from
budget are expected to materialise during the year.

The trust had a year to date adverse
position relating to Revenue from
Patient Care Activities of £57K.

The adverse position of £57K year to date includes underperformance within Clinical Commissioning Groups relating to Homefirst £80K, ESD £36K, Continuing Carers £50K and £63K for Schools and SLT. This is partly
offset by additional income within Local Authorities for Flu Immunisation income of £30K for the firt 3 months, the PALMS Service and £86K for the Lancaster Model which is offset by expenditure.
In month there was a £200K benefit as a result of a budget adjustment relating to the FIRST Service at Herts Valley for prior months which is offset by corresponding expenditure pay budgets. The remaining
underperformance in income in month is due to the CCG income being behind plan in month by £62K, as explained above.
The income position includes £137K income year to date for the planned recognition of the Sustainability and Transformation Fund (STF) allocation. Although the Trust missed the quarter 1 control total target due to
the SACH bed pressures and FIRST service, it is anticipated that the STF income will be recovered in future months. For this reason, the total STF income expected for 2017/18 is £916K.

Table 4: Income Performance
INCOME PERFORMANCE
Revenue from Patient Care Activity
NHS Engl a nd
NHS Engl a nd (Bl ock)
NHS Trus ts
NHS Trus ts (Bl ock)
Cl i ni ca l Commi s s i oni ng Groups
Cl i ni ca l Commi s s i oni ng Groups (Bl ock)
Founda ti on Trus ts
Loca l Authori ti es
Loca l Authori ti es (Bl ock)
Pri va te Pa ti ents
Injury Cos t Recovery
Non NHS Other Hea l thca re
Total Revenue from Patient Care Activity

Budget
£'000

Budget
£'000

Year to Date
Actual Variance
£'000
£'000

Budget
£'000

Forecast
Forecast Variance
£'000
£'000

5
587
335
359
396
7,862
65
234
1,797
3
2
54
11,697

7
584
134
351
335
7,863
62
373
1,799
3
10
59
11,579

2
(4)
(200)
(8)
(62)
0
(3)
140
2
0
8
5
(118)

14
1,762
404
1,076
1,189
23,606
194
694
5,391
9
5
161
34,505

7
1,762
385
1,053
1,046
23,606
175
857
5,398
7
13
140
34,447

(7)
0
(20)
(23)
(143)
0
(19)
163
7
(2)
8
(21)
(57)

56
7,047
717
4,302
4,757
94,423
776
2,796
21,566
36
20
592
137,088

56
7,047
717
4,302
4,757
94,423
776
2,796
21,566
36
20
592
137,088

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

62
45
55
161

46
45
90
181

(15)
0
35
20

185
137
164
486

138
137
196
471

(47)
0
31
(15)

712
916
658
2,286

712
916
658
2,286

0
0
0
0

TOTAL EBITDA Income

11,859

11,760

(99)

34,991

34,919

(73)

139,374

139,374

0

Inves tment Revenue
Total Income

3
11,861

2
11,762

(1)
(100)

8
34,999

7
34,926

(1)
(73)

31
139,405

31
139,405

0
0

Educa ti on, Tra i ni ng a nd Res ea rch
STF Income
Other Ca s h Revenue
Total Other Operating Revenue
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3 Pay Expenditure

The in month pay position as at
month 3 is £195K favourable and
£114K adverse year to date.

The month 3 agency spend is
£113K above the NHSI threshold
and £178K year to date.

The Trust posted a pay expenditure underspend of £195K in month 3 and £114K overspend year to date. The pay underspend in-month is mainly as a result of a
budget adjustment of £200K for the FIRST service which related to the first quarter. The year to date variance remains adverse and is directly as a result of the SACH
beds overspend of £465K and the pressure within the FIRST service of £60K. The Trust has breached the agency NHSI threshold by £133K in month and £178K year to
date as a result of theses external pressures. It is expected that this cost pressure will continue until the end of July 2017. Discussions are taking place with
commissioners and NHSI to secure funding towards the external system wide pressures which are outside of the control of the organisation. Pay pressures in month
are offset by the continuing vacancies and underspends within the ICT specialties.

The Trust had an under-establishment of 296 wte in month 3 of which 257 wte was covered by temporary Bank and Agency staff.
Children's Services are under-established in month by 56 wte of which 21 wte was covered by temporary Bank and Agency staff, a reduction of 13% compared to
month 2. Vacancies continue within School Nursing, Health Visiting, Dental, Continuing Care Carers and SLT.
Corporate Services are under-established by 1 wte of which 9 wte were covered by temporary Bank and Agency staff. The over establishment is as result of
additional interim staff within Estates and the Business Development Team to support the tender submissions.
Adults Services are under-established by 238 wte of which 226 wte were covered by temporary Bank and Agency staff. Recruitment is anticipated to Integrated
Community Teams and Specialist Services vacancies, whilst pressures remain on the bed based units.

Table 5: Pay Cost by Business Unit

Children's Services
Core Adult Services
Corporate Services
Total Pay

WTE In Month
Budget Actual Variance
811.15 776.29
34.86
1,672.02 1,659.76
12.26
161.38 169.23
(7.85)
2,644.55 2,605.28
39.27

In Month £'000
Budget Actual Variance
2,619 2,538
81
5,472 5,311
161
757 805
(48)
8,848 8,653
195

Year to Date £'000
Budget Actual Variance
7,865 7,594
271
15,858 16,173
(316)
2,268 2,338
(70)
25,991 26,105
(114)

Forecast £'000
Budget Forecast Variance
31,552 31,552
0
62,921 62,921
0
8,845
8,845
0
103,318 103,318
0
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Table 6: Bank & Agency by Division

Chi l drens Servi ces
Core Adul t Servi ces
Corpora te Servi ces
Total Pay

Bank & Agency WTE
In Month £'000
Ba nk Agency Ba nk
Agency
6.56
14.68
18
86
54.49 171.72
166
682
1.78
7.45
2
71
62.83 193.85
185
839

Year to Date £'000
Ba nk Agency
64
263
612
1,921
6
173
682
2,356

NHS/Target £000
YTD Ful l Yea r
242
968
1,722
6,889
213
853
2,178
8,710

The Trust agency spend has exceeded the NHSI Agency Ceiling threshold by £113K in month and £178K year to date. The agency spend is driven by the
continued bed pressures for both permanent beds and escalation beds and the FIRST Service.
Medical Agency spend reduced in month 3 after a detailed review of expenditure within Community Medical Staffing and HMP The Mount. As a result the
Trust is below the NHSI Medical Agency Ceiling threshold by £31K in month and £43K YTD. The full year target for the medical and dental agency spend is
£811K.
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Table 7: Pay Spend by staff group (including Bank & Agency staff)

WTE in Month
Budget Actual
Variance
Admi ni s tra ti ve & Cl eri ca l
501.92 508.61
(6.69)
Medi ca l & Denta l Sta ff
64.47
63.88
0.59
Nurs i ng
980.22 948.56
31.66
Other Cl i ni ca l
501.06 508.29
(7.23)
Sci enti fi c, Thera peuti c & Techni ca l
596.88 575.94
20.94
Total Pay
2,644.55 2,605.28
39.27

In Month £'000
Year to Date £'000
Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance
1,575 1,642
(67)
4,620 4,800
(180)
464
382
82
1,391 1,321
70
3,398 3,391
7 10,197 10,118
79
1,266 1,120
146
3,346 3,505
(159)
2,145 2,118
27
6,437 6,361
76
8,848 8,653
195 25,991 26,105
(114)

Forecast £'000
Budget Forecast Variance
18,081 18,081
0
5,578
5,578
0
41,015 41,015
0
12,724 12,724
0
25,920 25,920
0
103,318 103,318
0

Table 8: In Month, Budget vs Actual WTE Analysis by Service (excluding Bank & Agency staff)

Budget
WTE

Actual
WTE

Under
/(Over)

%

Clinical Management

13.16

16.33

(3.17)

(24.09%)

Community Hospitals

149.89

126.68

23.21

15.48%

Corporate Services

202.84

186.32

16.52

8.14%

Health Visitors & School Nursing

349.75

321.42

28.33

8.10%

Integrated Community Teams

850.05

701.08

148.97

17.52%

Other Clinical Adult Services

665.63

538.19

127.44

19.15%

Other Clinical Children's Services

172.32

157.49

14.83

8.61%

Other Services

(58.02)

12.46

(70.48)

121.48%

35.53

30.33

5.20

14.64%

263.60

258.50

5.10

1.93%

2,644.75

2,348.80

295.95

11.19%

Specialised Services
Therapies
Total Pay

Other Services includes 70.24 wte budget reductions for decommissioned services and 18.27 wte within Therapies budget for Unallocated CIPS mostly
related to the CST scheme. These negative budgets are planned to be distributed within existing services during the forthcoming months.
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Table 9: WTE Budget vs Actual
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4 Non Pay Expenditure
Non-pay recorded a £264K
overspend in month 3 and a £325K
overspend year to date.

The Trust has delivered an unfavourable non-pay expenditure variance of £264K in month 3 and £325K year to date.
The unfavourable variance within Premises includes interserve additional works of £50K and business rates cost pressures of £50K within the Estates Business Unit
relating to the first Quarter of the year. Trust SLA's contributed another £98K overspend in month, the remaining overspend is mainly linked to slippage on service
reconfiguration schemes.
The overspend of £83K in month within Other Non Pay relates to increased Management Consultancy costs for the Trust tender submission of £27K, slippage on CIPS
including CST schemes of £68K in month, £203K year to date and £27K redundancy costs. The overspend is offset by the release of the bad debt provisions resulting in
a year to date overspend of £13K.
Furthermore, the overspend of £150k year to date in Supplies and Services - Clinical is driven by incontinence supplies of £17k in month, £78k year to date, radiology
spend of £8k in month, £27k year to date, clinical supervisor costs of £16k in month and increased instrument and equipment costs of £22k in month and £41k year to
date. The adverse position has been partly offset by underspends with contingency reserves. The reserves funding is planned to be allocated out in future months as
and when the expenditure is incurred.

Table 11: Non Pay Analysis

Supplies & Services - Clinical
Supplies & Services - General
Establishment*
Premises (incl. business rates)
Drugs
Insurance, Audit & Legal Fees
Other**
Total Non Pay

In Month £'000
Budget Actual Variance
588 653
(65)
96 111
(15)
548 485
63
920 1,112
(192)
45
35
10
30
13
17
390 473
(83)
2,618 2,882
(264)

Year to Date £'000
Forecast (£'000)
Budget Actual Variance Budget Forecast Variance
1,762 1,912
(150)
7,035
7,035
0
289 297
(8)
1,155
1,155
0
1,825 1,787
38
7,043
7,043
0
2,761 3,003
(242) 11,043 11,043
0
136 112
24
543
543
0
90
64
26
360
360
0
787 800
(13)
2,543
2,543
0
7,650 7,975
(325) 29,722 29,722
0

* This includes: Management Consultancy, Mental Health Contracts, Patient Transport/Ambulance Services, Pharmacy Contracts, Recharge - Estates, SLA,
Recharge - Procurement, Substance Abuse Contracts, Training - Other Training Staff.
** This includes: Computer Maintenance, Hire of Premises, Lease Cars, Miscellaneous Expenses, Mobile Phone Costs, Operational Services, Postage Franking Costs, Telephone Costs.
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5 CIP
At the end of month 3, the Trust had delivered £1,298K of CIPs against a plan of £1,298K. Of the CIP savings delivered to date, £874K has been delivered nonrecurrently and £424K recurrently. The slippage against the recurrent plan is mainly due to central CIP schemes including the SLA renegotiation and
Customer Service Transformation projects as well as schemes within the Corporate and Estates Business Unit.

The year to date CIP delivery for the
Trust as at month 3 is £1,298k as per
plan.

Business Units are working closely with the Project Management Office to closely manage deviations from plan and over recover CIPs in future months.

Table 12: CIP by Programme

In Month £'000
Actual
Variance

Plan
Operational Productivity
Lord Carter Review
SLA Review
Customer Service Transformation
Other Savings plans
Estates & Infrastructure
Total CIPs

192
50
42
42
95
12
433

95
635

224
32
(42)
()
(12)
202

In Month £'000
Actual
Variance

Table 13: CIP by Business Unit
Plan
Children's Services
Adults Services
Corporate & Estates
Total CIPs

416
50
74

59
109
265
433

70
109
456
635

11
191
202

Table 15: Cumulative CIP Performance
Year to Date £'000
Plan
Actual
Variance
576
150
125
125
285
36
1,298

788
150
74
285

212
(51)
(125)
()
(36)

1,298

Year to Date £'000
Actual
Variance

Plan

176
326
796
1,298

176
326
796
1,298

Forecast Year End Achievement £'000
Plan
Actual
Variance
2,304
600
500
500
1,141
145
5,190

2,304
600
500
500
1,141
145
5,190

-

Forecast Year End Achievement £'000
Plan
Actual
Variance
704
1,302
3,184
5,190

704
1,302
3,184
5,190

-

Table 14: CIP by Business Unit - Recurrent/Non Recurrent

In Month Actual £'000
Recurrent Non Recurrent Total

Children's Services
Adults Services
Corporate & Estates
Total CIPs
Contents

66
95
161

DoF Message

4
13
456
474

Year to Date £'000
Recurrent Non Recurrent Total
70
109
456
635

163
261

13
64
797
874

424

Clinical Income

Pay

176
326
797
1,298

Forecast Year End Achievement £'000
Recurrent Non Recurrent Total
704
1,302
1,543
3,549
Non Pay

704
1,302
3,184
5,190

1,641
1,641
CIP

SOFP

SOF
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6 Statement of Financial Position
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Table 16: Statement of Financial Position
Statement of Financial Position

Opening Balance
£000's

Closing Balance
£000's

Forecast
£000's

595

530

357

60,087
60,682

58,194
58,724

63,036
63,393

Trade and Other Receivables: NHS

5,405

3,976

2,126

Trade and Other Receivables: Non NHS

1,204

3,422

474

18,772
1
25,382

16,693
2
24,093

21,644
0
24,244

(336)

(77)

(298)

(13,601)

(12,343)

(13,758)

(176)

(176)

(176)

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Intangible Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment
TOTAL Non Current Assets
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and Cash Equivalents: GBS/NLF
Cash and Cash Equivalents: Other
TOTAL Current Assets
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and Other Payables: Capital
Trade and Other Payables: Non Capital
Borrowings
Provisions
Other Liabilities: Deferred Income
Total Current Liabilities
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Borrowings
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities
TOTAL NET ASSETS EMPLOYED
Financed by:
Public Dividend Capital
Revaluation Reserve
Other Reserves
Income and Expenditure Reserve
TOTAL TAXPAYERS' AND OTHERS' EQUITY

Contents

DoF Message

(144)

(121)

(245)

(1,405)
(15,662)
70,402

(1,388)
(14,105)
68,712

(1,244)
(15,721)
71,916

(2,532)
(1,031)
(3,563)
66,839

(2,532)
(1,009)
(3,541)
65,171

(2,356)
(653)
(3,009)
68,907

1,131
17,221
4,946
43,541

1,131
17,193
4,947
41,900

1,131
18,996
4,947
43,833

66,839

Clinical Income

65,171

Pay

Non Current Assets have reduced in value due to the transfer of Parkway to NHS Property
Services and the disposal of IT equipment; additionally the depreciation charge is currently
greater than expenditure from the capital programme for 2017-18.

The settlement of a number of outstanding prior year invoices has reduced NHS
receivables.
The increase is due to the delayed payment of one high value block contract invoice and an
increase in the value of month end reporting income accruals.
Cash balances have reduced as a result of the settlement of prior year NHS Property
Services invoices and the delayed receipt of one high value block contract invoice.

The fall in capital payables refIects the reduced capital programme at the start of 2017-18.
The payment of a number of outstanding prior year NHS Property Services invoices has
reduced payables overall.
One of the provisions held was utilised during May.
The movement in deferred income reflects adjustments made during in year reporting.

Unwinding of the discount.

The transfer of the balance for Parkway to the Income and Expenditure Reserve.
The movement on the Income and Expenditure Reserve relates to the operating surplus for
June 2017 less the transfer of the Revaluation Reserve balance for Parkway.

68,907

Non Pay

CIP

SOFP

SOF
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Table 17: Cash Flow Statement
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Cashflow Statement
Plan
£'000

Year to Date
Actual
£'000

Variance
£'000

463
885
0
1,348

(50)
889
0
839

(513)
4
0
(509)

Movements in working capital
(Increase)/Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables
Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables
Increase/(Decrease) in Movement in Provisions
Net Cash Flows from working capital

329
225
(8)
546

(957)
(1,154)
24
(2,088)

(1,286)
(1,379)
32
(2,634)

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities

1,894

(1,249)

(3,143)

Interest Received
(Payments) for Property, Plant and Equipment
(Payments) for Intangible Assets
Proceeds from sales of PPE and investment property
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Investing Activities

8
(894)
0
0
(886)

7
(471)
0
84
(380)

(1)
423
0
84
422

Loans from Department of Health - repaid
Interest Paid
Dividend (Paid)/Refunded
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Financing Activities

0
(12)
0
(12)

0
(12)
(437)
(449)

0
0
(437)
(437)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

996

(2,078)

(3,158)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the Period

17,061

18,773

1,712

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the period

18,057

16,695

(1,446)

Plan
22

Year to Date
Actual
26

Variance
4

Operating Surplus/(Deficit)
Depreciation and Amortisation
Impairments and Reversals
Operating Cashflow before working capital

Liquidity Ratio (days)
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Table 18: Capital Expenditure
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Capital Expenditure by Programme
Year to Date
Actual

Variance

Plan

Forecast

Variance

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

500
545
322
117
1,484

Hemel Hub
Estates Schemes 2017-18
IT 2017-18
Medical Equipment 2017-18

Year End

Plan

22
67
120
3
212

478
478
202
114
1,272

1,500
2,465
1,240
170
5,375

1,882
618
700
200
3,400

(382)
1,847
540
(30)
1,975

Capital Expenditure by Programme
Year to Date

IT Schemes
ESR to AD
Replacement IT equipment > 5 yrs
Video Conferencing
WHHT - Replacement IT equipment > 5yrs
Unallocated - not yet approved
Medical Equipment
Domicilary Dental Equipment
Ultrasound Machine
Trust Wide Equipment
Hemel Hub
Unallocated - not yet approved
Estates Schemes
Hemel Hub
Potters Bar lift refurbishment
HC Cycle Shed
Harpenden Redevelopment
Elstree Way Redevelopment
Potters Bar Alternative Lift
Staffing
Contingency
Disposal adjustments

Year End

Plan

Actual

Variance

Plan

Forecast

Variance

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

322

114
3

500
21
13
26
13
3

120

25
230
164
96
725

25
230
164
96
185

540

17
10
67
76

17
10
67
76
30

(30)

114
3

22
21
13
17
13
3

469
1,484

202

212

478

469

1,500
38
13
114
50
108
124
2,018

1,272

5,375

9

1,882
38
13
114
47
108
124
250
(76)
3,400

1,465
1,975

• Capital expenditure is £212k at the end of month 3 which is below the Trust's submitted plan for 2017-18.
Expenditure to date relates mainly to schemes which have continued from 2016-17 together with the current
year's IT equipment replacement programme.
• Planned expenditure reflects the capital plan for 2017-18 as submitted to NHSI. This plan includes additional
investment above the level of forecast depreciation; until authorisation has been obtained for the additional
investment the Trust has allocated a capital programme which reflects depreciation only.
• The Trust can add the net book value of disposals from the Fixed Asset Register within year to the capital
programme but for reporting purposes this is deducted to arrive at the agreed Capital Resource Limit. In 201718 to date HCT has disposals of £76k which means that the Trust is able to spend £3,476k on capital schemes.
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Table 19: Receivables Age Analysis
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0-30 Days £000's

Debtor Type

31-60 Days
£000's

61-90 Days
£000's

> 90 Days £000's

Total Debt £000's

% Total Debt

NHS CCGs

443

256

152

222

1,073

33%

NHS Other

224

47

146

299

715

22%

Non NHS

1,298

28

97

76

1,498

46%

Total

1,965

331

395

596

3,287

100%

Percentage of total debt
Movement in Month £000

60%

10%

12%

18%

100%

(109)

(3,390)

(223)

255

(3,466)

There was a decrease of £3,466k in the overall level of debt during June 2017. Last month there were a number of block
contract invoices for May 2017 which were not paid in the month as normal; these were settled during June as expected. The
level of debt over 90 days has increased to £596k and as the overall level of debt has decreased, the proportion of this category
of debt to overall debt has increased from 5% to 18%. Two longstanding issues remain for debts over 90 days - firstly total debt
with the Royal Free FT stands at £259k (relating in the main to rental) and secondly invoices raised to local authorities in
respect of GUM activity. Both these issues continue to be actively pursued for resolution. The activity data which is needed to
support the GUM invoices has been received in part and the final element is being followed up. An additional invoice which
has moved into the over 90 day category is one with East and North Herts CCG for 2016-17 CQUIN - this invoice has been agreed
and payment is anticipated shortly.

Table 20: Graphical Receivables Age Analysis

Contents

DoF Message

Clinical Income

Table 21: Receivables Debt Analysis

Pay

Non Pay

CIP

SOFP

SOF

Glossary

Finance Strategy & Resources Report June 2017 (Month 3)
Table 22: BPPC Performance
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Target
% Volume
% Value
Monthly
Target
% Volume
% Value

April
95%
94%
98%

May
95%
91%
76%

June
95%
92%
82%

July
95%

Aug
95%

Sept
95%

Oct
95%

Nov
95%

Dec
95%

Jan
95%

Feb
95%

Mar
95%

April
95%
94%
98%

May
95%
88%
64%

June
95%
94%
99%

July
95%

Aug
95%

Sept
95%

Oct
95%

Nov
95%

Dec
95%

Jan
95%

Feb
95%

Mar
95%

BPPC performance during June has improved for both volume and value at 94% and 99% respectively. This has improved the cumulative performance
although it is still below target for volume and value at 92% and 82% respectively. It was the settlement of a number of high value NHS Property Services
invoices in May which caused the reduced performance.
The Trust follows up those authorisers who are holding up payment of invoices, addresses any training isues and identifies any invoices on hold for
unjustifiable reasons.

Table 23: Cash Performance and Rolling Projection

Cash Performance and Rolling Projection
£23,000
£21,000
£19,000
£17,000
£15,000
£13,000
£11,000
£9,000
£7,000
Apr May Jun
16 16 16

Jul
16

Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun
16 16
16 16 16
17 17 17
17 17 17
Plan

Actual

Jul
17

Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
17 17
17 17 17
18 18 18

Forecast

The cash balance of £16,695k at the end of June 2017 is below the planned figure for the year. The settlement of a few high value block
contract invoices, outstanding at the end of May, has increased the cash balance bringing it back closer to the plan. One block contract
invoice remains outstanding at the end of June and is expected to be settled in July. The liquidity ratio remains above plan at 26 days. This
is due to working capital balances and operating expenses being more favourable than originally forecast.
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The Single Oversight Framework
Risk Rating for the Trust is 3.

7 Single Oversight Framework (SOF)
The Single Oversight Framework Risk Rating (SOF) is the NHS Improvement’s approach, to overseeing NHS providers. The SOF
assesses the financial performance of providers via the “Use of Resources Metrics (UOR)” comprising the following five
metrics:
• Liquidity Ratio
• Capital Servicing Capacity
• I&E Margin
• I&E Distance from Plan
• Agency
The overall metric is calculated by attaching a 20% weighting to each category.
The Single oversight risk rating for the Trust as at month 3 is 3 due to the continued system wide bed pressures which has
resulted in the I&E margin being off plan, the distance from the plan being above the tolerance threshold and the breach
against the NHSI agency ceiling limit. The Trust is the forecasting to achieve the year end control totoal and risk rating of 1 as
per the plan.

Table 24: Single Oversight Risk Rating

Plan
Capital service cover rating
Liquidity rating
I&E margin rating
Distance from financial plan
Agency rating

Actual
YTD

1
1
2

2
1
4

1
1
1

3
1

Overall Rating
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8 Glossary

DoLs - Deprivation of Liberty Safeguarding
CQUIN - Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
IDAT - Integrated Discharge and Admissions Team
CCG - Clinical Commissioning Group
MEN C - Meningococcal C
PALMS - Positive Behaviour Autism Learning Disability and Mental Health Service
NHSI - National Health Service Improvement
CIP - Cost Improvement Programme
OT - Occupational Therapy
PT - Physio Therapy
CAPEX - Capital Expenditure Programme
ICT - Integrated Community Teams
BUPR - Business Unit Performance Review
ENHT - East and North Herts Trust
FP10 - Community Prescription
BPPC - Better Payment Practice Code
SACH - St Alban's Community Hospital
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Board 27th July 2017

Attchment J6

Attachment J7

for England
26 March 2013
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The NHS Constitution

The NHS belongs to the people.
It is there to improve our health and wellbeing, supporting us to keep
mentally and physically well, to get better when we are ill and, when
we cannot fully recover, to stay as well as we can to the end of our
lives. It works at the limits of science – bringing the highest levels of
human knowledge and skill to save lives and improve health.
It touches our lives at times of basic human need, when care and
compassion are what matter most.
The NHS is founded on a common set of principles and values
that bind together the communities and people it serves – patients
and public – and the staff who work for it.
This Constitution establishes the principles and values of the
NHS in England. It sets out rights to which patients, public and staff
are entitled, and pledges which the NHS is committed to achieve,
together with responsibilities, which the public, patients and staff
owe to one another to ensure that the NHS operates fairly and
effectively. The Secretary of State for Health, all NHS bodies, private
and voluntary sector providers supplying NHS services, and local
authorities in the exercise of their public health functions are required
by law to take account of this Constitution in their decisions and
actions. References in this document to the NHS and NHS services
include local authority public health services, but references to NHS
bodies do not include local authorities. Where there are differences
of detail these are explained in the Handbook to the Constitution.
The Constitution will be renewed every 10 years, with the
involvement of the public, patients and staff. It is accompanied by
the Handbook to the NHS Constitution, to be renewed at least every
three years, setting out current guidance on the rights, pledges,
duties and responsibilities established by the Constitution. These
requirements for renewal are legally binding. They guarantee that the
principles and values which underpin the NHS are subject to regular
review and recommitment; and that any government which seeks to
alter the principles or values of the NHS, or the rights, pledges, duties
and responsibilities set out in this Constitution, will have to engage in
a full and transparent debate with the public, patients and staff.

Principles that guide the NHS
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1. Principles that guide the NHS
Seven key principles guide the NHS in all it does. They are underpinned
by core NHS values which have been derived from extensive discussions
with staff, patients and the public. These values are set out in the next
section of this document.

1. The NHS provides a
comprehensive service, available
to all irrespective of gender, race,
disability, age, sexual orientation,
religion, belief, gender reassignment,
pregnancy and maternity or marital
or civil partnership status. The service
is designed to diagnose, treat and
improve both physical and mental
health. It has a duty to each and
every individual that it serves and
must respect their human rights.
At the same time, it has a wider
social duty to promote equality
through the services it provides and
to pay particular attention to groups
or sections of society where
improvements in health and life
expectancy are not keeping pace
with the rest of the population.
2. Access to NHS services is based
on clinical need, not an
individual’s ability to pay. NHS
services are free of charge, except in
limited circumstances sanctioned by
Parliament.
3. The NHS aspires to the highest
standards of excellence and
professionalism – in the provision
of high quality care that is safe,
effective and focused on patient

experience; in the people it employs,
and in the support, education,
training and development they
receive; in the leadership and
management of its organisations;
and through its commitment to
innovation and to the promotion,
conduct and use of research to
improve the current and future health
and care of the population. Respect,
dignity, compassion and care should
be at the core of how patients and
staff are treated not only because
that is the right thing to do but
because patient safety, experience
and outcomes are all improved when
staff are valued, empowered and
supported.
4. The NHS aspires to put
patients at the heart of
everything it does. It should
support individuals to promote and
manage their own health. NHS
services must reflect, and should be
coordinated around and tailored to,
the needs and preferences of
patients, their families and their
carers. Patients, with their families
and carers, where appropriate, will
be involved in and consulted on all
decisions about their care and
treatment. The NHS will actively

3
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The NHS Constitution

encourage feedback from the public,
patients and staff, welcome it and
use it to improve its services.
5. The NHS works across
organisational boundaries and in
partnership with other
organisations in the interest of
patients, local communities and
the wider population. The NHS is
an integrated system of organisations
and services bound together by the
principles and values reflected in the
Constitution. The NHS is committed
to working jointly with other local
authority services, other public sector
organisations and a wide range of
private and voluntary sector
organisations to provide and
deliver improvements in health
and wellbeing.
6. The NHS is committed to
providing best value for
taxpayers’ money and the most
effective, fair and sustainable use
of finite resources. Public funds for
healthcare will be devoted solely to
the benefit of the people that the
NHS serves.

7. The NHS is accountable to the
public, communities and patients
that it serves. The NHS is a national
service funded through national
taxation, and it is the Government
which sets the framework for the
NHS and which is accountable to
Parliament for its operation.
However, most decisions in the NHS,
especially those about the treatment
of individuals and the detailed
organisation of services, are rightly
taken by the local NHS and by
patients with their clinicians.
The system of responsibility and
accountability for taking decisions in
the NHS should be transparent and
clear to the public, patients and staff.
The Government will ensure that
there is always a clear and up-to-date
statement of NHS accountability for
this purpose.

NHS values
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2. NHS values
Patients, public and staff have helped develop this expression of values
that inspire passion in the NHS and that should underpin everything it
does. Individual organisations will develop and build upon these values,
tailoring them to their local needs. The NHS values provide common
ground for co-operation to achieve shared aspirations, at all levels of
the NHS.

Working together for patients.
Patients come first in everything we
do. We fully involve patients, staff,
families, carers, communities, and
professionals inside and outside the
NHS. We put the needs of patients
and communities before
organisational boundaries. We speak
up when things go wrong.
Respect and dignity. We value
every person – whether patient, their
families or carers, or staff – as an
individual, respect their aspirations
and commitments in life, and seek
to understand their priorities, needs,
abilities and limits. We take what
others have to say seriously. We are
honest and open about our point of
view and what we can and cannot
do.
Commitment to quality of care.
We earn the trust placed in us by
insisting on quality and striving to get
the basics of quality of care – safety,
effectiveness and patient experience
– right every time. We encourage and
welcome feedback from patients,
families, carers, staff and the public.
We use this to improve the care we
provide and build on our successes.

Compassion. We ensure that
compassion is central to the care we
provide and respond with humanity
and kindness to each person’s pain,
distress, anxiety or need. We search
for the things we can do, however
small, to give comfort and relieve
suffering. We find time for patients,
their families and carers, as well as
those we work alongside. We do not
wait to be asked, because we care.
Improving lives. We strive to improve
health and wellbeing and people’s
experiences of the NHS. We cherish
excellence and professionalism
wherever we find it – in the everyday
things that make people’s lives better
as much as in clinical practice, service
improvements and innovation. We
recognise that all have a part to play in
making ourselves, patients and our
communities healthier.
Everyone counts. We maximise our
resources for the benefit of the whole
community, and make sure nobody is
excluded, discriminated against or left
behind. We accept that some people
need more help, that difficult
decisions have to be taken – and that
when we waste resources we waste
opportunities for others.

5
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3a. Patients and the public – your rights and NHS
pledges to you
Everyone who uses the NHS should understand what legal rights they
have. For this reason, important legal rights are summarised in this
Constitution and explained in more detail in the Handbook to the NHS
Constitution, which also explains what you can do if you think you have
not received what is rightfully yours. This summary does not alter your
legal rights.
The Constitution also contains pledges that the NHS is committed to
achieve. Pledges go above and beyond legal rights. This means that
pledges are not legally binding but represent a commitment by the NHS
to provide comprehensive high quality services.

Access to health services:
You have the right to receive NHS
services free of charge, apart from
certain limited exceptions sanctioned
by Parliament.
You have the right to access NHS
services. You will not be refused
access on unreasonable grounds.
You have the right to expect your
NHS to assess the health
requirements of your community and
to commission and put in place the
services to meet those needs as
considered necessary, and in the
case of public health services
commissioned by local authorities,
to take steps to improve the health
of the local community.
You have the right, in certain
circumstances, to go to other
European Economic Area countries or
Switzerland for treatment which
would be available to you through
your NHS commissioner.

You have the right not to be
unlawfully discriminated against in
the provision of NHS services
including on grounds of gender, race,
disability, age, sexual orientation,
religion, belief, gender reassignment,
pregnancy and maternity or marital
or civil partnership status.
You have the right to access certain
services commissioned by NHS bodies
within maximum waiting times, or for
the NHS to take all reasonable steps
to offer you a range of suitable
alternative providers if this is not
possible. The waiting times are
described in the Handbook to the
NHS Constitution.
The NHS also commits:
• to provide convenient, easy access
to services within the waiting
times set out in the Handbook to
the NHS Constitution (pledge);
• to make decisions in a clear and
transparent way, so that patients

Patients and the public – your rights and NHS pledges to you

and the public can understand
how services are planned and
delivered (pledge); and
• to make the transition as smooth
as possible when you are referred
between services, and to put you,
your family and carers at the
centre of decisions that affect you
or them (pledge).

Quality of care and
environment:
You have the right to be treated
with a professional standard of care,
by appropriately qualified and
experienced staff, in a properly
approved or registered organisation
that meets required levels of safety
and quality.
You have the right to expect NHS
bodies to monitor, and make efforts
to improve continuously, the quality
of healthcare they commission or
provide. This includes improvements
to the safety, effectiveness and
experience of services.
The NHS also commits:
• to ensure that services are
provided in a clean and safe
environment that is fit for purpose,
based on national best practice
(pledge);

• that if you are admitted to
hospital, you will not have to share
sleeping accommodation with
patients of the opposite sex,
except where appropriate, in line
with details set out in the
Handbook to the NHS
Constitution (pledge).

Nationally approved
treatments, drugs and
programmes:
You have the right to drugs and
treatments that have been
recommended by NICE1 for use in
the NHS, if your doctor says they are
clinically appropriate for you.
You have the right to expect local
decisions on funding of other drugs
and treatments to be made rationally
following a proper consideration of
the evidence. If the local NHS decides
not to fund a drug or treatment you
and your doctor feel would be right
for you, they will explain that
decision to you.
You have the right to receive the
vaccinations that the Joint Committee
on Vaccination and Immunisation
recommends that you should receive
under an NHS-provided national
immunisation programme.

• to identify and share best practice
in quality of care and treatments
(pledge); and
1

|

NICE (the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence) is an independent organisation
producing guidance on drugs and treatments. ‘Recommended for use by NICE’ refers to a type of
NICE recommendation set out in legislation. The relevant health body is obliged to fund specified
NICE recommendations from a date no longer than three months from the publication of the
recommendation unless, in certain limited circumstances, a longer period is specified.
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The NHS also commits:
• to provide screening programmes
as recommended by the UK
National Screening Committee
(pledge).

Respect, consent and
confidentiality:
You have the right to be treated
with dignity and respect, in
accordance with your human rights.
You have the right to accept or
refuse treatment that is offered to
you, and not to be given any physical
examination or treatment unless you
have given valid consent. If you do
not have the capacity to do so,
consent must be obtained from a
person legally able to act on your
behalf, or the treatment must be in
your best interests.2
You have the right to be given
information about the test and
treatment options available to you,
what they involve and their risks and
benefits.

You have the right to request that
your confidential information is not
used beyond your own care and
treatment and to have your
objections considered, and where
your wishes cannot be followed,
to be told the reasons including the
legal basis.
The NHS also commits:
• to ensure those involved in your
care and treatment have access to
your health information so they
can care for you safely and
effectively (pledge);
• to anonymise the information
collected during the course of your
treatment and use it to support
research and improve care for
others (pledge);
• where identifiable information has
to be used, to give you the chance
to object wherever possible
(pledge);
• to inform you of research studies
in which you may be eligible to
participate (pledge); and

You have the right of access to
your own health records and to have
any factual inaccuracies corrected.

• to share with you any
correspondence sent between
clinicians about your care (pledge).

You have the right to privacy and
confidentiality and to expect the NHS
to keep your confidential information
safe and secure.

Informed choice:

You have the right to be informed
about how your information is used.
2

You have the right to choose your
GP practice, and to be accepted by
that practice unless there are
reasonable grounds to refuse, in
which case you will be informed of
those reasons.

If you are detained in hospital or on supervised community treatment under the Mental Health
Act 1983 different rules may apply to treatment for your mental disorder. These rules will be
explained to you at the time. They may mean that you can be given treatment for your mental
disorder even though you do not consent.

Patients and the public – your rights and NHS pledges to you

You have the right to express a
preference for using a particular
doctor within your GP practice, and
for the practice to try to comply.
You have the right to make choices
about the services commissioned by
NHS bodies and to information to
support these choices. The options
available to you will develop over
time and depend on your individual
needs. Details are set out in the
Handbook to the NHS Constitution.
The NHS also commits:
• to inform you about the
healthcare services available to
you, locally and nationally
(pledge); and
• to offer you easily accessible,
reliable and relevant information in
a form you can understand, and
support to use it. This will enable
you to participate fully in your
own healthcare decisions and to
support you in making choices.
This will include information on
the range and quality of clinical
services where there is robust and
accurate information available
(pledge).

Involvement in your
healthcare and in the NHS:
You have the right to be involved
in discussions and decisions about
your health and care, including your
end of life care, and to be given
information to enable you to do this.
Where appropriate this right includes
your family and carers.

You have the right to be involved,
directly or through representatives,
in the planning of healthcare services
commissioned by NHS bodies, the
development and consideration of
proposals for changes in the way
those services are provided, and in
decisions to be made affecting the
operation of those services.
The NHS also commits:
• to provide you with the
information and support you need
to influence and scrutinise the
planning and delivery of NHS
services (pledge);
• to work in partnership with you,
your family, carers and
representatives (pledge);
• to involve you in discussions about
planning your care and to offer
you a written record of what is
agreed if you want one (pledge);
and
• to encourage and welcome
feedback on your health and care
experiences and use this to
improve services (pledge).

Complaint and redress:
You have the right to have any
complaint you make about NHS
services acknowledged within three
working days and to have it properly
investigated.

|
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You have the right to discuss the
manner in which the complaint is to
be handled, and to know the period
within which the investigation is
likely to be completed and the
response sent.
You have the right to be kept
informed of progress and to know
the outcome of any investigation into
your complaint, including an
explanation of the conclusions and
confirmation that any action needed
in consequence of the complaint
has been taken or is proposed to
be taken.
You have the right to take your
complaint to the independent
Parliamentary and Health Service
Ombudsman or Local Government
Ombudsman, if you are not satisfied
with the way your complaint has
been dealt with by the NHS.
You have the right to make a claim
for judicial review if you think you
have been directly affected by an
unlawful act or decision of an NHS
body or local authority.
You have the right to
compensation where you have been
harmed by negligent treatment.

The NHS also commits:
• to ensure that you are treated
with courtesy and you receive
appropriate support throughout
the handling of a complaint; and
that the fact that you have
complained will not adversely
affect your future treatment
(pledge);
• to ensure that when mistakes
happen or if you are harmed while
receiving health care you receive
an appropriate explanation and
apology, delivered with sensitivity
and recognition of the trauma you
have experienced, and know that
lessons will be learned to help
avoid a similar incident occurring
again (pledge); and
• to ensure that the organisation
learns lessons from complaints and
claims and uses these to improve
NHS services (pledge).

Patients and the public – your responsibilities

|

3b. Patients and the public – your responsibilities
The NHS belongs to all of us. There are things that we can all do for
ourselves and for one another to help it work effectively, and to ensure
resources are used responsibly.

Please recognise that you can make
a significant contribution to your
own, and your family’s, good health
and wellbeing, and take personal
responsibility for it.
Please register with a GP practice
– the main point of access to NHS
care as commissioned by NHS bodies.
Please treat NHS staff and other
patients with respect and recognise
that violence, or the causing of
nuisance or disturbance on NHS
premises, could result in prosecution.
You should recognise that abusive
and violent behaviour could result in
you being refused access to NHS
services.
Please provide accurate information
about your health, condition and
status.
Please keep appointments, or
cancel within reasonable time.
Receiving treatment within the
maximum waiting times may be
compromised unless you do.
Please follow the course of
treatment which you have agreed,
and talk to your clinician if you find
this difficult.

Please participate in important
public health programmes such as
vaccination.
Please ensure that those closest to
you are aware of your wishes about
organ donation.
Please give feedback – both
positive and negative – about your
experiences and the treatment and
care you have received, including any
adverse reactions you may have had.
You can often provide feedback
anonymously and giving feedback
will not affect adversely your care or
how you are treated. If a family
member or someone you are a carer
for is a patient and unable to provide
feedback, you are encouraged to give
feedback about their experiences on
their behalf. Feedback will help to
improve NHS services for all.
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4a. Staff – your rights and NHS pledges to you
It is the commitment, professionalism and dedication of staff working
for the benefit of the people the NHS serves which really make the
difference. High-quality care requires high-quality workplaces, with
commissioners and providers aiming to be employers of choice.

All staff should have rewarding and
worthwhile jobs, with the freedom
and confidence to act in the interest
of patients. To do this, they need to
be trusted, actively listened to and
provided with meaningful feedback.
They must be treated with respect at
work, have the tools, training and
support to deliver compassionate
care, and opportunities to develop
and progress. Care professionals
should be supported to maximise the
time they spend directly contributing
to the care of patients.
The Constitution applies to all staff,
doing clinical or non-clinical NHS
work – including public health – and
their employers. It covers staff
wherever they are working, whether
in public, private or voluntary sector
organisations.
Staff have extensive legal rights,
embodied in general employment
and discrimination law. These are
summarised in the Handbook to the
NHS Constitution. In addition,
individual contracts of employment
contain terms and conditions giving
staff further rights.

The rights are there to help ensure
that staff:
• have a good working environment
with flexible working
opportunities, consistent with the
needs of patients and with the
way that people live their lives;
• have a fair pay and contract
framework;
• can be involved and represented
in the workplace;
• have healthy and safe working
conditions and an environment
free from harassment, bullying or
violence;
• are treated fairly, equally and free
from discrimination;
• can in certain circumstances take
a complaint about their employer
to an Employment Tribunal; and
• can raise any concern with their
employer, whether it is about
safety, malpractice or other risk,
in the public interest.
In addition to these legal rights, there
are a number of pledges, which the
NHS is committed to achieve. Pledges
go above and beyond your legal
rights. This means that they are not

Staff – your rights and NHS pledges to you

legally binding but represent a
commitment by the NHS to provide
high-quality working environments
for staff.
The NHS commits:
• to provide a positive working
environment for staff and to
promote supportive, open cultures
that help staff do their job to the
best of their ability (pledge);
• to provide all staff with clear roles
and responsibilities and rewarding
jobs for teams and individuals that
make a difference to patients,
their families and carers and
communities (pledge);
• to provide all staff with personal
development, access to
appropriate education and training
for their jobs, and line
management support to enable
them to fulfil their potential
(pledge);
• to provide support and
opportunities for staff to maintain
their health, wellbeing and safety
(pledge);
• to engage staff in decisions that
affect them and the services they
provide, individually, through
representative organisations and
through local partnership working
arrangements. All staff will be
empowered to put forward ways
to deliver better and safer services
for patients and their families
(pledge);

|

• to have a process for staff to raise
an internal grievance (pledge); and
• to encourage and support all staff
in raising concerns at the earliest
reasonable opportunity about
safety, malpractice or wrongdoing
at work, responding to and, where
necessary, investigating the
concerns raised and acting
consistently with the Public
Interest Disclosure Act 1998
(pledge).
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4b. Staff – your responsibilities
All staff have responsibilities to the public, their patients and colleagues.

Important legal duties are
summarised below.
You have a duty to accept
professional accountability and
maintain the standards of
professional practice as set by the
appropriate regulatory body
applicable to your profession or role.
You have a duty to take reasonable
care of health and safety at work for
you, your team and others, and to
co-operate with employers to ensure
compliance with health and safety
requirements.
You have a duty to act in
accordance with the express and
implied terms of your contract of
employment.
You have a duty not to discriminate
against patients or staff and to
adhere to equal opportunities and
equality and human rights legislation.
You have a duty to protect the
confidentiality of personal
information that you hold.

You have a duty to be honest and
truthful in applying for a job and in
carrying out that job.
The Constitution also includes
expectations that reflect how staff
should play their part in ensuring the
success of the NHS and delivering
high-quality care.
You should aim:
• to maintain the highest standards
of care and service, treating every
individual with compassion, dignity
and respect, taking responsibility
not only for the care you
personally provide, but also for
your wider contribution to the
aims of your team and the NHS
as a whole;
• to take up training and
development opportunities
provided over and above those
legally required of your post;
• to play your part in sustainably
improving services by working in
partnership with patients, the
public and communities;

Staff – your responsibilities

• to raise any genuine concern you
may have about a risk, malpractice
or wrongdoing at work (such as a
risk to patient safety, fraud or
breaches of patient
confidentiality), which may affect
patients, the public, other staff3 or
the organisation itself, at the
earliest reasonable opportunity;
• to involve patients, their families,
carers or representatives fully in
decisions about prevention,
diagnosis, and their individual care
and treatment;
• to be open with patients, their
families, carers or representatives,
including if anything goes wrong;
welcoming and listening to
feedback and addressing concerns
promptly and in a spirit of
co-operation;
• to contribute to a climate where
the truth can be heard, the
reporting of, and learning from,
errors is encouraged and
colleagues are supported where
errors are made;

|

• to take every appropriate
opportunity to encourage and
support patients and colleagues
to improve their health and
wellbeing;
• to contribute towards providing
fair and equitable services for all
and play your part, wherever
possible, in helping to reduce
inequalities in experience, access
or outcomes between differing
groups or sections of society
requiring health care;
• to inform patients about the use
of their confidential information
and to record their objections,
consent or dissent; and
• to provide access to a patient’s
information to other relevant
professionals, always doing so
securely, and only where there is
a legal and appropriate basis to
do so.

• to view the services you provide
from the standpoint of a patient,
and involve patients, their families
and carers in the services you
provide, working with them,
their communities and other
organisations, and making it clear
who is responsible for their care;
3

The term ‘staff’ is used to include employees, workers, and, for the purposes of the Public Interest
Disclosure Act (PIDA), agency workers and general practitioners who meet the wider PIDA
definition of being a ‘worker’ (e.g. those performing general medical services under General
Medical Services Contracts). Whilst volunteers are not covered by the provisions of PIDA, guidance
to employers makes clear that it is good practice to include volunteers within the scope of
organisations’ local whistleblowing policies.
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CODE OF CONDUCT FOR NHS BOARDS
Public service values must be at the heart of
the National Health Service. High standards of
corporate and personal conduct based on a
recognition that patients come first, have been
a requirement throughout the NHS since its
inception. Moreover, since the NHS is publicly
funded, it must be accountable to Parliament
for the services it provides and for the effective
and economical use of taxpayers’ money.
There are three crucial public service values
which must underpin the work of the health
service.
Accountability – everything done by those
who work in the NHS must be able to stand the
test
of
parliamentary
scrutiny,
public
judgements on propriety and professional
codes of conduct.
Probity – there should be an absolute standard
of honesty in dealing with the assets of the
NHS: integrity should be the hallmark of all
personal conduct in decisions affecting
patients, staff and suppliers, and in the use of
information acquired in the course of NHS
duties.
Openness – there should be sufficient
transparency about NHS activities to promote
confidence between the NHS organisation and
its staff, patients and the public.
General Principles
Public service values matter in the NHS and
those who work in it have a duty to conduct
NHS business with probity. They have a
responsibility to respond to staff, patients and
suppliers impartially, to achieve value for
money from the public funds with which they
are entrusted and to demonstrate high ethical
standards of personal conduct.
The success of this Code depends on a
vigorous and visible example from boards and
the consequential influence on the behaviour of
all those who work within the organisation.
Boards have a clear responsibility for corporate
standards of conduct and acceptance of the
Code should inform and govern the decisions
and conduct of all board directors.
Openness and Public Responsibilities
Health needs and patterns of provision of
health care do not stand still. There should be
a willingness to be open with the public,
patients and with staff as the need for change
emerges.
It is a requirement that major
changes are consulted upon before decisions
are reached. Information supporting those
decisions should be made available, in a way
that is understandable, and positive

responses should be given to reasonable
requests for information and in accordance with
the Freedom of Information Act 2000.
NHS business should be conducted in a way
that is socially responsible.
As a large
employer in the local community, NHS
organisations should forge an open and
positive relationship with the local community
and should work with staff and partners to set
out a vision for the organisation in line with the
expectations of patients and the public. NHS
organisations should demonstrate to the public
that they are concerned with the wider health of
the population including the impact of the
organisation’s activities on the environment.
The confidentiality of personal and individual
patient information must, of course, be
respected at all times.
Public Service Values in Management
It is unacceptable for the board of any NHS
organisation, or any individual within the
organisation for which the board is responsible,
to ignore public service values in achieving
results. Chairs and board directors have a duty
to ensure that public funds are properly
safeguarded and that at all times the board
conducts its business as efficiently and
effectively as possible. Proper stewardship of
public monies requires value for money to be
high on the agenda of all NHS boards.
Accounting,
tendering
and
employment
practices within the NHS must reflect the
highest professional standards.
Public
statements and reports issued by the board
should be clear, comprehensive and balanced,
and should fully represent the facts. Annual
and other key reports should be issued in good
time to all individuals and groups in the
community who have a legitimate interest in
health issues to allow full consideration by
those wishing to attend public meetings on
local health issues.

Public Business and Private Gain
Chairs and board directors should act
impartially and should not be influenced by
social or business relationships.
No one
should use their public position to further their
private interests. Where there is a potential for
private interests to be material and relevant to
NHS business, the relevant interests should be
declared and recorded in the board minutes,
and entered into a register which is available to
the public. When a conflict of interest is
established, the board director should withdraw
and play no part in the relevant discussion or
decision.
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Hospitality and Other Expenditure

Compliance

Board directors should set an example to their
organisation in the use of public funds and the
need for good value in incurring public
expenditure. The use of NHS monies for
hospitality
and
entertainment,
including
hospitality at conferences or seminars, should
be carefully considered. All expenditure on
these items should be capable of justification
as reasonable in the light of the general
practice in the public sector. NHS boards
should be aware that expenditure on hospitality
or entertainment is the responsibility of
management and is open to be challenged by
the internal and external auditors and that illconsidered actions can damage respect for the
NHS in the eyes of the community.

Board directors should satisfy themselves that
the actions of the board and its directors in
conducting board business fully reflect the
values in this Code and, as far as is reasonably
practicable, that concerns expressed by staff or
others are fully investigated and acted upon.
All board directors of NHS organisations are
required, on appointment, to subscribe to the
Code of Conduct.
Originally published April 1994
First revision April 2002
Second revision July 2004

Relations with Suppliers
NHS boards should have an explicit procedure
for the declaration of hospitality and
sponsorship offered by, for example, suppliers.
Their authorisation should be carefully
considered and the decision should be
recorded. NHS boards should be aware of the
risks in incurring obligations to suppliers at any
stage of a contracting relationship. Suppliers
should be selected on the basis of quality,
suitability, reliability and value for money. The
Department of Health has issued guidance to
NHS organisations about standards of
business conduct (ref: HSG(93)5).
Staff
NHS boards should ensure that staff have a
proper and widely publicised procedure for
voicing complaints or concerns about
maladministration, malpractice, breaches of
this code and other concerns of an ethical
nature. The board must establish a climate:
- that enables staff who have concerns to raise
these reasonably and responsibly with the right
parties;
- that gives a clear commitment that staff
concerns will be taken seriously and
investigated; and
- where there is an unequivocal guarantee that
staff who raise concerns responsibly and
reasonably
will
be
protected
against
victimisation.
(Ref: Whistleblowing in the NHS, letter dated
25 July 2003 from the Director of HR in the
NHS)
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CODE OF ACCOUNTABILITY FOR NHS
BOARDS
This Code of Practice is the basis on which
NHS organisations should seek to fulfil the
duties and responsibilities conferred upon them
by the Secretary of State for Health.

Primary care trusts are expected to identify the
health needs of the population, to work to
improve the health of the community and to
secure the provision of a full range of services.
Other main functions are to:

Status
- maintain an effective public health function;
NHS organisations, such as NHS trusts,
primary care trusts, strategic health authorities
and special health authorities, are established
under statute as corporate bodies so ensuring
that they have separate legal personality.
Statutes and regulations prescribe the
structure, functions and responsibilities of the
boards of these bodies and prescribe the way
chairs and directors of boards are to be
appointed.
Code of Conduct
All board directors of NHS organisations are
required, on appointment, to subscribe to the
Code of Conduct. Breaches of this Code of
Conduct by the chair or a non-executive
director of the board should be drawn to the
attention
of
the appropriate Regional
Commissioner of the NHS Appointments
Commission.
NHS managers are required to take all
reasonable steps to comply with the
requirements set out in the Code of Conduct for
NHS Managers. Chairs and non-executive
directors of NHS boards are responsible for
taking firm, prompt and fair disciplinary action
against any executive director in breach of the
Code of Conduct for NHS Managers.
Statutory Accountability
The Secretary of State for Health has statutory
responsibility for the health of the population of
England and uses statutory powers to delegate
functions to NHS organisations who are thus
accountable to the Secretary of State and to
Parliament.
The Department of Health is
responsible for directing the NHS, ensuring
national policies are implemented and for the
effective stewardship of NHS resources.
NHS trusts provide services to patients (these
may be acute services, ambulance services,
mental health or other special services, e.g. for
children). Other main functions are to:

- lead local planning;
- manage and develop primary healthcare
services;
- develop and improve local services;
- lead the integration of health and social care;
and
- deliver services within their remit.

Strategic health authorities provide strategic
leadership to ensure the maintenance of
provision and the delivery of improvements in
local health and health services by primary
care trusts and NHS trusts, within the national
framework of developing a patient-centred NHS
and supported by effective controls and clinical
governance systems. Other main functions for
which the Strategic Health Authority is
responsible are to:
- lead the development and empowerment of
uniformly excellent frontline NHS organisations
committed to innovation and improvement;
- consider the overall needs of the health
economy
across
primary,
community,
secondary and tertiary care, and working with
primary care trusts and NHS trusts to deliver a
programme to meet these needs;
performance
manage
and
ensure
accountability of local primary care trusts and
NHS trusts;
- lead on the creation and development of
clinical and public health networks;
- create capacity through the preparation and
delivery of strategies for capital investment,
information management and workforce
development;

- ensure services are of high quality and
accessible;

- ensure effective networks and joint working
exists between NHS organisations for the
provision of health and social care; and

- lead the development of new ways of working
to fully engage patients and ensure a patientcentred service;

- ensure the development and training of an
adequate workforce of competent clinical
personnel.
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NHS trust, primary care trust and strategic
health authority finances are subject to external
audit by the Audit Commission and, for the
value for money element, by the Healthcare
Commission.
NHS boards must co-operate fully with the
Department of Health, the Audit Commission
and the Healthcare Commission when required
to account for the use they have made of public
funds, the delivery of patient care and other
services, and compliance with statutes,
directions, guidance and policies of the
Secretary of State. The Chief Executive/
Permanent Secretary of the Department of
Health, as Accounting Officer for the NHS, is
accountable to Parliament. The work of the
Department of Health and its associated bodies
is examined by the House of Commons Health
Committee.
Its remit is to examine the
expenditure, administration and policy of the
Department of Health. Two other Parliamentary
Committees, the Public Accounts Committee
and
the
Public
Administration
Select
Committee, scrutinise the work of the
Department of Health and the health service.
The Board of Directors
NHS boards comprise executive directors
together with non-executive directors and a
chair who are appointed by the NHS
Appointments Commission on behalf of the
Secretary of State.
Together they share
corporate responsibility for all decisions of the
board. There is a clear division of responsibility
between the chair and the chief executive; the
chair’s role and board functions are set out
below; the chief executive is directly
accountable to the board for meeting their
objectives, and as Accountable Officer, to the
Chief Executive of the NHS for the
performance of the organisation. Boards are
required to meet regularly and to retain full and
effective control over the organisation; the chair
and non-executive directors are responsible for
monitoring the executive management of the
organisation and are responsible to the
Secretary of State for the discharge of these
responsibilities. Strategic health authorities
generally provide the line of accountability from
local NHS organisations to the Secretary of
State for the performance of the organisation.
Regional Commissioners of the NHS
Appointments Commission will always be
available to chairs and non-executive directors
on matters of concern to them relating to the
personal effectiveness of individual chairs and
non-executives.
The duty of an NHS board is to add value to
the organisation, enabling it to deliver
healthcare and health improvement within the
law and without causing harm. It does this by
providing a framework of good governance
within which the organisation can thrive and
grow. Good governance is not restrictive but

an enabling ingredient to underpin change and
modernisation.
The role of an NHS board is to:
- be collectively responsible for adding value to
the organisation, for promoting the success of
the organisation by directing and supervising
the organisation’s affairs
- provide active leadership of the organisation
within a framework of prudent and effective
controls which enable risk to be assessed and
managed
- set the organisation’s strategic aims, ensure
that the necessary financial and human
resources are in place for the organisation to
meet its objectives, and review management
performance
- set the organisation’s values and standards
and ensure that its obligations to patients, the
local community and the Secretary of State are
understood and met.
Further details may be obtained from
Governing the NHS: A Guide for NHS Boards
at www.dh.gov.uk
The Role of the Chair
The overall role of the chair is one of enabling
and leading so that the attributes and specific
roles of the executive team and the nonexecutives are brought together in a
constructive partnership to take forward the
business of the organisation.
The key responsibilities of the chair are:
leadership of the board, ensuring its
effectiveness on all aspects of its role and
setting its agenda;
- ensuring the provision of accurate, timely and
clear information to directors;
- ensuring effective communication with staff,
patients and the public;
- arranging the regular evaluation of the
performance of the board, its committees and
individual directors; and
- facilitating the effective contribution of nonexecutive directors and ensuring constructive
relations between executive and non-executive
directors.
A complementary relationship between the
chair and chief executive is important. The
chief executive is accountable to the chair and
non-executive directors of the board for
ensuring that the board is empowered to
govern the organisation and that the objectives
it sets are accomplished through effective and
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properly controlled executive action. The chief
executive should be allowed full scope, within
clearly defined delegated powers, for action in
fulfilling the decisions of the board.

- the Audit Commission and its appointed
auditors, and

Further details may be obtained from
Governing the NHS: A Guide for NHS Boards
at www.dh.gov.uk.

Detailed financial guidance, including the role
of internal and external auditors, issued by the
Department of Health must be observed. (Ref:
the
NHS
Finance
Manual
at
www.info.doh.gov.uk/doh/finman).The Standing
Orders of boards should prescribe the terms on
which committees and sub-committees of the
board may be delegated functions, and should
include the schedule of decisions reserved for
the board.

Non-Executive Directors
Non-executive directors are appointed by the
NHS Appointments Commission on behalf of
the Secretary of State to bring an independent
judgement to bear on issues of strategy,
performance,
key
appointments
and
accountability through the Department of
Health to Ministers and to the local community.
The duties of non-executive directors are to:
- constructively challenge and contribute to the
development of strategy;
- scrutinise the performance of management in
meeting agreed goals and objectives and
monitor the reporting of performance;
- satisfy themselves that financial information
is accurate and that financial controls and
systems of risk management are robust and
defensible;
- determine appropriate levels of remuneration
of executive directors and have a prime role in
appointing, and where necessary, removing
senior management and in succession
planning; and
- ensure the board acts in the best interests of
the public and is fully accountable to the public
for the services provided by the organisation
and the public funds it uses.
Non-executive directors also have a key role in
a small number of permanent board
committees such as the Audit Committee,
Remuneration
and
Terms
of
Service
Committee,
the
Clinical
Governance
Committee and Risk Management Committee.
Further details may be obtained from
Governing the NHS: A Guide for NHS Boards
at www.dh.gov.uk.
Reporting and Controls
It is the board’s duty to present through the
timely publication of an annual report, annual
accounts and other means, a balanced and
readily-understood
assessment
of
the
organisation’s performance to:
- the Department of Health, on behalf of the
Secretary of State

- the local community.

Declaration of Interests
It is a requirement that chairs and all board
directors should declare any conflict of interest
that arises in the course of conducting NHS
business. All NHS organisations maintain a
register of member’s interests to avoid any
danger of board directors being influenced, or
appearing to be influenced, by their private
interests in the exercise of their public duties.
All board members are therefore expected to
declare any personal or business interest which
may influence, or may be perceived to
influence, their judgement. This should include,
as a minimum, personal direct and indirect
financial interests, and should normally also
include such interests of close family members.
Indirect
financial
interests
arise
from
connections with bodies which have a direct
financial interest, or from being a business
partner of, or being employed by, a person with
such an interest.
Employee Relations
NHS boards must comply with legislation and
guidance from the Department of Health on
behalf of the Secretary of State, respect
agreements entered into by themselves or on
their behalf and establish terms and conditions
of service that are fair to the staff and represent
good value for taxpayers’ money. Fair and
open competition should be the basis for
appointment to posts in the NHS.
The terms and conditions agreed by the board
for senior staff should take full account of the
need to obtain maximum value for money for
the funds available for patient care. The board
should ensure through the appointment of a
remuneration and terms of service committee
that executive board directors’ remuneration
can be justified as reasonable. Board directors’
remuneration for the NHS organisation should
be published in its annual report.
Originally published April 1994
First revision April 2002
Second revision July 2004
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Code of Practice on Openness in the NHS
1. Introduction
This Code of Practice sets out the basic principles
underlying public access to information about the
NHS. It reflects the Government's intention to ensure
greater access by the public to information about
public services and complements the Code of Access
to Information which applies to the Department of
Health.
Because the NHS is a public service, it should be
open about its activities and plans. So, information
about how it is run, who is in charge and how it
performs should be widely available. Greater sharing
of information will also help to foster mutual
confidence between the NHS and the public.
The basic principle of this Code is that the NHS
should respond positively to requests for information,
except in certain circumstances identified in the
Code. For example, patients' records must be kept
safe and confidential.

2. Scope
The Code of Practice covers the following NHS
organisations in England: Health Authorities, Special
Health Authorities, NHS Trusts, Primary Care Trusts,
the Mental Health Act Commission and Community
Health Councils. It also covers family doctors,
dentists, optometrists (opticians) and community
pharmacists.

n are aware of the reasons for decisions and actions
affecting their own treatment;
n known what information is available and where they
can get it.

4. General Principles
In implementing the Code, the NHS must:
n respond positively to requests for information
(except in the circumstances identified in paragraph
9);
n answer requests for information quickly and
helpfully, and give reasons for not providing
information where this is not possible;
n help the public to know what information is available,
so that they can decide what they wish to see, and
whom they should ask;
n ensure that there are clear and effective
arrangements to deal with complaints and concerns
about local services and access to information, and
that these arrangements are widely publicised and
effectively monitored.

5. Information Which Must be
provided

Specific requirements for most of these organisations
are detailed in separate annexes. Organisations not
covered in the annexes must apply the general
principles of the Code in their dealings with the public.

Apart from the exemptions set out in paragraph 9
below, NHS Trusts, Primary Care Trusts and Health
Authorities must publish or otherwise make available
the following information (further details are given in
Annexes A, B, C and D):

3. Aims
The aims of the Code are to ensure that people:

n information about what services are provided, the
targets and standards set and results achieved, and
the costs and effectiveness of the service;

n have access to available information about the
services provided by the NHS, the cost of those
services, quality standards and performance against
targets;
n are provided with explanations about proposed
service changes and have an opportunity to
influence decisions on such changes;

n details about important proposals on health policies
or proposed changes in the way services are
delivered, including the reasons for those proposals.
This information will normally be made available when
proposals are announced and before decisions are
made;

n details about important decisions on health policies
and decisions on changes to the delivery of services.
This information, and the reasons for the decisions,
will normally be made available when the decisions
are announced;

information but are not required to do so. It is
recommended that charging should be exceptional
but that where charges are made the following ground
rules should be observed:

n information about the way in which health services
are managed and provided and who is responsible;

a) no charge for individuals enquiring about services
or treatment available to them; press and other
media; Community Health Councils; MPs; Local
Authorities; Citizen's Advice Bureaux;

n information about how the NHS communicates with
the public, such as details of public meetings,
consultation procedures, suggestion and complaints
systems:
n information about how to contact Community
Health Councils and the Health Service
Commissioner (Ombudsman);
n information about how people can have access to
their own personal health records.

6. Response to Requests for
Information
Requests for information, whether made in person or
in writing, must be answered promptly. An
acknowledgement must be sent within 4 working days
and, where possible, the information should follow
within 20 working days.

b) for requests from people not listed above, no
charge for the first hour and a charge not exceeding
£20 per hour for each hour thereafter.

8. Personal Health Records
The NHS must keep patients' personal details
confidential but people normally have a right to see
their own health records. Depending on who made
the records, patients can obtain access through the
relevant Trust, Health Authority, family doctor or
dentist. Access must be given within the timetable in
the Access to Health Records Act 1990 (or, for
records held on computer, the Data Protection Act
1984). Under these Acts patients may be charged for
access to their records

9. Information Which May be
Withheld

NHS organisations are not required to make
available:

NHS Trusts and Authorities must provide the
information requested unless it falls within one of the
following exempt categories:

i) copies of the documents or records containing the
information (although in some cases it may be simpler
to do so if they contain nothing but the information
requested);

i) Personal information. People have a right of access
to their own health records but not normally to
information about other people.

ii) information which the organisation does not
possess (eg comparable data with other
organisations);
iii) individual copies of documents or other forms of
information which are already widely publicly
available.
If the information is not to be provided under the
terms of the Code, an explanation must be provided
within 20 working days of receipt of the request.
Each NHS organisation must publish the name of an
individual who has responsibility for the operation of
this Code of Practice. This should be a senior officer
directly accountable to the Chief Executive of the
organisation. Details of how to request information
through this individual must also be publicised locally.

7. Charging for Information
NHS Trusts, Primary Care Trusts and Health
Authorities may make a charge for providing

ii) Requests for information which are manifestly
unreasonable, far too general, or would require
unreasonable resources to answer.
iii) Information about internal discussion and advice,
where disclosure would harm frank internal debate,
except where this disclosure would be outweighed by
the public interest.
iv) Management information, where disclosure would
harm the proper and effective operation of the NHS
organisation.
v) Information about legal matters and proceedings,
where disclosure would prejudice the administration
of justice and the law.
vi) Information which could prejudice negotiations or
the effective conduct of personnel management or
commercial or contractual activities. This does not
cover information about internal NHS contracts.

vii) Information given in confidence. The NHS has a
common law duty to respect confidences except
when it is clearly outweighed by the public interest.
viii) Information which will soon be published or where
disclosure would be premature in relation to a
planned announcement or publication.
ix) Information relating to incomplete analysis,
research or statistics where disclosure could be
misleading or prevent the holder from publishing it
first.

report should be written and presented in a way that
can be readily understood by the general public:
n an annual summary of the Trust's business plan,
describing the Trust's planned activity for the coming
year;
n a summary strategic direction document (not
published annually), setting out the Trust's longer
term plans for the delivery of health care services
over a five year period; and
n audited accounts published annually.

10. Complaining About the Provision
of Information
People may wish to complain about a decision to
refuse to provide information, a delay in providing
information or levels of charges. In the first instance,
complaints should be made within 3 months to the
local individual responsible for the operation of the
Code (see paragraph 6 above). If the complainant
remains dissatisfied, a complaint should be made to
the Chief Executive of the organisation, or the Chief
Executive of the Health Authority in the case of family
doctors, dentists, pharmacists and optometrists
(opticians). Community Health Councils may be able
to help people to pursue their complaint. NHS Trusts
and Authorities must acknowledge complaints within
4 working days and reply within 20 working days.
The NHS Trust or Authority will provide people with
information about how to take their complaint further
to the Health Service Ombudsman if they remain
dissatisfied. However, the Ombudsman does not
investigate complaints about the withholding of
information by family doctors, dentists, pharmacists,
optometrists (opticians) or Community Health
Councils.

In addition to the documents described above, NHS
Trusts and PCTs must also make available, on
request:
n the register of board members' private interests
required under the Code of Accountability for NHS
boards:
2.1 Public Meetings - NHS Trusts and PCTs are
required to hold their board meetings in public. An
agenda, papers, the accounts and the annual report
must be publicly available at least 7 days in advance
of the meeting. Provision must be made for questions
and comments to be put by the public. Public
meetings must be held in readily accessible venues
and at times when the public are able to attend.
3. Good Practice in Providing Information
3.1 Examples of Additional Information Which
May be Published
n quarterly board reports ( financial, activity, quality
and contract information);
n information on service changes;

ANNEX A - NHS Trusts and Primary Care Trusts
(PCTs)

n agenda and papers relating to other meetings held
in public in addition to the Annual Public Meeting.

1. Introduction
This annex describes the information which NHS
Trusts and PCTs must publish or make available. It
also lists examples of information which it is
recommended should be made available as a matter
of good practice, either through publication or on
request.

3.2 Examples of Information Which May be
Available on Request

2. Information Which Must be Published
The following are the documents which Trusts must
publish by given dates:
n an annual report describing the Trust's
performance over the previous financial year, and
including details of board members' remuneration; the

The following list is a guide to some of the information
which is routinely held by most NHS Trusts. Much of
the information will be detailed in the previous year's
annual report. Where more up-to-date information is
available, this may be given:
n patient information leaflets; n description of
facilities (numbers of beds, operating theatres etc.);
n waiting times by specialty; n detailed information
on activity; n broad conclusions of clinical audit; n
number and percentage of operations cancelled, by
specialty; n price lists for extra-contractual referrals;

n information about clinicians (including qualifications,
areas of special interest, waiting times for
appointment); n areas which have been
market-tested, with details of decisions reached; n
tenders received by value, but not by name of
tenderer; n information on manpower and staffing
levels and staff salaries by broad bandings; n policies
for Trust staff, eg equal opportunities, standards of
conduct; n environmental items, eg fuel usage; n
volume and categories of complaints and letters of
appreciation (without identifying individuals), and
performance in handling complaints; n results of user
surveys and action to be taken; n standing orders
and waivers of standing orders; n standing financial
instructions; n external audit management letter, and
Trust response, time when response is made: n
details of administrative costs; n funds held on trust,
such as bequests and donations; n performance
against quality standards in contracts; n clinical
performance, by specialty, eg proportion of surgery
done on day surgery basis, by condition; n
performance against national and local targets for
inpatient and day case waiting times; n names and
contact (office) numbers of board members and
senior officers; n basic salaries, ie excluding PRP and
distinction awards, of staff, by bandings and in
anonymised form; n response times for ambulances;
n information about the use of outside management
consultants, including expenditure
4. Procedures for Obtaining Information
Trusts must ensure that people know whom to ask for
information. They must publish the name of the
person responsible, along with full details of how to go
about obtaining information and how to complain if the
information is not provided. The person responsible
should be a senior officer who is directly accountable
to the Chief Executive of the Trust.
ANNEX B - Health Authorities
1. Introduction
1.1 Health Authorities have an essential role in the
successful development of local services and
achieving a strategic balance of care. (Annexes C
and D give complementary advice for General
Practitioners.)
1.2 This Annex describes the information which they
must publish or make available. It also lists examples
of information which it is recommended is made
available as a matter of good practice, either through
publication or on request.
2. Information Which Must be Published
2.1 Health Authorities

The following are the documents which Authorities
must publish by given dates:
n an annual report, describing the performance over
the previous financial year, and including details of
board members' remuneration; the report should be in
a form that can be readily understood by the general
public; n an annual report by the Director of Public
Health; na full list of General Medical Practitioners,
General Dental Practitioners, pharmacists and
optometrists in their locality; n papers, agendas and
minutes of board meetings held in public; naudited
accounts published annually; n a strategy document
(not published annually) setting out the heath
authority's plans over a five year period. They must
consult with the public before and after developing the
strategy.
In addition to the documents described above,
authorities must also make available, on request:
n annual purchasing plans; n contracts with
providers, both NHS and non-NHS; n the register of
board members' private interests required under the
Code of Accountability for NHS boards.
2.2 Public Meetings - Health Authorities must hold
all their board meetings in public, though there is
provision of certain issues (eg personnel and
commercial matters) to be taken in a private part of
the meeting. The agenda for these meetings must
always be provided to the press and on request to
members of the public. Public meetings must be held
in easily accessible venues, and at times when the
public are able to attend.
Consultation - Health Authorities must consult with
Community Health Council and other interested
parties on any plans to change the services which
they purchase or plan for their residents. They must
publish well in advance a timetable to enable the
public to know when and how they can influence to
commissioning process.
3. Good Practice in Providing Information
3.1 Examples of Additional Information Which
May be Published
n information on services purchased by the Authority
;n information about consultation exercises
undertaken and outcomes; n full reports of any user
or attitude surveys and action to be taken; n total
available financial resources; n Health Authority
allocation; nproposed and actual expenditure on
services, analysed by: n providers; n contracts
(including by speciality, if available); ntreatments
purchased separately from contracts (extra

contractual referrals); n changes in providers and
contracts from previous years; n performance against
quality standards in contracts; n clinical performance
by speciality, of providers contracted with, eg
proportion of surgery done on day surgery basis, by
condition; n performance against national and local
targets for in-patient and day case waiting times; n
numbers of complaints dealt with and response times;
n names and contact (office) numbers of Authority
board members and senior officers; n basic salaries,
ie excluding PRP and distinction awards, of staff, by
bandings and in anonymised form; n information
about the use of outside management consultants,
including expenditure

2.1 General Medical Practitioners
Practice Leaflets - Essential information for patients
about individual doctors' practices is published in
practice leaflets which can be obtained from the
practice. These must contain the following
information:

n future year resource plans; n information about
expenditure on different types of health care, such a
primary, secondary or community care; n price
comparisons of all providers used by the purchaser; n
total expenditure per head of population; n costs of
authority administration; n standing orders and
waivers of standing orders; n standing financial
instructions n external audit management letter, and
response, at the time when the response is made.

n name, sex, medical qualifications and date and first
place of registration of the General Practitioner; n
details of availability (including arrangements for
cover when the General Practitioner is not available),
appointments system and how to obtain an urgent
appointment or home visit; n arrangements for
obtaining repeat prescriptions and dispensing
arrangements; n frequency, duration and purpose of
clinics; n numbers and roles of other staff employed
by the practice, and information about whether the
General Practitioner works alone, part-time or in
partnership; n details of services available - for
example, child health surveillance, contraception,
maternity, medical, minor surgery, counselling and
physiotherapy; n details of arrangements for
receiving and responding to patients' comments and
complaints; n geographical boundary of the practice
area; n details of access for the disabled.

4. Procedures for Obtaining Information

In addition, some leaflets also:

Authorities must ensure that people know whom to
ask for information. They must publish the name of
the person responsible, along with full details of how
to go about obtaining information and how to
complain if the information is not provided. The
person responsible should be a senior officer who is
directly accountable to the Chief Executive of the
Authority.

n contain information detailing any other professional
staff employed by the practice, including their
registration status; n are available in languages other
than English which are commonly used locally.

3.2 Examples of Information Which May be
Available on Request

1.1 This annex describes the information which
General Medical Practitioners, General Dental
Practitioners, Community Pharmacists and
Optometrists must publish or make available.
1.2 General Medical Practitioners, General Dental
Practitioners, Community Pharmacists and
Optometrists provide services to the public which are
paid for by the NHS. The public should therefore have
access to information about the services they provide.
Although they are self-employed independent
contractors, and cannot therefore be required to
publish sensitive information about their businesses,
their contracts for services specify information that is
important to patients and which must be made
available.
2. Information Which Must be Published
The following are the statutorily required documents
which must be published.

2.2 General Dental Practitioners
Practice Leaflets - Essential information for patients
about individual dental practices is published in
practice leaflets which can be obtained from the
practice. These contain:
n name, sex and date of registration as a dental
practitioner; n address, opening hours and details of
partners/associates; n whether a dental hygienist is
employed; n details of access to the premises; n
whether only orthodontic treatment is available; n with
consent, whether the dentist speaks any languages in
addition to English; n General Dental Practitioners
are required to inform patients of any emergency
arrangements in place.
Charges
n General Dental Practitioners must provide patients
with individual costed treatment plans. They must
display a notice of the scale of NHS charges and
information about entitlement to exemption from or
remission of charges.
It is good practice:

n to provide information about their cross-infection
control procedures, giving examples as appropriate.
2.3 Community Pharmacists
Practice Leaflets - Pharmacists are not obliged to
produce practice leaflets but those dispensing more
than 1500 prescriptions a month normally do so.
These leaflets detail the range of services available to
the public and, if produced, must contain the following
information:
n a list of services provided by the pharmacist; n
name, address and telephone number of the
pharmacy; n normal opening hours and
arrangements for out of hours services and
emergencies; n procedures for receiving comments
on services provided.
As good practice:
n an increasing number of Community Pharmacists
make health promotion leaflets available to the public.
2.4 Optometrists
Optometrists are not currently required to produce
practice leaflets, but many do so as a matter of good
practice.
Results of Eye-Tests
Optometrists must provide patients with a copy of the
results of their eye-tests (ie their prescription) or a
statement that no prescription is required.
5. Procedures for Obtaining Information
3.1 Information about individual General Medical
Practitioners, General Dental Practitioners,
Pharmacists and Optometrists and their practice
leaflets must be available from the practice. Health
Authorities must ensure that people know whom to
ask for additional information. The Authority should
publish the name of the person responsible. This
should be a senior officer who is directly accountable
to the Chief Executive of the Authority.
5.2 Complaints about failure to obtain information
should be dealt with as far as possible by the practice.
If the complainant remains dissatisfied, he/she should
be directed to the Family Health Services Authority.
The assistance of the Community Health Council may
also be sought. At present the Health Service
Ombudsman does not investigate complaints against
family doctors, dentists, optometrists (opticians) or
pharmacists.
General Practitioners
ANNEX D - General Practitioners
1 Introduction

This Annex extends Annex C and describes the
additional information which General Practitioners
must publish or make available.
2. Information Which Should be Published
The following are the documents which General
Practitioners should publish or make available by
given dates:
n plans for major shifts in purchasing; n annual
practice plan describing how the practice intends to
use its fund and management allowances over the
coming year and demonstrating the practice's
contribution to national targets and priorities as well
as any locally-agreed objectives. The plan should
include an outline longer term view and may
optionally include the practice's primary health care
team charter (Practice Charter) and plans for the
practice's general medical services (GMS) activity; n
Practice Charter (if available and not included above);
n annual performance report; n audited annual
accounts.
Consultation
General Practitioners must ensure that a copy (or a
summary) of their major shifts in purchasing
intentions, annual plans, Practice Charter (if separate)
and performance reports is available at their practice
for consultation by patients. A copy of the above
documents should be sent to the Health Authority and
a copy (or a summary) to the local Community Health
Council.
In addition, General Practitioners are required to
produce annual accounts for audit. Once audited,
these are public documents and are available for
inspection at the Health Authority.
3. Procedures for Obtaining Information
3.1 Information about individual practices should be
requested direct from the practice. Complaints about
failure to provide information should be dealt with as
far as possible by the practice.
3.2 If the complainant remains dissatisfied he/she
should be directed to the Health Authority. The
assistance of the Community Health Council may also
be sought. At present the Health Service
Ombudsman does not investigate complaints against
family doctors, dentists, optometrists opticians) or
pharmacists.
3.3 Requests for information which is not about an
individual practice should be directed to the Health
Authority. They must ensure that they publicise the

name of the officer within the HA who is responsible
for providing this information and for the operation of
the Code of Practice. This should be a senior officer
who is directly accountable to the Chief Executive of
the Authority.
The Department of Health will be pleased to respond
to any queries on this Code of Practice on Openness
in the NHS. Please contact Jerry Bird, Room 2N21,
Quarry House, Quarry Hill, LEEDS LS2 7UE.

The Board and Executive Team of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Subscribe to the “NOLAN” Principles of Public Life
These are:
Selflessness
Holders of public office should take decisions solely in terms of the public
interest. They should not do so in order to gain financial or other material
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends.
Integrity
Holders of public office should not place themselves under any financial or
other obligation to outside individuals or organisations that might influence
them in the performance of their official duties.
Objectivity
In carrying out public business, including making public appointments,
awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits,
holders of public office should make choices on merit.
Accountability
Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to the
public and must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their
office.
Openness
Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all the decisions
and actions that they take. They should give reasons for their decisions and
restrict information only when the wider public interest clearly demands.
Honesty
Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating to
their public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way
that protects the public interest.
Leadership
Holders of public office should promote and support these principles by
leadership and example.
July 2012 – Re-subscribed to by Board June 2013

The Board and Executive Team of Hertfordshire NHS Trust Subscribe to
the “Principles of Board Etiquette”
(Adapted from the Integrated Governance Handbook, DoH 2006)
We Will
1

Respect one another as possessing
individual and corporate skills,
knowledge and responsibilities

2

Show determination, tolerance and
sensitivity - rigorous and challenging
questioning, tempered by respect

3

Show group support and loyalty towards
- The Trust
- each other
- the Executive Team

4

Listen carefully to all ideas and
comments and be tolerant to other points
of view – be sensitive to colleagues’
needs for support when challenging or
being challenged

5

Be honest, open and constructive

6

Be courteous and respect freedom to
speak, disagree or remain silent

7

Regard challenge as a test of the
robustness of arguments – ensure no
one becomes isolated in expressing their
view. Treat all ideas with respect.

8

Read all papers before the meeting and
clarify any points of detail with the
relevant author before the meeting,
arrive on time and participate
wholeheartedly

9

Focus discussion on material issues and
on the resolution of issues, allow
differences to be forgotten

10

Make the most of time – support the
Chair, colleagues and guests in
maximising scope and variety of
viewpoints heard. Individual points are
relevant and short.

Re-subscribed to by Board July 2014

We Will Not
1

Refer to past systems or mistakes as
being responsible for today’s situation.

2

Act as ‘stoppers’ or ‘blockers’

3

Regard any arrangements as
unchangeable or unchallengeable

4

Adopt territorial attitudes – any
members of the team has the right to
challenge/question another

5

Give offence – and be ready to
apologise

6

Take offence – and shall stay open to
discussion

7

Regard papers presented as being
‘rubberstamped’ without discussion and
agreement

8

Act in an attacking, crushing or
dismissive manner

9

Become obsessed by detail and lose
the strategic picture

10

Breach confidentiality – will be candid
not secret

Code of Conduct
for
NHS Managers

October 2002

Introduction

1.

As part of the response to the Kennedy Report, the attached Code of
Conduct for NHS Managers has been produced by a Working Group
chaired by Ken Jarrold CBE.

2.

The Code sets out the core standards of conduct expected of NHS
managers. It will serve two purposes:

3.

●

to guide NHS managers and employing health bodies in the work
they do and the decisions and choices they have to make.

●

to reassure the public that these important decisions are being
made against a background of professional standards and
accountability.

The environment in which the Code will operate is a complex one. NHS
managers have very important jobs to do and work in a very public and
demanding environment. The management of the NHS calls for difficult
decisions and complicated choices. The interests of individual patients
have to be balanced with the interests of groups of patients and of the
community as a whole. The interests of patients and staff do not always
coincide. Managerial and clinical imperatives do not always suggest the
same priorities. A balance has to be maintained between national and
local priorities.

Introduction

1

4.

The Code should apply to all managers and should be incorporated in
the contracts of senior managers at the earliest possible opportunity.
A document on implementation is attached.

NIGEL CRISP
NHS Chief Executive

2 Code of Conduct for NHS Managers

9 October 2002

Code of Conduct for
NHS Managers

As an NHS manager, I will observe the following principles:
●

make the care and safety of patients my first concern and act to
protect them from risk;

●

respect the public, patients, relatives, carers, NHS staff and
partners in other agencies;

●

be honest and act with integrity;

●

accept responsibility for my own work and the proper performance
of the people I manage;

●

show my commitment to working as a team member by working
with all my colleagues in the NHS and the wider community;

●

take responsibility for my own learning and development.

This means in particular that:
1

I will:
●

respect patient confidentiality;

●

use the resources available to me in an effective, efficient and
timely manner having proper regard to the best interests of the
public and patients;

Code of Conduct for NHS Managers
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2

3

●

be guided by the interests of the patients while ensuring a safe
working environment;

●

act to protect patients from risk by putting into practice
appropriate support and disciplinary procedures for staff; and

●

seek to ensure that anyone with a genuine concern is treated
reasonably and fairly.

I will respect and treat with dignity and fairness, the public, patients,
relatives, carers, NHS staff and partners in other agencies. In my capacity
as a senior manager within the NHS I will seek to ensure that no one is
unlawfully discriminated against because of their religion, belief, race,
colour, gender, marital status, disability, sexual orientation, age, social and
economic status or national origin. I will also seek to ensure that:
●

the public are properly informed and are able to influence services;

●

patients are involved in and informed about their own care, their
experience is valued, and they are involved in decisions;

●

relatives and carers are, with the informed consent of patients,
involved in the care of patients;

●

partners in other agencies are invited to make their contribution
to improving health and health services; and

●

NHS staff are:
–

valued as colleagues;

–

properly informed about the management of the NHS;

–

given appropriate opportunities to take part in decisionmaking.

–

given all reasonable protection from harassment and bullying;

–

provided with a safe working environment;

–

helped to maintain and improve their knowledge and skills
and achieve their potential; and

–

helped to achieve a reasonable balance between their working
and personal lives.

I will be honest and will act with integrity and probity at all times.
I will not make, permit or knowingly allow to be made, any untrue
or misleading statement relating to my own duties or the functions
of my employer.
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I will seek to ensure that:
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●

the best interests of the public and patients/clients are upheld in
decision-making and that decisions are not improperly influenced
by gifts or inducements;

●

NHS resources are protected from fraud and corruption and that
any incident of this kind is reported to the NHS Counter Fraud
Services;

●

judgements about colleagues (including appraisals and references)
are consistent, fair and unbiased and are properly founded; and

●

open and learning organisations are created in which concerns
about people breaking the Code can be raised without fear.

I will accept responsibility for my own work and the proper performance
of the people I manage. I will seek to ensure that those I manage accept
that they are responsible for their actions to:
●

the public and their representatives by providing a reasonable and
reasoned explanation of the use of resources and performance;

●

patients, relatives and carers by answering questions and complaints
in an open, honest and well researched way and in a manner which
provides a full explanation of what has happened, and of what will
be done to deal with any poor performance and, where appropriate
giving an apology; and

●

NHS staff and partners in other agencies by explaining and
justifying decisions on the use of resources and give due and proper
consideration to suggestions for improving performance, the use of
resources and service delivery.

I will support and assist the Accountable Officer of my organisation in his
or her responsibility to answer to Parliament, Ministers and the
Department of Health in terms of fully and faithfully declaring and
explaining the use of resources and the performance of the local NHS in
putting national policy into practice and delivering targets.
For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in paragraphs two to four of this Code
requires or authorises an NHS manager to whom this Code applies to:
●

make, commit or knowingly allow to be made any unlawful
disclosure;

●

make, permit or knowingly allow to be made any disclosure in
breach of his or her duties and obligations to his or her employer,
save as permitted by law.

Code of Conduct for NHS Managers
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If there is any conflict between the above duties and obligations and this
Code, the former shall prevail.
5
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I will show my commitment to working as a team by working to create
an environment in which:
●

teams of frontline staff are able to work together in the best
interests of patients;

●

leadership is encouraged and developed at all levels and in all
staff groups; and

●

the NHS plays its full part in community development.

I will take responsibility for my own learning and development.
I will seek to:
●

take full advantage of the opportunities provided;

●

keep up to date with best practice; and

●

share my learning and development with others.

Department of Health
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Implementing the Code

IMPLEMENTING THE CODE
1.

The Code should be seen in a wider context that NHS managers must
follow the ‘Nolan Principles on Conduct in Public Life’, the ‘Corporate
Governance Codes of Conduct and Accountability’, the ‘Standards of
Business Conduct’, the ‘Code of Practice on Openness in the NHS’ and
standards of good employment practice.

2

In addition many NHS managers come from professional backgrounds
and must follow the code of conduct of their own professions as well as
this Code.
In order to maintain consistent standards, NHS bodies need to consider
suitable measures to ensure that managers who are not their employees
but who
(i)

manage their staff or services; or

(ii) manage units which are primarily providing services to their
patients
also observe the Code.
3

It is important to respect both the rights and responsibilities of managers.
To help managers to carry out the requirements of the Code, employers
must provide reasonable learning and development opportunities and seek

Implementing the Code
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to establish and maintain an organisational culture that values the role of
managers. NHS managers have the right to be:
●

treated with respect and not be unlawfully discriminated against for
any reason;

●

given clear, achievable targets;

●

judged consistently and fairly through appraisal;

●

given reasonable assistance to maintain and improve their
knowledge and skills and achieve their potential through learning
and development; and

●

reasonably protected from harassment and bullying and helped
to achieve a reasonable balance between their working and
personal lives.

Breaching the Code
4

Alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct should be promptly considered
and fairly and reasonably investigated. Individuals must be held to
account for their own performance, responsibilities and conduct where
employers form a reasonable and genuinely held judgement that the
allegations have foundation. Investigators should consider whether there
are wider system failures and organisational issues that have contributed
to the problems. Activity, the purpose of which is to learn from and
prevent breaches of the Code, needs to look at their wider causes.

5

Local employers should decide whether to investigate alleged breaches
informally or under the terms of local disciplinary procedures. It is
essential however that both forms of investigation should be, and be seen
to be, reasonable, fair and impartial. If Chief Executives or Directors are
to be investigated, the employing authority should use individuals who
are employed elsewhere to conduct the investigation. The NHS
Confederation, the Institute of Healthcare Management and the
Healthcare Financial Management Association are among the organisations
who maintain lists of people who are willing to undertake such a role.

Application of Code
6

This Code codifies and articulates certain important contractual
obligations that apply to everyone holding management positions.
These include Chief Executives and Directors who as part of their duties
are personally accountable for achieving high quality patient care. The
Department of Health will in the next few months issue a proposed new
framework of pay and contractual arrangements for the most senior NHS
managers. Under this framework the job evaluation scheme being
developed as part of the ‘Agenda for Change’ negotiations is likely to be
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used as the basis for identifying which other managerial posts (in addition
to Chief Executives and Directors) should be automatically covered by the
Code. The new framework will also specify compliance with the Code as
one of the core contractual provisions that should apply to all senior
managers.
7

For all posts at Chief Executive/Director level and all other posts
identified as in paragraph 6 above, acting consistently with the Code of
Conduct for NHS Managers Directions 2002, employers should:
●

include the Code in new employment contracts;

●

incorporate the Code into the employment contracts of existing
postholders at the earliest practicable opportunity.

Action
8

Employers are asked to:
(i)

incorporate the Code into the employment contracts of Chief
Executives and Directors at the earliest practicable opportunity and
include the Code in the employment contracts of new
appointments to that group;

(ii) identify any other senior managerial posts, i.e. with levels of
responsibility and accountability similar to those of Director-level
posts, to which they consider the Code should apply. (The new
framework for pay and contractual arrangements will help more
tightly define this group in due course.)
(iii) investigate alleged breaches of the Code by those to whom the
Code applies promptly and reasonably as at paragraphs four to five;
(iv) provide a supportive environment to managers (see paragraph three
above).
October 2002
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NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE ACT 1977
NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE AND COMMUNITY CARE ACT 1990
The Code of Conduct for NHS Managers Directions 2002
The Secretary of State for Health, in exercise of the powers conferred by section 17(a),
paragraph 10(1) of Schedule 5(b) and paragraph 8(3) of Schedule 5A(c) to the National
Health Service Act 1977, and paragraph 16(5) of Schedule 2 to the National Health Service
and Community Care Act 1990(b), hereby gives the following Directions:
Application, commencement, interpretation
1.-(1) These Directions apply to all NHS bodies in England and shall come into force on 9
October 2002.
(2) These Directions shall be referred to as The Code of Conduct for NHS Managers
Directions 2002.
(3) In these Directions “NHS bodies” means:
(i) Strategic Health Authorities
(ii) Special Health Authorities
(iii) NHS Trusts
(iv) Primary Care Trusts
Implementation of Code of Conduct for NHS Managers
2. NHS bodies shall take all reasonable steps to comply with the requirements set out in the
Code of Conduct for NHS Managers appended to these Directions.
Effect of Direction 2
3. The fact of compliance or non-compliance with Direction 2 shall in itself have no effect on
the validity or enforceability of a contract entered into by an NHS body to which these
Directions apply.
Signed by authority of the Secretary of State for Health
M G Sturges

4 October 2002

Department of Health

(a) 1977 c. 49. Section 17 was substituted by section 12(1) of the Health Act 1999 (c.8) and was amended by Schedule 5, Part
1, paragraph 5(1) and (3), to the Health and Social Care Act 2001 (c.15) and by Schedule 1, paragraph 7 to the NHS Reform
and Health Care Professions Act 2002 (c.17).
(b) Paragraph 10(1) of Schedule 5(b) and paragraph 8(3) of Schedule 5A(c) to the National Health Service Act 1977 (1977
c.49), and paragraph 16(5) of Schedule 2 to the National Health Service and Community Care Act 1990 were amended by
section 6 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 (c.15).
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Board 27th July 2017

Attachment J8

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Minutes of the Extra-Ordinary Meeting held on 25th May 2017
in Christchurch Peartree,
20 Tewin Road, Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL7 1BW
Key Points for the Board to note:
(1) The external audit Annual Results Summary 2016/17 was received and noted.
(2) The Letter of Representation was received and it will be recommended to the Board that JP
as Chair of the Audit Committee and PB duly sign off the letter.
(3) The Head of Internal Audit’s (HOIA) opinion for 2016/17 was received, discussed and
noted.
(4) The draft Annual Governance Statement 2016/17 (AGS) was received and will be
recommended to the Board for approval.
(5) The audited Annual Accounts for 2016/17 were received and will be recommended to the
Board for approval.
(6) The draft Annual Report 2016/17 was received and will be recommended to the Board for
approval.
(7) The draft Quality Account 2016/17 was received and will be recommended to the Board for
approval subject to finalising inclusion of external organisation comments.

Present:

Jeff Phillips (JP)
Anne McPherson (AM)
Brenda Griffiths (BG)

In Attendance:

Phil Bradley (PB)
Director of Finance
Kevin Curnow (KC)
Deputy Director of Finance
Clive Appleby (CApp)
Company Secretary
Suresh Patel (SP)
Ernst Young (External Audit)
Eli Johns
(EJ)
Ernst Young (External Audit)
Jack Hogan (JH)
Ernst Young (External Audit)
Clive Makonbera (CM)
RSM (Internal Audit)
Marina Sweatman (MS) Board Support Officer

Observers:

John Omany (JO)
Declan O’Farrell (DOF)
Linda Sheridan (LS)

Apologies:

Clare Hawkins, Deputy CEO, Director of Quality/ Chief Nurse
1

Non-Executive Director (Chair)
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director (Designate)

Medical Director
Trust Chair
Non-Executive Director

Board 27th July 2017

A
1/17
2/17

3/17

Attachment J8

Formalities
Action
Welcome, Introduction and Apologies
JP welcomed those present.
Members’ Declaration of Interests
None declared.
Items for Recommendation to the Board
External Audit Annual Results Draft Summary 2016/17
The External Audit Annual Results Draft Summary 2016/17 was
received.
It was noted that subject to the Board meeting on 25th May 2017
and Board approvals, external audit expect to be issuing an
unqualified opinion.
SP additionally reported that:
(i)

One unadjusted audit difference was identified in the draft
financial statement which management has decided not to
adjust. This relates to the capitalisation of expenditure
relating to the Hemel Hub (Health & Wellbeing Centre)
which is being developed in partnership with Hertfordshire
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT). There is also a
mismatch in the Department of Health Agreement of
Balances exercise with HPFT relating to difference in
accounting treatment of this sum.

(ii)

The audit plan identified a number of key areas of focus the
observations and conclusions were included. There are no
matters other than those reported to management or
disclosed in the report which need to be brought to the
committee’s attention.

(iii)

Audit risks identified during the planning stage and subject
to testing but with Assurances gained / issues arising were:
•
•
•

Risk of Fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition
Risk of Management Override of Controls
Risk of error in property Valuations

(iv)

One significant risk was identified in respect of Value for
Money in relation to the Sustainability & Transformation
Plans (STP). There were no matters to be reported about
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in use of resources.

(v)

The Annual Report including the Annual Governance
Statement was audited for consistency and there are no
matters to report.
2
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(vi)

Figures reported in the final audited statutory financial
statements agreed with figures reported in the
summarisation schedules.

(vii)

The mismatch of treatment of expenditure in respect of the
Hemel Hub will be reported to the National Audit Office in
respect of Whole Government Accounts.

(viii) The audit certificate will be issued at the same time as the
audit opinion.
(ix)

Financial Statements: Some minor misstatements were
corrected during the course of the audit

(x)

There is no fee variation and the Auditors confirmed
independence

(xi)

Subject to final reviews and Board approvals, the Auditors
Report to the Directors will be issued on 26th May 2017.

Challenge, Observation, Questions
(a)

There was extensive discussion regarding the different
ways of interpreting the accounting processes in respect of
the expenditure relating to the Hemel Hub (Health &
Wellbeing Centre). Support was given by the Committee to
the management decision not to adjust this entry. All
actions are documented and will be open and transparent
when the document is finalised and available to the public.

Decisions
(1)

4/17

The External Audit Annual Results Draft Summary 2016/17
was noted. JP thanked SP, EJ and JH and also
commended the Trust’s Finance team, especially Sally
Scott, Head of Financial Control and Kevin Curnow for all
their efforts.

Letter of Representation
A revised Letter of Representation was received and agreed that
it be recommended to the Board for approval and sign off by JP
as Chair of the Audit Committee and PB.

5/17

Head of Internal Audit (HOIA) Opinion
The Committee received the Head of Internal Audit Opinion for
2016/17.
It was noted that:
3
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The HOIA reported as below:
“The organisation has an adequate and effective framework
for risk management, governance and internal control.
However, out work has identified further enhancements are
required to the framework of risk management, governance
and internal control to ensure that the framework remains
adequate and effective. Most particularly, these related to
the areas of Fire Safety, Cost Improvement Planning,
Medicines Management and Specialing and 1:1 Care.
Actions have been identified which the Trust has either
implemented or is in the process of implementing to close
the gaps.”

(ii)

There were no red (no assurance) opinions in 2016/17.
There were seven amber / red (partial assurance) opinions.
Follow ups on red /amber opinions will be undertaken as
part of the ongoing audit process.

(iii)

Substantial Assurance opinions were given on Key
Financial Controls and Information Governance.

(iv)

Reasonable Assurance opinions were given on Board
Assurance Framework and Safer Staffing Levels

Challenge, Observation, Questions
(a)

The amendment to the level of detail reported in the opinion
between the draft and final version was acknowledged and
appreciated, as too much detail could expose Trust
vulnerabilities which could be exploited.

Decisions
(1)
6/17

The Head of Internal Opinion was noted.

The (Draft) Annual Governance Statement 2016/17
The draft Annual Governance statement 2016/17 was received
It was noted that
(i)

The draft statement had been circulated to Audit Committee
members after the last Committee meeting and it was agreed
that there were no significant issues for inclusion in the
2016/17 statement.

(ii)

Internal and External Audit also identified no significant
issues for reporting.

4
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Decisions:
(1)

7/16

It was agreed that the draft Annual Governance Statement
for 2016/17 be recommended to the Board for approval and
sign off.

The Audited Annual Accounts for 2016/17
The annual accounts were received. The key highlights and
clarification on reserves were noted and agreed.
It was noted that:
(i)

The Trust delivered a £2.5m surplus, this was £1m above the
planned control total being the result of a non-recurrent rates
rebate and additional STF funding received after year end,
required by NHS Improvement (NHSI). The audited accounts
have been adjusted slightly from the draft accounts for
misclassifications, but there are no changes to the reported
financial position.

(ii)

All minor amendments recommended by external audit have
been actioned

(iii) The external audit opinion will be included in the final version
for publication.
(iv) Following Board approval and certifications, external audit
will submit the Accounts to DoH on 1st June.
Decisions:
(1)

8/17

PB

It was agreed that the 2016/17 final accounts be
recommended to the Board for approval.

The (Draft) Annual Report 2015/16
The draft annual report for 2015/16 was received.
It was noted that:
(i)

The Annual Report complies with DoH requirements and. the
required format has changed slightly this year. For example,
some sections formerly in notes to the accounts are now in
the main body of the report.

(ii)

The draft report has been reviewed by External Audit and
points raised have been addressed. The Report does still
require some fine tuning to the design and inclusion of the
Chair’s Foreword (which is not subject to audit). One minor
5
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amendment will also been made to clarify the wording in the
staffing section.
(iii) The report for 2016/17 will not be professionally designed
and printed but will be available as a pdf on the Trust’s
website and will also be subject to “print on demand”.
(iv) The final Annual Report will be formally presented to the
public at the Annual General Meeting in July 2017.
Decisions
(1)

9/17

The draft Annual Report for 2016/17 be recommended to
the Board for approval subject to design completion.

The (Draft) Quality Account for 2016/17
The draft Quality Account 2016/17 was received:
It was noted that:
(i)

The Quality Account has been reviewed and commented on
through the internal governance process and has been
reviewed by HGC.

(ii)

Some external stakeholder feedback is still awaited and it will
be included when available.

(iii) The Quality Account will be published on the NHS Choices
website in line with the prescribed time deadline of 30th June.
(iv) As with the Annual Report, the Quality Account will be posted
on the Trust’s website and will be a “print on demand”
document.
Decisions:
(1)

10/17

It was agreed that the draft Quality Account for 2016/17 be CH
recommended to the Board (i) for approval and (ii) that on
account of stakeholder comments still awaited, authority be
delegated to Deputy CEO, Director of Quality / Chief Nurse
to give the final “sign off”

Any Other Business
The potential external perception of the term “Extra Ordinary
Meeting” was discussed. The reason for this terminology was
explained and it was agreed that no change to the meeting title
would be made.

6
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Date and time of Next meeting
11/17

Post meeting note:
The next Audit Committee meeting will now be on:
Tuesday 20th June 9.00 – 11.00
Boardroom, Howard Court, Welwyn Garden City

7

Board 27th July 2017

Attachment J8
AUDIT COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting held on the 20th June 2017 in the Board Room at Howard Court,
Welwyn Garden City.
Key Points for the Board to note:
The following were received, discussed and noted:
• Internal Audit Progress Report and tracker update
• Internal Audit final reports:
(i)
1.17/18 Recruitment Checks
(ii) 2.17/18 Apprenticeship Levy
• External Audit Annual Audit Letter
• High Level Risk Register (HLRR)
• Local Security Management Specialist Report
• Tender Waivers Report
• Losses and Special Payments 2016/17
• Update on IR35 compliance
• Counter Fraud Annual Report 2016/17
• Counter Fraud Work Plan 2017/18
• Update on mileage and Expenses Review
• Revised Committee TOR - approved

Present:

Jeff Phillips (JP)
Anne McPherson (AM)
Brenda Griffiths (BG)
In Attendance:
Clare Hawkins (CH)
Debbie Eyitayo (DE)
Linda Sheridan (LS)
Kevin Curnow (KC)
Suresh Patel (SP)
Richard Lawson (RL)
Lorraine Bennett (LB)
Clive Makombera (CM)
Clive Appleby (CApp)
Marina Sweatman (MS)

Non-Executive Director (Chair)
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director (Designate)
Deputy CEO, Director of Quality & Chief Nurse
Interim Director of HR&OD
Non-Executive Director
Deputy Director of Finance
Ernst and Young LLP (External Audit)
Grant Thornton (External Audit)
Counter-Fraud Specialist
RSM (Internal Audit)
Company Secretary
Board Support Officer

Apologies
Phil Bradley (PB)
Ellie Johns (EJ))
Paul Dossett (PD)

A
12/17

Director of Finance
Ernst and Young LLP (External Audit)
Grant Thornton (External Audit)

Formalities
Welcome, Introduction and Apologies

Action

1
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Apologies for absence were received.
13/17

Members’ Declaration of Interests
No conflicts of interest were reported.

14/17

Minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2017 and 25 May 2017
Minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2017 and 25 May 2017
were agreed as a correct record.

15/17

Matters arising from Tracker 14 March 2017
Tracker:
All the tracker actions shown as blue (completed) or green (in
progress) were noted.
79/16 Accounting Policy Information – the updated accounting
policy information was used to complete the final account. Update to
be recirculated.

KC to note

86/15 Petty Cash report will be presented when finalised
B
16/17

Internal Audit
Internal Audit Progress Report (RSM)
(Lead CM)
The Internal Audit progress report as at 20th June 2017 was
received and discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)

(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)

Two final reports have been issued in respect of Recruitment
Checks and Apprenticeship Levy. Both reports achieved a
positive opinion of reasonable assurance.
Two further reports relating to End of Life Care and Financial
Forecasting including CIPs have been issued in draft format.
Reviews of Management Information and Medicines
Management are in progress.
Work is on track as per work plan
Information briefings were highlighted
Of the 31 tracker actions 22 have been implemented two are
overdue and seven are not yet due.

Challenge, Observations and Replies to Questions:
(a)

(b)

Further assurance and information in connection with the
recruitment of doctors was requested. DE confirmed that the
guidance has been updated to ensure that all internal audit
actions have been completed. This will be reported via the
Workforce and OD group and update provided to the Board via
the Directors report.
Assurance was provided that the references process has been
tighten up. Internal Audit will follow up to ensure that actions
have been implemented.
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The BAF and Risk Management audit timing may need to be
amended due to legal commitments that month.
Updates on actions from the three clinical audits undertaken
need to be reported back to the committee. HGC will be
reviewing the Medicines Management progress on actions in
July. CM to check and report back next month.

Outcomes / Decisions:
1.
2.

17/17

Update progress report on the three clinical audits undertaken
to be brought to next meeting.
The Internal Auditor’s Progress Report as at 20th June 2017
was noted.

CM Sept 17

Risk Rating: Not Applicable
Internal Audit Final Reports
(Lead: CM)
The following final reports were received and discussed:
1.

Recruitment Checks ( Ref 1.17/18) – reasonable assurance
opinion

It was noted that:
(i)

(ii)

2.

Whilst some issues were identified the audit confirmed that the
Trust has consistently applied its documented procedures for
recruiting staff and Doctors.
There are actions in place to ensure that guidance in respect of
recruiting substantive and non-substantive consultant doctors
is consistent and unambiguous. The follow up is planned for
July.
Apprenticeship Levy (Ref:2.17/18) reasonable assurance
opinion

It was noted that:
(i)

The Trust have made good progress in establishing processes
to implement the Apprenticeship Levy have been identified.
(ii) A number of key areas for improvement have been identified
and an action plan has been developed, these will be
monitored for completion.
(iii) The three issues identified included:
• completion and testing of a cash flow model that is to be
used to manage the Digital Apprenticeship Service Account
• clarification of the procurement tender and selection process
for Apprenticeship Training Providers
• establish a regular reporting process to the Apprenticeship
Levy Task & Finish Group to ensure the correct governance
channels.

3
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Challenge, Observations and Replies to Questions:
(a)
(b)

(c)

(d)

Thanks were expressed as this clarifies the process.
DE advised the majority of this work is being approached at a
system level and governed by Hertfordshire Procurement
Partnership and overseen externally by Health Education
England.
KC clarified the financial implications. Further clarification is
required on the use of funding. DE will provide an update to the
Board.
KC reported that PB was concerned there is no visibility on how
others are utilising the funds. CM will review and provide any
intelligence gathered. It was suggested this could be further
discussed in SRC in the autumn. Strategically these funds
could be used to support service transformation.

Outcomes / Decisions:
1.
2.

CM Sept 17

Provide intelligence on utilisation of the Apprenticeship Levy.
The Recruitment Check and Apprenticeship Levy final Reports
were noted

Risk Rating: Not Applicable
C
18/17

External Audit
Annual Audit Letter 2016/17
The Annual Audit Letter for year ended 31 March 2017 was received
and discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
(vi)

An External Audit report was issued on 26th May on the
significant finding resulting from audits. The report included a
certificate that audits have been competed in accordance with
the local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the National
Audit Office 2015 and Code of Audit Practice.
The independent examination of the Trust Funds Accounts has
been completed and awaits the approval of the Charitable
Funds Committee.
Financial statements – An unqualified opinion was issued on 26
May 2017. The financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Trust as at 31 March 2017 and
of its expenditure and income for the year then ended
An uncorrected misstatement relating to the treatment of
spend with Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
concerning the construction of Hemel Hub in 2015/16 and
2016/17 was reported.
Parts of the remuneration and staff report to be audited – No
matters to report
Consistency of the Annual Report and other information
published with the financial statements - Financial information
in the Annual report and published with the financial
statements was consistent with the audited Annual Accounts.

4

Board 27th July 2017
(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)
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Reports by exception:
• Consistency of Governance Statement - The Governance
Statement was consistent with understanding of the Trust.
• Referrals to the Secretary of State - No matters to report.
• Public interest report - No matters to report in the public
interest.
• Value for money conclusion - No matters to report.
Reporting to the Trust on its consolidation schedules -The
Trust’s consolidation schedules agreed, within a £250,000
tolerance to the audited financial statements.
Reporting to the National Audit Office (NAO) in line with group
instructions – The misstatement concerning the treatment of
funds in the construction of Hemel Hub was reported. There
were no other matters to report.
The annual audit letter concludes the role of Ernst & Young
LLP as the Trust’s appointed external auditors. Thanks were
expressed to all the HCT staff for their involvement during
EY’s period of engagement.
Handover discussions will be undertaken with Grant Thornton
the newly appointed External Auditors.

Outcomes / Decisions:
1. Thanks were extended to Ernst and Young LLP and HCT
finance staff.
2. Annual Audit Letter to public Board in July
3. The External Audit Report March 2017 was noted

CA to note

Risk Rating: Not Applicable
D
19/17

Quality Clinical Governance & Risk & Assurance
High Level Risk Register (HLRR)
The High Level Risk Register as at 22nd May 2017 was received
and discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

(iv)

Ten risks are currently on the register, eight of which have not
changed since the last report.
No risks were escalated
One risk was de-escalated within the month (Ref.505) in
relation to Children’s Universal; Services and Paediatric
Liaison.
Two new risks were added to the HLRR (Ref. 526) (Ref. 534)
One corporate risk (Ref 199) relating to staffing has been on
the register for more than a year. This risk has been redefined
and superseded by a new risk (ref 526) which will be retained
and is aligned to the Board Assurance Framework (BAF)

Challenge, Observations and Replies to Questions
a) Clinical risks are the main theme of the High Level Risk
Register rather than financial risk although contracting
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decisions have a significant effect on quality of service
provision. It was also noted that staff shortages is a national
issue.
CM challenged the lack of apparent movement of risks despite
the actions and controls identified. CH reported that a rigorous
checking process has been undertaken to check the level of
risk and the mitigations in place. It was noted that
transformation takes time.
An operational review with the Health Visiting and School
Nursing service is planned for September; this will assess the
clinical risks and provide additional assurance.

Outcomes / Decisions
1.

The HLRR was noted.

Risk Rating: Not Applicable
20/17

Local Security Management Specialist Report
The Local Security Management Specialist Report 2017 was
received and discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Until 1st April 2017 NHS Protect has driven the security
management work within the NHS at both local and national
level. On 1st April 2017 NHS Protect ceased to exist .Trusts
are expected to work to the NHS standard contract and
continue to develop and work toward achieving the standards
set by Care Quality Commission (CQC).
The total number of reported incidents has increased from 222
in 2015/16 to 286 in 2016/17. 28 of these relate to burglary or
theft, work is planned to review the security arrangement.
The NHS Protect self-review tool was completed and
submitted in November 2016, the majority of areas were rated
green with seven areas rated amber. Some amber areas are
out of the Trust’s Gift and actions are underway to address the
others.

Challenge, Observations and Replies to Questions
a) A report to be brought to the next meeting to understand and
clarify the spread of theft and burglary related incidents and the
actions that have been taken to address these.
b) It was suggested that closer links could be forged with the
Community Safety Partnerships especially if there is a problem
in specific locality.
c) It would be useful to understand if there was any impact on
patients from the loss of six syringe drivers.
Outcomes / Decisions
1.

Report to clarify the impact on patients in respect of loss of
equipment and understand the spread of thefts and burglaries

KC/EB Sept 17
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and the actions taken to address these.
The Local Security Management Specialist Report was noted.

2.

Risk Rating: Not Applicable
(E)
21/17

Financial
Tender Waiver
The Tender Waiver and SFI breaches report for the period April
2017 to May 2017 was received and discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)

(ii)

One tender waiver has been approved in this period relating to
the PALMs service to ensure continuity of service. There were,
for comparison purposes, a total of 12 waivers approved in the
last financial year.
No SFI breaches in this period, these occur where spend is
over £10,000 and three quotes have not been obtained.

Challenge, Observations and Replies to Questions
a)

Assurance is required that there is no credible alternative for
the PALMs service that does not involve a tender waiver.

Outcomes / Decisions
KC Sept 17
1. Gain and provide assurance that there is no credible
alternative to the PALMs waiver
2. The Tender Waiver and SFI breaches report was noted.
Risk Rating: Not applicable
22/17

Losses and Special Payments 2016/17
The Losses and Special Payments report for 2016/17 was received
and discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)

(ii)

The Operational Scheme of Delegation requires the Audit
Committee to review the losses and special payments
annually.
The losses and special payments were reported at the
previous Audit Committee in March covering the period April16
to February 17. This report provides information on three
further losses. This report covers the full 12 months for
2016/17 as reported in the year end accounts.

Challenge, Observations and Replies to Questions
a)

It was felt important that as a routine part of the admission
process a disclosure forms is completed to ensure that
patients are aware that the Trust is not responsible for the loss

7

Board 27th July 2017

b)

Attachment J8

or damage to personal valuables or equipment during their
stay. The ward managers should have visibility to the losses
information and they need to provide assurance that the
admission processes and signing off of disclosure forms is
completed and assurance is provided.
It was confirmed that the staff awards via the Leading Lights
are reported as special payments in order to be open and
transparent.

Outcomes / Decisions
1.

2.

The ward managers should have visibility to the losses/ special
payments information and they need to provide assurance that
the admission processes and signing off of disclosure forms is
completed and assurance is provided.
The Losses and Special Payments report was noted

KC/MD to note

Risk Rating: Not recorded
23/17

Update on IR35 Compliance
The update on compliance with IR35 was received and discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

In April 2017, HMRC introduced legislation to tighten up on
IR35 compliance in relation to workers providing services to
the public sector via Personal Services Companies.
A system-wide approach was undertaken with agency workers
across Hertfordshire and Bedfordshire, with letters being sent
to all agencies. NHSP took appropriate action in relation to
relevant bank staff.
The Trust undertook 38 individual IR35 assessments. The
majority of these were for doctors, with 11 for senior
management interims. Of these, 10 were deemed in scope,
with the others falling out of scope. There are two doctors still
being chased for information to confirm compliance.
With the exception above, the action for current workers is now
complete and there is a process in place for considering any
new workers.
There is a risk in relation to revised NHSI guidance about
agency workers, which may result in renewed
appeals/queries, but these will be dealt with through the
assessment process as they arise.

Challenge, Observations and Replies to Questions
a)
b)

It was suggested that HCT should be firm with anyone who
does not comply.
It was confirmed that there is a potential financial risk and or
penalty for non-compliance therefore a procedure needs to be
in place to ensure that the risks are controlled.
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Outcomes / Decisions
DE to note
1.

Procedure to be place to control financial risk linked to
potential non-compliance.
Update on IR35 Compliance was noted

2.

Risk Rating: Not recorded
(F)
24/17

Counter Fraud
Local Counter Fraud Annual Report 2016/17
It was noted that:
(i)

(ii)

(iii)
(iv)

The self-assessed rating against the NHS Protect Standards
was green overall, with a total of five individual standards
rated as amber.
The Trust has supported the LCFS in continuing to raise
awareness to all staff via:
•
The Corporate Induction programme.
•
Bespoke training and awareness sessions to the
Recruitment Team and Finance Team;
•
Inclusion within the Recruitment Managers training.
•
Distribution of awareness material via the
Communications Team
Alerts/Intelligence bulletins have been circulated as
appropriate.
A total of six referrals were received by the LCFS during the
year, none of which were suitable for progression criminally.
These are similar to previous year

Challenge, Observations and Replies to Questions
a)

b)

Clarification was requested on the communication of the
recommendations, it was confirmed that these are shared with
DoF and cascaded to SMT and others as appropriate.
Further follow up on the recommendations o will be provided in
a future report.

Outcomes / Decisions

LB Sept 17

1. Follow up on recommendation at next meeting
2. The Local Counter Fraud Annual Report 2016/17 was noted
Risk Rating: Not recorded
25/17

Local Counter Fraud work Plan 2017/18
The Local Counter Fraud work plan for 2017/18 was received and
discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)
(ii)

The work plan has been discussed and agreed with the
Director of Finance.
The work plan contains a risk assessment of relevant areas,
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which have then been translated into a plan of activity – shown
over a three-year period.
The work plan has a minimal allocation for preliminary
enquiries when a referral is received. If the referral warrants
further investigation/progresses to a full criminal investigation,
additional resource will be discussed and agreed with the
Chief Finance Officer.
A cybercrime online training package has been developed
which is under review before being rolled out Trust wide.

(iii)

(iv)

Challenge, Observations and Replies to Questions
a)

CH to discuss with LB the focus of the timesheet and e roster
review to ensure that this links to Carter productivity review is
taken into account.

b)

New guidance has been received from NHS England to tighten
the process in respect of conflicts of interest. The Standard
Code of Practice policy which covers gifts, hospitality and
sponsorship is currently being expanded to include broader
declarations of interest from decision makers within the
organisation. It was noted that HCT gift limit is currently
£20.00 which is stricter than the nationally proposed amount of
£50.00, the general consensus was that £50.00 is too high.

Outcomes / Decisions
1. Discussion on focus for the timesheet and e roster review
2. Revised Standard Code of Practice Policy to next meeting
3. Local Counter Fraud work plan for 2017/18 was noted.

LB/CH to note
CA 7 Sept 17

Risk Rating: Not applicable
26/17

Mileage and Expenses Review
An update on the Mileage and Expenses review was received and
discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)

(ii)

This review sought to:
• Ascertain authorising officers adherence to the process in
place with particular focus on checking the accuracy of
claims made with particular attention to overrides to
electronic systems
• Confirm that appropriate checks are carried out to ensure
that own vehicles for business use are roadworthy and
appropriately insured and that staff held current driving
licences
• Establish if there were any weaknesses within the existing
process which could leave the Trust vulnerable to the
risk of fraud.
• A sample of claims was selected from data provided by
the Trust and the manager for each claimant was
contacted.
A number of recommendations have been made in relation to:
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The process for verification and authorisation of claims,
including where mileage has been overridden;
The frequency of checks in relation to insurance, MOT
and driving licences.

Challenge, Observations and Replies to Questions
a) It was suggested that local management practices should be in
place to ensure the processes are followed; staff will be
reminded of the guidance and their responsibilities. It was
advised that HR are reviewing a software package to support
this, IT systems need to be fully utilised to ensure cost
effective.
Outcomes / Decisions
1. Follow up on action on recommendations at next meeting
2. The Mileage and Expenses review was noted
(G)
27/17

LB Sept 17

Trust Governance
Revised Committee Terms of Reference
The revised committee Terms of Reference were received and
discussed.
It was noted that:
(i)

The main alternation was in relation member’s appointment to
the Committee. This has been amended to “the duration of the
member’s appointment” rather than three years.

Challenge, Observations and Replies to Questions
a) It was suggested that following agreement with the Chair, point
4.3 should be amended to “ the Assistant Director Risk and
Quality Assurance would attend as the deputy for the Deputy
CEO, Director of Quality, Chief Nurse when required”
Outcomes / Decisions
1.

The Terms of Reference were approved subject to the minor
amendment

Risk Rating: Not applicable
(H)
28/17

Any Other Urgent Business
None

(I)

Date and Time of Next Meetings
Tuesday 12 September 2017 9.30 – 11.30 Board Room, Howard Court
Tuesday 12 December 2017 9.30 – 11.30 Board Room, Howard Court
Tuesday 13 March 2018
9.30 – 11.30 Board Room, Howard Court
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Common Abbreviations
AC
= Audit Committee
AGS
= Annual Governance Statement
BAF
= Board Assurance Framework
BU
= Business Unit
BUPR
= Business Unit Performance Review
BURR
= Business Unit Risk Register
CF
= Counter Fraud
CQC
= The Care Quality Commission
DH
= Department of Health
EA
= External Audit (ors)
E&Y
= Ernst & Young (External Auditors)
FT
= Foundation Trust (CFT) = Community Foundation Trust)
HCG
= Healthcare Governance Committee
HCT
= Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
HLRR
= High Level Risk Register
HOIA
= Head of Internal Audit
HPFT
= Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation Trust
HVHC
= High Value Health Care
IA
= Internal Audit (ors)
LCFS
= Local Counter Fraud Specialist
LSMS
= Local Security Management Specialist
NHSI
= NHS Improvement
OSoD
= Operational Scheme of Delegation
QA
= Quality Account
RSM
= RSM (Internal Auditors)
SFI
= Standing Financial Instructions
SO
= Standing Orders
SoR&D
= Scheme of Reservation and Delegation
SRC
= Strategy & Resources Committee
STP
= Sustainability Transformation Programme
TDA
= Trust Development Authority
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